
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 9 September 2019 at 
7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 6)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. Corporate Plan: 2019-23 (Pages 7 - 40)

7. Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service (Pages 41 - 50)

8. Annual Review of the HR Shared Service (Pages 51 - 58)



9. Main store roof at Brookvale (Pages 59 - 66)

10.Housing Delivery Action Plan (Pages 67 - 
100)

11.Local Plan Review (Pages 101 - 
152)

12.Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter One (Pages 153 - 
186)

13.Carbon Monoxide (CO) Detectors in Council Owned Housing (Pages 187 - 
192)

14.DSO Building Management Policies and Management Plans (Pages 193 - 
326)

15.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

16.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

17.Future use of land at North East Gravesend (Pages 327 - 
336)

18.Write Offs (Pages 337 - 
348)

19.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 



Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Monday, 1 July 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Note: Councillors Ejaz Aslam, Bob Lane and Jordan Meade  were also in attendance.

David Hughes Chief Executive
Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Housing & Regeneration)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing)
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

8. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 June 2019 were signed by the Chair.

9. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

10. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

11. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
held on Wednesday, 5 June 2019 

The Cabinet noted the minutes of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board meeting held 
on Wednesday 5 June 2019.

12. Exclusion 

Resolved pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that the 
public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that, if members of the public were present 
during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 1.07.2019

2

13. Procurement of Replacement Housing Management System 

The Cabinet was informed that the current provider of the Council’s housing management 
system had notified both Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council of its intention 
to terminate support for the system from September 2020, with a requirement to migrate to 
the company’s new product. 

As this would be a new system with a substantial cost, it was agreed that a joint procurement 
exercise be undertaken with Medway Council to satisfy European Union Procurement 
Regulations and to ensure that both Councils were procuring the best system to support its 
housing management service moving forward. 

Members were apprised of all bids received. 

Detailed consideration was given to the information contained within the report and 
questions from Cabinet Members were put to and answered by Officers.

Resolved that delegated authority to award the contract to the bidder identified in the 
exempt appendix be given to the Director (Housing and Regeneration), in 
consultation with the Leader of the Executive, Director (Corporate Services), Director 
(Environment and Operations) and Head of Legal Services, and subject to 
satisfactory consideration and determination of those issues outlined within 
paragraph 6.4 of the report.

14. Revenues & Benefits Service - Update Report 

The Cabinet was provided with an update on the current shared working arrangement with 
Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council and sought authority to cease this arrangement and 
establish a new shared management arrangement with Medway Council.

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the Council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy sets 
out the Council’s saving requirements over the coming years and that the above would 
contribute to the delivery of the overall saving target.

Detailed consideration was given to the information contained within the report and 
questions from Cabinet Members were put to and answered by Officers.

Resolved that the proposals outlined within the report be approved and the formal 
process to establish a shared management arrangement be commenced.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.21 pm

Page 6



Corporate Plan 2019-23: Cabinet (9 September 2019)

Classification:  Part 1 – Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 9 September 2019

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)
Corporate Performance Manager

Subject: Corporate Plan: 2019-23

Purpose and summary of report: 

To present Members of the Cabinet with the draft Corporate Plan 2019-23 for consideration 
and, as a key part to the council’s Policy Framework as defined by the Constitution, to 
recommend the draft plan to Full Council for approval and adoption.

Recommendations:

1. Cabinet endorses the draft Corporate Plan 2019-23 (Appendix 2) and gives delegated 
authority for any further updates to be made by the Director (Corporate Services), in 
consultation with the Leader of the Executive, prior to submission to Full Council for 
formal approval and adoption.

1. Background

1.1 The Corporate Plan presents the council’s ambition for the borough over a four-year 
period. Alongside a suite of corporate objectives and associated policy commitments, 
the Corporate Plan sets the tone and guiding principles from which all council activity 
will be based over the 2019-23 period. Operationally, the Corporate Plan enables the 
council to effectively plan and prepare the resources required to deliver set objectives 
and, equally, provides a framework for future service business plans and corporate 
strategies to work towards and be measured against.

1.2 Members will be aware that the council’s current Corporate Plan ran for the 2015-19 
period. Work has therefore been carried out by officers over the last year to draft and 
implement a new Corporate Plan reflective of; community needs and aspirations, the 
key ambitions of the elected administration for the borough over the 2019-23 period 
and, ultimately, the financial position of the council.

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



Corporate Plan 2019-23: Cabinet (9 September 2019)

2. Corporate Plan 2019-23: Development 

2.1 To commence the project a 12-week public consultation was commenced in 
November 2018, with the core activity to the process an online survey hosted via the 
council’s website. 

2.2 The end result saw over 800 Gravesham residents, businesses and community 
groups take part, providing over 2,500 individual pieces of information and 
intelligence relating to community requests for council provision and priority 
intervention. The exercise also enabled participants the opportunity to rank each of 
the council’s key services in terms of their individual level of perceived importance. 

2.3 The information obtained from this process was collated and analysed and has acted 
as a sound baseline throughout the development of the policy commitments in the 
draft Corporate Plan.

2.4 In addition to this community consultation, the new Corporate Plan has been 
prepared in full consideration of a base of intelligence relating to community needs as 
detailed in the council’s Gravesham Community Profile. This comprehensive study 
includes a variety of datasets, including local health data outlining core public health 
concerns for the resident population and, in addition, the study considers key existing 
strategies the council currently has in place, including the Local Plan Core Strategy.  

2.5 Of equal importance, alongside identified community need and priority areas for 
service intervention, the Corporate Plan has been drafted in full consideration of the 
key manifesto pledges of the elected administration for the 2019-23 period.

2.6 Working within the context of the council’s spatial Gravesham Vision, this source 
material has formed the basis of the proposed four-year Corporate Plan with the 
following ambition: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of.

2.7 In seeking to deliver against that ambition, the draft Corporate Plan establishes a 
suite of corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that act as a 
framework against which all council plans, projects and initiatives will be planned, 
resourced and delivered.

2.8 At the heart of the Corporate Plan are three corporate objectives, each with their own 
portfolio of activities and initiatives but, importantly, designed to work with and 
support each other for the benefit of our local community: 

 #1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

 #2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local 
economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong 
and active community.

 #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and 
committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled 
workforce and strong governance environment.

Page 8



Corporate Plan 2019-23: Cabinet (9 September 2019)

3. Performance Management Framework

3.1 To evaluate if we are effectively achieving against our stated objectives and 
delivering consistently high quality services for local residents, the council needs to 
have in place a sound performance management process. As such, in the 
development of this draft Corporate Plan a full review has been undertaken into the 
existing Performance Management Framework (PMF).  

3.2 The review process identified a significant number of new indicators would be 
required in order to directly and transparently evidence the delivery of the suite of 
policy commitments set out in the draft Corporate Plan. These proposed changes are 
largely driven by;

 Comprehensive coverage: since the existing PMF was established in 
2015, alongside some services not previously covered, a number of new 
services have been established. Performance management should be 
embedded throughout the organisation and, in developing our corporate 
governance and working practices, it is essential therefore that the PMF is 
comprehensive of all council services.

 New business activities: the council’s activities have evolved since 2015 
and, through the manifesto pledges of the elected administration, are set 
to further develop in the 2019-23 period. In order to keep pace, a number 
of changes are therefore proposed to the existing PMF; e.g. the 
commitment to establish a Local Authority Trading Company to generate 
essential income for re-investment in frontline council services. 

3.3 On its adoption, the PMF will form the basis of corporate performance reporting to 
Members during the 2019-23 period. As determined by the Leader of the Executive, 
this will primarily be delivered through a commitment to a quarterly performance 
reporting process to Cabinet and portfolio-based Cabinet Committees.

4. Next Steps

4.1 Cabinet Members have been engaged in a number of areas during the drafting 
phase of the proposed Corporate Plan; e.g. presentation and consideration of the 
results of the community consultation and by providing an individual statement of 
intent relating to their respective portfolio of responsibilities. This report therefore 
presents Cabinet with a final opportunity to review and shape the content of the final 
draft, prior to submission to Full Council for approval and adoption.

4.2 As a key document in the council’s corporate Policy Framework, as defined by the 
adopted Constitution, the Corporate Plan 2019-23 will be presented to the meeting of 
the Full Council on 8 October 2019 for formal adoption, taking into account any 
comments and suggestions made by Cabinet.

4.3 Following formal adoption by the Council, the plan will be officially launched in 
October 2019 through a programme of associated products, including a formal press 
release, coordinated by the council’s Communications Team.  

Page 9



Corporate Plan 2019-23: Cabinet (9 September 2019)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy 
framework as defined by the Constitution. Approval of the new Plan will ensure 
the council has in place a structure with which to effectively plan and resource 
the delivery of its stated policy commitments and statutory responsibilities, 
monitored by a PMF aimed at securing best value for local residents.

Finance and 
Value for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the council’s Corporate Plan. The 
plan itself provides a policy context and framework from which future council 
activities should be based and which therefore should be accounted for as part 
of on-going financial planning processes.
Adoption of the Corporate Plan is likely to result in some direct communication-
based activities and minor publication costs as the key messages of the plan are 
promoted to various stakeholders.  

Risk 
Assessment

It is vital that the council formally sets out its key objectives, policy commitments 
and relevant performance management arrangements over the coming years, in 
order to clearly demonstrate how successfully the work undertaken meets the 
needs and aspirations of local residents. As a core element of the council’s 
corporate governance arrangements, without a Corporate Plan that outlines a 
clear strategic platform the council may increase the risk of its resources not 
being directed in the most effective way to tackle community need. 

Failure to put in place an effective Corporate Plan for the 2019-23 period could 
result in a lack of transparency and accountability to decision making, and a lack 
of a coordinated ambition for the authority in its service planning process. 

Equally, implementation of a PMF allows the council to evidence how successful 
it is in achieving against its stated objectives and, for residents, it provides 
genuine accountability in how successfully the council is administering its 
resources.   
A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence 
data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor 
or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Page 10

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Corporate Plan 2019-23: Cabinet (9 September 2019)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 
Equality Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in 
the community?
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality?
Yes. In preparing this plan, a 12-week community consultation was carried 
out which was fully representative of the demographic profile of the borough.

The draft Corporate Plan itself promotes a declared commitment to develop 
a cohesive and resilient community with a view to promoting equality, 
activities that support the ethos of this proposed plan in ‘Delivering a 
Gravesham to be proud of’. 
Internally, the proposed Corporate Plan also includes the monitoring of 
gender pay as part of its revised PMF, further emphasising a commitment to 
the equalities agenda. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate Plan The draft Corporate Plan, as presented in this report, will set the strategic 
ambition and corporate objectives for the authority over the 2019-23 period. All 
future committee reports will be presented in consideration of the new Corporate 
Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

In view of the council’s statutory duties, community safety as an agenda is an 
integral theme of the draft Corporate Plan. Work by the council in this area, 
alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate objective 
#1: People and the related policy commitment; 

Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, 
detection and reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding 
of local residents.

Digital and 
website 
implications

On its adoption the Corporate Plan will be published and promoted via the 
council’s website. In terms of direct commitments, digital activity is a direct 
commitment of the new Corporate Plan; 
Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer insight and a 
quality digital experience, and the IT solutions to transform services, delivering a 
dynamic working environment.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

See ‘crime and disorder’. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
CORPORATE PLAN 2019-23 

 
Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 13



2 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 14



3 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

Contents 
 

Chapter 
 

Section Page  

Introduction Leader of the Executive 4 

 
 

Chapter 1 

Gravesham Community 

• Gravesham profile: understanding our community 
• Gravesham consultation: listening to our community  
• Gravesham objectives: planning for our community 
• Gravesham Vision: shaping our community 

 

 

5-9 

 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 2 

Gravesham Objectives 

• #1: People 
 

• #2: Place 
 

• #3: Progress 
 

• ‘Plan on a page’: a summary  

 

 

 
10-18 

 
 
 

Chapter 3 

Gravesham Delivery 

• Who will deliver: meet the Cabinet  
• How we will deliver: the ‘Golden Thread’ 
• Measuring delivery: performance management  
• Financing delivery: how we fund our services 

 

 
19-27 

 
 
 

P
age 15



4 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

Leader of the Executive: an introduction 
 
 
When I first entered council politics all the way back in 1987, my ambition 
was simple; to use my position to better the lives of local residents and 
help people feel proud of the place they live. 
 
Times may have changed since then but that ambition, that vision of 
building a better borough, rings as true today as it did all those years ago.  
 
Gravesham is a great borough. As a local community however, in recent 
times we seem to have lost our way a little in what Gravesham stands 
for, what it represents and the place it should be. As the elected leader 
for the council, I am fully committed to tackling this. 
 
This Corporate Plan therefore has the overriding ambition of delivering a 
Gravesham to be proud of: 
 

• a borough where you can visit a town centre that is safe,  
attractive and full of life;  
 

• a place where, building on our commitment to tackling climate 
change, we are considerate of our historical living environment; 
and,  
 

• a Gravesham where we put local people first, working to 
ensure residents are safe, healthy and active in a place they 
are proud to call home. 

 
After a decade of the most significant and sustained cuts to local 
government funding in living memory, and at a time when people 
are living longer, we need more homes, more jobs and more 
investment in the borough, we know we are going to have to do 
things differently. To get anywhere near our ambition as a council 
we have to, and we will, take control of our own destiny.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

It would be easy for the council to scale back and provide only what we have to. 
That is simply not enough for myself or my Cabinet colleagues. I firmly believe 
that the council has a moral and social responsibility to play our part and do 
whatever we can to improve the well-being and quality of life of local people.  

 
To deliver on this administration’s election manifesto, I am therefore delighted 
to stand by the bold commitments we have set out throughout this plan. 

 
As has always been my own ambition, I therefore look forward to working 
with you in delivering a Gravesham we can all be proud of. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor John Burden 
Leader of the Executive

P
age 16



5 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 1: GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 17



6 | P a g e
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

Gravesham Profile: understanding our community 
Gathering relevant information about the profile of the local community enables us to better target our resources and make fully informed decisions when designing 
service interventions with the greatest impact for local residents. 

In understanding the borough, and the scale of community need, we can more effectively plan our services. Profiling the community, against each of the 12 district 
councils in Kent wherever possible, therefore forms a key part of the evidence base on which this Corporate Plan and its objectives was developed. A selection of 
datasets are provided below, with the full Community Profile available on the council’s website: https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/communityprofile 

Gravesham in numbers: 

106,100: smallest population in Kent. 10.7per hectare: third highest 
population density in Kent. 

23%: residents with an ethnicity other 
than ‘white British’, highest in Kent. 

25.9%: primary school children without 
English as a first language. 

5.5%: highest rate of housing over-
occupancy in Kent. 

205: average annual number of 
dwellings built over the last five years. 

13.5 years: difference in average male 
life expectancy between most and 

least deprived wards. 

8.8 years: difference in average female 
life expectancy between most and 

least deprived wards. 

44.4%: businesses surviving 5 years or 
more, ahead of the Kent average. 

23.2%: highest level of obesity 
amongst Year 6 children in Kent. 

£576.90: fifth lowest average weekly 
full-time earnings in Kent. 

3.1%: fifth highest rate of 
unemployment in Kent. 

20%: residents holding ‘Level 4 
(degree) qualifications and above’, 4th 

lowest in Kent. 

121: incidents of crime per 1,000 
residents, third highest rate in Kent. 

P
age 18

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/communityprofile


7 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

Gravesham Consultation: listening to our community 
 

As a local authority, working with and listening to our community through our consultation practices enables us to better understand expectations and more 
effectively plan our services in response.  
   
Effective consultation helps build trust and public confidence and, ultimately, leads to better informed decision making.  
 
Over 800 Gravesham residents, businesses and community groups took part in our Corporate Plan consultation exercise, providing over 2,500 individual pieces 
of information and intelligence relating to community requests for council provision and intervention. Leading themes from the consultative process were 
identified as:  
 

• Positive enforcement: whether in regards to littering, planning conditions, housing tenancies or private housing standards, the community was clear 
in its request for the council to take a proactive stance to enforcement. 

 
• A local ‘green’ offer: management of parks, accessible green spaces, greater horticultural coverage and improvements to play sites and the town 

centre street scene. 
 

• Economic regeneration: a clear message was for the council to take a more hands-on role in shaping Gravesham as a ‘place’ and to set out our 
economic plans for the future. 

 
• Clean environment: a commitment to cleanliness in all forms; refuse, littering, fly-tipping, graffiti, parks. The Gravesham environment was the highest 

scoring theme. 
 

• Tackling homelessness / supporting vulnerable residents: there was a significant number of requests for increased council support in the 
consultation, none more so than for vulnerable residents. 

 
This exercise provided us with an understanding of what areas of our work are of greatest importance to the local community. Working alongside the 
community profile and the manifesto of the elected administration, this Corporate Plan was therefore designed in full consideration of the feedback received.  
 
The results gave us a transparent and community-driven platform. It is our responsibility to now make the choices and decisions required to protect, re-invest 
in and improve those most valued frontline services as we work towards our ambition of delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 19



8 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

Gravesham Objectives: planning for our community 
 
 
 
The Corporate Plan presents the scale of the council’s plans for the borough and sets the tone and guiding principles from which all council activity will be based 
over a four year period.   
 
In drafting this Corporate Plan we have: 

• analysed a variety of government sources to identify relevant community needs, inequalities and opportunities; 
• listened to and accounted for the ambitions and expectations of local residents and businesses;  
• built in the manifesto pledges of the council’s elected administration; and  
• costed the plan with an assessment of the likely future resources available to the council. 

 
Working within the context of the council’s established Gravesham Vision, these sources have enabled us to draw together our ambition for the borough for 
2019-23; delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. 
 
In seeking to deliver against that ambition, we have established a suite of corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that act as a framework 
against which all council strategies, projects and initiatives will be planned, resourced and delivered. These three corporate objectives will each have their own 
portfolio of activities and initiatives but, importantly, are designed to work with and support each other for the benefit of our local community.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

#1 People protected environment 
quality living a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home. 

#2 Place vibrant economy 
connected community 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of 
growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community. 

#3 Progress entrepreneurial authority 
strong leadership 

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment. 

This plan sets out the strategic direction for the council over the 2019-23 period. The plan establishes a suite of corporate objectives and supporting policy 
commitments that will guide everything we do and how we go about it.   

P
age 20



9 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

Gravesham Vision: shaping our community 
 

Gravesham has in place a Local Plan that sets out the plans for development in the borough to 2028. At its heart is a spatial vision for Gravesham that is 
developed by the council’s Core Strategy, with the success of planning policies measured against it. 
 
Through its adopted Local Plan, the council has in place a Gravesham Vision: 
 

By 2028, Gravesham will be a place where residents have access to quality housing, jobs and services that allow them to meet their day-to-day 
needs in an environmentally safe, vibrant and attractive borough; a Gravesham to be proud of. Development and growth will be managed to ensure 
that local infrastructure impacts are mitigated. Whilst facilitating this growth, the borough’s protected landscapes and natural habitats will be 
safeguarded and the impact of growth on the environment minimised.  

 
The objectives of our Local Plan, and the successful delivery of the overarching Gravesham Vision, can only be achieved through the direct actions of the 
council as detailed in this Corporate Plan. The organisational objectives and commitments of this Corporate Plan have therefore been developed in full 
consideration of the Gravesham Vision and, equally, designed to commit and shape the council’s operations to its successful delivery as detailed below:  
 

Gravesham Vision: objectives 
 

Corporate Plan: objectives 

A regenerated Gravesend and Northfleet. From areas with a significant number of brownfield sites and redundant 
buildings to areas that offers a more diverse range of employment and housing. 

#1 People: Quality living & 
#2 Place: Vibrant economy 

Delivery of new homes that allow residents and their families to stay and grow in the Borough. Homes of differing types, 
tenures and size will have been provided that enhance the character of the Borough’s urban and rural areas. 

#1 People: Quality living 

Economic growth and a matching skilled workforce, increasing the Borough’s appeal and prosperity. Increased local 
employment opportunities for residents will also have reduced the need to travel outside the Borough for employment. 

#2 Place: Vibrant economy 

Transformation of Gravesend Town Centre it into a community and cultural hub. This modern town centre, and its diverse 
offer, will provide both residents and visitors with a unique experience, supported by excellent public transport. 

#2 Place: Vibrant economy 

Enhanced riverfront access and permeability of the Thames Path. Residents and visitors will enjoy the River Thames and 
local heritage and environmental assets such as the New Tavern Fort and the Thames Estuary and Marshes.  

#1 People: Quality living 

Improved walking and cycling links and established Green Infrastructure network. This will help reduce health inequalities 
and improve quality of life, provide benefits to wildlife, protect the landscape and deliver sustainable public transport.  

#2 Place: Connected community 

Conserved and enhanced the Borough’s rich historic built environment, landscape character and biodiversity as well as 
respected its distinctive local character. 

#2 Place: Vibrant economy 

Adopted sustainable living and operating practices delivering a cleaner, more attractive and healthier Gravesham, working 
towards preparing for the borough to become carbon neutral.  

#1 People: Protected environment 

 
In order to be successful in our own organisational ambition of delivering a Gravesham to be proud of, our community-focussed objectives will be 
underpinned by our final commercially-driven objective #3: Progress. In an age of limited government support, only by transforming our service delivery 
models and generating our own income can we hope to finance our expanded frontline offer and, ultimately, deliver the Gravesham Vision. 

 

P
age 21



10 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INFOGRAPHIC: GRAVESHAM SCENE INC. OBJECTIVES/COMMITTMENTS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 22



11 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 2: GRAVESHAM OBJECTIVES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 23



12 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 

 
At the heart of every local community are its people: young and old; commuters; parents; business owners; vulnerable residents; all with different hopes, 
needs and expectations. At the heart of our Corporate Plan therefore is a commitment to deliver the type, scale and quality of services our residents need 
and deserve. Putting people first and prioritising a protected living environment that is safe, clean and attractive, is at the core of objective #1: People.   
 
Protected environment 
Gravesham residents want a feeling of safety and a sense of personal pride in where they live; protection of their local environment. That means the 
knowledge they are safe in their own home and neighbourhood and that the most vulnerable in society are being safeguarded from harm. Residents also 
have the ambition for a ‘green borough’, one with clean streets and green, open, accessible and protected spaces enjoyed by all.  

 
To meet these expectations, through this Corporate Plan the council is putting in place a strong local offer for its core frontline services; to not just do what 
it can when it can, but to do what it should when it’s needed most.  
 

 
Our commitments: 
• Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the 

prevention, detection and reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour, 
and the safeguarding of local residents. 

• Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee 
safety first by ensuring commercial businesses and licence holders are 
fully compliant with expected legislative standards. 

• Carbon neutral borough: in declaring a climate emergency, begin to 
take action to prepare Gravesham to become carbon neutral by 2030. 

• Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to 
further increase levels of household recycling and actively address 
contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough. 

• Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an 
attractive town centre: a comprehensive programme of street 
cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance.  

• Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to 
pursue anyone committing environmental crime or damaging the local 
environment.  

Our performance:  
 
PI 1 Total number of reported crime offences 
PI 2 Total number of reported Anti-Social Behaviour incidents  
PI 3 Total number of reported health and safety incidents 
PI 4 % of broadly compliant food establishments 

PI 5 % of environmental health service requests receiving a first 
response within five working days 

PI 6 Total co2 emissions in the borough  
PI 7 Total co2 emissions from council assets 
PI 8 % of household waste recycled 
PI 9 Total volume of residual waste per household 
PI 10 % of household waste sent to landfill 

PI 11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC 
responsibility 

PI 12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering 
PI 13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

#1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home. 
 
 

P
age 24



13 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
Quality living  
A sustainable housing sector improves the lives of local people, strengthens communities and delivers a number of associated social benefits; tackling public 
health inequalities whilst increasing social mobility. In that knowledge we are determined to play our part for local people in meeting demand for quality market 
and affordable housing across all needs. Equally, as a social housing landlord, our commitment is to provide a service that works closely with tenants at all 
times, progressively delivering housing improvements and creatively working to meet local housing needs, particularly for the most vulnerable residents.  
 
Alongside our housing efforts, a number of other frontline services directly impact on the quality of life for local people. Whether ensuring an efficient council 
tax service, delivering an accessible, competitively priced and properly enforced car parking offer, or making sure our customer based services are effective, 
responsive and open to all, we are committed to getting things right first time. We will create a living environment that, importantly, puts local people first.  
 
 
Our commitments: 
• Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase 

the supply of high quality market and affordable housing. 

• Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to 
tackle property standards, empty homes and homes in multiple 
occupation. 

• Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing 
service: high quality tenant management experienced through a 
service making full use of its assets.  

• Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures 
and creative interventions that support the most vulnerable. 

• Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: 
progressively improve the standard and efficiency of local housing. 

• Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective 
frontline services accessible to all.  

• A sound car parking offer: support the local living environment with 
suitable and competitive parking provision, maintained by an effective 
enforcement regime.  

 
Our performance: 
 
PI 14 Total number of net additional homes delivered  
PI 15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered 
PI 16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into 

occupation 
PI 17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard  
PI 18 Average time taken to re-let council housing  
PI 19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time 
PI 20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation 
PI 21 % of emergency jobs completed on time 
PI 22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification 
PI 23 Average processing time for Housing Benefit claims 

PI 24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in 
Housing Benefit claims 

PI 25 % satisfaction with Customer Services (Reception) 
PI 26 Total number of reported corporate complaints 
PI 27 % of council car parks awarded Park Mark status 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 25



14 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 
Gravesham has a proud heritage and benefits from a strong, diverse local community. To build on these foundations, as local place-shapers this Corporate 
Plan commits us to securing much-needed development that addresses local resident need and, ultimately, presents a Gravesham for the future; one in which 
people choose to live, work and enjoy. High quality regeneration projects and creative initiatives to deliver sustained economic growth, supported by a 
package of community well-being measures that promote the unique sense of Gravesham as a place therefore form the foundations of objective #2: Place.    
 
Vibrant economy 
We want a strong, resilient and productive Gravesham economy, providing rewarding jobs and incomes for local people. To achieve this, we have a vital 
responsibility to create the right conditions for major regeneration and sustained economic growth, now and into the future; providing the required space, 
accommodation and infrastructure to attract investment and enable businesses to grow, developing resident employability and promoting the borough as ‘open 
for business’. Our efforts will not end there. We will proactively facilitate economic growth in the borough using our own resources and assets; building new 
industrial units and, importantly, progressively intervening where the market has failed in tackling empty and unused sites primed for development.    
 
From the regeneration of the traditional heart of Gravesend town centre into an attractive, mixed community hub for modern living, leisure and work, through to 
the implementation of a high quality business infrastructure, we are committed to delivering growth in Gravesham and making it a place that works for all. 
 
 
Our commitments: 
• Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a 

programme of strategic regeneration schemes, supported by an 
effective Town Centre team.  

• Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and 
transport infrastructure and improve local land usage through a 
diversified commercial premises portfolio. 

• Promote a borough ‘open for business’: with a focus on retaining 
existing businesses and encouraging new start-ups, increase the level 
and range of business investment to drive economic growth.  

• Improve economic conditions: alongside key partner agencies, 
develop a package of measures that support local enterprises and 
deliver a workforce with the skills needed by modern business. 

• Positively promote sustainable development: deliver a pro-active 
development management service, underpinned by a sound Local Plan 
that protects and enhances our historic natural and built environment.  

 
 
Our performance: 
 
PI 28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties 
PI 29 Average weekly town centre footfall 
PI 30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties     
PI 31 Total number of vacant commercial properties  
PI 32 % net gain in new businesses   
PI 33 % rate of resident unemployment  
PI 34 % rate of youth unemployment 
PI 35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time  
PI 36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its 
strong and active community. 
 
 
 

P
age 26



15 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
Connected community 
Gravesham is a borough of significant cultural heritage with a strong sense of community, something we want to nurture in delivering a place people want to 
live, work and enjoy. Gravesham is the most diverse borough in Kent. If we are to be successful in our aim therefore, with that knowledge comes the need and 
opportunity to bring people together; helping consult, educate and celebrate in building a cohesive community.  Our identity also extends to the cultural sector 
and we understand the fundamental and diverse role it plays, from tackling social isolation through to boosting the local economy. To promote the Gravesham 
brand, we therefore have the responsibility to further develop the borough’s physical heritage and strong arts offer.  

 
Building a strong, happy, integrated community is not restricted to promotional work alone. Gravesham has large scale health inequalities and, whilst 
improvements have been made in recent times, the difference experienced across the borough is stark. We are committed to addressing this. Through this 
Corporate Plan we will provide high quality leisure facilities, sporting programmes and green open spaces that are accessible to all. Aligned to that general 
offer, working with our partners we will promote a series of targeted support interventions aimed at improving the overall health and well-being of residents.  
 
 
Our commitments: 
• Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and 

creative sports programmes to tackle local health inequalities.  

• Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high 
quality play areas and promote opportunities for active lives. 

• Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: 
work with partners to help support and safeguard vulnerable residents.  

• Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading 
programme of engagement initiatives, showcasing the borough’s 
diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life. 

• Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The 
Woodville and the Borough Market as community assets. 

• Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in 
their community reach and expand the visitor economy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Our performance: 
 
PI 37 Total number of leisure centre attendees 
PI 38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees 
PI 39 % of council play sites annually inspected 

PI 40 Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the 
Gr@nd’s healthy living services 

PI 41 Total number of community activities/events delivered by the 
council and in conjunction with its partners  

PI 42 Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville 
PI 43 Average weekly Borough Market footfall 
PI 44 Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 27



16 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 
Gravesham residents have made it clear - they want a more ‘hands-on’ and community-focussed council. If the last Corporate Plan was defined by our work 
to ‘Bridge the Gap’ financially, this plan is to be defined by a progressive, interventionist approach; vital to improve the quality of life deserved by residents 
and the development of a place to be proud. To fulfil our stated objectives and commitments it is essential that a systematic change in how we approach 
service delivery is undertaken, within a framework of creative management and sound governance; collectively this forms the basis of objective #3: Progress.  
 
Entrepreneurial authority 
We operate in an environment of ever-increasing demand for our services and ever-growing customer expectations of the quality we provide. Compounding 
this has been a decade of the largest ever cuts to local government funding that have, inevitably, had a lasting impact on the borough. In the face of ongoing 
uncertainty to local government funding, to successfully realise our community-focussed objectives we will put in place a package of new ways of working. 
Whether creating new income via a trading company and a diversified property investment portfolio, or delivering a comprehensive programme of business 
process reviews to realise service efficiencies, we will implement a commercial culture to finance our expanded frontline offer; a social return on investment.  
 
Central to our change agenda is a commitment to the creative use of technology. Digital technology is reshaping and impacting every business, industry and 
economy, as well as customer expectations for 24-hour accessible services. High quality and personalised digital services that provide the flexibility expected 
of a modern business, coupled with IT solutions that transform the way we are able to deliver our services, are the foundation of our plans for innovation. 
 
 
Our commitments: 
• Develop an entrepreneurial culture: deliver on commercial 

opportunities to generate income and provide a social impact.  

• A financially innovative council: design a suite of initiatives to 
achieve genuine financial independence and generate the income 
required for our enhanced frontline offer. 

• Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: 
implement a programme of ‘continuous change’, overhauling business 
processes and delivering new, innovative service design. 

• Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer 
insight and a quality digital experience, and the IT solutions to 
transform services, delivering a dynamic working environment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Our performance: 
 
PI 45 Total rental income from property investments 
PI 46 Average yield generated by property investment activity 
PI 47 Total amount secured through contractual social value 
PI 48 % of income from commercial activity in relation to net revenue 

spend 
PI 49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements 
PI 50 Total number of people signed up to Citizens Access  
PI 51 Total number of online self-help forms completed 
PI 52 % of workforce IT-enabled for remote working 

 
 
 

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment. 
 
 
 

P
age 28



17 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
Strong leadership  
To truly embrace the scale of change and innovation required to deliver our ambition for the borough, we need our organisation to be fully prepared. We 
recognise that the quality of our service is inherently linked to the performance talent of our staff. For this reason we are committed to being an employer of 
choice; one that delivers a fully agile, creative, skilled and supported workforce. From robust and progressive policies and practices fit for a modern employer, 
to a workforce development plan that unlocks the potential of staff and develops strong leaders throughout the organisation, we know that only by engaging, 
developing and empowering our most valuable asset can we hope to deliver the ambition set out in this plan. 
 
In conducting our business, at the heart of the council will be a culture of strong leadership and a robust framework of governance. In delivering this Corporate 
Plan’s identified priorities, our commitment to good governance will ensure we direct the right resources to the right services at the right time, operate on an 
inclusive and transparent platform and, crucially, achieve our stated outcomes - all designed to make a genuine difference to local residents.  

 
 

Our commitments: 
• An employer of choice: advance the council’s Investors in People 

standard through excellent working practices and conditions, 
delivering a high performing, engaged, and celebrated workforce.  

• Build a strong and trusted brand: establish a vibrant visual 
identity and develop excellent key stakeholder engagement.  

• Sound financial management: deliver an environment of 
responsible financial management through a robust Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy and consistent budget monitoring regime. 

• Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust 
and benchmarked performance management framework, delivered 
by services underpinned with sound internal controls.  

 
Our performance: 
 
PI 53 % gender pay gap across council staff 

PI 54 % of apprentices securing employment by end of 
apprenticeship 

PI 55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented 
PI 56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline 
PI 57 % meeting attendance rate of councillors 
  
  

 

• Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of 
compliance with all policy, constitutional and legislative demands.

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 29



         18 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

‘Plan on a page’: a summary  
 
 

#1 People                            #2 Place #3 Progress 

protected environment     quality living       vibrant economy connected community    entrepreneurial authority      strong leadership 

 
create stronger 
neighbourhoods 

 
enforce high regulatory 

standards 
 

carbon neutral borough 
 

improve the local 
environment 

 
create clean, welcoming 

neighbourhoods and 
parks, and an attractive 

town centre 
 

actively enforce 
environmental standards 

 
deliver an ambitious and 
diverse programme of 

building 
 

enforce a high quality of 
private housing 

 
provide a proactive, 

supportive and financially 
efficient housing service 

 
safeguard residents 

 
deliver a skilled in-house 

building management 
team 

 
put our customers first 

 
a sound car parking offer 

 
enhance the vibrancy of 

the Gravesham 
economy 

 
raise Gravesham’s 
economic profile 

 
promote a borough 
‘open for business’ 

 
improve economic 

conditions 
 

positively promote 
sustainable development 

 
design a quality and 

affordable leisure offer 
 

improve resident  
well-being 

 
manage a programme 

of proactive health 
interventions 

 
develop a cohesive and 

resilient community 
 

enhance the borough’s 
cultural offer 

 
promote Gravesham’s 

arts and heritage 

 
develop an entrepreneurial 

culture 
 

a financially innovative 
council 

 
deliver more resilient, 

creative and cost-effective 
council 

 
digital innovation 

 
an employer of choice 

 
build a strong and 

trusted brand 
 

sound financial 
management 

 
drive service 

improvement and 
corporate governance 

 
successfully manage 

key business risks 

 
 
 

P
age 30



         19 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 3: GRAVESHAM DELIVERY 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 31



         20 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

Who will deliver: meet the Cabinet 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor John Burden  
Leader of the Executive 

“This administration was elected with a clear mandate to deliver a Gravesham 
to be proud of. As council Leader, my portfolio sets a tone for the authority. I will 
deliver a financially confident council; one that will provide financially efficient 
services and generate the income needed to re-invest in our expanded 
community offer. We cannot however operate in isolation. I will be making it a 
priority of this adminstration to reconnect the council with local residents, 
businesses and community groups. To deliver our ambition we need to 
understand what is needed, how it should be delivered and when it matters 
most. Together we truly can deliver a Gravesham to be proud of.” 

 

  

 

 

 

Responsible for: Finance, Legal, Communications, Digital, IT, Property, 
Human Resources, Car Parking, Customer Services, Emergency Planning 
and Special Projects 

The council’s Cabinet consists of the Leader of the Executive and six other elected councillors. Each councillor has their own specific portfolio and is 
responsible for ensuring officers proactively work to deliver the council’s corporate objectives at the community’s expected level of service.  

P
age 32



         21 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

Councillor Lee Croxton 
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Operational Services 
 
“Our election manifesto was clear; a safe, clean, green borough is 
essential if we are to deliver a Gravesham to be proud of. My portfolio is 
therefore tasked with creating a living environment people can truly enjoy. 
That means pro-actively using all the influence we have to work towards 
becoming a carbon neutral borough, whilst putting in place the highest 
possible offer from our environmental services to keep Gravesham tidy. It 
also means safeguarding residents from any business taking short cuts 
and putting the health and safety of residents at risk. Our community 
consultation told us a quality environment was top priority and it is one I 
am committed to delivering.”    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox  
Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure 
 
“The foundation of our council is to build a safe, accessible, inclusive and 
healthy community, fully engaged on issues that affect them. My portfolio 
therefore has three key themes. First safety; I will ensure the Police and our 
Community Safety Team are accountable in protecting residents from crime and 
anti-social behaviour whilst reviewing our youth and community offer, including 
support for the Gr@nd. Secondly, access and inclusivity; ensuring a viable 
leisure offer open to all and, through our tourism, events and Borough Market 
assets, showcase the very best of Gravesham, including our integral 
relationship with the River, whilst giving arts groups space to flourish. Finally, 
engagement; deliver a listening council, intrinsically linked to its residents in its 
support for our elderly and young people, including the Gravesham Youth 
Council, to become active and engaged citizens.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Responsible for: Waste & Horticulture, Street Cleansing, Cemeteries, 
Environmental Health, Health & Safety and Licensing.  

Responsible for: Community Safety, Sport Development, GCLL, The 
Woodville, Community Engagement, Gr@nd, Arts, Heritage & Tourism, 
Gravesham Borough Market and Town Twinning.  

P
age 33



         22 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

Councillor Lenny Rolles  
Cabinet Member for Commercial Services 

“At a time of increased cuts to local authority funding from central 
government we promised to deliver an ambitious strategy, providing 
exceptional services for our community. As the Cabinet Member for 
Commercial Services, I am determined that we strive towards finding 
innovative ways to generate the resources needed to deliver this exciting 
strategy, developed in partnership with our officers and 
this administration. Only by innovating and adopting a commercial 
approach will we be able to re-invest and deliver the excellent services 
our residents expect and deserve. I am delighted to play my 
part, delivering our strategy and developing a secure source of funding 
for our community.”  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor Brian Sangha 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Environment 

“My priority is to deliver a programme of much needed community-led 
regeneration, building a place fit for the future. Residents have made it clear; 
the council must lead the charge. Economically this means promoting 
Gravesham as open for business, a place that drives growth and sustainable 
employment prospects for local residents and, crucially, a place that can attract 
new business investment through positive development of its land and transport 
assets. Success can only be achieved however with a truly efficient planning 
function. I am therefore committed to providing a service with the right policy 
solutions, particularly in addressing the impact of climate change, and one that 
is underpinned by a timely and supportive development process.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Responsible for: Commercial Activities and Property Investment. Responsible for: Development Management, Building Control, Conservation, 
Environmental Management, Planning Policy and Economic Development.  

P
age 34



         23 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

Councillor Narinder Singh Thandi  
Cabinet Member for Performance & Administration 

“The council has a new, progressive ambition for the borough and the 
Performance and Administration portfolio is vital in its success. My brief is 
twofold; firstly to positively implement new ways of working, challenging 
our services to operate as efficiently as possible. Secondly, my role is to 
ensure the council has in place a strong governance offer, one where 
services work to tested internal controls and a robust performance 
management framework. Collectively these aims will work to provide 
quality council services that deliver the outcomes our community need at 
the greatest possible value for money.”  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor Jenny Wallace 
Cabinet Member for Housing Services 

“Decent and affordable housing for all local people was a cornerstone of our 
election manifesto and something close to my heart. I will be working to deliver 
new council housing for Gravesham residents whilst ensuring developers play 
their part, providing new affordable housing in local developments. Housing is 
not just about volume. Decent housing promotes health and well-being, helping 
people look forward in life. I will therefore tackle poor, unsuitable housing 
standards and, equally, work alongside partners to find a sustainable solution to 
the cause and effect of homelessness. Getting this right is essential if we are to 
truly deliver a Gravesham to be proud of.” 

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Responsible for: Revenue & Benefits, Corporate Performance, Audit & 
Counter Fraud, Corporate Change, Information Governance and 
Corporate Governance.  

Responsible for: Social Housing, Repairs, Housing Strategy & 
Development, Housing Provision, Private Sector Housing, Rented Sector 
Housing and Affordable Homes.  

P
age 35



         24 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

How we deliver: the ‘Golden Thread’ 
 

The Corporate Plan presents the scale of the council’s ambition and the core objectives and commitments required in delivering a Gravesham to be proud of.  

To be successful, it is vital that all corporate policies, strategies and 
business plans are fully informed, designed and resourced to support the 
delivery of our corporate objectives. For the council, this is not a single 
top-down exercise. We have instead adopted an ongoing method of 
engaging all stakeholders: staff; Members; partners and residents; in the 
informing, planning, reviewing and, ultimately, delivering of continuous 
improvement in council services; the ‘Golden Thread’.  
 
The diagram outlines our adopted ‘Golden Thread’ model of corporate 
planning, tasked with delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. With our 
policy framework at its heart, the ‘Golden Thread’ involves the following: 

 
• Inform: community intelligence relating to resident need and 

aspiration, pooled alongside external factors such as government 
legislation, to establish the scale of corporate ambition and the 
intent of the council’s policy framework. 
 

• Plan: business plans and strategies that design the projects, 
initiatives and processes required to deliver the corporate 
objectives and the aims of the council’s wider policy framework. 
These fully resourced plans commit to how we will achieve, who 
will be responsible and how we will measure performance. 
 

• Review: performance outcomes are reviewed throughout the 
organisation. The Cabinet and Corporate Management Team are 
provided with regular intelligence relating to the council’s 
achievement against our established objectives. The council’s 
corporate aims also provide the framework for the setting of 
personal objectives and measuring the effectiveness of officers 
via the council’s appraisal process. This in turn is reintroduced to 
the cycle to help shape future service strategies and consideration 
of the scale of council aims and ambition at a corporate level.  

In order to successfully deliver on our ambition for the borough, we have implemented a ‘Golden Thread’; a continuous cycle connecting the corporate 
aims, policy framework and delivery plans of the council, with the actions of Members, officers and partners at all levels.  

P
age 36



         25 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

Measuring delivery: performance management     
 
 

A comprehensive and robust Performance Management Framework 
(PMF) is key to any successful organisation. Our adopted PMF allows 
us to critically evaluate progress against our stated objectives, provides 
industry intelligence that can drive service transformation and, for 
residents, it delivers genuine scrutiny in how successfully the council is 
administering its resources.  

Management  
In order to realise our ambition for the borough, everyone is responsible 
for managing and delivering expected levels of performance:  
 

Cabinet: establishes the council’s ambition and policy commitments, 
as set out in this Corporate Plan 2019-23, and works with and holds 
officers to account in its successful delivery. Cabinet is also 
responsible for the setting of the council’s associated Annual Budget. 
 
 
Corporate Management Team (CMT): providing strategic oversight 
of performance management, CMT reviews operational progress 
identifying relevant areas for improvement and establishing 
appropriate intervention.  
 
 
Wider Management Team (WMT): take the lead in setting stretching 
objectives that support and respond to the delivery of the council’s 
policy commitments. WMT establish resourced business plans setting 
appropriate planning, monitoring and review processes with officers.  
 
 
Gravesham Borough Council officers: responsible for their own 
performance in achieving personal targets directly linked to corporate 
objectives. Personal milestones are established in the annual 
appraisal process and continuously reviewed in-year. 

 
 
 

Monitoring 
The effective management of the council relies upon having good quality 
information with which to monitor and deliver evidence-based decisions. The 
council’s PMF involves a range of information, including corporate 
performance indicators and a suite of internal management indicators that, 
collectively, provide insight into the progressive impact of council services.  
 

Reporting 
To ensure fully informed and transparent decision making, formal 
performance reporting takes place at different times and to different audiences 
including: 

Quarterly: performance reports of corporate indicators to CMT and 
subsequently to Cabinet for consideration and scrutiny. This is supported 
by tailored contextual reports to Cabinet Committees detailing the scale of 
work delivered by the authority. All material is published via the council’s 
digital platform and ‘Your Borough’ publication. 

Yearly: audited annual performance report to Cabinet covering all 
performance indicators contributing to the council’s corporate objectives, 
providing an effective position statement.   

To further embed a performance-related culture within the council, the PMF is 
also analysed against other local authorities. This approach enables us to 
better understand our comparative levels of service performance and, equally, 
to identify opportunities for improvement in the quality of council services. 
Covering both core service performance and expenditure, benchmarking 
analysis is regularly reported to the CMT to inform executive decision making. 

 

 

 

The council recognises the importance of an effective, transparent and intelligence-led performance management culture informed by officers, Members 
and residents. Adopting such an approach is essential to realise our corporate objectives and, ultimately, delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. 

P
age 37



         26 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 

Financing delivery: how we fund our services
 
  
 

 

 
 
Financial management  
 

Financial Planning 
The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) sets the framework within 
which the council plans and manages its finances, ensuring that these fit 
with and support the achievement of the council’s corporate objectives. 
Good financial management is driven by our Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) for the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Business Plan for the council’s landlord responsibilities, both of 
which provide effective tools for in-year budget monitoring and longer-
term financial forecasting. 
 
Since the start of the government’s austerity programme in 2010, local 
government funding has been significantly reduced. Gravesham 
Borough Council has seen a 62% reduction in funding support from 
central government over this period; in excess of £3m per annum. 
 
In late 2015 central government announced that it would be ending 
support grants to local authorities as part of its deficit reduction policy.  
As a response to this, in early 2016 the council developed a proactive 
and multi-faceted Bridging the Gap strategy intended to overcome the 
funding gap identified at that time of £2.5m, equivalent to the council 
needing to save £10,000 each working day.  By 2019, this funding gap 
had increased to £4.2m due to other pressures on spending and further 
funding reductions. 
 
There is significant ongoing uncertainty in the financial environment in 
which local government operates.  The long-term arrangements for the 
funding of local government services from April 2020 is unclear, and the 
delay in the UK leaving the European Union and impact of any decisions 
around this may create further pressures.  
 
Against this background, we are committed to the ongoing analysis and 
review of the MTFS and sound financial governance in order to ensure 
the sustainability of the council’s finances and its community services.  
 

 

 
Gravesham Borough Council’s revenue funding: 2019/20 

 

 
 
 
 
 

£6,892m

£611,000

£3,085m

£3,296m

Council Tax New Homes Bonus

Business rates Commercial Income

The local Gravesham community has identified the key areas of business we should prioritise over the next four years; the council has put in place the 
financial planning infrastructure to deliver against these objectives and realise our corporate vision, whilst responding to the financial challenges it faces. 
 

P
age 38

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/index.jsp?articleid=3667


         27 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
Financial Innovation 
Alongside our own financial challenge, the council recognises that its 
residents have also been under pressure from changes to welfare 
benefits and the roll-out of Universal Credit, increasing costs and 
uncertainty within the economy caused by the delay in Brexit.   
 
Resident needs are also becoming increasing complex and the way in 
which people want to interact with the council is evolving; in the same 
way, the manner in which the council delivers its services and manages 
its financial sustainability also needs to continuously develop and evolve.  
 
The council has a strong track record in being agile and innovative in its 
response to the financial challenges it has faced, as demonstrated by 
the delivery of its ‘Bridging the Gap’ activities which have to date has 
delivered annual savings of £3.5m against the £4.2m target.   
 
But we can’t stop there and we won’t. In order for us to truly fulfil our 
ambition for the borough, and meet the needs and expectations of our 
residents for our expanded frontline offer, we have to innovate.  
 
Alongside fulfilling the remaining Bridging the Gap activity, we are 
therefore committed through this Corporate Plan to implement a 
commercial culture; identifying new financially efficient ways of providing 
our services as well as generating additional sources of income. To 
deliver on this commitment, planned initiatives include: 

• Expanding our commercial activity through the launch of a Local 
Authority Trading Company;  

• Acquiring and building property to drive future income streams; 

• Making best use of our cashflow balances through our 
investment activity, whilst maintaining security in any investment 
decisions made; 

• Challenging procurement activity to ensure they are fit for 
purpose and offer excellent value for money for our residents;  

• Continuing to review service delivery arrangements to ensure 
these reflect customer needs, are delivered in an efficient 
manner and make appropriate use of the latest technology; and 

• Maintaining robust control over our financial budgets and strong 
governance around its decision-making processes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39



         28 | P a g e  
Corporate Plan 2019-23: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORATE PLAN 2019-23 
 

[BACK COVER] 
 
 
 

P
age 40



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 09 September 2019

Reporting officer: Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) and Jan Guyler, Head 
of Legal Shared Service

Subject: Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a copy of the annual review that has been 
conducted in respect of the Legal Shared Service with Medway Council.

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since April 2017, the council has had in place a shared service with Medway 
Council for the delivery of the Legal services function.  This involved the transfer 
of all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who were employed within Legal 
Services at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), a formal review of the shared service is to be 
undertaken on an annual basis.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The annual review of the Legal Shared Service arrangement was undertaken in 
July 2019 and reported to the Gravesham Borough Council Management Team 
accordingly.

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

Page 41 Agenda Item 7



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 “Development of a Legal Shared Service” – report to Cabinet – 09 January 
2017

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 42



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.  

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2018-19 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of Legal Services was £407,710, which is an increase in the sum paid in 
the previous financial year (£348,357 in 2017-18). This is due to an agreed 
arrangement that, following the new GDPR requirements, GBC pay for the new 
Senior Information Governance Officer post in full, on the understanding the whole 
GDPR team are available to GBC.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and the annual performance reports has shown that the service 
is meeting and in some cases, exceeding its objectives.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 43

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to Objective 4 - "A sound and self-
sufficient council" through delivery of the following commitment:
- Deliver on opportunities for the sharing and selling of council services

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 44



                     

 

 
 
 

Review of the Legal Shared Service 
(including Information Governance) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Shared service Commenced: April 2017) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author(s): Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) and Stuart Bobby, Director 
(Corporate Services) at Gravesham Borough Council and Perry Holmes, Chief 
Legal Officer at Medway Council 

 

Date:   July 2019 

Page 45



Review of the Legal Shared Service 

July 2019 

  
Page 2 

 
  

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement. 

 

The objectives identified for the Legal Shared Service, including Information Governance, are as 
follows: 

• Efficiency savings. Realising actual financial savings across the two sites but maintaining delivery 
of the service.  

• Added resilience across the two authorities. There will be a larger pool of officers covering both 
authorities providing additional resilience to cover sickness absence/vacancies or increased 
workload should this be required  

• Availability of specialist skills across both authorities leading to increased efficiency; potential for 
a reduced requirement for external support from contractors etc.  

• Sharing of best practice in the delivery of Legal Services and Information Governance Services  

• Expansion of knowledge base of individual officers  

 

Key areas of focus for the 2018-19 financial year in relation to the Legal Shared Services were 
identified as follows: 

• Continue to review processes for a range of matters at both local authorities, adopt best practice 
from each and mirror the processes at both local authorities where practical.  

• Review the KPI’s being collated 

 

The Legal Shared Service has had a second successful year. The Audit into the service in July 2018 
scored the Service as ‘Strong’ and identified only one recommendation – to adopt a suite of KPIs to 
enable easier monitoring. A suite of KPI’s has been agreed with GBC Directors and is provided by the 
Head of Legal once a month within a Management Information Report also containing the numbers 
and types of cases being referred to the Legal Shared Service and a summary of significant cases that 
have been handled by the team and their outcomes. This MI Report is evidencing the continued 
strong performance of the service with all targets being met or exceeded.  

The service has undergone a significant period of change in the latter half of the year with a full 
restructure taking place and the new structure being implemented on the 1st June 2019. The 
restructure was in part triggered by the need to future proof the service and provide additional 
resilience in the property sphere to take account of the increasing level of high value high profile 
property work which both authorities are taking forward as part of their ambitious regeneration 
plans.  

The achievements of the team in the first year have continued through this year in all areas with 
successes continuing in all levels of litigation at the courts and delivering on the requirements of the 
Council’s property team. This is all the more impressive taken against the background of significant 
change highlighted above and it is to the credit of the team that they have continued to deliver 
exceptional service despite the upheaval. 

Page 46



Review of the Legal Shared Service 

July 2019 

  
Page 3 

 
  

 

The team has been able to keep the majority of matters in house save for the complex regeneration 
projects.  

The team have undertaken a review of processes for a range of matters with a view to adopting best 
practice and mirror the processes at both councils however, on a practical basis there were limited 
opportunities to make changes due to the different processes in place with other back office teams 
as the two councils work very differently.   

The role of the Shared Information Governance team is to support both Councils in being compliant 
with GDPR and related Data Protection legislation, and support both Councils in progressing 
Freedom of Information and Subject Access requests, etc, including monitoring the performance of 
both councils in responding within statutory timescales.  

A great deal of work has been undertaken by the IG team in relation to compliance with GDPR 
including supporting teams by attending their GDPR implementation working groups as the bulk of 
the compliance work needs to be undertaken by individual teams, with support from IG and there 
are varying degrees of progress across the council.  

There have been some staff shortages in the IG Team which has had some impact on the service 
however there are experienced locums in place while permanent recruitment takes place.  

An Audit in May 2019 recommended that: “An arrangement should be put in place to ensure 
engagement takes place between working group lead officers and IGG, with Wider Management 
Team receiving progress updates on GDPR compliance and once implementation has progressed 
sufficiently, a compliance framework should be put in place.”   

The IG Team have also made good progress in assessing both council’s compliance with the FOI 
Publication Scheme and the Transparency Code which require councils to publish certain types of 
data. The IG Team have prepared the Data Protection Policy and Anonymisation and 
Pseudonymisation Policy which have been adopted and they are in the process of preparing further 
policies.   

 

Page 47



Review of the Legal Shared Service 

July 2019 

  
Page 4 

 
  

Review Findings 
 

How is the shared service operating? 
1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 

document? 

Yes   No   In part  

 

Savings were realised at the outset and further savings made of £77,682 at the end of the first 
financial year due to the service being underspent with GBC’s 43% of the savings being 
£33,403.26.  

The Shared Service (Legal & IG) was underspent by £5,189 at the end of the second financial 
year with GBC’s 43% of the savings being £2,231.27. The reduced underspend was due to less 
savings than the previous year on salaries/locums to ensure the team maintained capacity to 
progress matters rather than instruct external solicitors.   

Staff have increased their knowledge and experience by taking on new matters. All 3 trainee 
solicitors have qualified or are about to qualify as solicitors and been offered permanent 
solicitor posts, one of the trainees was a GBC paralegal who TUPE transferred to Medway at 
the outset of the shared service.  

A restructure took place in the Legal Shared Service in April /May 2019 to enable the team to 
upskill and create two additional solicitor posts to ensure we had the appropriately qualified 
staff to deal with the work streams coming through and further reduce the need to outsource 
work.    

The IG Team has made good progress in supporting both councils becoming GDPR compliant, 
improving response times to FOIs/SARs and introducing a suite of policies.    

 
 

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service?  

Yes   No  

 

The Shared Service has enabled the lawyers to gain further knowledge and expertise on some 
complex property matters, in particular the St George’s project which could further reduce 
the need to outsource work.  

Similarly the IG team have been able to gain further knowledge and expertise relating to ICO 
queries and GDPR.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Review of the Legal Shared Service 

July 2019 

  
Page 5 

 
  

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service? 

Yes   No  

 

The Head of Legal attends GBC’s Management Team meeting on a weekly basis at which any 
issues arising have been raised and quickly resolved.  

 
 

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities?  

Both authorities were able to realise the savings anticipated at the outset of the shared 
service.  

Savings were realised at the outset and further savings made of £77,682 at the end of the first 
financial year due to the service being underspent with GBC’s 43% of the savings being 
£33,403.26.  

The Shared Service (Legal & IG) was underspent by £5,189 at the end of the second financial 
year with GBC’s 43% of the savings being £2,231.27. The underspend was due to less savings 
than the previous year on salaries/locums to ensure the team maintained capacity to progress 
matters rather than instruct external solicitors.   

 

 

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service: 

This was raised at a recent team meeting. Perhaps unsurprisingly as the shared service is now 
over 2 years old feedback was minimal.  

The main comment that was received was that the service is underutilised in some areas, 
particularly contracts and procurement. We have in the last couple of months begun to see 
more work in this area (following Stuart Bobby raising this issue with clients because of the 
requirements to comply with GDPR) but there are still fewer instructions in this area than in 
others.  

Other than that there is still frustration at our inability to streamline processes at Medway 
particularly when the response to why something can’t be changed is that it has always been 
done that way. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



Review of the Legal Shared Service 

July 2019 

  
Page 6 

 
  

Moving forward with the shared service 
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate? 

Yes   No  

  

Both shared services have brought savings and resilience for both authorities, for example the 
councils share a Data Protection Officer, a statutory role, which has enabled the DPO to 
develop their expertise in this area and share experiences from both authorities.   

 

 

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities? 

Legal Shared Service – Review the KPI’s being collated and continue to allow members 
of the team to expand their knowledge and experience to further increase resilience.  

Info Governance – meet the recommendations in the recent Audit and continue to 
support GBC and Medway teams Directorate by Directorate to complete the GDPR 
project plan.  

 

 

Summary of recommendations 

1.  IG to provide targeted support to teams to complete the GDPR Project Plan. 

2.  Revisit the Management Information Report to enable GBC to measure whether 
they are getting value for money for their financial contribution to the shared 
service.  

 

Page 50



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 09 September 2019

Reporting officer: Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) 

Subject: Annual Review of the HR Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a copy of the annual review that has been 
conducted in respect of the HR Shared Service with Medway Council.

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since April 2018, the council has had in place a shared service with Medway 
Council for the delivery of the HR Services function.  This involved the transfer of 
all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who were employed within HR 
Services at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), a formal review of the shared service is to be 
undertaken on an annual basis.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The annual review of the HR Shared Service arrangement was undertaken in July 
2019 and reported to the Gravesham Borough Council Management Team 
accordingly.

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

Page 51 Agenda Item 8



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 “Development of a shared service for the delivery of HR Services” – report to 
Cabinet – 04 September 2017

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 52



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.  

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2017-2018 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of HR Services was £178,800.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and the annual performance reports has shown that the service 
is meeting and in some cases, exceeding its objectives.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 53

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to Objective 4 - "A sound and self-
sufficient council" through delivery of the following commitment:
- Deliver on opportunities for the sharing and selling of council services

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 54



                     

 
 
 

Review of the HR Shared Service 
 

 

 

 

 

 

(Shared Service Commenced: April 2018) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author(s): Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) at Gravesham Borough Council and 
Tim Silver, Acting Head of HR Services at Medway Council 

 

Date:   May 2019 

Page 55



Review of the HR Shared Service 

May 2019 

  
Page 2 

 
  

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement. 

 

The objectives identified for the HR shared service are as follows: 

• Efficiency savings. Realising actual financial savings across the two sites but maintaining delivery 
of the service.  

• Added resilience across the two authorities.  There will be a larger pool of officers covering both 
authorities providing additional resilience to cover sickness absence/vacancies or increased 
workload should this be required. 

• Availability of specialist skills across both authorities leading to increased efficiency. 

• Sharing of best practice in the delivery of HR Services.  

• Potential for the expansion of knowledge base of individual officers through greater training and 
learning opportunities.  

Page 56



Review of the HR Shared Service 

May 2019 

  
Page 3 

 
  

Review Findings 
 

How is the shared service operating? 
1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 

document? 

Yes   No   In part  

 

Medway HR Officers have enjoyed the opportunity to experience the delivery of HR in a 
different environment, and there has been a steep learning curve in understanding the 
technical and cultural differences between the two authorities.  The ability to add resilience 
has been restricted in part to vacancies across the shared service and the recruitment 
moratorium in place at Medway.  All HR shared service colleagues attend team and whole 
service learning and communication events. 

 
 

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service?  

Yes    No  

 

MC officers are now aware of other opportunities within GBC and this has resulted in one 
former HR team member securing a role with GBC outside of the HR team. 

 
 

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service? 

Yes   No  

 

The ability to fully resource the shared service (with impacts on both authorities) has 
impacted on the delivery of the shared service model.  HR colleagues have gone above and 
beyond to protect where possible the integrity of the service but this is not sustainable in the 
long term.  The increased use of technical solutions will provide some capacity, and changes 
to the organisation of the HR teams (including the recruitment of additional resource) will 
provide a more permanent solution. 

 
 

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities?  

The financial aspects of this arrangement is in line with expectations. 

 

 

 

Page 57



Review of the HR Shared Service 

May 2019 

  
Page 4 

 
  

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service: 

Widely positive with officers embracing the opportunity to deliver HR in a new environment, 
and being challenged to learn GBC processes and protocols, and to develop relationships with 
GBC managers.  

 

 

Moving forward with the shared service 
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate? 

Yes   No  

  

To drive the introduction of the Self-Service portal (Top Desk) as this has proven to reduce 
dramatically the number of calls to HR Support colleagues and it further drives line managers 
to take a greater ownership of the respective teams HR related issues.  This in turn will create 
capacity across the service allowing for more proactive and strategic work to be undertaken. 

 

 

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities? 

The further development and roll out of Top Desk 

Alignment of Policies and Protocols 

Increased HR presence at GBC (introducing “new faces”). 

Increased development of line managers to take ownership of HR matters such as 
poor performance, sickness absence management and conduct etc. 

 

 

Summary of recommendations 

1.  The roll out of Top Desk at Gravesham to enable a more digital and less time 
consuming process for Managers and reduce the need for the completion of 
forms 

2.  Alignment of Policies and Protocols.  Both council’s support the full review of HR 
Policies and procedures across both sites, with a view to adopting a suite of 
polices aligned to meet the objectives of both councils 

3.  Further training and coaching for line managers on the key HR policies to 
support them with taking ownership of HR matters in their teams. 

 

Page 58



Classification: Public
Key Decision: Yes

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 9th September 2019

Reporting officer: Director Communities and Director Environment & Operations

Subject: Main store roof at Brookvale

Purpose and summary of report: 
To consider options for the refurbishment of the main store roof at Brookvale

Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet recommends to Full Council that option 2 is progressed and authorises 

the Director of Communities in consultation with the Director Environment & 
Operations and Assistant Director Corporate Services to appoint consultants to tender 
the roof replacement of the main store at Brookvale with the results of the tender 
being reported to Cabinet prior to acceptance.

Introduction

1.1 Potter Raper have been retained to provide a feasibility study relating to the future 
use of the Brookvale site which includes the following areas:

1.1.1 Potential to create additional office space within the main building.

1.1.2 Opportunities to create additional toilet, shower and rest facilities within the 
main building and / or elsewhere on site and refurbishing any that remain.

1.1.3 Potential reconfiguration of the vehicle workshop.

1.1.4 Advice on the layout of the yard so that it is used in an efficient way.

1.1.5 Options relating to the refurbishment of the former Apollo unit so that it can 
be let out.

1.1.6 Considering options for the area that previously the EDC had been 
interested in.

Page 59 Agenda Item 9



2

2. Current position

2.1 A significant precursor to most of the above items being taken forward is that the 
roofs are in a good condition.  As a starting point a camera survey was 
undertaken to obtain an understanding of their current condition. This revealed as 
expected that the roofs were in need of significant work.  Indeed the recent bad 
weather led to part of the ridge covering to the main store breaking off leaving a 
significant hole, a temporary repair has been ordered at a cost of circa £4,000 in 
order to make the area wind and watertight.

2.2 Prices were then obtained from the Breyer Group, the Council’s term contractor in 
order to understand the level of outlay required.  Whilst prices were obtained for 
the roofs of the three buildings that remain on site (main store, open store and 
motor workshop as indicated on the attached photograph) it is only proposed to go 
forward with works to the main store roof (outlined in black on the attached plan) 
at this stage given that the possible use of the other buildings may require some 
reconfiguration works.

2.3 Three options were given and the estimated prices for each in respect of the main 
store roof, including preliminaries, are set out below, to which an allowance of 
15% has been added to allow for contingencies:

Option 1 Replace the single skin sheet with new Plastisol coated 
0.7 mm gauge steel roof sheet (coating one side), to 
include new GRP rooflights to the existing layout.

£328,618

Option 2 Replace the single skin sheet with new Plastisol coated 
120mm thick composite roof panels (coating one side) to 
include new double skinned GRP rooflights as the 
existing layout.

£362,000

Option 3 Spray (liquid) coating to the existing roof sheets and 
replace the existing rooflights with new GRP single skin 
profiled rooflights.

£334,858

3. Comment

3.1 Option 1 involves replacing the existing roof on a like for like basis but does not 
improved the current insulation levels so is unlikely to meet current Building 
Regulation requirements.  Option 3 basically involves patching up the current roof.

3.2 Option 2 is an upgraded version as it includes insulation and double skin rooflights 
which have been standard for many years and is considered to be the only viable 
option.  This option would also enable warranties on the life span of the roof to be 
obtained which are likely to be in the region of 25 years.

3.3 Although not included in the above estimates the project group has been looking 
at how better use can be made of the large ‘training’ room at Brookvale and the 
office area below.  Limited natural light affects both areas and roof works provide 
an opportunity to provide more natural light to the first floor office and potentially 
the office below.  It is therefore proposed that additional rooflights / wells relating 
to these offices are added to the specification to be prepared.  The feasibility of 
fixing solar panels to the new roof will also be investigated as part of the project 
and will be added to the project if viable.

Page 60



3

4. Background Papers

4.1 There are no background papers relating to this report.

Page 61



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal None other than ensuring the contractor appointed comply with legislation (Health 
and Safety / CDM etc).

Finance and Value 
for Money 

A decision to replace the roof will be an amendment to our 2019.20 capital 
programme.  The capital cost can be funded from unutilised revenue grants.

Risk Assessment The current roof is in poor condition with minor leaks in a number of places.  
Without replacement the issue referred to in paragraph 2.1 are likely to become 
more frequent and costly and have a detrimental impact on services based in the 
depot.
There is always a risk that the cost of the works is greater than the estimate / 
tender prices.  However tenders will be reported to Cabinet prior to acceptance so 
this risk will be covered in more detail at that time. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Links to Corporate Objective 4 - Sound and self-sufficient council.

Crime and Disorder Not applicable.

Digital and website 
implications

Not applicable.

Page 62

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Not applicable.

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 9 September 2019

Reporting officer: Planning Manager (Policy)

Subject: Housing Delivery Action Plan

Purpose and summary of report: 
The following report seeks Cabinet approval of the Housing Delivery Action Plan, attached as 
Appendix 2. 

The Housing Delivery Action Plan is a requirement of the Government’s new Housing 
Delivery Test as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG).  Where a local planning authority has delivered less than 95% of 
its housing requirement over the previous three years, they are required to produce an action 
plan that assesses the causes of under delivery and identifies actions to increase delivery in 
future years. 

MHCLG’s 2018 Housing Delivery Test measurement published 19 February 2019 identifies 
that the Council has only delivered 64% (622 homes) of our housing requirement (975 
homes) between 2015-18. 

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet members are requested to approve the Housing Delivery Action Plan 

(Appendix 2) prior to its publication.     

1. Background

1.1 In response to the national housing crisis, the Government published the Housing 
White Paper ‘Fixing our broken market’ in February 2017. The White Paper set 
out the Government’s plans to reform the housing market and boost the supply of 
new homes in England. The proposed measures covered planning for the right 
homes in the right places, how to build homes faster and how to diversify the 
housing market.

1.2 Importantly, it proposed to hold local authorities to account for the number of new 
homes delivered through the introduction of a new Housing Delivery Test. The test 
would show whether the number of homes being built is below the required 
number of homes needed in that area. The test would provide a mechanism for 
establishing the reasons why there has been under delivery and providing a 
mechanism for setting out how this under delivery can be addressed.

Page 67 Agenda Item 10



2

1.3 The Government reinforced its objective to significantly boost the supply of new 
homes and making local planning authorities more accountable for delivery in their 
areas by publishing:

 a revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2018), 

 the Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book (July 2018), 

 updated Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (September 2018), and 

 the Housing Delivery Test: 2018 Measurement Technical note (February 
2019).

1.4 The methodology for calculating the Housing Delivery Test is set out in the 
Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book. It measures the number of net 
homes delivered against the number of homes required over a rolling three-year 
period.

2. Housing Delivery Test

2.1 The methodology for calculating the Housing Delivery Test is set out in the 
Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book. At present, our housing delivery 
is measured by reviewing how many homes have been built out, over the 
preceding three financial year periods (2015-2018) against the housing target in 
the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy.

2.2 If Local Authorities do not pass the Housing Delivery Test there are the following 
sanctions:

 The ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development must be applied to 
planning applications if the test result is less than 45% in 2019, increasing 
to 75% from 2020 onwards, this means that proposed developments 
should be granted planning permission unless: 

I. policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provide a strong reason for restricting the overall 
scale, type or distribution of development or 

II. the adverse impacts of the development "significantly and 
demonstrably" outweigh their benefits

 A requirement to add a 20% buffer to the Council’s 5-year land supply of 
deliverable housing sites if delivery falls below 85% (this is to improve the 
prospect of achieving the planned supply); and

 A requirement to prepare a Housing Delivery Test Action Plan if delivery 
falls below 95% to assess the causes of under delivery and identify actions 
to increase delivery in future years.

2.3 Sustainable development is defined in the NPPF as balancing the following three 
objectives:

 economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in 
the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and 

Page 68



3

improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of 
infrastructure;

 social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to 
meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open 
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ 
health, social and cultural well-being; and

 environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of 
land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, 
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate 
change, including moving to a low carbon economy

2.4 The Housing Delivery Action Plan has had a mixed reception. For some it is a 
proactive tool for local planning authorities to consider what actions might be 
available to enhance the delivery of homes whilst others regard it as an unfair 
imposition when local planning authorities do not deliver homes directly. Previous 
approaches by Government have taken the form of rewarding local planning 
authorities for completions (New Homes Bonus) or for permissions granted 
(Planning Delivery Grant) or for both housing delivery and better planning 
(Housing and Planning Delivery Grant).

2.5 It is worth noting that there is no requirement to carry out public consultation on 
the Housing Delivery Action Plan.

3. Gravesham

3.1 It is intended that the Housing Delivery Test results will be published by 
Government each year, making them publicly available. The date is expected to 
be November each year, however, the results for the current period were only 
published on 19 February 2019. The results covered the period 2015 – 2018. For 
the period of 2015-2018, the Council has scored 64% in the Housing Delivery 
Test. This result means the Council is required to produce an Action Plan as per 
the requirements of the NPPF. The Action Plan analyses the causes of under 
delivery and demonstrates the Council’s commitment to responding positively to 
the challenge of increasing housing delivery.

3.2 The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate a 5-year supply of 
deliverable housing land plus a buffer depending on the circumstances the local 
authority falls within. The Housing Delivery Test result means Gravesham is 
required to add a 20% buffer to improve the prospect of achieving the planned 
supply.

3.3 We understand that a total of 108 authorities scored under 95%, and will now 
have to produce an action plan. Of these, 86 councils have delivered under 85%, 
which means they will be required to have an additional 20 per cent buffer on their 
land supply, compared to the five per cent that applies to all councils.

3.4 For Gravesham, as the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted in 
September 2014, the housing requirement for November 2018 / February 2019 is 
taken from that document which is considered up to date unless identified 
otherwise as part of its five-year review.

Page 69



4

4. Housing Delivery Action Plan

4.1 Gravesham in keeping with other parts England and especially the South East is 
experiencing a housing crisis, affordability is worsening and simplistically put a 
lack of housing supply means that prices are still rising. At present the Council is 
not able to identify enough land supply to meet the Government’s five year supply 
target (4.39 years). Nor meet its own target set out in GBC’s Local plan Core 
Strategy.

4.2 This Action Plan outlines what the Council is doing to address this, and these 
actions can be summarised at a high level as:

4.3 We are simplifying and streamlining Development Management, with greater 
transparency and efficiency measures. With better guidance for the public and 
improved advice on our website. Reducing the use of conditions, with positive 
decision taking. 

4.4 This is on top of successful actions already taken, that are now bearing fruit. The 
improved use of technology, moving to become paperless and reducing the need 
for lengthy reports. The use of a Design Review Panel to improve the quality of 
development is assisting developers in producing better schemes.  

4.5 We are looking to bring forward affordable housing at a number of sites i.e. Albert 
Murray Close, Arnold Avenue, Barr Road, Constable Road / Rembrandt Drive, 
Mark Square Garages St Hilda’s, St Patricks Gardens, Valley, Drive, Whitehill 
Road, Wilberforce Way. In addition the Council is considering the merits of 
creating an arm’s length management body to increase housebuilding rates, 
coupled with this the Council is reviewing its housing stock to identify opportunities 
for intensification.

4.6 The Council is actively working to improve the perception of the Borough, and 
seeking to capitalise on regeneration opportunities within and around Gravesend 
Town Centre whilst achieving place-making and economic objectives. We are 
working with EDC, KCC and Homes England to bring forward brownfield sites. 

4.7 To overcome supply side constraints, the Council is creating a Development Sites 
Implementation Group, to work with stakeholders and developers, looking to 
identify and overcome, where practicable, impediments to delivery. Reducing the 
time between permission and build.

4.8 Recognising low levels of GVA the Council is working to stimulate the local 
economy and to improve incomes in the borough, directly through a review of 
GBC’s economic development offering and through our SELEP and KMEP 
membership and activity. Based on concerns raised by residents and members 
the Council is also working with partners and identifying opportunities for 
improving infrastructure and service provision. This includes exploring other 
avenues of funding.

5. Alternatives

5.1 The alternative is not to publish the Housing Delivery Action Plan 

Page 70



5

5.2 There is no requirement to get a Housing Delivery Action Plan checked or "signed 
off" in any way, nor to submit it to the government. Councils are required to 
publish them, with appropriate signposting, on their own website.

6. Next steps

6.1 Due to the nature of the Borough’s land supply the Housing Delivery Action Plan 
will need to be kept under review. Work is being undertaken by Officers on a 
regular basis to identify why major sites have stalled or to identify any issues 
which may be impeding delivery, with a view to working with developers to 
overcome these issues. This work will continue and work on the Local Plan is 
being expedited as the Housing Delivery Action Plan on its own will not address 
the land supply issues in the Borough. 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

7.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 71



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Paragraph 75 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) provides that 
“where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that delivery has fallen below 95% of 
the local planning authority’s housing requirement over the previous three years, 
the authority should prepare an action plan in line with national planning guidance, 
to assess the causes of under delivery and identify actions to increase delivery in 
future years”. The Council has not met its target for 2015-18 and as such has 
triggered the need to prepare an action plan. 
The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that “any area may wish to produce 
an action plan as a matter of good practice or to identify processes to exceed 
housing requirements and support delivery”. 
The Housing Delivery Action Plan is not a statutory document and therefore does 
not require independent examination or formal approval. 
There is no legal obligation to publicly consult on the Housing Delivery Action Plan. 

The Housing Delivery Action Plan may be considered a material consideration in 
the determination of planning applications. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Upon publication of the Housing Delivery Action Plan officer time will be required to 
continue with the actions identified in the document, including delivery and 
monitoring of the aims, objectives and actions as well as the publication of the 
document on the website. Associated staff time and costs will be managed within 
the current establishment and existing service budgets. 
Any costs resulting from delivering the Housing Delivery Action Plan will be funded 
from existing services and budgets. This includes any annual updates in line with 
national planning policy as outlined in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 

Risk Assessment There is no requirement to get a Housing Delivery Action Plan checked or "signed 
off" in any way, nor to submit it to the government. Councils just need to publish 
them, with appropriate signposting, on their own website.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

Page 72

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No - N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objectives 1,2, 3 and 4

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the Housing Delivery 
Test Action Plan.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council – Housing Delivery 
Action Plan August 2019

Contents
Introduction....................................................................................................................................2
Housing Delivery in Gravesham....................................................................................................5

Planning context ........................................................................................................................5
Local planning context including local plan status and approach to growth...........................5
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation ......................................................................................6
National context - The Letwin Review....................................................................................7

Housing Delivery Test Measurement and Five Year Land Supply................................................7
Land Supply to 2028 .....................................................................................................................8
What are we going to do to ensure more homes are built within Gravesham?...........................11

1. Gravesham Borough Council as a Local Planning Authority ...............................................11
2. Gravesham Borough Council as a landowner and landlord ................................................13
3. Gravesham Borough Council’s wider role ...........................................................................14
4. Gravesham Borough Council as a partner ..........................................................................15
5. Supply side issues ...............................................................................................................15
6. Demand side issues ............................................................................................................17
7. Infrastructure and Public Services Provision .......................................................................18

Conclusion...................................................................................................................................19
Appendix A: Work Programme....................................................................................................20

Page 75



Introduction
It is widely accepted that we are experiencing a national housing crisis. The lack of supply and 
pressure for new homes is felt most acutely in the South East of England, where demand is 
such that households are having to put ever greater shares of their income into housing costs. 
This is illustrated by ONS data, see Figure 1 and Figure 2, which illustrate the growing disparity 
between property prices and earnings. As time has progressed greater multiples of income are 
being put into housing illustrating that affordability in the South East is worsening, as well as in 
Gravesham. One of the main reasons for property prices increasing is due to supply being 
unable to keep pace with demand. 

Figure 1: ONS House Price Statistics for England and Wales 2011

Figure 2: ONS House Price Statistics for England and Wales 2017

Successive Governments have recognised insufficient housing supply as a key issue facing the 
country, the current Government published its white paper on the issue, “Fixing our broken 
housing market” in February 2017. As part of the white paper, the then Prime Minister made it 

Page 76



clear that her Government wanted more homes built to slow the rise in house prices so that 
more families can afford to buy a home and to also bring down the cost of renting.  

This objective to increase the number of new homes, is reflected in the revised National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF February 2019) and the introduction of the Housing Delivery 
Test. As illustrated in Figure 3 the supply of homes in England has consistently been below the 
range of estimated need and has until recently been lower than household growth.

Figure 3: Net housing supply, household growth and estimated homes needed (England)

Sources: MHCLG, Live Table 120; ONS, Household projections for England – 2018 based.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning authorities to maintain 
a supply of deliverable sites sufficient to provide 5 years’ worth of housing against their housing 
requirement. A Housing Delivery Test (HDT), measures net additional dwellings provided in a 
local planning authority area against the houses required. The consequences of failing the HDT 
are set out in the NPPF as being: 

“Where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that delivery has fallen below 95% of 
the local planning authority’s housing requirement over the previous three years, 
the authority should prepare an action plan in line with national planning 
guidance, to assess the causes of under delivery and identify actions to increase 
delivery in future years… (in addition) Local planning authorities should identify 
and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a 
minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement set out 
in adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing need where the 
strategic policies are more than five years old. The supply of specific deliverable 
sites should in addition include a buffer (moved forward from later in the plan 
period) of:
 a) 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or 

b) 10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable sites through an annual position statement or recently 
adopted plan, to account for any fluctuations in the market during that year; or

Page 77



c) 20% where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the 
previous three years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply.. 
[From November 2018, this will be measured against the Housing Delivery Test, 
where this indicates that delivery was below 85% of the housing requirement.]”

All local planning authorities with a result of less than 95% of the delivery rate measured against 
housing completions for the preceding three years have six months to prepare an Action Plan. 
The Housing Delivery Test Result for Gravesham Borough Council was published by MHCLG 
on 19 February 2019. Gravesham Borough Council’s 2018 measurement is 64% and in 
response to this, the Council has produced a Housing Delivery Action Plan.

The Action Plan is described in Planning Practice Guidance as being:

“A document produced by the local planning authority to reflect challenges and 
identify actions to address under-delivery against the housing requirement in the 
area. The document’s purpose is to detail the reasons for under-delivery and the 
steps the authority intends to take in mitigation and drive up delivery in the area. 
A good action plan will identify ways to reduce the risk of further under-delivery 
and set out the case for measures to maintain or improve levels of delivery.”

By preparing an Action Plan, the Council is positively responding to the challenge of increasing 
its housing delivery. The Action Plan is intended to be a focussed document that identifies 
practical measures for improving local housing delivery and is informed by local evidence and 
research of key issues. Much of this local evidence and research will be published as part of the 
2019 Authority Monitoring Report in December 2019. 

This is Gravesham’s first Action Plan and will be a living document that is updated at least 
annually. 

Page 78



Housing Delivery in Gravesham
Planning context
Local planning context including local plan status and approach to growth

The Development Plan for Gravesham consists of:

 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
 Saved policies from the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (GLP 1st Review – adopted 

November 1994)
 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 (adopted by Kent Country Council in 

July 2016)
 South East Marine Plan (Currently under development by the Marine Management 

Organisation)

Strategic guidance related to how much development should be planned for in terms of housing 
is set out in the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy. The Core Strategy sets out the Council’s 
long-term spatial vision for the Borough, the plan period extends from April 2011 to March 2028. 
The Borough’s housing requirement for this period is identified as being for at least 6,170 
homes, the Core Strategy also identifies the areas where major change is expected to take 
place and allocates Key Sites for development. Monitoring data from the Authority Monitoring 
Reports and Borough’s Five Year Land Supply Statements, clearly shows that since 1st April 
2011, the Borough has only met or exceeded the number of homes needed on one occasion 
(2012-2013), see Figure 4.

Figure 4: Net dwellings completed in Gravesham 2011-2018

The Local Plan Core Strategy prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable 
location for development, to be achieved by:

Page 79



• Promoting regeneration by prioritising the redevelopment and recycling of 
underused, derelict and previously developed land in the urban area. This will be 
principally through redevelopment of former industrial sites in the opportunity areas 
of Northfleet Embankment and Swanscombe Peninsula East and Gravesham 
Riverside East and North East Gravesend to create new residential neighbourhoods 
and employment areas;

• The continued development of a new, sustainable, mixed-use community in the 
Ebbsfleet (Gravesham) Opportunity Area, which will include the provision of high 
quality employment floorspace;

• Revitalising the Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area as a focal point for retail, 
leisure, cultural and tourism facilities and small scale office provision to serve the 
needs of the Borough whilst preserving and enhancing its character as a riverside 
heritage town; and

• Bringing forward a range of suitable sites in other parts of the urban area for 
residential and employment development, including land at the Coldharbour Road 
Key Site.

In the rural area, development is supported within rural settlements inset from the Green Belt. 
Outside of those settlements development, including that for affordable housing and proposals 
to maintain and diversify the rural economy is supported where it is compatible with the Core 
Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework.

The adopted Core Strategy includes a proposal to undertake a Green Belt boundary review to 
identify additional land to meet the housing needs of the Borough and to safeguard land to meet 
development needs beyond the plan period whilst maintaining national and local planning 
purposes of the Green Belt. This piece of work forms part of the Local Plan Core Strategy partial 
review currently being undertaken. 

In addition to the Local Plan Core Strategy partial review, the Council is preparing a Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies document. Together with Duty to Cooperate 
discussions being undertaken with neighbouring authorities, these documents will allocate 
sufficient housing sites to meet the Borough’s requirement going forward. A development 
capacity study being commissioned by the Council will consider what intensification 
opportunities are available within the Borough and this will, with more recent data, be utilised to 
update the 2018 Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA).

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 

The Government recognised the significant growth challenge in North Kent and determined that 
a dedicated resource with significant financial support was needed. The Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation was formed in in early 2015 and took over responsibility for making decisions on 
planning applications in some parts of the Borough on 1 July 2015, see 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ebbsfleet-development-corporation/about .

The Government’s explanation of the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation is:

To speed up delivery of up homes and jobs in North Kent through the creation of a 21st 
century garden city in North Kent. The stated aim of the EDC is to deliver up to 15,000 
homes and 30,000 new jobs through working with local authorities and local 
communities to develop a shared vision for the area, providing high quality, attractive 

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ebbsfleet-development-corporation/about


and sustainably-constructed housing as well as opportunities to live and work. The EDC 
are also taking forward a core infrastructure investment programme that will deliver gas 
and electricity networks, telecoms, water services and the highways people need.

National context - The Letwin Review

As well as considering research undertaken at the local level it is also important to note the 
findings of the national Independent Review of Build Out Rates published by Rt Hon Sir Oliver 
Letwin (October 2018). This work explored the issue of build out rates of fully permitted planning 
applications on the largest sites in areas of high housing demand. It found that the similarity of 
the types and tenures of the homes on offer on these sites, and the limits on the rate at which 
the market will absorb such similar products, are fundamental drivers of the slow rate of build 
out. Therefore, it is important to consider opportunities for encouraging diversification of 
products to increase build out rates.

Housing Delivery Test Measurement and Five Year Land Supply
The Housing Delivery Test Measurement as published by MHCLG shows that over the 
preceding three years 1st April 2015 – 31st March 2018 only 64% of the dwellings needed in the 
Borough as set out in the Local Plan Core Strategy were delivered, this is illustrated by Figure 5.

Figure 5:  Dwellings supplied 2015–2018 compared with the Local Plan Core Strategy Dwelling Requirement 
for 2015-1018.

The Borough’s most recent Five Year Land Supply Statement for 1st April 2018 – 31st March 2023 identifies a 
requirement to plan for 2,451 without a buffer, and 2,941 homes with a 20% buffer applied as required by the 
National Planning Policy Framework. Against this requirement the current identified land supply is only 
capable of delivering 2,585 homes, i.e. against a 5 year land supply requirement, the Council is only able to 
demonstrate a 4.39 year land supply, see 

Figure 6. 

Page 81



Figure 6: Five Year Land Supply – 1st April 2018 – 31st March 2023

Land Supply to 2028
The 2018 SLAA identified 159 sites, which are deliverable for housing within the remaining plan 
perio, these sites are identified as having the potential to deliver 4,719 homes. The vast majority 
of these, 99% with a capacity of 4,679 dwellings, are expected to come forward from sites within 
the urban area, with only a limited number, 1% with a capacity of 40 dwellings, expected to 
come forward from the rural area.

The SLAA estimates that 198 windfall units on sites of 4 or less dwellings, will come forward 
between 2022/3 and 2027/8, an average of 33 dwellings per year. It estimates that 330 windfall 
units on sites of 5 or more dwellings, will come forward between 2017/18 and 2027/28, an 
average of 30 dwellings per year.

The SLAA contains a Set-aside and Undeliverable Sites Portfolio currently consisting of 82 sites 
in the Green Belt which have been put forward to the Council for development but which have 
been set aside on policy or other technical grounds. The SLAA recognises that additional sites 
will need to be identified and set-aside and undeliverable sites will need to be reconsidered 
further to ensure that the Council is able to meet its OAN. We maintain an open call for sites 
process which means that site promoters are able to make us aware of their proposals and 
promote their sites for development at any time.  All sites will be assessed further as part of the 
plan making process which includes a partial review of the Local Plan Core Strategy and work 
being undertaken on the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies document.

Page 82



An analysis of the size of sites which contribute to the anticipated future housing supply from 1 
April 2017 to 31 March 2028 in the SLAA is illustrated in Figure 7, Figure 8 and 

Figure 9. This is based upon the Deliverable Sites Portfolio table of the 2018 SLAA. It shows 
that 93% of dwellings are on major development sites, which are defined by the NPPF as 
having a capacity of ten or more dwellings. 80% are on sites with a capacity of 100 dwellings or 
more. Only 7% of dwellings are on small sites of between 1 and 9 dwellings.

Figure 7: 2018 SLAA – Number of sites by scale of site in terms of dwellings 2017-2028

Figure 8: 2018 SLAA - Number of Dwellings by scale of site in terms of dwellings 2017-2028

Page 83



Figure 9: 2018 SLAA – Percentage of dwellings coming forward by scale of site in terms of dwellings 2017-
2028

Page 84



Page 85



What are we going to do to ensure more homes are built within 
Gravesham?
The Council has a number of responsibilities, many of which can directly influence how many 
homes are built locally, as illustrated in Figure 10.

Figure 10: Understanding the Council’s role and key factors influencing and driving low rates of housing 
delivery. 

1. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL AS A LOCAL PLANNING 

AUTHORITY

2. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL AS A LANDOWNER & 

LANDLORD

3. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL WIDER ROLE

4. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL AS A PARTNER

5. SUPPLY SIDE 6. DEMAND SIDE

7. INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC SERVICES PROVISION

1. Gravesham Borough Council as a Local Planning Authority
The Borough Council is the plan making authority for Gravesham, however in terms of decision 
taking for planning applications the responsibility is split between the Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation. The area for which the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation is 
responsible for is set out at https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/planning/development-area/ and includes 
parts of Dartford Borough.

In terms of plan making, the Borough Council is progressing work on a Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review and a Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document. This 

Page 86

https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/planning/development-area/


will contribute towards boosting local housing delivery by providing a greater mix of sites to 
assist developers in delivering the right sizes, types and tenure of homes in the Borough. 
Through this work the Council will respond to issues identified by the Letwin Review and make 
provision for Self and Custom build housing in the Borough. 

Current Local Plan Core Strategy policies being reviewed that will assist in boosting housing 
and economic development in the Borough include:

 Policy CS02: Scale and Distribution of Development
 Policy CS07: Economy, Employment and Skills
 Policy CS08: Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres

The Council’s Planning Policy team is working proactively with stakeholders such as the local 
community, developers and partners to ensure that this work is completed by 2021.  This will 
allow the Council to adopt a revised Local Plan Core Strategy together with a Site Allocations 
and Development Management Policies document during 2021.

As part of the evidence that underpins Local Plan monitoring and the evidence needed to 
support the Local Plan Core Strategy partial review, the Council monitors when development is 
implemented and when it is completed. This data has shown that, at times, there is a significant 
lag between when permission is granted and when development begins on site. This is a very 
important factor to understand and counter. To address these issues the Council has set up a 
‘Development Sites Implementation Group’, the objective of this group is to identify any barriers 
to delivery and to work with developers, landowners and other departments within the Council to 
overcome barriers that may exist to bring sites forward for development. 

One of the key pieces of evidence being commissioned to underpin the Local Plan Core 
Strategy partial review and the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
document going forward, is a Development Capacity Study. This study will identify the potential 
for intensification of the density of development, identify additional possible development sites 
within the Borough and assist the Council in promoting these for development. It will also assist 
the Council in improving our understanding why development on some sites, such as sites 
allocated within the Local Plan Core Strategy, has been slow to come forward. 

The responsibility for effective decision taking in terms of Development Management is split 
within the Borough as advised earlier and whilst the Borough Council works effectively with 
colleagues in the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, this Action Plan does not cover the 
Corporation. In terms of Development Management, Planning Agents, Developers and 
Landowners have raised concerns regarding the length of time it can take for decisions to be 
made. The speed of decision taking is influenced by a number of factors, these include the 
quality of applications received by the Council, resources available internally, performance of IT 
infrastructure and software, effectiveness of officers, etc. A number of actions have been 
undertaken internally to improve performance and this is reflected in the improving feedback 
received and demonstrated through the backlog of applications reducing. 

However, the Council is acutely aware that more can be done in this area. Some of the actions 
currently being undertaken to improve the service further include:

 Developing a local validation list

Page 87



 Developing an accredited agent scheme to foster good working relations between the 
council and planning agents and to promote the quality planning submissions 

 Continually reviewing the use of planning conditions to ensure:
o Number of conditions used is minimised (at same time recognising that very 

often conditions are imposed due to a reluctance from developers to submit 
information prior to a planning application being determined, because the 
submission of information will be a cost to the developer with no guarantee that 
permission will be granted) 

o Use of pre-commencement conditions is reduced, 
o Delays in processing discharge applications is minimised, and
o Producing standard list of planning conditions which are transparent to 

applicants, agents, Members and public
 Making the Planning Obligations process more transparent
 Keeping the backlog of applications to a minimum – it is recognised that due to 

unforeseen difficulties there may always be some applications that are not dealt with 
within the set or agreed time limits 

 Improve information disseminated through the Council’s website
 Investigating whether text message updates used for licensing can be extended to 

planning applications – multiple benefits to customer and the Council. 
 Addressing data quality within and functioning of the current planning system used by 

the Council
 Maintaining a fully resourced and skilled workforce
 Having a realistic and flexible approach to tenure mix to accelerate delivery

Examples of measures already taken in terms of Development Management include:

 Investment in Information Communication Technology 
o much of the planning application process is paperless. Multiple benefits for 

Council and the environment
o flexible working enabled
o devices can be taken on site to enable pictures to be taken and plans to be 

checked without need for paper
 Introduced Planning Performance Agreements to direct and tailor resources for 

determining potentially more complex applications, covering all aspects of the planning 
process from the pre-application stage to the discharging of conditions.

 A re-freshed pre-application advice service which explicitly advises the resource to be 
provided for each service level. Includes addition of concept pre-application advice when 
the principle of a particular type or form of development is proposed.

 Make greater use of the Design Review Panel, which calls on industry experts to provide 
high quality design advice to developers

 Reduced need for delegated reports – follow focused report style, which had been 
highlighted as best practice, so that reasons for permission are included on householder 
applications that are permitted under delegated powers

2. Gravesham Borough Council as a landowner and landlord
Gravesham Borough Council has limited land assets, the Council’s main land holdings outside 
of its housing stock are primarily focused in and around Gravesend town centre. The Council is 

Page 88



actively working on bringing forward development at Heritage Quarter and at the former Lord 
Street Car Park. Alongside these larger schemes, the Council has successfully delivered homes 
on a number of smaller sites within the Borough. Work is being undertaken by the Council’s 
Housing Strategy and Development team to bring forward affordable housing at a number of 
sites including:

 St Hilda’s
 St Patricks Gardens
 Valley Drive
 Whitehill Lane

The Council is also exploring opportunities that maybe available to increase housebuilding rates 
through partnership working or other delivery vehicles 

Other public sector landowners in Gravesham are Kent County Council, Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation, and Homes England. It should be noted that different organisations have different 
approaches to their land assets and potential disposal strategies.

As a stock owning authority, some the Council’s most extensive land assets are located in 
Council estates. Where opportunities arise for redevelopment or intensification the Council 
considers these and the benefits this will bring to new and existing residents. At present, the 
Council is investigating what further opportunities may exist within its existing portfolio of sites. 

3. Gravesham Borough Council’s wider role
The Council recognises that it has a significant role in bringing forward growth in the Borough, 
this is not limited to just housing but also encompasses commercial and leisure floor space. The 
Council will seek to build upon work that has already been undertaken by prioritising its own and 
seeking external investment into the Borough. Harnessing the benefits of growth locally cuts 
across many of the Council’s corporate objectives. Therefore the Council will seek establish a 
culture of embracing growth locally coupled with good place-making, this approach together with 
working with local communities to embrace growth should foster a more positive ‘can-do’ and 
therefore ‘can-build’ approach to housing. This will have the added positive benefits of 
encouraging greater positive participation and a holistic approach to development and the 
planning system. 

It is recognised that there is a negative perception of some parts of Gravesham, this can deter 
people or businesses looking to relocate to the area. Even though Gravesham has good 
connections, river, character and accessibility to services. Many people’s perception is still 
dominated by the Borough’s industrial past rather than its dynamic and changing present.

Whilst the Council is currently leading on the regeneration of the town centre, we are acutely 
aware of the need to stimulate demand through more effective placemaking and marketing of 
the area. The Council will seek to place a greater emphasis on proactively marketing the 
Borough and potential developments via undertaking a more coordinated and corporate 
approach to promotion. This will occur alongside setting out a clearer vision for the Borough and 
key development locations so that locals and investors have greater clarity regarding the 
Council’s ambitions for the Borough. 

Page 89



Whilst the Council has not recently utilised its compulsory purchase powers, going forward the 
Council will consider the potential for positive intervention in the housing market where it would 
speed up the delivery of housing. The Council acknowledges that many brownfield sites have 
taken some time to come forward. Whilst some are now being brought forward, a small number 
of sites have not moved forward for some time. To overcome this, the Council will seek to 
identify suitable approaches to intervention and work with development partners to deliver much 
needed development in the Borough. 

Recent changes by Government (the Localism Act 2012) now means that Councils such as 
Gravesham can establish their own local housing companies. Going forward, the Council will 
consider whether or not such a company should be established to maximise housing delivery of 
all tenures outside of the Housing Revenue Account. Undertaking such an approach would 
allow the Council to help plug gaps in the local housing market and increase the delivery of 
affordable homes and homes for older people as well as providing good quality homes for wider 
residents.

4. Gravesham Borough Council as a partner
The Council recognises that it cannot deliver development alone and it actively works with 
neighbouring authorities, the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation and Kent County Council to 
explore and establish closer working relationships and to jointly progress projects that are of 
mutual benefit. 

The Council will continue to monitor and bid for infrastructure and development funding as and 
when opportunities arise. The Council has and will continue to engage Homes England to bring 
forward complex brownfield sites in the Borough, and the Council will continue to explore and 
engage appropriate bodies and Government to help realise its current ambitions for the Borough 
for the benefit of local residents. 

5. Supply side issues
The current land supply does rely upon a small number of large sites to deliver a large number 
of homes. The 2018 SLAA identifies that 37 sites providing 10 or more dwellings will deliver 
4,396 homes, compared to 325 homes being delivered on 116 sites of 9 dwellings or less. 
These large sites are within the urban area of Gravesend and Northfleet and predominantly on 
brownfield land e.g. Northfleet Embankment East, Northfleet Embankment West, Canal Basin, 
Heritage Quarter, Lord Street, former Gravesend Police Station, former Maternity Block, Clifton 
Slipways.

As illustrated in Figure 11, the bulk of these sites fall within areas of Gravesham where the 
property prices are unproven due to lack of sales or are in areas where the median house price 
is relatively lower when compared to other parts of the urban area and the rural part of the 
Borough. 

Page 90



Figure 11: ONS Median House Price (accessed August 2019)

A range of organisations are involved in the early stages of the development process including 
landowners, investors, occupiers, developers, lenders, architects, engineers, surveyors, 
planners and real estate agents.  The process does not take place in a vacuum; it is affected by 
and contributes to changes in social trends, economic conditions and the regulatory 
environment

Developing houses is often a complex process. There are a number of challenges and barriers 
to overcome before a buyer can take ownership of a property. Many of these barriers are 
economic in nature, for example access to finance for both developers and potential house 
buyers, whilst others may be more site-specific such as land contamination. These barriers 
affect both the supply and demand side of housing delivery. The following provides a brief 
summary of the key challenges associated with bringing housing development forward in 
general. It should be noted that the barriers will range from site to site and are dependent, to an 
extent on the size or nature of a developer.

RESOURCES FINANCIAL
 Skills and labour availability
 Shortage of materials
 Availability of sites
 Availability of developers and registered

providers to deliver housing

 Land value expectations
 Access to finance for 

developers/registered providers
 Access to finance for potential home 

owners
 Cash flow and interest payments
 Grant / loan funding from Homes England
 Strength of market – investor confidence
 The price the land was bought for 

Page 91



compared with its value today
SITE SPECIFIC CONSTRAINTS INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTIONS
 Land contamination
 Complexity of land ownerships and 

‘ransom’ situations
 Access arrangements
 Landscape
 Flood risk, drainage and utilities
 Archaeology
 Wildlife and nature
 Heritage assets (e.g. listed buildings)
 Local opposition
 Legal (e.g. covenants)

 Affordable housing
 Health contributions
 Open space
 Drainage schemes
 Housing mix
 Education contributions
 Highway improvements
 Other infrastructure requirements

Any number of these issues can negatively influence the financial viability of a development. In 
some cases causing long delays, because local effective demand is not able to overcome these 
supply-side constraints. Put simply the amount local people are prepared to pay does not give 
the return needed by the developer, to develop the site. To overcome this, the Council will work 
proactively with local stakeholders via the ‘Development Sites Implementation Group’ to 
address where practicable, the impediments to delivery. 

Whilst many of these issues are primarily the responsibility of the promoter / developer, a 
number of the actions highlighted in this action plan will assist:

 Greater scrutiny of sites at plan making stage including clarity about lead in periods for 
sites with constraints

 Allocation of additional sites, not just minimum requirement
 Re-freshed pre-application advice service
 Development Sites Implementation Group
 Strict application of the validation list requirements will assist in identifying problems and 

their solutions in the pre-submission stage  

 

6. Demand side issues
Population and household projections, coupled with evidence gathered through the Strategic 
Housing Market Assessments and the Rural Housing Needs Assessments, all identify that there 
is significant need for new homes in the Borough. Such data when reviewed against the 
Council’s waiting list and national statistics also shows that there is an affordability issue. 
Wages have not kept up with house price growth and over time more and more people have 
either been priced out of the housing market or they have had to utilise a greater portion of their 
income on housing costs. Local affordability is illustrated in Figure 12 , slow rates of building on 
some sites (e.g. land at Coldharbour Road) and a clear lack of progress on others (e.g. Canal 
Basin) means reduced housing delivery in the Borough and inevitably higher property prices. 

Through the plan making process the Council will seek to ensure that policies are put in place 
that guide developers to deliver the right size and type of homes in the Borough, and the homes 
that meet local needs. 

Page 92



Figure 12: Ratio of median house price to median gross annual workplace based earning Gravesham only

7. Infrastructure and Public Services Provision
The Local Plan was produced and supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Schedule (IDP). The 
IDP has been developed with input from utility providers and service providers and identifies the 
improvement to existing or new infrastructure required to support the planned growth of the 
Local Plan. Since its creation the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation has also taken on a lead 
roll in ensuring suitable infrastructure is put into place within the Garden City. 

The Council has considered whether the current provision of infrastructure in the Borough is 
acting as a barrier for the delivery of new homes. For the current planning permissions in place, 
there are no infrastructure barriers preventing the commencement of sites.

There are examples in the Borough of infrastructure that was to be delivered as part of a 
development site but subsequently found to be undeliverable due to viability issues. Largest of 
these was the bridge linking Springhead Quarter to Ebbsfleet Station. The developer had 
agreed a significant package of transport infrastructure when the initial outline permission was 
given for the development at Ebbsfleet. More detailed viability work on a phase by phase basis 
identified that some of the infrastructure such as the bridge could not be paid for by the 
development .The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation have addressed this by forward funding 
infrastructure and that has enabled infrastructure such as the Springhead Link Bridge to be 
funded.

Page 93



The investment being made in the Garden City however cannot be easily replicated elsewhere, 
primarily because the Government directly funds the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
bring forward development in the Garden City. Similar funding is not made available to the 
Council to bring forward infrastructure and address service shortfalls in other parts of the 
Borough. Concerns regarding the capacity of infrastructure such as the highway network, water 
and waste resources and the capacity of services such as health care are at the forefront of 
local residents concerns. 

Recent growth has not been complemented by suitable investments in local infrastructure and 
services, as funding opportunities became and remain limited. The inability of developers to 
adequately fund local infrastructure and public services harms local perception of new 
development. The Council has engaged with the Government to bring forward changes to the 
Planning Obligations regime and changes being introduced later this year will contribute 
towards improving the current state of affairs. However, there is a recognition that further 
investments need to be made into local infrastructure, and the Council will continue to work with 
partners to identify and bid for funding that enhances local provision in terms of both 
infrastructure and services.  

Conclusion
The only way to meet the test is enhanced delivery and as highlighted above the Council 
continues to undertake a range of actions related to its various roles. These actions are 
summarised in the form of a work programme at Appendix A.

At the same time, the text is inherently backward looking with paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
defining the thresholds substantially below the housing requirement as:

a) November 2018 indicate that delivery was below 25% of housing required over the 
previous three years; 

 Considering 3 year period from 1/4/2015-31/3/2018
b) November 2019 indicate that delivery was below 45% of housing required over the 

previous three years; 
 Considering 3 year period from 1/4/2016-31/3/2019

c) November 2020 and in subsequent years indicate that delivery was below 75% of 
housing required over the previous three years. 

 Considering 3 year period from 1/4/2017-31/3/2020

Therefore when this Action Plan is published in Summer 2019, only 8 months will remain of the 
final monitoring period. 

Fortunately the Council has, for a variety of reasons, already been delivering actions and 
interventions within the scope of its ability to increase delivery.

Page 94



Appendix A: Work Programme
This is a living document will evolve and be refined over time.

1. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL AS A LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY
Lead Action / Aim Timeframe Performance Measure
Planning Policy Progressing work on the 

LPCS Partial Review and 
Site Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies Document

Regulation 18 Stage 2 
Consultation: Jan-Feb 2020, 
Regulation 19 Consultation: 
Sep-Oct 2020, 
Submission: Feb 2021,
Adoption: Dec 2021.

Adoption of Local Plan 
Partial Review and Site 
Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies document in line 
with Local Development 
Scheme

Developing a local validation 
list

Consult on Validation List is 
late 2019, adopt Validation 
List in early 2020

Developing an accredited 
agent scheme

By July 2020

Continually review the 
appropriateness of planning 
conditions

Ongoing

Increase the transparency of 
the planning obligations 
process

By July 2020

Reduce backlog of planning 
applications and keep to a 
minimum thereafter

April 2020 – then on-going

Review and improve 
information disseminated 
through the Council’s 
website

By July 2020

Address data quality Ongoing
More effective use of IT Ongoing

Development Management

Maintaining a fully Ongoing

Sustained reduction in 
applications backlog

PS1 and PS2 returns 
performance

Increased public use of 
Council’s website in terms of 
web metrics and a 
corresponding decrease in 
public telephone inquiries, in 
areas where information 
available on line.

P
age 95



resourced and skilled 
workforce

Development Sites 
Implementation Group

1. Identify barriers to 
delivery. 

2 to work with developers, 
landowners and other 
departments within the 
Council to ensure that the 
Council has done everything 
reasonable it can do to 
overcome these barriers. 

3. to identify areas that other 
bodies will need to 
investigate to overcome 
remaining barriers..

Ongoing Implementation,  
progression and 
development on major sites

2. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL AS A LANDOWNER & LANDLORD
Housing Strategy and 
Development

Bring forward affordable 
housing at a number of sites 
i.e. Albert Murray Close, 
Arnold Avenue, Barr Road, 
Constable Road / 
Rembrandt Drive, Mark 
Square Garages St Hilda’s, 
St Patricks Gardens, Valley, 
Drive, Whitehill Road, 
Wilberforce Way. 

Ongoing Residential completions 
2020-2025

Housing / Housing Strategy 
and Development

Review housing stock to 
identify opportunities for 
intensification.

Ongoing Identification of additional 
development / 
redevelopment opportunities

Corporate Services Consider the merits of 
creating an a Local Authority 
Trading Company (LATCO) 

March 2020 Creation of LATCO 2020/21 
(subject to outcome of 
review)

P
age 96



to increase housebuilding 
rates

3. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL WIDER ROLE
Planning Policy / 
Development Management

1. Improve the public’s 
understanding of the 
planning system, the role of 
the NPPF, and the part the 
Council has in shaping 
development. 

2 increase the public’s 
participation in the plan 
making process, 
subsequently fostering a 
greater sense of ownership

Ongoing Reduced complaints and 
more useful interactions with 
the public.

Communities / Planning 
Policy / Communications 

Through more effective 
placemaking and marketing 
of the Borough, to promote 
a clearer vision for the 
Borough and key 
development locations

Ongoing Land value uplift

Reduced Town Centre 
vacancy rates

% of planning permissions 
implemented

Improvements to headline 
estimates of personal well-
being from the Annual 
Population Survey

Improved average earnings
Housing and Regeneration Identify opportunities for 

greater involvement in site 
assembly and delivery

Ongoing Reduction in stalled sites 
and development of 
Opportunity Areas and Key 
Sites allocated in Local Plan 

P
age 97



Core Strategy

4. GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL AS A PARTNER
Housing and Regeneration / 
Corporate Services

Identify and bid for funding 
to deliver the development 
and infrastructure, needed 
in the Borough

Ongoing External funding received 
directly / indirectly e.g. 
delivery of infrastructure by 
partners 

5. SUPPLY SIDE
Development Sites 
Implementation Group

Work with stakeholders and 
developers, looking to 
identify and overcome, 
where practicable, 
impediments to delivery. 
Reducing the time between 
permission and build.

Ongoing Increased development 
delivery rates, and progress 
on stalled sites.

Development Management / 
Planning Policy

Ensure schemes are 
deliverable and developable 
during both plan making and 
decision making stages;
Allocate sufficient sites to 
provide greater choice for 
developers;
Enhanced pre-application 
service;
Implementation of validation 
list

Ongoing Increased development 
delivery rates

6. DEMAND SIDE
Economic Development 1. Work to stimulate the 

local economy and to 
improve incomes in the 
borough, directly through a 
review of GBC’s economic 

Ongoing Improved Gross Value 
Added and Average Income 
Levels compared to present.

Housing affordability being 

P
age 98



development offering and 
through our SELEP and 
KMEP membership and 
activity. 
2. Based on concerns raised 
by residents and members, 
the Council is also working 
with partners, identifying 
opportunities for improving 
infrastructure and service 
provision. This includes 
exploring other avenues of 
funding.

more comparable to nearest 
neighbours and improving

7. INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC SERVICES PROVISION
Housing and Regeneration / 
Communities

Work with partners to 
identify and bid for funding 
that enhances local 
provision in terms of both 
infrastructure and services

Ongoing Success rate in obtaining 
grant funding

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 9 September 2019

Reporting officer: Planning Manager (Policy)

Subject: Local Plan Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
The following report seeks Cabinet approval of the Local Plan Review, attached at Appendix 
2.

The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out that policies within adopted local 
plans should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five 
years, and should then be updated as necessary. Reviews should be completed no later than 
five years from the adoption date of a plan. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set 
out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet members are requested to approve the Local Plan Review (Appendix 2) prior 

to its publication.

1. Background

1.1 Paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out that 
policies within adopted local plans should be reviewed to assess whether they 
need updating at least once every five years, and should then be updated as 
necessary. Reviews should be completed no later than five years from the 
adoption date of a plan. Paragraph 33 is also explicit that relevant ‘strategic’ 
policies will need updating at least once every five years if their applicable local 
housing need figure has changed significantly.

1.2 Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 2012.

1.3 The Borough’s Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted by the Council on 30 
September 2014. Therefore its review must be completed by 30 September 2019, 
however no sanctions are set out for not having completed a review within the 
prescribed timescale.  

Page 101 Agenda Item 11



2

1.4 Since the adoption of the Local Plan Core Strategy officers have been gathering 
evidence to inform the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review and the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies Document. This is primarily 
because there was an acceptance during the Local Plan Core Strategy 
examination that Policy CS02 of the Core Strategy would require an immediate 
review. Due to the age of the saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review 
(adopted 1994) there is an accepted need to bring forward a new comprehensive 
set of Development Management policies to aid decision taking by Development 
Management.

2. Local Plan Five Year Review

2.1 Whilst it is a legal requirement to carry out a review, there is no prescribed 
guidance on how such a review should be carried out in planning legislation, the 
NPPF or Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). In addition, there is no best practice 
guidance available from the Local Government Association, the Planning Advisory 
Service or other Local Planning Authorities which the Council can draw upon to 
inform the review. The PPG does set out factors that can be taken into account 
when considering whether policies need updating, these factors include:

 conformity with national planning policy;
 changes to local circumstances; such as a change in Local Housing Need;
 their Housing Delivery Test performance;
 whether the authority can demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable sites for 

housing;
 whether issues have arisen that may impact on the deliverability of key site 

allocations;
 their appeals performance;
 success of policies against indicators in the Development Plan as set out in 

their Authority Monitoring Report;
 the impact of changes to higher tier plans;
 plan-making activity by other authorities, such as whether they have identified 

that they are unable to meet all their housing need;
 significant economic changes that may impact on viability.; and
 whether any new social, environmental or economic priorities may have 

arisen.

2.2 Officers have taken a pragmatic approach in reviewing the policies against the 
NPPF (2019) to identify which policies are in need of modification, see Appendix 
2. This analysis takes into account whether or not policies conform with the NPPF 
(2019). In general the bulk of the Borough’s policies do, due to the age of the 
saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) they are in need of 
replacement, however they generally conform with the NPPF (2019). Policies from 
the Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) also generally conform with the NPPF (2019). 

2.3 The key factors that drive the need to partially review the Local Plan Core 
Strategy (2014), stem from changes to the Borough’s housing need, the Council’s 
performance with regards to the Housing Delivery Test, the inability to 
demonstrate a five year land supply and the delivery on key site allocations. 

2.4 The Borough’s housing need as set out in the Local Plan Core Strategy is for 
some 6,170 dwellings between 2011-2028. However, evidence gathered since the 
adoption of the Core Strategy i.e. the Borough’s Strategic Housing and Economic 
Needs Assessment (SHENA) identifies a need for some 7,905 dwellings between 
2011-2028 instead of 6,170 dwellings. The Government’s standard method for 

Page 102



3

calculating housing need, as published in 2018, identified a need for 8,035 
dwellings in Gravesham over the same period.

2.5 Coupled with this increasing need, there has been insufficient new homes 
supplied in the Borough against the housing targets set out in the Local Plan Core 
Strategy (2014). This means that the Borough’s Housing Delivery Test 
Measurement (Feb 2019) was 64%, i.e. only 64% of the homes needed in the 
Borough were delivered between 2015/16 and 2017/18. Going forward the 
Council can only identify a housing land supply of 4.39 years, this means that 
there will be a shortfall in delivery going forward. One of the main causes of 
insufficient delivery in the past and insufficient delivery going forward has been the 
performance of key sites allocated in the Local Plan Core Strategy. It has taken 
significantly longer for sites such as Land north of Coldharbour Road, Northfleet 
Embankment East (EDC) and Heritage Quarter to come forward. There remains 
significant uncertainty regarding sites such as Northfleet Embankment West 
(EDC) and Canal Basin, albeit that the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation are 
actively working on ensuring Northfleet Embankment West comes forward as 
soon as is practicable. We also understand from the EDC that the future of 
Ebbsfleet Central is being crystallised and we will shortly understand how that 
impacts on the site within Gravesham at Northfleet Rise.

2.6 These factors alone mean that the Borough’s Local Plan Core Strategy is in need 
of a partial review and this review is already underway with the first consultation 
undertaken in 2018 i.e. ‘Part 1 Site Allocations: Issues and Options - Regulation 
18 Consultation’ from April to July. The Council also undertook a ‘Part 2: 
Development Management Policies Document - Regulation 18 Consultation‘, the 
main purpose of this document is to provide detailed policies to help determine 
day to day planning applications. This document will replace saved policies from 
the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) and provide further policy detail which is needed 
beyond that contained in the Core Strategy and national policy i.e. the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

2.7 Based on the above, the five year review does not raise any new matters that 
need to be considered. The Council has a program for updating its Local Plan 
underway and this in itself will ensure that the Council’s legal requirements are 
met.

3. Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 The attached Local Plan Review has been prepared to meet the legal 
requirements of the Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) England Regulations 2012. It is therefore recommended that the review 
be reported to Cabinet for adoption, followed by publication on the Council’s 
website.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 103



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012 requires a local planning authority to review its Local Plan 
Policies within 5 years of adoption.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Provision is made annually within the revenue budget for contributions to the 
Planning Policy Reserve, which aims to spread the costs of producing the Local 
Plan and maintaining planning policy over the period to which it relates. 

Risk Assessment If a Local Planning Authority does not have an up-to-date Local Plan then it is likely 
that paragraph 11 of the NPPF will be triggered. This provides a “tilted balance” in 
favour of granting planning permission, unless the proposal causes significant and 
demonstrable harm. This could represent an opportunity for developers and 
landowners who are considering a speculative application. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No - N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objectives 1,2, 3 and 4

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the new Local Plan 
Review outputs.

Page 104

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Spatial Policies
CS01: Sustainable Development Requires applications that accord 

with the development plan to be 
approved unless material 
considerations indicate 
otherwise. Presumption in favour 
of sustainable development 
applies.

1. Introduction (para. 2);

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 10);

2. Achieving sustainable 
development: The presumption 
in favour of sustainable 
development (para. 11-14);

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 23);

4. Decision-making: Determining 
applications (para. 47 and 49);

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment: 
Habitats and biodiversity (para. 
177).
 

Policy requires no modification.

CS02: Scale and Distribution of 
Development

Quantifies total dwelling (6,170) 
and employment floorspace 
(186,490 m2) provision and 
phasing up to 2028. Allocates 
dwelling no. and floorspace m2 

Housing
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

3. Plan-making (para. 15); 

Policy requires modification in 
respect of the Borough’s 
objectively assessed development 
needs. This may also necessitate a 
modification to the development 

P
age 107



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

to Opportunity Areas and 
Coldharbour Road Key Site and 
also Rest of Urban Area and rural 
settlements inset from Green 
Belt. Prioritises development in 
urban area as sustainable 
location. Green Belt policies 
apply to development proposals 
outside settlements inset from 
the Green Belt. Commitment to 
strategic Green Belt boundary 
review up to 2028 and beyond.

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(a));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59 and 65);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 67);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Rural housing (para. 
77 and 78).

Employment
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

3. Plan-making (para. 15);

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80 and 81(b)).

Green Belt Protection Policies

strategy, Green Belt boundaries 
and the duration of the plan 
period. However, this can only be 
done via the plan making process 
i.e. the Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review and development of 
the Site Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies document. 

P
age 108



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

13. Protecting Green Belt land:  
Proposals affecting the Green 
Belt (para. 143-147).

Green Belt Boundary Review
13. Protecting Green Belt land:
(para. 136 and 137).

CS03: Northfleet Embankment 
and Swanscombe Peninsula East 
Opportunity Area

Sets out development 
requirements for Northfleet 
Embankment and Swanscombe 
Peninsula East Opportunity Area 
including Key Sites for housing 
(980) and employment (133,500 
m2) i.e. Land East of Grove Road 
and Robin’s Creek Key Site; Old 
Northfleet Residential Extension 
Key Site; Northfleet Cement 
Works Regeneration Area Key 
Site; Northfleet Embankment 
East Regeneration Area Key Site.

Housing
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 67).

Employment
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80 and 81(b)).

Transport
9. Promoting sustainable 

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 109



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

transport (para. 104(e)).

CS04: Gravesend Riverside East 
and North East Gravesend 
Opportunity Area

Sets out development 
requirements for Gravesend 
Riverside East and North East 
Gravesend Opportunity Area 
including Key Sites for housing 
(780) and employment (22,230 
m2) i.e. the Canal Basin 
Regeneration Area Key Site and 
the North East Gravesend 
Regeneration Area Key Site. 

Housing
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 67).

Employment
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80 and 81(b)).

Policy requires no modification.

CS05: Gravesend Town Centre 
Opportunity Area

Sets out Gravesend Town Centre 
will be principal focus for town 
centre related economic and 
social activity. This will be 
achieved by consolidating 
existing retail area, encouraging 
mix of employment and 
residential uses, creating a public 

Town Centre
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85);

Transport

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 110



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

transport interchange and 
promoting an evening economy. 
Sets out development 
requirements for Heritage 
Quarter i.e. mixed use: 330 
dwellings, 10,500 m2 of 
comparison retail floorspace, 
some office floorspace and a 
hotel.

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(e)).

Housing
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 67).

Employment
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80 and 81(b)).

CS06: Ebbsfleet (Gravesham) 
Opportunity Area

Sets out development 
requirements for Ebbsfleet 
(Gravesham) Opportunity Area 
including Key Sites for housing 
(690) and employment (20,000 
m2) with retail, 
leisure/entertainment, hotels 

Housing
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59);

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 111



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

and restaurants. Sets out 
Springhead Quarter Key Site will 
provide 690 dwellings with some 
supporting employment and 
retail employment floorspace. 
Sets out Northfleet Rise Quarter 
Key Site will provide employment 
led development comprising 
business employment floorspace, 
leisure/entertainment 
floorspace, hotels, restaurants 
and a local centre. Other key 
elements: provision of 
educational, health, social care, 
sports, community facilities, 
open space, public transport 
improvements including new 
bridge over Ebbsfleet Stream, 
enhanced transport hub at 
Ebbsfleet Station.

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 67).

Employment
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80 and 81(b)).

Transport
9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(e)).

CS21: Land at Coldharbour Road 
Key Site

Sets out Land at Coldharbour 
Road Key Site will provide mixed 
use development of: 500 
dwellings, open space, 
biodiversity improvements, 
community facilities and 
potentially a new primary school 

Housing
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59);

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 112



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

on-site. Sets out Land south of 
Coldharbour Road will provide 
office and light industrial 
enterprise/incubation space 
(5050 m2).

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 67).

Employment
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80 and 81(b)).

Open Space
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 92(a));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities: Open space and 
recreation (para. 96).

Biodiversity Improvements
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(c));

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment (para. 

P
age 113



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

170(a), 170(d) and 171));

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment: 
Habitats and biodiversity (para. 
174).

Community Facilities
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91, 92(a), 
92(b), 92(e) and 94).

Transport
9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(a), 102(c), 
103, 104(a) and 104(d)).

Thematic Policies
CS07: Economy, Employment 
and Skills

Quantifies total employment 
floorspace (186,490 m2) 
provision up to 2028 focussed on 
the Opportunity Areas/Land 
South of Coldharbour Road Key 
Site. Any additional office 
development directed in 

Conforms to:
2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80, 81(b), 81(c) 
and 81(d) and 82);

Policy generally conforms with the 
NPPF, however the 2019 NPPF now 
refers to only retail and leisure 
development at 2,500 m2 or 
greater outside of Gravesend Town 
Centre requiring an impact 
assessment i.e.  no longer for office 

P
age 114



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

accordance with NPPF sequential 
test. Impact assessment applies 
to office proposals exceeding 
2,500 m2 outside Town Centre if 
not identified in Core Strategy. 
Support for small/flexible 
industrial/office workspaces for 
start-up/expansion of 
small/medium sized enterprises.
Loss of B class employment 
floorspace not supported unless 
subject to other Core Strategy 
policies and meeting specific 
criteria. Support for expansion of 
river-related employment. Loss 
of existing commercial wharves 
not supported unless subject to 
meeting specific criteria. Support 
for conversion of rural buildings 
to employment use/live-work 
units. Support for upgrading 
educational/training facilities 
and major development projects 
expected to contribute to skills 
training/promotion of 
apprenticeships/work 
placements.

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
83 and 84);

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85-88).

Partly Conforms to:
6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 81(a));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 89).

development. As the NPPF is a 
material consideration in decision-
taking, no modification is needed.
 

P
age 115



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

CS08: Retail, Leisure and the 
Hierarchy of Centres

Reinforces sustainable network 
and hierarchy of centres by 
maintaining the sub-regional role 
of Gravesend Town Centre; 
protects and enhances local 
centres; creates additional local 
centres on Key Sites. 
• applies a sequential approach 
• requires an impact assessment 
of larger retail/leisure 
development;
• supports development of a 
scale/type appropriate to centre 
hierarchy and character;
• resists development that 
adversely affects retail centre’s 
vitality and viability, protects 
lone village shops; and
• encourages mix of units.
Gravesend Town Centre 
maintained as highest order 
centre. Heritage Quarter: 10,500 
m2 comparison retail floorspace 
at Heritage Quarter Key Site. 
New local centres/expansion of 
existing centres will be 
supported at specific Key Sites. 
Impact testing applies in 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85-90).

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 116



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

accordance with NPPF.

CS09: Culture and Tourism Seeks to maximise opportunities 
for expansion in culture and 
tourism activity inc. greater use 
of the river. 
Seeks to protect improvements 
to existing and supports new 
cultural and tourist facilities. 
Supports sustainable rural 
tourism and leisure 
developments. Sequential test 
applies.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(c));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
83(c) and 83(d));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85(e), 86 and 87).

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 92);

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment (para. 
172);

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment (para. 
185(b)).

Policy requires no modification.

CS10: Physical and Social Protects, retains, enhances 2. Achieving sustainable Policy requires no modification.

P
age 117



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Infrastructure existing physical and social 
infrastructure. Supports 
provision of additional 
infrastructure. Protects against 
loss of existing infrastructure 
subject to viability and 
alternative provision. Developers 
required to provide new or 
improved infrastructure or 
contribute to if proven need 
from new development subject 
to viability.

development (para. 8(b));

3. Plan-making (para. 16(c));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(b) and 22);

3. Plan-making: Maintaining 
effective co-operation (para. 25 
and 26);

3. Plan-making: Development 
contributions (para. 34);

4. Decision-making: Pre-
application engagement and 
front-loading (para. 41);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 72(a));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 81(c));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 94);

P
age 118



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

10. Supporting high quality 
communications (para. 112 and 
114);

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 121(b)).

11. Making effective use of land: 
Achieving appropriate densities 
(para. 122(c));

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change (para. 148);

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Planning for 
climate change (para. 149 and 
151(b));

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Coastal change 
(para. 167(b));

17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals (para. 203).

P
age 119



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

CS11: Transport Developments should mitigate 
impact on highways/public 
transport supported by transport 
assessments/travel plans. 
Transport assessments required.
Parking provision in accordance 
with adopted parking standards.
Supports proposals to improve 
public transport e.g. 
• Fastrack/other bus 
priority measures;
• Key Sites include bus 
provision;
• transport hubs at 
Gravesend Town Centre and 
Ebbsfleet to provide interchange 
facilities between bus, rail, 
walking, cycling; and
• Ensure adequate supply 
of public car parking.
Improvements to walking and 
cycling facilities and networks 
inc. in new development, to 
Town Centre and Ebbsfleet, 
between Northfleet and 
Ebbsfleet stations and along 
Thames (Thames Estuary Path).

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8.(a) and 
8(b));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(b));

3. Plan-making: Development 
contributions (para. 34);

4. Decision-making: Pre-
application engagement and 
front-loading (para. 41);

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
84);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102-111);

11. Making effective use of land: 
Achieving appropriate densities 
(para. 123(a));
12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(e));

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 120



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Land safeguarded for Crossrail 
Extension and protect High 
Speed 1 (HS1) railway.
Support to improve efficiency of 
freight transport and alternatives 
to road transport. Safeguards 
wharves. Supports Thames 
passenger transport and cruise 
liners.

13. Protecting Green Belt land: 
Proposals affecting the Green 
Belt (para. 146(c));

17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals (para. 204(e)).

CS12: Green Infrastructure Multifunctional linked network 
of green spaces, footpaths, cycle 
routes, wildlife stepping stones, 
corridors will be created, 
protected, enhanced, 
maintained.
Improves access within urban 
area, from urban to rural area, 
along Thames. See Fig. 19 
Strategic Green Infrastructure 
Network.
Protects designated sites for 
biodiversity value, highest 
protection level for international 
designated SPA, SAC, Ramsar, 
then national designated SSSI, 
then LWS then local areas.
No net loss of biodiversity. 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(d));

3. Plan-making: Development 
contributions (para. 34);

4. Decision-making: Pre-
application engagement and 
front-loading (para. 41);

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91(c));

11. Making effective use of land 

Policy generally conforms with the 
NPPF, however the 2019 NPPF also 
requires the identification and 
pursuit of opportunities for 
securing measurable net gains in 
biodiversity. As the NPPF is a 
material consideration in decision-
taking, no modification is needed.

P
age 121



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Enhances, restores, re-creates, 
maintains habitats in BOA and in 
new development.
Compensation required if 
negative impact on 
protected/priority habitats can’t 
be avoided and development 
importance outweighs 
biodiversity impact.
Conserves, restores, enhances 
landscape character/valued 
landscapes. Greatest weight 
given to Kent Downs AONB and 
setting. Proposals take account 
of Kent Downs AONB 
Management Plan, Gravesham 
LCA and Cluster Studies.

(para. 118(a) and 118(b));

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Planning for 
climate change (para. 150(a));

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment (para. 
170-177);

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment: Ground 
conditions and pollution (para. 
181).

CS13: Green Space, Sport and 
Recreation

Provision for, protects and 
enhances quantity, quality, 
accessibility of green space, 
playing pitches, other sports 
facilities.
Provision standards apply to new 
development. On-site provision 
required but if not possible 
alternative provision or 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and (c));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(d));

3. Plan-making: Development 
contributions (para. 34);

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 122



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

enhancement of existing facilities 
required off-site. All cases 
requires ongoing maintenance 
provision. 

4. Decision-making: Pre-
application engagement and 
front-loading (para. 41);

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
83(d));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91(c) and 
92));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities: Open space and 
recreation (para. 96, 97 and 99-
101);

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 118(b)) and 121(b)).

13. Protecting Green Belt land 
(para. 141);

13. Protecting Green Belt land: 
Proposals affecting the Green 
Belt (para. 145(b)) and 146(e));

P
age 123



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Planning for 
climate change (para. 150(a));

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment (para. 
170 and 171);

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment: Ground 
conditions and pollution (para. 
181).

CS14: Housing Type and Size Protects existing housing stock 
mix, resists conversion of family 
sized to smaller units.
New development to provide 
range of dwelling types/sizes 
considering existing area 
character and local need.
Supports sheltered housing and 
extra care special needs housing. 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

3. Plan-making (para. 15);

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(a) and 20(d));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59-61, 65 and 
66).

Policy requires no modification.

CS15: Housing Density Sites developed at variety of 2. Achieving sustainable Policy requires no modification.

P
age 124



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

densities subject to location and 
accessibility to public transport. 
Density variations across a site to 
be used to develop different 
character areas.
Density to achieve good design 
and doesn’t compromise area 
character subject to:
• urban area 40 dph min. 
and higher at locations close to 
Gravesend Town Centre and 
Ebbsfleet;
• rural area 30 dph min.
If development fails to make 
efficient use of land ref. 
character and location may be 
refused permission.

development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

3. Plan-making (para. 15);

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(a) and 20(d));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(b)) and 
106);

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 117);

11. Making effective use of land: 
Achieving appropriate densities 
(para. 122 and 123);

13. Protecting Green Belt land 
(para. 137(b)).

CS16: Affordable Housing AH required on all 
developments: urban area 15 
dwgs or more or on 0.5 ha or 
more; rural area 3 units or more 
or on sites of 0.1 ha or more in 
the rural area. Threshold: urban 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(a));

Policy requires no modification.

The 2019 NPPF advises that 
affordable housing should not be 
sought for residential 
developments of 9 dwellings or 

P
age 125



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

area 30%; rural area 35%.
AH mix 70% affordable rented 
and social rented, 30% 
intermediate.
Development subject to viability 
and local needs tenure mix.
In Green Belt, supports limited 
AH in sustainable location for 
proven, justified local need and 
occupied by people with local 
connection in perpetuity.

3. Plan-making: Development 
contributions (para. 34);

4. Decision-making: Pre-
application engagement and 
front-loading (para. 41);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59, 61-64);

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Identifying land for 
homes (para. 71(a));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Rural housing (para. 
77);

below, other than in designated 
rural areas where a lower 
threshold of 5 units or fewer can 
be set by policy.

The glossary for the NPPF explains 
that ‘designated rural areas’ are 
National Parks, Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and 
areas designated as ‘rural’ under 
Section 157 of the Housing Act 
1985. The parishes in Gravesham 
are Designated Rural Areas and so 
the policy is in conformity.

 The Housing (Right to Acquire 
or Enfranchise) (Designated 
Rural Areas in the South East) 
Order 1997 lists Cobham, 
Luddesdown and Shorne

 The Housing (Right to Acquire 
or Enfranchise) (Designated 
Rural Areas) Order 1999 lists 
Higham and Meopham

Problem – Vigo and Istead Rise

CS17: Provision of Traveller Sites Meets housing needs of 2. Achieving sustainable Policy requires no modification.

P
age 126



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Travellers by:
● Safeguarding traveller sites 

with permanent permission 
● Investigating opportunities to 

extend existing permanent 
urban area sites;

• Supporting new urban area 
sites/rural settlement sites inset 
from Green Belt subject to plan 
policies.

development (para. 8(b));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(a));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59 and 61).

CS18: Climate Change Flood Risk: development directed 
sequentially to areas at least risk 
of flooding. Proposals at risk of 
flooding must be accompanied 
by Flood Risk Assessment and 
Flood Risk Management Plan (if 
required). Permission refused if 
sequential and exception tests 
fail. Prioritise maintenance, 
improvement or replacement of 
flood defence infrastructure over 
other land uses. New 
development to reduce the 
causes and impacts of flooding.

Water Quality: regard to Water 
Framework Directive and 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(c));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(b) and 20(d));

3. Plan-making: Development 
contributions (para. 34);

4. Decision-making: Pre-
application engagement and 
front-loading (para. 41);

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change (para. 148);

Policy requires no modification. P
age 127



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Thames River Basin Management 
Plan objectives. 

Sustainable Drainage and Surface 
Water Run-Off: 
● surface water run-off from 

new development no greater 
impact than existing use; and

• use of Sustainable Drainage
   Systems.
 
Water Demand Management:
Manage supply of water and 
reduce impact of development 
on water supply:
• Require new homes to be 
built to at least level 3/4 of the 
Code for Sustainable Homes in 
terms of water use (105 litres per 
person per day consumption) or 
by compensatory water savings. 
• Seek 5% of homes on Key 
Sites to meet level 5/6 of the 
Code for Sustainable Homes ref. 
water use (80 litres/person/day 
consumption);
• Require all non-
residential developments of 

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Planning for 
climate change (para. 149-154);

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Planning and 
flood risk (para. 155-165).

P
age 128



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

1,000 m2 and above to meet the 
BREEAM ”excellent” standards of 
water efficiency and include 
collection of rainwater; and
• Support retrofitting 
existing residential properties to 
reduce water consumption.

Carbon Reduction: reduce 
carbon footprint of Borough by:
• national policy on 
transition to zero carbon 
development via amendments to 
Part L of the Building 
Regulations, require 
development to include low 
carbon and renewable energy 
generation inc. combined heat 
and power unless not technically 
or financially feasible or are 
alternative solutions;
• Support stand-alone 
decentralised, renewable or low 
carbon energy development; and
• Support other proposals 
which lead to a reduction in 
carbon footprint e.g. retrofitting 
existing homes.

P
age 129



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

CS19: Development and Design 
Principles

New development: visually 
attractive, fit for purpose, locally 
distinctive, conserve and 
enhance character of built, 
historic and natural 
environment, integrate with local 
area and meet anti-crime 
standards. Incorporates 
sustainable construction 
standards and techniques, be 
adaptable, climate change 
resilient all through specific 
criteria inc. Building for Life 12, 
Kent Design, analysis of local 
context and character, 
Residential Layout Guidelines.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20);

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91 and 
92(a)); 

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities: Open space and 
recreation (para. 96);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(c) and 
102(e), 103, 104(a), 104(b), 
104(d), 105 and 106);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport: Considering 
development proposals (para. 
108(a), 108(b) and 110);

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 124-130);

Policy generally conforms with the 
NPPF, however the 2019 NPPF sets 
out that Local Planning Authorities 
can make use of national describe 
space standards where their use 
can be justified. Whilst CS19 refers 
to local standards, the NPPF is a 
material consideration in decision 
taking, therefore no modification is 
needed.

P
age 130



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change (para. 148);

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Planning for 
climate change (para. 149, 150, 
151(c) and 153);

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change: Planning and 
flood risk (para. 155, 163 and 
165);

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment (para. 
170(a), 170(d), 170(e) and 
170(f));

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment: 
Habitats and biodiversity (para. 
174(b)), 175 and 177);

15. Conserving and enhancing 

P
age 131



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

the natural environment:
Ground conditions and pollution 
(para. 178, and 180-182).

CS20: Heritage and the Historic 
Environment

Preserves, protects, enhances 
heritage and historic 
environment especially heritage 
assets most at risk through 
neglect, decay, other threats. 
Secures viable, sustainable and 
appropriate futures for such 
assets at risk. 
Supports proposals and 
initiatives which preserve and 
enhance heritage assets, their 
setting where it contributes to 
the significance of the asset, 
interpretation and enjoyment.
For development impact on 
designated heritage asset, 
weight given to its conservation 
value will be commensurate with 
importance and significance of 
asset. If non-designated assets, 
decisions regard to harm or loss 
and significance of asset.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(c));

3. Plan-making: Strategic policies 
(para. 20(d));

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment (para. 
184 and 185;

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: 
Proposals affecting heritage 
assets (para. 189, 190 and 192);

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: 
Considering potential impacts 
(para. 193-197 and 200).

Policy requires no modification.

Local Plan First Review Saved Policies

P
age 132



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Housing
H5 - Increasing the Housing Stock 
by Conversion

Conversion of existing properties 
to flats, maisonettes, bedsit, 
hostels, homes and other forms 
of multiple occupancy is subject 
to criteria:
(i) Building shall be in an 
appropriate area for conversion 
excluding an area comprised  
mostly single family dwellings 
and in areas which are 
environmentally unsuitable for 
young families e.g. have a 
predominance of HMOs.
(ii) Building’s size and 
arrangement unsuitable for 
single family occupation.
(iii) Subject to Residential 
Layout Guidelines.
(iv) Subject to adopted 
Vehicle Parking Standards

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59 and 61)

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(e), 105 and 
106);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport: Considering 
development proposals (para. 
110(b));

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(a), 127(c) and 
127(f));

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change (para. 148);

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment:
Ground conditions and pollution 

Policy generally conforms with the 
NPPF, however the 2019 NPPF sets 
out that Local Planning Authorities 
can make use of national describe 
space standards where their use 
can be justified. Whilst CS19 refers 
to local standards, the NPPF is a 
material consideration in decision 
taking, therefore no modification is 
needed.

P
age 133



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

(para. 180(a)).

H6(iii) - Provision to Meet Special 
Housing Needs

Prevents clustering together of 
residential hostels and homes 
(new build or conversion )to 
ensure area’s character isn’t 
harmed. 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59 and 61);

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(a) and 127(c));

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change (para. 148).

Policy requires no modification.

Employment
E5 - Change of Use to Offices Sets out specific areas on 

Proposals Map where change of 
use to offices will normally be 
permitted provided building 
fabric and townscape quality are 
maintained and B1 uses 
restricted to offices.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a) and 
8(c));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy (para. 80, 81(b), 81(c) 
and 82);

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(a)-127(d)).

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 134



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Shopping
S3 - Maintenance of Shopping 
Frontages

Sets out shopping street 
frontages on Proposals Map 
where changes of use to uses 
other than shopping A1 will be 
resisted.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85).

Policy requires no modification.

S4 - Non-shopping Uses in the 
Shopping Areas

Sets out shopping street 
frontages on Proposals Map 
where changes of use to uses 
which are appropriate to Town 
Centre Shopping Area and 
require a shop window frontage, 
including A2 uses are allowed, 
provided total number in each 
street is not excessive.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85).

Policy requires no modification.

S7 - Hot Food Shops and 
Restaurants and other A3 Uses

Requires change of use of retail 
shops to A3 to meet specific 
criteria: (i) should not cluster to 
prevent dead frontage; (ii) not 
have detrimental effect on 
residential amenity; (iii) should 
be adequate parking; (iv) 
ventilation trunking discreetly 
located on building.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a)-8(c));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(e), 105 and 
106);

12. Achieving well-designed 

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 135



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

places (para. 127(f));

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment:
Ground conditions and pollution 
(para. 180(a)).

Townscape, Conservation and 
Design
TC2 - Listed Buildings Demolition of listed buildings not 

granted unless substantial and 
overriding reasons apply. 
Following any demolition, early 
and appropriate redevelopment 
to follow.
For alterations or extensions to 
listed buildings or setting, 
integrity of listed building to be 
maintained and sympathetic ref. 
massing, scale, appearance and 
materials.
Change of use of listed buildings 
considered on merits especially if 
character or appearance of listed 
building will suffer.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(c));

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment (para. 
184 and 185);

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: 
Considering potential impacts 
(para. 194).

Policy requires no modification.

TC3 - Development Affecting 
Conservation Areas

Development within or affecting 
a conservation area expected to 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(c));

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 136



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

make a positive contribution to 
conservation area.
Demolition of unlisted buildings 
within or affecting conservation 
areas will be resisted unless 
building harmful to conservation 
area and redevelopment or other 
use beneficial.
 

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment (para. 
184 and 185);

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: 
Proposals affecting heritage 
assets (para. 189, 190 and 192);

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: 
Considering potential impacts 
(para. 193-196, 198, 200 and 
201).

TC7 - Other Archaeological Sites Development on important 
archaeological sites not normally 
permitted. On less important 
archaeological sites permission 
refused unless archaeological 
investigation approved by the 
Council takes place in advance of 
or during development.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(c));

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment (para. 
184 and 185);

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: 
Proposals affecting heritage 
assets (para. 189, 190 and 192);

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 137



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: 
Considering potential impacts 
(para. 193-197).

TC8 - Advertisement Control Council’s policy guidelines for 
advertisement control used to 
determine advertisement 
consent applications. Displays 
detrimental to public safety or 
amenity resisted.
   

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 124, 125, 126 and 
132).

Policy requires no modification.

TC9 - Shopfronts Resists loss of existing shopfronts 
of traditional design and 
materials. Installation of security 
grills and shutters on shopfront 
exteriors resisted. 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 124 , 125, 126, 127 
and 130).

Policy requires no modification.

The Countryside
C10 - Agricultural Dwellings Agricultural dwellings given 

favourable consideration only if 
overriding case demonstrated 
and no alternative provision 
available. Subject to PPG7 
(Annexe E), other Government 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes: Rural housing (para. 
79(a).

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 138



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

advice effective at the time and 
criteria: (i) agricultural unit must 
be viable (ii) temporary siting of 
caravan may be considered (iii) 
must be necessary for 
agricultural worker (iv) no 
suitable housing available in 
vicinity of site (v) care taken to 
select most suitable site (vi) 
modest dwelling size and of 
design appropriate to Green Belt 
and countryside location.
 

C11 - Change of Use of 
Redundant Buildings in the 
Countryside

Conversion of farm buildings to 
other uses permitted where (i) 
originally erected as agricultural 
building but now no longer 
needed (ii) building is substantial, 
of permanent construction and 
in appropriate location ref. roads 
and services (iii) building has 
intrinsic interest or characteristic 
of Kent Countryside and 
alterations preserve that interest 
(iv) rural economy diversified 
and not dilute farm viability (v) 
curtilage is minimum necessary 
(vi) nature and intensity not 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a) and 
8(c));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
83);

13. Protecting Green Belt land: 
Proposals affecting the Green 
Belt (para. 146(d)).

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 139



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

detrimental to amenity or traffic 
safety.

C12 - Replacement Dwellings Strong presumption against 
replacement of existing 
dwellings, only set aside subject 
to following criteria: (i) existing 
dwelling must be original 
dwelling in permanent dwelling 
use (ii) existing dwelling must be 
in appropriate location ref. 
roads, services, established rural 
settlement (iii) replacement 
dwelling must be of similar scale 
and mass to existing dwelling 
and no larger than existing 
dwelling subject to exceptions 
(iv) internal layout of 
replacement dwelling must 
prevent later subdivision (v) 
replacement dwelling occupies 
same site as existing dwelling (vi) 
satisfactory access (vii) site 
drainage, soil and waste disposal 
must be satisfactory.
  

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

13. Protecting Green Belt land: 
Proposals affecting the Green 
Belt (para. 145(d)).

Policy requires no modification.

C13 - Extensions to Dwellings Dwelling extensions considered 
on merits subject to criteria: (i) 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 

Policy partly conforms with the 
NPPF.

P
age 140



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

must be “original dwelling” in 
permanent dwelling use (ii) 
limited to one third of gross floor 
area of original dwelling (iii) 
extensions for missing or 
inadequate basic amenities 
permitted (iv) does not facilitate 
formation of separate residential 
curtilage (v) must not lead to 
undue visual intrusion into open 
countryside (vi) appearance, 
massing, scale, form and 
materials shall be appropriate 
(vii) garages and outbuildings 
considered on merits.

8(c));

13. Protecting Green Belt land: 
Proposals affecting the Green 
Belt (para. 145(c)).

In line with the NPPF, the policy 
allows extensions in the 
countryside but these are limited 
to extensions to dwellings whereas 
the NPPF refers to buildings. 

The NPPF also does not require the 
building to be in permanent use 
where the policy does.

Criterion (ii) provides an indication 
of what is considered to be a 
proportionate extension i.e. no 
more than one third of the gross 
floor area of the original dwelling.  
When assessing whether a 
proposed extension is a 
disproportionate addition to the 
original building, consideration is 
also given to other factors 
including the footprint, volume and 
height of the proposed 
addition/extension in relation to 
those of the original building would 
come into play.

Only limited weight can be given to 

P
age 141



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

criterion (iii) if it results in 
disproportionate additions over 
and above the size of the original 
building.  The provision of 
extensions to provide essential 
basic amenities may be taken into 
account as a “very special 
circumstance.”

No weight can be given to criterion 
(vii) as the erection of outbuildings 
(including domestic garages) is not 
one of the exceptions listed in 
paragraphs 145 or 146 of the NPPF.  
Therefore, they are inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt.

C17 - Horse-riding and Stables Proposals for horse-riding, riding 
schools and stables only 
permitted if compatible with 
agricultural, landscape and 
transport policies in this Plan and 
be properly designed, of sound 
materials appropriate to 
countryside and in acceptable 
location.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
83);

13. Protecting Green Belt land: 
Proposals affecting the Green 

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 142



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Belt (para. 145(b) and 146(e)).

C18 - Incorporation of Additional 
Land into Residential Gardens

Resists incorporation of 
productive or potentially 
productive farmland and 
woodlands into residential 
gardens.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(c));

13. Protecting Green Belt land: 
Proposals affecting the Green 
Belt (para. 143 and 144);

15. Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment (para. 
170 and 172).

Policy requires no modification.

Leisure and Tourism
LT6 - Additional Open Space in 
New Housing Development

Housing development to make 
provision for appropriate open 
space and play space ref. scale 
and type of housing proposed 
and existing provision.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
83(d));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 92(a)); 

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities: Open space and 

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 143



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

recreation (para. 96);

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 121(b)).

Transport
T1 - Impact of Development on 
the Highway Network

Considers traffic impact of 
development on transport 
system and ensures all 
developments are adequately 
served by highway network.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport: Considering 
development proposals (para. 
108-111).

Policy requires no modification.

T2 - Channelling of Traffic onto 
the Primary and District 
Distributor Network

Seeks to channel traffic travelling 
through Gravesham on to 
primary road network and traffic 
between and within residential, 
industrial, principal business 
districts onto district distributors.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(b) and 
104(c)).

Policy requires no modification.

T3 - Development not well 
related to the Primary and 

Development generating 
significant volumes of 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 144



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

District Distributor Network commercial traffic, not permitted 
if not well related to primary and 
district distributor network.

and 8(c));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport: Considering 
development proposals (para. 
109).

T4 - Development outside the 
Built-Up Area

The Local Planning and Highway 
Authorities will not normally 
permit any proposed 
development outside the 
confines of the built up area that 
generates significant vehicular or 
pedestrian traffic.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

6. Building a strong, competitive 
economy: Supporting a 
prosperous rural economy (para. 
84);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport: Considering 
development proposals (para. 
109).

Policy requires no modification.

T5 - New Accesses onto Highway 
Network

Formation of new accesses or 
intensification of existing 
accesses onto highway network 
not permitted, except if no 
danger arises, properly formed 
access created and to acceptable 
standard.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport: Considering 
development proposals (para. 

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 145



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

108(b)) and 110(d)).

T6 - Safeguarding of Thameside 
Development Route

Safeguards STDR. Resists 
development which prevents or 
impedes implementation of 
STDR.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(b) and 
104(c)).

Policy requires no modification.

T9 - Housing Estate Layout Highway layout of new 
residential developments to 
comply with Kent Design Guide 
and Vehicle Parking Standards 
and use “Traffic Calming” 
measures.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(b) and 
8(c));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(e), 105 and 
106);

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport: Considering 
development proposals (para. 
108(a), 108(b) and 110;

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 124-127 and 130).

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 146



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Parking
P3 - Vehicle Parking Standards Development to provide parking 

on site, in accordance with KCC 
Vehicle Parking Standards, as 
interpreted by GBC, unless 
exception justified. B1 car 
parking at offices standard, lorry 
parking and manoeuvring areas 
provided, unless restriction 
agreement entered into.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(e), 105 and 
106).

Policy requires no modification.

P5 - Change of Use of Buildings 
and Vehicle Parking Standards

For c/o/u, conversion of 
dwellings, minor extensions, 
ensures Vehicle Parking 
Standards are met. If prejudicial 
to townscape or lead to 
unused/underused building, may 
relax standards, provided doesn’t 
exacerbate on-street parking 
problems.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 102(e), 105 and 
106).

Policy requires no modification.

Area Policies
AP1 - Wrotham Road, Gravesend Sets out policy approach for 

Wrotham Road area on 
Proposals Map. Prevents 
conversion of dwellings to 
commercial. Supports broad mix 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 147



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

of housing and commercial uses 
or community facilities. If re-use 
of Wrotham Road School arises 
will be restricted to low traffic-
generating use e.g. community 
facilities/sheltered housing.

of homes (para. 59 and 61);

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91(a), 92(a) 
and 92(e));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(a));

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 118(a));

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(e) and 127(f)).

AP2 - Parrock Street, Gravesend Sets out policy approach for 
Parrock Street area on Proposals 
Map. Supports small low 
overhead premises for shops and 
non-office services. Offices 
acceptable on upper floors only.
 

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85(d));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91(a), 91(c), 
92(a), 92(c), 92(d) and 92(e));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(a));

Policy requires no modification.

P
age 148



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 118(a));

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(e)).

AP7 - Milton Road, Gravesend Sets out policy approach for 
Milton Road area on Proposals 
Map. Maintains flexible attitude 
to proposals, particularly if 
shopping no longer viable.  Non-
office services and offices 
requiring “shop window” 
frontage acceptable.

2. Achieving sustainable 
development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85(d));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91(a), 92(a), 
and 92(e));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(a));

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 118(a));

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(e)).

Policy requires no modification.

AP10 - Harmer Street, Gravesend Sets out policy approach for 2. Achieving sustainable Policy requires no modification.

P
age 149



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

Harmer Street area on Proposals 
Map. Ensures conservation, 
restoration and continued use of 
buildings. Mix of commercial 
uses (offices/small retail units) 
appropriate. Residential 
conversions welcomed provided 
compliant with Residential 
Layout Guidelines.

development (para. 8(a), 8(b) 
and 8(c));

5. Delivering a sufficient supply 
of homes (para. 59);

7. Ensuring the vitality of town 
centres (para. 85(d));

8. Promoting healthy and safe 
communities (para. 91(a), 92(a), 
and 92(e));

9. Promoting sustainable 
transport (para. 104(a));

11. Making effective use of land 
(para. 118(a));

12. Achieving well-designed 
places (para. 127(e) and 127(f));

14. Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and 
coastal change (para. 148);

16. Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment: (para. 

P
age 150



Local Plan Core Strategy Policy Policy overview Conformity with NPPF 2019 & 
Ministerial Statements

Recommendation

184 and 192).

P
age 151



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 9 September 2019 / 10 September 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter One

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2019/20, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2019/20 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30 June 2019 as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition 
to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, 
these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 153 Agenda Item 12



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter One there is projected underspend for the year of £194,260.  
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year in the 
main pertain to continued implementation of Bridging the Gap activity.

2.2. Because the council ended 2018/19 in a favourable position, budgets totalling £184,670 
were approved for carry forward into 2019/20.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £9.35m, constituted of 
the minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £4m and usable 
Working Balances of £4.10m. 

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in reserves of £0.7m, 
with the level of reserves being £11.2m at start of year and projected to be £10.5m at 
year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the future of local government funding.

2.6. General Fund (Capital)

2.7. The revised budget of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year is £23.93m, 
including £11.68m to support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property 
portfolio and £8.27m to fund the initial works to redevelop the St George’s Shopping 
Centre.  Actual spend to the end of Quarter One was £0.43m.

HRA (Revenue)

2.8. At the end of Quarter One income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
with an increased anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. The main variance within the forecast position compared to the 
original budget is an increased contribution to meet carry-forwards from 2018/19 within 
the Capital Programme. There are also projected underspends within salaries and 
repairs and maintenance.

2.9. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, at the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in 
a net decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £3.83m, with the level of reserves being 
£6.09m at start of year and projected to be £2.26m at year-end.

2.10. As with the GF, the significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the 
lack of clarity regarding funding and regulatory reform.  

Housing Capital

2.11. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £18.6m, with 
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter One of £7.4m.

Page 154



3

3. GENERAL FUND (REVENUE)

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2019/20 was £11,474,270, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £742,500 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table below sets out the current assessment of performance against the Original 
Budget by Directorate, based on known variances as at 30 June 2019. 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Forecast 
2019/20 (£)

Variation 
2019/20 (£)

Chief Executive 28,000 28,000 0
Communities 3,793,880 3,489,630 (304,250)
Corporate Services 3,682,040 3,682,040 0
Environment & Operations 2,608,450 2,608,770 320
Housing & Regeneration 2,148,620 2,148,620 0
Items Carried Forward from 2018-19 0 184,670 184,670
Non-Directorate Specific 1,134,900 1,134,900 0
Interest and Investment Income (843,720) (918,720) (75,000)
Government Grant Funding (1,213,840) (1,213,840) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (622,740) (690,630) (67,890)
Transfers to/ (from) balances 611,150 611,150 0
Transactions below the line 147,530 215,420 67,890
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,474,270 11,280,010 (194,260)

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,085,050) 0
Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) 0
Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) 0
New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 0
Use of Working Balances (742,500) (742,500) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (194,260) (194,260)   

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 
3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £304k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Acquisition of Units at Springhead Park: £235k favourable variance – as part of the 
Council’s continuing Property Acquisition Programme, the purchase of several industrial 
units at Springhead Park was completed in February 2019.  Due to the timing of this 
acquisition compared to budget-setting arrangements, this was not able to be reflected 
in the 2019/20 original budget and therefore there is now a current year favourable 
variance of £235k to report.  

Page 155



4

3.3.2. Acquisition of site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend: £56k favourable variance – as 
part of the same strategy described in paragraph 3.3.1., the council acquired in January 
2019 the site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend, currently tenanted by Bon Marche. This 
was also not completed in time to be reflected in the 2019/20 original budget and 
therefore there is now additional income of £56k to report. 

3.3.3. Member Allowances: £13k favourable variance – following the local elections in May 
2019 a revised cabinet and committee structure has been established by the new 
administration. The result of this in terms of allowances payable is a reduction of £13k 
compared to the original budget.

3.3.4. Safer Stronger Communities: Neutral variance – the council has successfully 
secured grant funding of around £30k from the Police and Crime Commissioner to 
support Community Safety Unit (CSU) activity that will assist with intelligence and 
evidence gathering particularly to help reduce organised crime, offending related to drug 
supply and environmental crime such as fly-tipping.  Most of the funding awarded has 
been used to purchase three state-of-the-art rapid deployment CCTV cameras, which 
also have Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) capacity.  These will be 
deployed across the Borough for short periods of time as an additional tool to support 
multi-agency/joint operations.  A small amount of funding has also been set aside as a 
contingency pot to enable the CSU to respond to any emerging priorities that come to 
light during the course of the year.

3.4 CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.4.1 Making Tax Digital: neutral variance – as the result of an HMRC directive requiring 
organisations to report VAT and Corporation Tax returns using automated internet 
submissions, £14k of reserve funding has been made available to support this 
workstream. This budget will finance the purchase and implementation for a new Civica 
module to facilitate digital transfers between the Council and HMRC.
 

3.4.2 Income Cash Management System: neutral variance – the Council’s Income Cash 
Management system enables a range critical functions of be delivered such as the 
receipting of income payments across all departments, and facilitates the bank 
reconciliation process. In order to ensure the most recent version is used, and remains 
supported by the provider, Capita, it is now necessary to upgrade the current version of 
software used. Reserve funding of £11k has been made available to finance this 
upgrade and the support necessary from Capita to enable this to take place.

3.4.3 Corporate Debt Pilot System: neutral variance – funding from the Corporate Priorities 
Reserve of £8k has been made available to support a pilot project for the central 
collation, analysis and management of debt across the council. The project involves 
utilising specialist software to draw account balance data from different council systems, 
carry out matching activity and guide officers in determining specific courses of action 
for individual owing amounts to the council.

3.5     ENVIRONMENT & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE –  NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.5.1 Controlled Parking Zone Review: £15k favourable variance –the Service Review 
process identified a need to update some aspects of the existing Controlled Parking 
Zones. Implementation of the new arrangements went live in May 2019; as result of 
moving away from 5-year permits to a system of annual permit renewal, a favourable 
variance has been realised in 2019/20 of £15k.

Page 156



5

3.5.2 Waste Management System: £15.3k adverse variance – the capital purchase of a 
new Waste Management system designed to assist in managing a range of refuse and 
recycling services from the Brookvale depot has required  an annual subscription charge 
to be payable from the Council’s revenue budget of £15.3k. Moving forwards, it is 
anticipated that the new software will play a key role in implementing some of the other 
income generation options the Council has been looking at, for example 
commercialisation opportunities identified within the Service Review process.

3.5.3 Parking equipment: neutral variance – funding of £33k has been transferred from the 
Service Review Reserve in order finance the purchase of new equipment and signage to 
enable the operation of new parking schemes within the town centre. 

3.6 HOUSING & REGENERATION – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.6.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 157



6

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2018/19 – £185k

3.7.1 The following items from 2018/19 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Summary of General Fund Revenue 2018/19 year-end carry forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2019/20

Communities Regeneration £980 Maintenance works are required on the town pier access system, this 
budget is required to offset the cost of this work.

Communities Younger Persons Fund £1,810 Unspent budget to be rolled forward to to pay for grant funded projects 
already identified in 2019/20.

Communities Older Persons Fund £2,050 To be rolled forward to pay for various projects which have already been 
identified.  These include a TV for Portreeve Resident's Association and 
Defribrillator's at Meopham Parish Council, Istead Rise Memorial Hall and 
Vigo Village Hall.

Communities Property Services £5,000 The final 2018/19 service charge for St John's House has not yet been 
received.  As the building was empty for a few months this charge may 
exceed the original estimate.  As such this budget carry forward is being 
requested to cover that eventuality as a one off event.

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward.  The MOD have agreed that this 
money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project 
next year.

Communities Woodville Halls £10,000 Equipment for market café.  Spotlites are interested in taking on a unit in 
the market to provide the café there. This approach will give the market a 
much needed offer and ensure there is the provision needed.  Spotlites 
will be able to use staff & stock across both sites making this a cost-
effective second business for them. To do this, there will be a need to 
purchase equipment including fridges, hot warmers, tea/coffee machine.  
In the very unlikely event the offer did not work, the equipment would 
be reused in the main Spotlites kitchen.                                            

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£10,590 To support a range of initiatives for next year – community cohesion, 
tackling hate crime, building footfall in the town etc. This will be linked to 
ongoing work and the Altogether Stronger project that the council has 
just received approval for.

Communities Woodville Halls £22,000 The auditorium floor needs repairing, sanding and varnishing each year. 
However, as this has not been undertaken for a number of years, 
replacement of the floor is now required.                                   

Communities Woodville Halls £23,000 This budget will pay for the introduction of a second till at Spotlites and a 
redesign of the counter to accommodate this. This will enable the team 
to better serve customers, particularly during busy times.                 

Communities Woodville Halls £70,000 The current dimmer rack responsible for the auditorium lighting needs to 
be replaced; however, a survey is required to ascertain whether this is 
the most appropriate route or whether a change to the overall lighting 
installation is more appropriate / cost effective. Ring-fencing the balance 
of savings (£70k) is expected to cover the majority of the cost of this 
work. 

Corporate Services Corporate 
Performance

£1,520 The Corporate Plan as a project operates over a rolling four year basis. In 
years 2 and 3 virtually no monies are committed. However, year 4 
(2018/19) has a sizeable portion spent as we carry out preparatory work 
on the new plan and year 1 (2019/20) will likely see all monies spent.  The 
bulk of the budget will be committed to the various communication and 
promotional aspects of the new Corporate Plan; imagery, printing etc. 

Environment and 
Operations

Horticulture £3,450 Some of the Playground budget was set aside to fund the cost of the 
replacement parts at Woodlands Park Play Area.  The replacement head 
unit was not received by 31/03/19 due to a delay with the delivery. The 
budget now needs to be used to offset this cost in 2019/20.  

Environment and 
Operations

Car Parking £26,660 The underspend achieved in 2018/19 is needed to supply & install CPZ 
Parking Signs in 2019/20.

Total carry-forward requests £184,670

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2018/19

Page 158



7

3.8 INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £75k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.8.1 Interest & Investment Income: £75k favourable variance – when setting the 
investment income budget for the Multi Asset Funds, a prudent view of a 3% return was 
assumed given that at that time, the investment had only been held for approximately 
nine months.  However we are currently seeing dividend returns of around 4% from the 
Multi Asset Funds.

3.8.2 When setting the investment income budget for Property Funds, whilst the investments 
had been held since 2016, a prudent view was taken that returns would be around 3% 
given the uncertain economic conditions surrounding Brexit.  Whilst we have seen a 
small decrease in the Net Asset Value of our Investment as a result of these 
uncertainties, dividend returns are holding at around 4%.

3.8.3 The combined effect of the above are favourable variances of £45k and £30k 
respectively, thus giving an overall projected benefit of £75k for 2019/20.

3.9 FUNDING STREAMS – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.9.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £68k relates to projected reserve funded 
items as described within the Communities, Corporate Services, and Environment and 
Operations Directorate sections.

3.10 Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

3.10.1 Staffing Budgets – the General Fund staffing budget for 2019/20 incorporates a 
vacancy allowance of £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this will occur throughout 
the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-to-day business 
activities as well as posts being held vacant pending the re-design of services. For the 
first quarter to 30 June 2019, actual staffing spend was £106k lower than budgeted.

3.10.2 Fees and Charges (General) – Income received from fees and charges supports the 
annual budget. Monitoring to the end of June indicates that income streams are 
generally performing well against budget; monitoring will continue during the year with 
any known variances reported through budget monitoring reports.

3.10.3 Homelessness – During the first quarter of 2019/20, 357 people approached the 
housing needs service for advice and assistance. Although this figure is lower than 
Quarter Four 2018/19, the increased demand for the service throughout 2018/19 
following the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act in April 2018 is 
continuing.  Homelessness has been prevented for 51 households, and relieved 
homelessness for a further 24 households, by securing alternative accommodation for at 
least 6 months.

3.10.4 The numbers of households living in temporary accommodation increased during the 
quarter but by the end of the period had fallen slightly to 103, from 105 at the end of 
2018/19, and this reduction is expected to continue. As at the middle of August, the 
number of households in Temporary Accommodation has fallen to 91, with 24 of these 
being in nightly paid accommodation.

Page 159



8

3.10.5 Number of households in temporary accommodation at the end of the month:

TA April May June
GBC stock 67 67 70
Nightly paid 44 41 33
Total 111 108 103

3.10.6 At the end of Quarter One, 33 homeless households were living in nightly paid 
temporary accommodation in the private sector, of which 12 were living outside the 
borough. This is a significant improvement on the previous quarter when 39  homeless 
households were living in nightly paid temporary accommodation in the private sector, of 
which 18 were living outside the borough. This reduction in the use of expensive nightly 
paid accommodation is a result of targeted action by the housing options team to reduce 
temporary accommodation and relocate those temporarily displaced from the borough.  
A target of zero households in nightly paid temporary accommodation by the end of 
2019/20 has been set, although out of hours placements will continue to be placed into 
nightly paid accommodation until the next working day.

3.10.7 During the first 3 months of 2019/20, there has been total actual and committed 
expenditure of £95.1k on temporary accommodation placements in the private sector, 
an average of £31.7k per calendar month. However, once compensating Housing 
Benefit receipts are taken into consideration, the net expenditure for this period is 
around £32k.

3.10.8 Following the introduction of the Temporary Accommodation Reduction Strategy seven 
additional units of two and three bedroom general needs housing have been added to 
the temporary accommodation stock, and eleven families (who had been living in 
temporary accommodation for more than two years) moved into social housing by way 
of direct lets with a further three families with properties identified. Refurbishment of the 
two general needs properties used for shared temporary accommodation is nearing 
completion, and this will reduce the need for emergency placements into the private 
sector. Households resident in the 14 temporary accommodation units at Valley Drive 
have all been reassessed and given an updated action plan to ensure that they will be 
moved on before the proposed demolition work commences. However, as the majority 
will need further temporary accommodation, officers are identifying further suitable 
properties within the general needs stock rather than nightly paid to minimise any 
additional costs.

Page 160



9

3.11 Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 9,287,850 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 611,150 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (742,500)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2018/19) 194,260 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2019) including 
Minimum GF Working Balance 9,350,760 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (4,000,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2019) 4,100,760 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

3.11.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2019 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 420 50 470 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,377 (608) 300 1,069 

 Spend to Save Reserve 157 2 159 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326 (75) 356 1,607 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 310 (10) 300 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 99 12 111 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

50 (25) 25 
Elections Reserve 172 (120) 52 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 666 (166) 500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 305 75 380 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 414 (435) 105 84 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 780 232 1,012 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 478 (235) 220 463 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 150 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 170 57 227 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 422 422 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 424 60 484 
 Service Review Reserve 247 (83) 164 
 Playgrounds Reserve 167 (100) 67 
Decriminalisation Reserve 85 (100) 100 85 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 9,419 (1,957) 1,569 9,031 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,819 (341) 1,478 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,238 (2,298) 1,569 10,509 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

Page 161



10

3.11.3 Significant or new approved use of reserves include:

3.11.4 Corporate Priorities Reserve – £8k Corporate Debt Pilot Systems (Corporate 
Services), £2k Safer Place Officers’ equipment (Communities).

3.11.5 Service Review Reserve – £33k Parking equipment (Environment & Operations).

3.11.6 Revenue Grants not yet applied – £14k Making Tax Digital, £11k Income Cash 
Management System (both Corporate Services). 

3.12 Medium Term Financial Planning

3.13 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government 
grants and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the Council’s 
budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest version of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.14 There continues to be little clarity on the future of local government funding post-2020.  
On 8 August 2019 HM Treasury announced that there would be a one-year Spending 
Round, to be carried out by September 2019, which will specify the level of funding 
available for government departments’ activities during 2020/21.  The announcement set 
out that in 2020, a full Spending Review will be held which will review public spending as 
a whole and setting multi-year budgets for government departments.

3.15 The release of this information should now enable the detail on when the planned Fair 
Funding Review and redesign of Business Rates will be implemented i.e. whether these 
will take effect from April 2020 or be delayed until April 2021, after the full Spending 
Review in 2020. 

Page 162



11

4. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter One.  This includes the revised original budget for 2019/20, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme

2019/20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2019/20 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2019/20 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2019/20 
Actual 

Expenditure 
Qtr 1                  

£

Outstanding 
Balance               

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 465,400 0 465,400 1,680 (463,720)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 6,750 (14,830)
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 0 150,000 150,000 0 (150,000)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 535,000 52,870 587,870 211,060 (376,810)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 192,950 0 192,950 78,920 (114,030)
Replacement Playground Programme 185,300 0 185,300 0 (185,300)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 0 40,000 0 (40,000)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 (37,100) 1,362,900 5,160 (1,357,740)
Property Acquisition Programme 2,328,600 958,380 3,286,980 0 (3,286,980)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 4,735,000 0 4,735,000 3,360 (4,731,640)
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 5,461,640 2,810,370 8,272,010 121,370 (8,150,640)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000)
AV Equipment, Council Chamber 0 0 0 0 0
Roller Brake Testing 0 0 0 0 0
Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000)
Heritage Assets 328,500 0 328,500 1,940 (326,560)
Back up Generator 75,000 0 75,000 0 (75,000)
Envelope Filling Equipment 20,000 0 20,000 0 (20,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)

19,898,980 4,034,520 23,933,500 430,240 (23,503,260)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2019//20

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – there are various work streams currently underway:
- replacement of water heating plant to Kings Farm changing rooms, including cost 

and energy saving measures
- annual window servicing and follow-up repairs to Civic Centre windows
- rebuilding of boundary wall at St Peter & St Paul’s Church due to commence later 

this year.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the new cemetery management software is 
currently being implemented.

 Parrock Street Carpark resurfacing – following a meeting with representatives from 
Kent County Council Highways, officers are currently awaiting a quotation for the works 
from a Kent County Council contractor.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – fourteen new vans are due for delivery during the 
summer of 2019. Officers are currently reviewing the fleet replacement plan to assess 
the timescales for further purchases.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – a number of options are currently being considered to 
deliver this option identified as part of the Service Review process.  

Page 163



12

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – a review is currently taking place considering 
blocks of flats to determine the number of bins required before any orders are placed.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the first stage implementing information 
systems for bin deliveries, domestic, and garden waste has been completed. The 
second stage of implementation, focusing on trade waste, is due to commence in the 
autumn.

 Replacement Playground Programme – contractors are currently tendering for the 
replacement of play sites at Central Avenue, Durndale Lane and Waterton Avenue.   It I 
intended that these sites will be installed by April 2020.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – a way forward has now been agreed on the 
replacement of the server room air conditioning unit, and Property Services have 
obtained quotes for the work, on behalf of IT.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – demolition works in respect of structures at the 
Brookvale Depot have been completed.  External consultants are currently undertaking 
a feasibility study for the development and their report is awaited. 

 Property Acquisition Programme – there has been no activity under this programme 
in the first quarter of the year.  The council continues to be pro-active in identifying 
suitable acquisition opportunities to add to its commercial property portfolio.  

 Land Acquisition Programme – there has been no activity under this programme in 
the first quarter of the year.  The council continues to maintain an overview of strategic 
land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their acquisition can be 
considered as a means of delivering development and revenue generating opportunities 
for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way - The scheme is currently on hold pending the outcome of a wider 
master planning exercise for the various landholdings under the ownership of the 
Council in the Denton area.  This master planning exercise will seek to consider 
complementary uses of the adjacent land holdings to ensure that development in that 
area maximises benefits to the Council and to the wider community, taking advantage of 
opportunities to improve access to and provision of services, green space and high 
quality housing.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – work commenced on the re-enlivenment of 
the mall areas of the centre in March 2019, with new paving laid and removal of some of 
the non-structural canopies throughout the centre.  Construction is also underway by 
Reef Estates to improve the two mall entrances with the overall programme of works 
expected to be completed in the next few months. 

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – a structural steel survey and flume survey have 
been completed in partnership with GCLL. An updated survey of condition has been 
received from original manufacturer, as well as programme of works and associated 
options to internal and external flume areas.  This is to be discussed with GCLL in due 
course. 

 Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches – the Gravesend Rugby Football Club site was 
highlighted within the Gravesham 2016 Playing Pitch Strategy as strategically important 
to the local area but in need of refurbishment.  Gravesham Sports Trust have now raised 
the additional external funding required to complete replacement carpet works at site. 

Page 164



13

Currently, the Trust is awaiting a start date for works, which are anticipated to 
commenced in late July/early August. 

 Heritage Assets – St Andrews Arts Centre – river wall specification is being prepared 
for the tendering process which will complete in early 2020. Site works have been 
deferred to 2020/21 as they need to be carried out in warmer months, due to the 
materials being used. Further works are being evaluated at Gravesend Cemetery, 
Blockhouse and New Tavern Fort.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tended to be 
issued.

 Envelope Filling Equipment – discussions have been held with a number of suppliers 
to ‘test the market’ and understand the different types of functionality/equipment 
available. The Reprographics Team are currently in the process of tendering for the 
council’s printer/copier devices, so it anticipated that the Envelope Filling Equipment 
renewal will not commence until that project is completed.

 Parking Machines – to ensure that the new parking machines fully meet customer 
needs both now and in the future, officers are currently exploring the products available 
on the market and the different solutions they offer.

4.2 Capital Resources

4.2.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital 
projects in the future:

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Anticipated 
Use of 

Funding 
2019/20                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020           
£

Capital Receipts (988,020) (6,670) 407,480 (587,210)
S106 Capital Contributions (531,060) 0 0 (531,060)
Capital Grants unapplied (330,290) 0 273,250 (57,040)
Total Capital Resources (1,849,370) (6,670) 680,730 (1,175,310)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2019/20

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2019/20              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (179,160) 0 0 (179,160)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 0 (6,910)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (330,290) 0 0 (330,290)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2019/20

Page 165



4.2.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contribution

s     £ 

Total S106 
Income 
2019/20                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (67,000) 0 0 (67,000)
Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000, £50,000 Cascades 
Leisure Contribution.

Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Total S106 Contributions (531,050) 0 (81,000) (612,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2019/20

P
age 166



5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

5.1 Budget 2019/20

5.1.1 The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 June 2019.  As at 30 
June 2019, the forecast reflects a saving of £93k against the original budgets within 
Supervision and Management and Repairs and Maintenance.  However, this figure is 
offset by the increase to Capital Financing in order to meet the costs of the carry 
forward capital programme from 2018/19.  The net effect is an adverse variance to 
original budget of £319,810.

Description
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Forecast   
2019/20 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,357,200 5,314,200 (43,000)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,618,140 7,568,140 (50,000)
Depreciation 6,911,810 6,911,810 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 667,490 667,490 0
Capital Finance 10,189,750 10,602,560 412,810
Sub Total Expenditure 30,744,390 31,064,200 319,810
Rents of Dwellings (25,031,400) (25,031,400) 0
Other Rental Income (29,300) (29,300) 0
Service Charges (1,399,800) (1,399,800) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (140,000) 0
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (521,480) 0
Other Income (112,450) (112,450) 0
Sub Total Income (27,234,430) (27,234,430) 0
Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,509,960) (3,829,770) (319,810)

Table 9: Housing Revenue Account 2019/20

5.2 SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £43k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.2.1 Vacancy Management: £43k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2019/20 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that 
this will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover 
within day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-
design of services.  The current year-end projection is an underspend of £143k, 
therefore giving rise to the net favourable variance of £43k.

5.3 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE – £50k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.3.1 Repairs & Maintenance: £50k – favourable variance – The Responsive Repairs 
Team continue to deliver efficiencies and savings in its operations whilst providing a 
service that meets the council’s objectives as a landlord as well as managing tenant 
expectations.  Whilst the current projected underspend is likely, it is important to 
remember that this budget funds a reactive service where demand naturally 
fluctuates in response to factors outside of the council’s control.

Page 167



16

5.4 CAPITAL FINANCING – £413k ADVERSE VARIANCE

5.4.1 Capital Financing – £413k – adverse variance - In Quarter One an adverse 
variance has been identified due to monies being used from the revenue reserve to 
meet the needs of the carry forward capital programme.

5.5 Working Balances and Reserves

5.5.1 The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances:

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2019/20 (3,829,770)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2019) including 
minimum HRA Working Balance (829,770)

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 3,829,770
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 June 2019) 3,000,000

Table 10: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

5.5.2 The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of 
the forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 
£'000

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income) 
£'000

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
£'000

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2020 
£'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (6085) 0 (3830) (2255)

Total (6085) 0 (3830) (2255)

Table 11: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

5.6 HRA Business Planning

5.6.1 The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into 
account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants 
and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget 
resulting from Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

5.6.2 The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles 
identified in the recent Stock Condition Survey produced by Penningtons in July 
2018.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build Programme beyond the 
existing three year scheme based on the current assumption of the sale of 30 Council 
Houses per annum.

5.6.3 The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix 
Three.

Page 168



17

6 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

6.1 The Housing Capital programme for 2019/20 is £18,632,520 of which £17,106,120 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,526,400 relates to non-HRA capital 
schemes.  These budgets include £1,216,890 and £693,600, respectively that are 
carried forward from 2018/19.

6.2 The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent 
homes standard for the Council’s stock in 2019/20, with £8,763,820 earmarked for 
this purpose within the Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Works 
Programmes.  The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with 
£7,662,300 allocated for this purpose.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2019-20 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,920,550 2,894,970 (2,025,580)
B Improvement Programmes 2,069,290 725,350 (1,343,940)
C Health & Safety Works 1,773,980 1,186,100 (587,880)
D New Build & Acquisions 7,662,300 2,325,500 (5,336,800)
E Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000)
F Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 0 (80,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 17,106,120 7,131,920 (9,974,200)
G Disabled Facilities Grant 1,526,400 284,984 (1,241,416)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 18,632,520 7,416,904 (11,215,616)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 12: Housing Capital Programme 2019/20

6.3 The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter One 
2019/20:

6.3.1 Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 46 kitchen replacements;

 24 bathroom replacements;

 49 properties had new window and door replacements;

 80 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units;

 1 block has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;
 2 residential blocks had the roofing completely replaced;

 12 domestic properties have had roof renewals

6.3.2 Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 177 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 9 properties had new storage heating installed;

 20 properties had level access showers/wet rooms installed;

 A major refurbishment project commenced at Park Place comprising of 6 
blocks.  This includes the renewal of flat roofs, upgrades to the stairways, 
handrails, balustrades and new/re-surfacing to walkways which is due to 
complete in Quarter Two of 2019/20.

Page 169



18

6.3.4 Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 1 passenger lift situated in Wallis Park has had major modernisation works 
carried out;

 Retrofitting of a Fire Sprinkler system is in progress at Homemead and 90% 
complete, due for practical completion in Q2;

 Mobilisation works commenced for the retro fitting of a fire sprinkler system at 
Gravesham Court.

6.4 New Build (Ref D)

6.4.1 The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of 
additional social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter 
One:

 Construction continues at St Hilda’s Way with the housing scheme is 
expecting to be completed by the end of 2019.  The scheme is set to deliver 
10 x 1 and 2 bed flats, 4 x 2 bed maisonettes and 32 x 2 bed houses;

 Westridge Construction Limited are on site at the former Whitehill Tenants 
Associations Club site where they are constructing 24 x 1 and 2 bed flats and 
8 x 3 bed houses;

 Planning permission has been granted for the demolition of bedsits at Valley 
drive and the construction of 32 x 1 bed flats for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 
bed general needs flats.  The scheme will be tendered via the South east 
Consortium in August and we expect to be in contract by the end of the year;

 A planning application has been submitted for 23 x 1 and 2 bed flats on the 
land at St Patrick’s Gardens.  The proposal will be considered at Regulatory 
Board on 23 July 2019;  

 Further planning applications for smaller sites are anticipated in the coming 
weeks and continued consideration is being given to other sites across the 
borough to enable the delivery of new Council homes.

6.4.2 The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred 
in 2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2019, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £438,550.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects as this can either be used 
to repay debt or finance the capital programme.  This will ensure that the revenue 
being generated can be moved to a general HRA reserve available for future use 
against either revenue or capital and that monies are only borrowed once all 
available resources have been utilised.

6.4.3 Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver 
the New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be 
delivered to avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 170



19

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-15 c/f 3,330,320 7,770,750 11,101,070 51,278,050 31-Mar-17
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,700 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22

10,897,780 25,428,180 36,325,960

Table 13: New Build

Page 171



20

Housing Computer System (Ref E)
6.4.4 Officers have undertaken due diligence on the proposed replacement Housing 

Computer System and as a consequence it has been agreed to review the 
procurement options, available to the Council.  A separate report will be presented to 
a future meeting of the Cabinet which will provide further information.

6.6 Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

6.6.1 A review of the housing play sites has been completed in 2018/19 and a draft action 
plan has been drawn up to establish the current needs in the form of a play-site 
replacement programme.  Once approved, the capital funding will be allocated 
against the areas that have been identified as the highest priority.

6.7 Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) 
6.7.1 The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2019/20 was 

£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,526,430 which includes carry forward 
from 2018/19 of £693,630.

6.7.2 The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes 
eligible for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.  In Quarter 
One of 2019/20 a total of 90 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is 
as follows:

 22 grant cases were approved

 19 households had works completed

 5 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 44 grant cases are awaiting approval

6.7.3 The Council distributed £92,710 to private homeowners within the borough who 
qualify for Disabled Facility Grant assistance and additional grants totalling £192,300 
have been approved in principal.

6.7.4 A total of 39 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not 
have been available.  It has assisted eight people to have better managed hospital 
discharges and a further 31 people have been discharged from hospital into a safer 
home environment.

Page 172



21

6.8 Capital Resources
6.8.1 The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 (£)

Income 
2019/20 (£)

Use of 
Funding 

2019/20 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,318,810) (257,300) 1,099,970 (476,140)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (68,900) 0 0 (68,900)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (1,402,480) (6,911,810) 8,314,290 0
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (652,030) 0 652,030 0
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,544,950) (1,016,620) 2,298,690 (4,262,880)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (438,550) (717,020) 1,155,570 0
Disabled Facility Grants (693,640) (832,800) 1,526,400 (40)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (14,458,360) (9,735,550) 15,046,950 (9,146,960)

Table 14: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2019/20

6.8.2 Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found at 
Appendix Four to this report.

Page 173



22

7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

7.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles 
and guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by 
Local Authorities.  On 26 February Full Council approved the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement for 2018-19, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual 
Investment Strategy is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s 
investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

7.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management 
activity to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally 
managed investments held by the Council at 30 June 2019 can be found at Appendix 
Five of this report.

7.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its 
Treasury Management strategy: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating 

returns in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 

3-4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.62%.
d) A total of £19.3m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties 

(including acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields 
have typically been upwards of 6%.

7.4 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period 
has been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management.

7.5 UK - After only annual economic growth of 1.4% in 2018, growth in quarter 1 was 
unexpectedly strong at 0.5%.  However, this was boosted by stock building ahead of 
the original March Brexit deadline so quarter 2 is now expected to be zero or slightly 
negative.

7.6 The Monetary Policy Committee has not increased Bank Rate since August 2018 
and it is unlikely there will be any further changes uncertainties over Brexit clear.  If 
there were a no deal exit, it is likely that Bank Rate would be cut in order to support 
growth.  Nevertheless, the MPC is concerned over the trend in wage inflation which 
peaked at a 3.5%, (excluding bonuses), in the three months to December before 
falling marginally to 3.4% more recently.  Growth in employment fell to only 32,000 in 
the three months to April, well below the 2018 average, while the unemployment rate 
remained at 3.8 percent, its lowest rate since 1975. Correspondingly, the total level 
of vacancies has risen to new highs.

7.7 CPI inflation rose slightly to 2.1% in April before falling back again to 2.0% in May, 
and is likely to remain around this level over the next two years. If there was a no 
deal Brexit though, it could rise towards 4%, primarily as a result of imported inflation 
on the back of a weakening pound.

Page 174



23

7.8 The rise in wage inflation and fall in CPI inflation is good news for consumers as 
their spending power is improving.  Given the UK economy is very much services 
sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into 
providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming months.

7.9 USA - The easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a temporary boost in consumption in 
2018, which generated an upturn in the rate of growth to 2.9% for 2018, just below 
his target of 3%.  Growth in quarter 1 of 2019 was a strong 3.1% but current 
expectations are for this to weaken considerably in quarter 2.  The strong growth in 
employment numbers during 2018 has faded more recently, indicating that the 
economy is cooling, while inflationary pressures are also weakening.  After the Fed 
increased rates by 0.25% in December to between 2.25% and 2.50%, market 
expectations have swung to now expecting the Fed to cut rates by 1.0% - 1.25% in 
total to counter the expected downturn in growth.  Financial markets have priced in a 
first cut of 0.25% for July.

7.10 EUROZONE - The annual rate of growth for 2018 was 1.8% but it is expected to fall 
to possibly around half that rate in 2019.  The downturn in growth in the second half 
of 2018 and into 2019, together with inflation falling well below target has prompted 
the ECB to take new measures to stimulate growth.  It is expected to leave interest 
rates at their present levels but that is of little help to boosting growth in the near 
term.  Consequently, it announced a third round of providing banks with cheap 
borrowing every three months from September 2019 until March 2021, which means 
that, although they will have only a two-year maturity, the Bank is making funds 
available until 2023, two years later than under its previous policy.

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 175



24

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 June 
against the original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year, and illustrate how this 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective 4 - Sound & self-sufficient council.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Page 176

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


25

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 177



Page 178



BMR Q1 2019-20 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 10,948,640 11,011,630 10,951,220 11,219,060 11,507,780 11,796,390 12,092,300 12,395,550 12,706,350 13,070,640 13,070,640 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 10,598,640 10,661,630 10,601,220 10,869,060 11,157,780 11,446,390 11,742,300 12,045,550 12,356,350 12,720,640 12,720,640 

Temporary Staff 392,840 392,840 402,660 412,730 423,060 433,620 444,460 455,570 466,940 478,620 478,620 

Wages 221,870 221,870 104,410 107,010 109,680 232,430 115,250 118,140 121,090 124,120 124,120 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,571,420 2,577,440 2,596,420 2,656,210 2,727,920 2,796,110 2,866,070 2,937,990 3,011,390 3,098,300 3,098,300 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,510,860 1,510,610 1,494,970 1,512,540 1,491,090 1,492,140 1,493,220 1,494,330 1,495,470 1,495,470 1,495,470 

Running Expenses 10,044,700 10,834,370 10,351,130 10,507,830 10,701,920 11,023,770 11,295,290 11,269,190 11,356,290 11,435,280 11,429,900 

Capital Financing 1,623,430 1,623,430 1,075,820 959,250 935,360 915,920 897,720 868,690 741,810 816,720 816,720 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (95,790) (95,790) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,014,100) (3,014,100) (3,037,690) (3,071,820) (3,109,510) (3,156,310) (3,197,220) (3,241,560) (3,277,850) (3,319,710) (3,319,710)

Other Government Grants (2,236,120) (2,706,810) (2,012,690) (2,037,440) (2,062,690) (2,088,440) (2,114,720) (2,139,640) (2,168,870) (2,196,750) (2,196,750)

Investment Income (843,720) (918,720) (453,530) (364,420) (486,350) (463,400) (434,620) (175,690) --   --   --   

Fees & Charges (7,433,120) (7,543,290) (7,205,980) (7,218,810) (7,214,370) (7,218,330) (7,232,270) (7,229,610) (7,173,000) (7,180,930) (7,180,930)

Rental Income (3,713,090) (4,004,000) (4,158,330) (4,301,150) (4,293,910) (4,320,310) (4,279,930) (4,402,190) (4,444,980) (4,489,050) (4,489,050)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,518,300 1,518,300 1,228,000 685,000 605,000 420,000 305,000 305,000 505,000 505,000 505,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (622,740) (728,660) (422,390) 263,520 434,020 495,060 659,040 813,440 537,520 537,710 537,710 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 611,150 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 11,474,270 11,280,010 11,309,840 11,814,130 12,320,610 12,960,180 13,547,780 14,133,760 14,560,130 15,070,730 15,065,350 

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,085,050) (2,698,680) (2,752,650) (2,807,700) (2,863,850) (2,921,130) (2,979,560) (3,039,150) (3,099,940) (3,099,940)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) (7,072,230) (7,256,830) (7,446,490) (7,640,960) (7,840,630) (8,045,590) (8,255,910) (8,471,670) (8,692,940)

Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £4m (742,500) (742,500) (895,900) (1,161,620) (1,423,390) (1,812,340) (1,542,510) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

--   (194,260) 0 --   --   --   600,480 1,918,580 2,075,040 2,309,090 2,082,440 

--   --   0 --   --   --   600,480 1,318,100 156,460 234,050 (226,650)

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2028-29

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2020-21

Projected 

2027-28

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2019-20

Original 

2019-20

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2023-24

P
age 179



BMR Q1 2019-20 Appendix 2

2019-20      

Original

2019-20      

Projected

2020-21      

Original

2021-22      

Original

2022-23      

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2027-28      

Original

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 8,037,850 8,037,850 8,100,760 7,751,860 7,137,240 6,260,850 4,995,510 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

New Homes Bonus 611,150 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (742,500) (742,500) (895,900) (1,161,620) (1,423,390) (1,812,340) (1,542,510) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 7,906,500 7,906,500 7,751,860 7,137,240 6,260,850 4,995,510 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 194,260 (0) - - - (600,480) (1,918,580) (2,075,040) (2,309,090) (2,082,440)

GF Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 7,906,500 8,100,760 7,751,860 7,137,240 6,260,850 4,995,510 3,399,520 1,480,940 (594,100) (2,903,190) (4,985,630)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 157,460 159,560 161,660 163,760 165,860 167,960 170,060 172,160 174,260 176,360 178,460

Corporate Priorities Reserve 309,500 300,150 300,150 300,150 300,150 300,150 300,150 300,150 300,150 300,150 300,150

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,376,780 1,068,480 695,480 615,480 615,480 600,480 700,480 800,480 900,480 1,000,480 1,100,480

Planning Policy Reserve 420,060 470,060 520,060 570,060 620,060 670,060 720,060 770,060 820,060 870,060 920,060

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326,020 1,607,320 1,596,220 1,880,120 2,164,020 2,507,920 2,851,820 3,195,720 3,539,620 3,883,520 4,227,420

Decriminalisation (General) 84,640 84,640 184,640 284,640 384,640 484,640 584,640 684,640 784,640 884,640 984,640

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 98,480 110,980 99,480 111,980 124,480 107,980 120,480 132,980 145,480 157,980 170,480

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 50,000 25,000 - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 171,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 171,750 201,750

IT Infrastructure Reserve 304,730 379,730 284,730 239,730 314,730 349,730 294,730 239,730 184,730 129,730 74,730

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 414,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 780,360 1,011,710 1,243,060 1,474,410 1,698,760 1,923,110 2,147,460 2,368,810 2,593,160 2,817,510 3,041,860

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 665,860 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 478,430 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

Service Review Reserve 246,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780

Playgrounds Reserve 166,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660

Woodville Repairs Reserve 170,320 227,570 284,820 342,070 399,320 456,570 513,820 571,070 628,320 685,570 742,820

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 424,410 483,590 506,100 527,520 526,440 530,400 524,340 542,680 549,100 555,710 562,320

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240

Housing & Commerical Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 17,325,260 17,131,330 16,760,040 16,808,940 16,766,570 16,196,290 15,459,340 14,421,200 13,217,680 11,780,300 10,569,570

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

P
age 180



Original 

Budget Q1

HRA Budget Monitoring 2019.20 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 5,357 5,314 5,484 5,654 5,824 5,999 6,179 6,364 6,555 6,751 6,954

Repairs and Maintenance 7,618 7,568 7,955 8,123 8,285 8,451 8,620 8,792 8,968 9,147 9,330

Depreciation 6,912 6,912 6,999 7,046 7,046 7,050 7,054 7,058 7,063 7,067 7,072

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 667 667 689 710 732 753 776 799 823 848 873

Capital Finance 7,017 7,017 7,153 7,999 8,336 8,735 9,041 9,159 9,254 9,340 9,411

RCCO 3,173 3,585 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 30,744 31,064 28,280 29,532 30,222 30,988 31,670 32,173 32,663 33,154 33,641

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,031) (25,031) (26,344) (27,221) (27,893) (28,580) (29,284) (29,712) (30,147) (30,586) (31,031)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29)

Service Charges (1,400) (1,400) (1,442) (1,484) (1,526) (1,570) (1,614) (1,660) (1,707) (1,755) (1,805)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112)

Total Income (27,234) (27,234) (28,589) (29,509) (30,222) (30,953) (31,701) (32,175) (32,656) (33,144) (33,639)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,510) (3,830) 309 (23) 0 (35) 31 2 (7) (9) (1)

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (3,510) (3,830) 309 (23) 0 (35) 31 2 (7) (9) (1)

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd (510) (830) 3,309 2,977 3,000 2,965 3,031 3,002 2,993 2,991 2,999

Movement to/(from) HRA General Reserve (3,510) (3,830) 309 (23) 0 (35) 31 2 (7) (9) (1)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 6,085 6,085 2,255 2,564 2,542 2,542 2,507 2,538 2,540 2,534 2,524

Use to support revenue position (337) (244) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (3,173) (3,585) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 309 0 0 0 31 2 0 0 0

Deficit on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 (23) 0 (35) 0 0 (7) (9) (1)

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 2,575 2,255 2,564 2,542 2,542 2,507 2,538 2,540 2,534 2,524 2,523

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Original Budget Q1

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2019.2 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programme 4,921 4,921 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 2,069 2,069 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,774 1,774 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 0 0 1,041 3,629 4,588 7,509 5,288 5,383 5,480 5,579 5,679

Kitchen 0 0 1,017 1,037 1,055 1,074 1,094 1,113 1,134 1,154 1,175

Bathroom 0 0 388 395 402 409 417 424 432 440 447

Heating Installations 0 0 1,224 1,247 1,270 1,293 1,316 1,340 1,364 1,388 1,413

Disabled Adaptations 0 0 510 520 529 539 548 558 568 578 589

Asbestos Management 0 0 71 73 74 75 77 78 80 81 82

Electrical Testing 0 0 811 826 841 856 872 887 903 920 936

Precaution Works 0 0 681 694 317 323 329 335 341 347 353

Communal 0 0 659 671 684 696 708 721 734 747 761

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 8,764 8,764 6,403 9,093 9,761 12,775 10,648 10,840 11,035 11,234 11,436

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Virtual Desktop & IT Infrastructure 0 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 680 680 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

New Build Programme 7,662 7,662 9,217 537 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure Total 7,662 7,662 9,217 537 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Capital Expenditure 17,106 17,106 15,619 9,629 9,761 12,775 10,648 10,840 11,035 11,234 11,436

Financing

HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR (8,966) (8,966) (6,999) (7,046) (7,046) (7,050) (7,054) (7,058) (7,063) (7,067) (7,072)

RTB - Attributable Debt (1,156) (1,156) (715) (715) (715) (715) (715) (715) (715) (715) (715)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (1,100) (1,100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 (9) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (3,586) (3,585) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,299) (2,308) (2,441) (2,764) (2,648) (2,793) (2,953) (3,119) (3,291) (3,470) (3,470)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing 0 0 (5,455) (7,781) (8,179) (11,527) (9,769) (10,344) (10,937) (11,549) (11,746)

Total Financing (17,106) (17,106) (15,619) (18,306) (18,587) (22,084) (20,491) (21,237) (22,006) (22,801) (23,003)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 (8,677) (8,827) (9,310) (9,843) (10,396) (10,971) (11,567) (11,567)

P
age 183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 857 12/10/18 11/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 

Limited
Maturity 1.0400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 858 25/10/18 25/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Maturity 1.0600% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 861 31/10/18 31/07/19 National Westminster Bank plc (RFB) Maturity 0.9800% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 862 02/11/18 02/08/19 Cooperative Rabobank U.A Maturity 0.9900% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 863 07/11/18 06/11/19 Toronto-Dominion Bank Maturity 1.1600% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 125 05/04/19 04/10/19 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 1.0000% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864a 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -3,000,000.00

Fixed Total 1.0919% -21,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 35 days notice 124 05/02/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

Call - 35 days notice Total 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7467% -1,374,142.00

Deposit MMF GS RR MMF 11/06/18 GS Sterling Liquid Reserve Institutional Inc Maturity 0.6941% -82,395.21

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7467% -821,000.00

Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.6849% -2,721,062.09

MMF Total 0.7122% -4,998,599.30

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 16.1635% -1,879,753.53

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 16.5359% -2,753,599.29

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 12.1207% -4,926,975.95

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity -0.4325% -2,745,258.02

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity -1.5354% -1,947,773.71

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity -0.4325% -532,174.46

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 3.1126% -5,285,583.97

VNAV Fund Total 7.3578% -20,071,118.94

Deposit Total 3.4936% -51,069,718.24

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -51,069,718.24

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/06/2019

Page 1 of 1Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 08/08/19 08:52

P
age 185



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 09 September 2019

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing Assets)

Subject: Carbon Monoxide (CO) Dectectors in Council Owned 
Housing

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Cabinet of the current legal position of CO detectors in Social Housing and to 
consider the proposal of installing CO detectors within all Gravesham Borough Council 
owned housing stock where a fuel burning appliance is installed.

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet approve the installation of CO detectors in all Gravesham Borough Council 

housing stock where a fuel burning appliance is installed.  

1. Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council has a duty of care to its tenants to ensure that their 
health and safety is not put at risk through the use of its gas appliances and 
installations. The Council also has a responsibility under the Gas Safety 
(Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 which require landlords to adequately and 
competently install, maintain and service all gas installations, appliances, flues 
and installation pipe work under their liability, specifically installations within its 
housing stock.

1.2 Under current regulations in Scotland and Northern Ireland it is a requirement that 
all residential properties whether that be in the private rented sector or social 
housing sector have CO detectors installed anywhere a combustion appliance is 
installed. This includes all gas or solid fuel appliances.

1.3 However, in England the regulations are different and only apply to the private 
rented sector and not to social housing. The regulations in England require CO 
detectors to be installed in privately rented properties where solid fuel appliances 
are present. As gas is not a solid fuel there is no requirement to fit a CO detector 
near a gas boiler.

1.4 Therefore, although it is a legal requirement in Northern Ireland and Scotland for 
Social Housing Landlords to install CO detectors, it is not a legal requirement in 
England but this creates a situation where the authority (GBC) are exempt from 

Page 187 Agenda Item 13



2

the legislation but can impose a fine of £5,000 where a private landlord fails to 
comply with the regulation. 

2. Current Position

2.1 As a landlord, we currently install CO detectors as good practice where 
appliances are operating on solid fuel, which is a legal requirement in the private 
rented sector. Solid fuel poses a far greater risk of carbon monoxide poisoning as 
there is higher chance of incomplete combustion from these types of appliances. 
CO detectors have also been installed in our Sheltered Accommodation to help 
protect some of our more vulnerable residents and therefore, we have in the 
region of 5,000 properties that currently do not have CO detectors, as legally, we 
are not required to install them. 

2.2 Gravesham Borough Council, as a landlord is legally responsible for the safety of 
their tenants in relation to gas safety. The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) 
Regulation (GSIUR) 1998, regulation 36 states that Landlords are required to:

 Repair and maintain gas pipework, flues and appliances in safe condition
 Ensure a gas safety check on each appliance and flue is undertaken on 

intervals of no more than 12 months since it was last checked for safety
 Keep a record of the safety check until two further checks have been 

carried out
 Issue a copy of the latest check record to existing tenants within 28 days of 

the check been completed, or to any new tenant before they move in

2.3 Following approval by Management Team in November 2018, Gravesham has 
adopted an MOT style for compulsory Gas Servicing. The change gets its name 
from vehicle MOT servicing whereby the expiry date is fixed each year. This was 
introduced in April 2019 and by carrying out gas servicing in this way it will result 
in 855 fewer gas services being completed over a 12 month period which will save 
in the region of £50,000 per year. 

2.4 Before the change to MOT style Gas Servicing (pre-April 2019), appointments 
with tenants were booked in 6-8 weeks before the service was due. This was to 
give us the best opportunity of ensuring access was obtained before the expiry 
date. However this meant the service was completed earlier every year and this 
became the new expiry date for the following year. Therefore, properties were 
serviced every 10/11 months which resulted in more gas services being carried 
out compared to the size of the housing stock.

2.5 The move to the new MOT style still requires us to arrange appointments 6-8 
weeks before service expiry, but the original expiry date will always remain fixed 
which results in a reduced number of services and the savings identified in 2.3 
above.

2.6 In addition to this, the Compliance & Projects Manager has been proactively 
working with Swale Heating to re-profile the gas servicing programme by postcode 
area. This means that our contractor is able to complete more services each day 
because of the close proximity of the properties. After the initial set-up cost of 
£22,000 for re-profiling the gas servicing programme in the first year, the financial 
saving over the next 9 years of the contract will return a saving of £11,000 per 
year.

Page 188



3

2.7 The recent re-procurement of the Gas installations, repairs, and servicing and 
maintenance contract has seen GBC achieve a more competitive price on boiler 
replacement against original estimates.

2.8 The efficiencies that have been realised through the changes referred to within 
Section 2 of this report will generate sufficient budgetary savings that would 
enable the implementation of a CO detector installation programme within existing 
budgets.  

3. Proposal

3.1 The specification for the recent Gas contract included a Schedule of Rate (SoR) 
for the installation of CO detectors.  The CO detector that has been recommended 
by our current contractor, Swale Heating, is a battery operated detector that can 
be installed for a cost of £35.00 per unit. These units have a 10 year warranty and 
a 10 year battery life. 

3.2 To install a CO detector in all applicable council owned housing, approximately 
5,000 properties, as per the current schedule of rate referred to in section 3.1 of 
this report it would cost in the region of £175,000.

3.3 Subject to Member approval, Swale Heating have confirmed they could 
commence installation week commencing 02 October 2019 which would be 
carried out during the annual gas servicing visit. Once installed they would be 
checked annually and recorded on the Landlord’s Gas Safety Record (LGSR) 
which would form part of the existing arrangement with Swale Heating with no 
additional cost. 

3.4 If the installation programme started on 02 October 2019, 500 properties could be 
completed during the 2019/2020 Gas Servicing programme at a cost of £17,500. 
The remaining 4,500 properties would be completed during 2020/2021 at a cost of 
£157,500

3.5 As the installation of the detectors will be linked to, and completed at the same 
time as the annual gas service, tenants will be informed of the detector installation 
in writing which will also confirm their appointment. The letter will contain helpful 
advice on why CO detectors are installed, how they are maintained and what 
residents should do if the detector is activated. This will be followed up by advice 
given by the engineer to tenant whilst on-site fitting the device. 

4. Budget

4.1 As referred to in Section 3 of this report, following the retendering of the Gas 
Contract a more competitive cost is being achieved on installations. 

4.2 Against an estimate of £3,500 per property for a gas boiler installation, an average 
outturn of £2,500 is being achieved. Should this trend continue throughout the 
remainder of the financial year a potential underspend of £165,000 could be 
realised. 

4.3 The reduction in spend on boiler installations, together with the efficiency savings 
referred to in Section 2 of this report are likely to return an annual saving in the 
region of £226,000 against original budget. 

Page 189



4

4.4 Therefore, should the proposal as outlined in Section 3 of this report be approved 
the cost for installing CO detectors could be met from the existing HRA Capital 
Heating Installation budget estimated underspends for years 2019/20 and 
2020/2021. 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 None. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 190



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a duty of care to its tenants to 
ensure that their health and safety is not put at risk and whilst there are no 
legal obligations on the Council as a landlord to install CO detectors, it is 
considered to be best practice.  

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

Budgets for all proposed works can be met from within the existing HRA 
accounts due to savings achieved through proactive reprofiling of work 
programmes and the reprocurement of gas installation and servicing 
contract. 

Risk 
Assessment

The installation of CO detectors significantly reduces the risk to tenants by 
detecting and alerting the tenant to the presence of carbon monoxide gas 
within a property in order to prevent carbon monoxide poisoning.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

02 Stronger Gravesham
Improve the standard and efficiency of our housing stock.

04 - Sound & self-sufficient council - Continuously review and adapt how we deliver 
our services to achieve financial efficiencies and improved performance. 

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 

N/A

Page 191



6

vulnerable 
adults

Page 192



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 09 September 2019

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing Assets)

Subject: DSO Building Management Policies and Management Plans

Purpose and summary of report: 
To request from Cabinet approval to implement the policies as referred to in Section 2 of this 
report and contained within the appendices' following the recommendation by the Housing 
Committee to formally adopt each policy to ensure the safety of our tenants and compliancy 
with legislation across all Gravesham Borough Council owned housing stock

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet agree to adopt the DSO Building Management Policies contained within 

Appendices' 2 to 7 of this report as recommended by Housing Committee. 

1. Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council has a duty of care to its tenants to ensure that their 
health and safety is not put at risk. This is achieved by ensuring that all relevant 
regulatory and legislative requirements are met and monitored for compliancy.

1.2 The DSO Building Management team at Brookvale over the last three years has 
undergone significant change with a restructure undertaken to align the service to 
meet the responsive, planned works and compliancy needs. As part of this period 
of change new processes and procedures have been put in place to ensure our 
tenants are kept safe in their homes whilst also ensuring legislative and regulatory 
compliance. 

1.3 Therefore, six relevant polices have been developed in conjunction with 
colleagues, external agencies and Members to not only reinforce the new working 
practices but to allow transparency and provide accountability within the service. 

1.4 The draft policies and management plans were submitted to the Housing 
Committee on 03 July 2019 for comments and discussion. The policies were 
commended and a decision was made to recommend to Cabinet that the six 
policies referred to in Section 2 of this report be adopted. 

Page 193 Agenda Item 14



2

2. Policy Summaries

2.1 Brief Summaries of the policies and the relevant legislation are outlined below.

2.2 Asbestos Policy & Management Plan 

This policy can be found in Appendix 2. The purpose of this policy is to 
communicate the plan and arrangements for the management of asbestos. It also 
aims to inform internal and external parties of the resources and processes that 
are to be and are being employed to enable Gravesham Borough Council to 
discharge its duties in relation to the relevant regulatory statutes and best 
practice.

Primary Legislation

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HSAWA)
 Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR)
 Approved Codes of Practice L143 (ACOP)

2.3 Gas Safety Policy & Management Plan 

This policy can be found in Appendix 3. Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a 
duty of care to its tenants to ensure that no tenant’s health and safety is put at risk 
through the use of its gas appliances and installations. The Council also has a 
responsibility under the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 which 
require landlords to adequately and competently install, maintain and service all 
gas installations, appliances, flues and installation pipe work under their liability, 
specifically installations within its Housing stock.

Primary Legislation

 Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998

2.4 Water Hygiene Policy and Scheme of Control for Legionella Bacteria

This policy can be found in Appendix 4. This policy sets out how Gravesham 
Borough Council (GBC) will comply with its duties in respect of the effective 
management of water systems within its Housing stock to ensure the health and 
safety of tenants, staff and visitors by minimising the risk posed by legionella 
bacteria.

Primary Legislation

 Approved Codes of Practice L8 (ACoP)
 Health and Safety Guidance Document HSG274 Part 2.

2.4 Lift Maintenance Policy & Management Plan 

This policy can be found in Appendix 5. Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a 
duty of care under the Health & Safety at Work Act to its tenants, employees, 
contractors and visitors from harm when using lift equipment within Council 
buildings.

Primary Legislation

Page 194



3

 The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER)
 The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)
 Lifts Regulations 2016

2.5 Construction & Maintenance Safety Policy & Management Plan

This policy can be found in Appendix 6. Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) 
recognises its duty of care and is committed to creating a safe and healthy 
environment for all construction and maintenance activities within its housing 
stock. This will include thorough planning, co-ordination and project management 
from conception to completion.

Primary Legislation

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)
 Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM).

2.6 Fire Safety Policy & Management Plan

This policy can be found in Appendix 7. Gravesham Borough Council 
acknowledges its responsibilities under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005 (RRFSO) to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that measures are 
taken to prevent fires within the communal parts of its buildings. 

Under The Housing Act 2004, GBC also has responsibility to the common parts of 
buildings, but unlike the RRSFO this Act covers domestic premises. Section 9 of 
the Act: The Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS) provides a risk-
based evaluation tool to help local authorities identify and protect against health 
and safety hazards, potential risks from fire and any deficiencies identified in 
premises.

Primary Legislation

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)
 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO)
 The Housing Act 2004

3. Review 

3.1 The policies will be subject to an annual review or when there is a significant 
change to either the regulatory or legislative requirements.

4. Budget

4.1 There are no budget implications.

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 None. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 195



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a duty of care to its tenants to 
ensure that their health and safety is not put at risk and a legal obligation to 
be compliant with the following:

Regulation 4 of CAR 2012, ‘The management of asbestos in non-domestic 
premises’ places a duty on those who have repair and maintenance 
responsibilities for premises, because of a contract or tenancy, to manage 
the risk of asbestos in those premises. 

Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 
imposes specific requirements for landlords. Generally these duties apply to 
any gas fitting (appliances and pipework), flue or chimney. 

There is no legislation specific to Legionella, however Approved Codes of 
Practice (ACOPS), British Standards and HSE guidelines place specific duties 
on local authorities with regards to the control of Legionella.

Lifts are subject to Approved Codes of Practice (ACOPS) and relevant 
industry guidelines.

Construction (Design and Management) is subject to Approved Codes of 
Practice (ACOPS) and relevant industry guidelines. 

Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO) - In England and Wales, 
the RRFSO applies to the common parts of multi-occupied residential 
buildings and does not apply to domestic premises themselves. It places 
onus upon the employers or responsible persons to undertake an 
assessment of the risks associated with fire and ensure control measures are 
in place to eliminate hazards including flammable and explosive materials. el

Housing Act 2004 - Under section 9 of the Housing Act 2004, fire safety within 
domestic premises is assessed by the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System (HHSRS). The HHSRS is a risk-based evaluation tool to help local 
authorities identify and protect against potential risks and hazards to health 
and safety from any deficiencies identified in dwellings. Twenty-nine 
categories of potential hazard are considered, one of which is fire.
 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no budgetary implications.

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of  the policies and management plans significantly reduces 
the risk of non compliance with regulatory and legislative requirements. 

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Page 196



5

Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

02 Stronger Gravesham
Improve the standard and efficiency of our housing stock.

04 - Sound & self-sufficient council - Continuously review and adapt how we deliver 
our services to achieve financial efficiencies and improved performance. 

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

DSO Building Management

Asbestos Policy & Management Plan

March 2019

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management
Author

Consultation
Housing Management, Responsive Repairs, Asset Management & 
Regulatory Services

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 199



Index

Asbestos Policy

1.     Policy statement                                                                                                                       

2.     Aims and Objectives                                                                                                                

3.     Purpose                                                                                                                             

4.     Scope of Policy                                                                                                                        

5.     Duty to Manage                                                                                                                       

6.     Roles and Responsibilities                                                                                                      

7.     Asbestos Surveys                                                                                                                     

8.     Asbestos Database                                                                                                                  

9.     Risk Assessments and Action Plan                                                                                           

10.   Information, Training and Competence                                                                                     

11.   Information sharing                                                                                                                  

12.   Asbestos Incident                                                                                                                    

13.   Labelling of Asbestos                                                                                

14.   Monitoring                                                                                                                                

15.   Reviewing the Asbestos Policy & Management Plan                                                                                               

Asbestos Management Plan
16.   Introduction                                                                                                                              

17.   Asbestos Identification and Surveying 

18.   Managing Identified ACMs                                                                                                       

19.   Procedure for Major Works 
        (Including Cyclic, Servicing, Planned, Improvements, Voids and Demolition)                                                            

20.   Procedure for Minor Maintenance and Responsive Repairs Works                                        

21.   Arrangements to Deal with Unplanned Release of Asbestos Fibres 

22.   Managing the condition of identified Asbestos Containing Materials                                                                               

23.   Periodic review                                                                                                                         

24.   Communicating and sharing the Asbestos Information                                                         

25.   Training                                               

26.   Monitoring                                                          

        Appendix A – Asbestos Survey & Removal Flowchart                                         

        Appendix B – Managing Identified ACMs (HSE Decision Flowchart)

        Appendix C – Management of Suspected Release of ACMs 

Page 200



 Abbreviations

ACM Asbestos Containing Materials
ACOP Approved Codes of Practice
AIB Asbestos Insulation Board
ASC Asbestos Survey Contractor
BOHS British Occupational Hygiene Society
CAR Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012
CDM Construction Design & Management Regulations 2015
DSO Direct Services Organisation
HSAWA Health & Safety At Work Act 1974
HSE Health & Safety Executive
HSG Health & Safety Guidance
ISO International Organisation for Standardisation
LARC Licensed Asbestos Removal Contractor
RIDDOR Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences
UKAS United Kingdom Accreditation Service
UKATA UK Association for Transactional Analysis

Page 201



1. Policy statement

Gravesham Borough Council acknowledges the serious risk to health and safety caused by the 
exposure to asbestos and accepts its duties under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HSAWA), 
the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR), Approved Codes of Practice L143 (ACOP) and its 
duty of care to employees, residents, contractors and visitors to all buildings, owned, leased or 
managed.

Gravesham Borough Council is committed to continuously improve on compliance with legislation and 
to introduce best practices where it is reasonably practicable to do so. This plan outlines areas where 
best practice has been adopted to go beyond basic compliance with the law and strive to achieve a 
standard of excellence in this important area of responsibility.

2. Aims and Objectives

The aims and objectives are as follows:

o Provide clear lines of responsibility within DSO Building Management for the management of 
asbestos within council owned housing and related assets. 

o Specify responsibilities in the management of asbestos
o Provide a commitment to communication regarding asbestos
o Clarify DSO Building Managements Asbestos Management Plan
o Prevent or reduce to the lowest level reasonably practical risks to the health and safety of 

Gravesham Borough Council employees, contractors, residents/tenants and the public using its 
buildings.

       
3. Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to communicate the plan and arrangements for the management of 
asbestos. It also aims to inform internal and external parties of the resources and processes that are to 
be and are being employed to enable Gravesham Borough Council to discharge its duties in relation to 
the relevant regulatory statutes and best practice.

The document sets out the general principles under which Gravesham Borough Council will manage 
safety and environmental requirements pertaining to the presence of ‘Asbestos Containing Materials’ 
(ACMs) within the workplaces and properties.

4. Scope of Policy

This policy applies to all properties within Housing Management portfolio, which includes the following 
property types:

o High-rise residential properties
o Low-rise residential properties
o Supported housing schemes

5. Duty to Manage

The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR) requires employers to prevent the exposure of their 
employees to asbestos, or where this is not practicable, to reduce the exposure to the lowest possible 
level. 

Regulation 4 of CAR 2012, ‘The management of asbestos in non-domestic premises’ places a duty on 
those who have repair and maintenance responsibilities for premises, because of a contract or 
tenancy, to manage the risk of asbestos in those premises. Where there is no contract or tenancy in 

Page 202



place, the person in control is regarded as the duty holder. There is also a duty of co-operation in such 
matters on all other parties.

The ‘duty holder’ as defined in Regulation 4 is as follows:

o Every person who has, by virtue of a contract or tenancy, an obligation of any extent in relation to 
the maintenance or repair of non-domestic premises or any means of access there to or egress 
therefrom.

o In relation to any part of non-domestic premises in which there is no such contract or tenancy, 
every person who has, to any extent, control of that part of those non-domestic premises or any 
means of access thereto or egress therefrom. 

o Where there is more than one duty holder, the relative contribution to be made by each such 
person in complying with the requirements of this regulation will be determined by the nature and 
extent of the maintenance and repair obligation owed by that person.

The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 (CAR) requires the Duty Holder to have and to implement a 
management plan in relation to asbestos issues within the non-domestic part of the duty holder’s 
properties. The plan is used to ensure that so far as reasonably practicable the risk associated with 
asbestos materials are minimised. 

Regulation 4 also requires duty holders to:

o Take reasonable steps to find materials in premises likely to contain asbestos and check their 
condition.

o Presume that materials contain asbestos unless there is strong evidence to suppose they do 
not.

o Make a written record of the location and condition of asbestos and presumed asbestos-
containing materials and keep such record(s) up to date.

o Assess the risk of the likelihood of anyone being exposed to these materials.
o Prepare a plan and manage the identified risk.

6. Roles and Responsibilities

The Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers are ultimately responsible for 
ensuring that Regulation 4 of CAR 2012 ‘the duty to manage’ is complied with and that:

o The Asbestos Management Plan is implemented effectively within Gravesham Borough Council.
o There are adequate financial and human resources to implement the Asbestos Management 

Plan.
o An organisation structure that is capable of managing the risks associated with asbestos is 

created and maintained.
o Ensure that the Asbestos Management Plan is in place to manage the asbestos within 

Gravesham Borough Council workplaces and properties.
o Allocate sufficient resources to fulfil the objectives given in the Asbestos Management Plan. If 

resources are not immediately available, seek solutions that reduce the asbestos risks to an 
acceptable level and at all times within the law.

o Ensure that the Asbestos Management Plan is integrated into all business activities alongside 
that of the Health and Safety Policies and Procedures of Gravesham Borough Council.

o Ensure that adequate pro-active and reactive monitoring procedures are in place to test whether 
Gravesham Borough Council is meeting policy objectives.

The Chief Executive is considered to be the ‘Duty Holder.’

Page 203



Asset Manager 

The Asset Manager at Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for managing contractors 
undertaking asbestos related works within all Gravesham Borough Council owned or managed 
properties where there is a responsibility to manage asbestos as defined by Control of Asbestos 
Regulations 2012 (CAR).

However, contractors or consultants that may be employed by or on behalf of Gravesham Borough 
Council may be considered to fulfil this role where they are contracted with overall responsibility for the 
fabric of the building and maintenance obligations including:

o A plan for the identification and management of Asbestos Containing Materials (ACMs) within 
the common areas of housing blocks is developed and implemented.

o Asbestos information is made readily available to all relevant persons who may be affected by 
the presence of ACMs.

o All persons under their control, including contractors, are aware of the Asbestos Management 
Plan and comply with its requirements.

o All persons, including contractors, take into account the presence of asbestos when planning 
any work and consult the asbestos register where applicable.

o The presence of asbestos is taken into account when issuing orders.
o Identified ACMs within workplaces and communal areas of housing blocks to be re-inspected by 

competent persons.
o Appropriate training is given to those staff that would be called upon to carry out maintenance 

work, inspections and surveys.

Compliance & Projects Manager

The Compliance & Projects Manager is responsible for:

o Selecting and managing the asbestos database and asbestos contractors.
o Developing and implementing programmes to ensure that all workplaces and communal areas 

are surveyed and, where necessary, re-inspected.
o Monitoring progress on all asbestos surveys and asbestos remedial works.
o Ensuring that procurement methods are available to obtain specialist asbestos consultants and 

contractors where necessary and that the selected consultants and contractors are 
appropriately vetted to ensure their competence and ability to comply with the Asbestos 
Management Plan and the Corporate Health and Safety Policy.

o Providing assistance and guidance to management and employees in regards to asbestos.
o Identifying asbestos training needs for employees within the DSO Building Management.
o Attending appropriate training courses in order to maintain their competence.
o Ensuring that where Asbestos Containing Materials which provides passive fire protection are 

removed and are replaced with a material of similar fire protection properties.
o Managing the initial making safe of any incident involving asbestos or suspected asbestos.
o Reporting of any non-conformances by staff or contractors.
o Overseeing all accident investigations in collaboration with the Corporate Health and Safety 

Team.
o Managing Asbestos Works to ensure that a consistent and systematic approach is adopted by 

all those involved.

Page 204



Asbestos Removal Contractors

Asbestos Contractors will:

o Access the asbestos register or request a hard copy of the asbestos survey for every works 
order to examine current information as to the location of Asbestos Containing Materials.

o Be licenced with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) to undertake asbestos removal works.
o Ensure that they comply with all current relevant regulatory statutes and these procedures.
o Notify the HSE as appropriate depending upon the type of asbestos – if the work is exempt from 

the need for a licence, they must determine if it is notifiable non-licensed work or non-licensed 
work.

o Maintain brief written records of non-licensed work that has to be notified e.g. copy of the 
notification with a list of workers on the job, plus the level of the likely exposure of those workers 
to asbestos. 

o Conduct their work as per the contract or other arrangements that are in place.
o Cooperate with the asbestos consultant where appointed.
o Return a copy of any method statement, risk assessment or other relevant documentation when 

requested.
o Return a copy of any completed documentation or consignment note to the administration team 

following completion of a job/project stage (invoices will not be paid if this information is not 
supplied).

o Inform the designated Project Manager immediately if there are any suspected Asbestos 
Containing Materials discovered during any works that were not previously recorded.

o Provide the Project Manager with any information on asbestos risks suspected or otherwise, 
that may be encountered during their activities.

Contractors

All Contractors will:

o Ensure that they comply with all current relevant regulatory statutes relating to the management 
of asbestos, associated guidance notes / Approved Codes of Practice and this document.

o Access the asbestos register/request a copy of the asbestos report for every works order where 
it is foreseeable that the undertakings might cause Asbestos Containing Materials to become 
damaged or disturbed.  high degree of prudence must be demonstrated by contractors in this 
regard and assumptions will not be accepted as a defence for not checking the asbestos 
register.

o Conduct their work as per the contract or other arrangements that are in place.
o Inform the Project Manager immediately if there are any suspected Asbestos Containing 

Materials discovered during any works.
o Ensure that all sub-contractors are managed effectively to ensure that they understand and 

comply with the requirements of Control of Asbestos Regulations and this document.
o Provide adequate training, information and supervision to their employees.
o Develop and communicate emergency arrangements to ensure that any asbestos incident is 

managed in an approved manner.
o Provide the Project Manager with any information on asbestos risks suspected or otherwise, 

that may be encountered during their activities.

7. Asbestos Surveys 

The Council undertakes to provide a ‘Management’ (non-invasive) survey of every property within the 
Housing Management portfolio.

‘Refurbishment & Demolition’ (invasive) surveys will be carried out to those parts of any building where 
refurbishment or demolition works are proposed.

Page 205



Re-inspection surveys of identified Asbestos Containing Materials will be carried out at regular intervals 
as directed by the relevant duty holder/responsible person in compliance with the Gravesham Borough 
Councils re-inspection programme, based on a risk assessment approach. All materials identified to 
contain asbestos will be re-inspected to comply with legislative requirements under the Control of 
Asbestos Regulations 2012 Regulation 4. It is the intention therefore that changes in the condition of 
ACMs and thereby potential changes in risk will be identified through this re-inspection process.

8. Asbestos Database

Gravesham Borough Council utilise Keystone to store and maintain records of asbestos survey and 
abatement work on the Housing Assets it owns or manages.

The database will hold information on:

o The extent, location and condition of Asbestos Containing Materials.
o Details of any removal or encapsulation works.
o Photographs and floor plans.
o Certificates of analysis.

It is a key requirement that asbestos information is freely communicated or available to employees and 
contractors in order to alert those who may damage or disturb materials. It will identify materials that 
have been surveyed or analysed and whether those materials contain asbestos. 

It is acknowledged that effective management of ACMs requires knowledge of a specialised area of 
health, safety and construction works. The Asset Manager will ensure that a suitable level of expertise 
is available throughout the department, using external training courses and resources provided by a 
UKAS accredited Consultancy.

9. Risk Assessments and Action Plan

Where asbestos materials have been identified or where abatement works are to be undertaken on-
site, a Risk Assessment will be undertaken by a competent contractor. Where the risk assessment 
identifies probable or confirmed asbestos the Asbestos Contractor shall undertake a further risk 
assessment to include:

o The location
o The form of asbestos
o The type of asbestos
o The condition of asbestos

From this, an action plan will be created which:

o Identifies the requirements for any restriction
o Identifies the requirements for any further site investigations / sampling
o Identifies the requirements for any abatement works.

10. Information, Training and Competence

Training will be provided to ensure that all relevant employees are aware of the location of or the 
means to locate the Asbestos Register and Asbestos Management Plan and the arrangements for safe 
systems of work/controls on building works are made known to all relevant parties.

The minimum standard of Asbestos Awareness Training for DSO Building Management and refresher 
training will take place on an annual basis. 

Page 206



11. Information sharing

The Council will provide information to all relevant people about the presence of asbestos through 
asbestos surveys, safety leaflets, tenant handbooks, tenant liaison and training. This will include but is 
not limited to:

o Staff
o Contractors
o Managers
o Residents
o Members of the public (where a need to know exists)

12. Asbestos Incident

Where it has been reported that Asbestos Containing Materials may have been disturbed or damaged 
the Council’s emergency procedures will be activated (Appendix C).  Liaison will take place with any 
staff, contractors and/or members of the public on site, and if deemed appropriate an independent 
UKAS accredited consultancy with experience of the housing sector and can demonstrate competency 
of at least the British Occupational Hygiene Society (BOHS) Module P405 ‘Management of Asbestos in 
Buildings’ will be tasked with conducting reassurance air monitoring.

13. Labelling of Asbestos

As a minimum Asbestos Containing Materials will be labelled with industry standard ‘a’ labels, or fixing 
of appropriate warning signs, where asbestos is present in workplaces and non-domestic parts and 
access by the general public is restricted (e.g. boiler rooms, plant rooms etc.). For other areas of the 
workplace and non-domestic parts it may be deemed appropriate to affix locally designated stickers so 
as to alert contractors but not cause alarm to residents or members of the public. Such materials would 
be considered for removal and appropriate fire rated material reinstated. 

14. Monitoring 

The Compliance & CDM Officer within the DSO Building Management will closely monitor works by 
contractors to ensure compliance under the Construction Design & Management Regulations 2015 
(CDM).

The Compliance & CDM Officer will:

o Monitor and review Risk Assessments for proposed, pre-planned works to ensure that they meet 
legislative standards. Such Risk Assessments will be made available for review and audit, 
followed by work in progress inspections.

o Monitor the usage of the asbestos database.
o Undertake checks of Risk Assessments and associated Method Statements on a sample basis.
o Require contractors to provide evidence that asbestos awareness training and refresher training 

has been undertaken in compliance with CAR Regulation 10.
o Require contractors to provide sufficient accreditation and certification to Gravesham Borough 

Council to demonstrate compliance with the policy and legislative compliance. 

Any breach of this policy and its procedures are to be reported to the Compliance & Projects Manager 
and the Asset Manager

15. Reviewing the Asbestos Policy & Management Plan

Once implemented, the Asbestos Policy & Asbestos Management Plan will be reviewed at a minimum 
of every 12 months or more frequently following change in legislation, an update in good practice, 

Page 207



following a major incident, following a significant change to the property portfolio, or if any reason 
comes to light to suggest that the Plan is inadequate. The review shall consider the following:

o Whether information about identified or presumed Asbestos Containing Materials is available and 
reaching those who need to access this information.

o Whether the assessments of these materials are still applicable.
o Whether the management strategy implemented for these materials is sufficient.
o Whether the Plan is achieving its goals of effective management of Asbestos Containing 

Materials and prevention of exposure to asbestos fibres.

The following documents have been identified as being significantly relevant to managing risks from 
asbestos containing materials, and further information on any document below can be obtained from 
the HSE.

Legislation:
o The Health & Safety at Work Act 1974
o Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012
o Workplace (Health, Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992
o Hazardous Waste Regulations 2005
o Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 2015

Approved Codes of Practice (ACOP):
o ACOP L143 Managing and working with asbestos

Guidance Documents:
o HSG264 Asbestos: The survey guide
o HSG247 Asbestos: The licensed contractors’ guide
o HSG248 Asbestos: The analysts’ guide
o HSG53 Respiratory protective equipment at work.

Page 208



Asbestos Management Plan

16. Introduction

This Asbestos Management Plan commits management to meet the requirements of the Asbestos 
Management Policy and for staff to meet the legal requirements within Control of Asbestos Regulations 
2012 Regulation 4. 

The fundamental purpose of this asbestos management plan is to:

o Identify Asbestos Containing Materials (ACM) and determine their associated risks.
o Effectively manage all identified ACMs including removal where deemed necessary.
o Record and communicate information about known ACMs.
o Identify and implement suitable and sufficient control measures to prevent the exposure to 

asbestos fibres.
o Measure performance

17. Asbestos Identification and Surveying - (Appendix A)

Gravesham Borough Council undertakes to provide a management survey of every property within the 
Housing Management portfolio. If a gap analysis identifies a property that does not have a 
management survey, this will action the commissioning of a management survey via a UKAS 
accredited inspection body in compliance with HSG 264 ‘The Survey Guide’. For the purpose of 
ongoing management of asbestos risk, asbestos is to be presumed present if it is established via gap 
analysis that insufficient asbestos survey information is available.

If it is established via management survey that no Asbestos Containing Materials are identified, this is 
to be reflected by removing the property from the ongoing re-inspection survey program; if however a 
refurbishment & demolition survey or any further investigative works indicate Asbestos Containing 
Materials as present at any later time, any required management actions will need to be taken and this 
property will then need to be included within the ongoing re-inspection program.

In addition to management surveys, refurbishment & demolition surveys will be carried out to those 
parts of any building where refurbishment (or demolition) works are proposed in compliance with HSG 
264 ‘The Survey Guide’. The refurbishment and demolition survey will only be necessary in the specific 
area/location where the works will take place, e.g. cupboard, part of room, kitchen/bathroom. However, 
further refurbishment and demolition surveys will be necessary in other locations when new 
improvement schemes are proposed. These localised refurbishment and demolition surveys should 
have the specific purpose of identifying Asbestos Containing Materials for removal, control or 
avoidance during the refurbishment works. Refurbishment and demolition surveys should be 
incorporated into the planning phase of such work as far as possible. 

Where the work is urgent (e.g. essential or emergency maintenance, repair and installation), the 
refurbishment surveys may have to be carried out before the work itself. Surveys should be performed 
with due diligence. Refurbishment & demolition surveys will be actioned by commissioning a UKAS 
accredited inspection body in compliance with HSG 264 ‘The Survey Guide’. For the purpose of 
ongoing management of asbestos risk, where asbestos is presumed present (as per CAR 2012 
Regulation 5) and where it is established that insufficient asbestos information is available for the 
location of the proposed refurbishment and/or demolition works. 

All surveying works must be performed by surveyors whom hold sufficient qualifications, experience & 
knowledge to fulfil the “Qualifications, Experience and Knowledge Requirements for Asbestos 
Surveyors” section of UKAS RG8 “Accreditation of Bodies Surveying for Asbestos in Premises”.

Page 209



All commissioned asbestos surveys must be assessed by the Project Manager when issued to review 
any management actions identified by the survey. Asbestos surveyors must report any immediate 
asbestos risks to the Project Manager and take appropriate action on site to fulfil their duty of care.

To enact the overall asbestos management strategy, on receipt of asbestos survey information any 
identified Asbestos Containing Materials will need to be suitable managed.

All survey reports will be stored on the Keystone database as per the Gravesham Borough Council 
Asbestos Policy. 

1. Management surveys – which are deemed to be the standard survey type as they will locate, as 
far as is reasonably practicable, the presence and extent of any suspect ACMs in the building 
which would be damaged or disturbed during normal occupancy, including foreseeable 
maintenance and installation, and to assess their condition. To complete these surveys a 
degree of minor intrusive work and some disturbance will be expected and will be supported by 
the taking of samples which through analysis will confirm the presence or absence of asbestos.

2. Refurbishment and Demolition surveys – are undertaken before any refurbishment, major works 
or demolition can be undertaken. They are similar to management surveys the difference being 
that a fully intrusive inspection will be undertaken of the areas to be worked on or the entire 
building in the event of demolition. The full intrusive survey will include destructive inspections 
so as to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, all ACMs are detected so that they can be 
removed prior to the main works commencing.

Laboratories used to analyse asbestos samples must be certified by UKAS and accredited to the ISO 
17020 standard. All analysis work will be undertaken in accordance with ‘The analysts’ guide for 
sampling, analysing and clearance procedures (HSG 248) ‘The Analysis Guide’. 

The process flowchart is to be followed when an asbestos survey is required. (Appendix A)

Upon completion of the asbestos survey and the results of any analysis have been received a survey 
report will be completed.

The report will contain:

o An executive summary
o Introduction / scope of works
o General site and survey information
o Survey results including material and priority assessment results as applicable
o Plans of the building
o Conclusions and actions
o Bulk analysis results

Survey findings will be uploaded into the asbestos database (Keystone). The Project Manager will then 
review the findings and decide upon the action to be taken based upon the material, priority 
assessments and the surveyor’s recommendations which may include:

o The application of asbestos warning labels
o The removal of Asbestos Containing Materials
o The encapsulation or treatment of Asbestos Containing Materials
o Monitoring the Asbestos Containing Materials within workplaces and non-domestic premises 

only.

Page 210



18. Managing Identified ACMs - (Appendix B)

The designated GBC Project Manager will be responsible for ensuring that all recommended actions 
from identified Asbestos Containing Materials within asbestos survey reports are reviewed and 
actioned to sufficiently manage asbestos risk.

If asbestos materials are identified in good condition, well protected either by position or physical 
protection, reducing the likelihood of damage, and is unlikely to be worked on regularly or otherwise 
disturbed, it is usually safer to leave it in place and manage the condition of the ACMs. If ACMs or 
presumed ACMs are in good condition, they are left in situ. The Compliance & Projects Manager aims 
to review all properties which contain ACMs and implement a re-inspection survey on a 12 month cycle. 

If asbestos materials are identified in poor condition, repair or removal of asbestos may be required. 
Some damaged ACMs can be made safe by repairing and sealing (encapsulation) and/or enclosing to 
prevent further damage. If this can be done safely and is deemed preferable to removal, GBC shall 
determine if it’s licensed work or non-licensed work and appoint someone competent to carry out work 
as appropriate in accordance with CAR 2012, HSG 247 & Asbestos Essentials. (Appendix B)
The Compliance & Projects Manager is to ensure a programme of remedial works is implemented to 
meet legislative requirements for ongoing compliance. All programmed remedial works are to be 
prioritised based on risk as identified in the material assessment and indicate their urgency, e.g. 
immediate, middle/longer term.

19. Procedure for Major Works 
      (Including Cyclic, Servicing, Planned, Improvements, Voids and Demolition)  

When drawing up specifications for major works, the Project Manager will take all reasonable 
precautions as far as is reasonably practicable, to determine whether asbestos is present and if so its 
type and condition. This will involve the inspection of existing survey data however if a survey has not 
previously been undertaken one will be commissioned.

The contractor will be emailed the asbestos survey prior to each and every job in order to determine 
any known presence of ACMs and if present its type, location and condition. The contractor will then be 
expected to undertake a suitable and sufficient risk assessment of the task to be undertaken and put in 
place appropriate control measures to prevent the exposure of his employees to asbestos, so far as is 
reasonably practicable. Should there be any likelihood that identified or unidentified ACMs will be 
damaged during the task then they must cease work and inform the Project Manager who will arrange 
for the removal of that material before works can commence. 

20. Procedure for Minor Maintenance and Responsive Repairs Works 

Unlike major works Gravesham Borough Council does not automatically undertake an asbestos survey 
of domestic properties about to undergo minor maintenance or responsive repair works.

For these works the contractor will be required to access the GBC Scheduling System (Oneserve) prior 
to each and every job in order to determine the presence of any known ACM and if present its type, 
location and condition. The contractor will then be expected to undertake a suitable and sufficient risk 
assessment of the task to be undertaken and put in place appropriate control measures to prevent the 
exposure of his employees to known or unknown asbestos, so far as is reasonably practicable. 

When information is not held as to the location of ACMs the contractor must ensure that their 
employees possess an acceptable level of competence based upon Regulation 10 of CAR. This 
competence together with the findings of the risk assessment will enable the worker to identify 
materials which might contain asbestos and when in any doubt they must assume that asbestos is 
present.

Page 211



For all work which foreseeably identifies the release of any inhalable material including dust GBC 
requires that contractor staff wear suitable PPE for the duration of the works. 

Should works have already commenced then the work is to cease, the area made safe in accordance 
with their risk assessment and action taken to prevent access to the material. GBC or its approved 
asbestos contractor will then be informed in order for the material to be tested and / or removed.

All records relating to completion of remedial works must be stored on the Asbestos database. GBC 
maintenance, refurbishment and demolition contractors are to send all relevant documentation on 
completion of any asbestos remedial works to the administration team to ensure records can be 
updated electronically.

21. Arrangements to Deal with Unplanned Release of Asbestos Fibres – (Appendix C)

In the event of an unplanned release of asbestos or material suspected to be asbestos, the following 
steps must be taken to mitigate the effects of the event. Seek the advice of a competent person at all 
stages.

o The Project Manager or in his absence the Site Supervisor must be notified.

o The area will be sealed and vacated; access to the area will be restricted to those dealing with 
the emergency.

o Anyone who is to enter the area will be required to wear the appropriate respiratory equipment 
and protective clothing.

o The area will be cleaned of dust and fibres in accordance with Health & Safety Executive 
guidelines.

o Suspect materials will be sent for asbestos analysis.

o Any clothing or tools that may have been contaminated during the expose, as well as those 
used in clean-up operation, should be handled as asbestos waste material. These will be 
double bagged and tagged until sampling results are returned.

o If the sampling analysis proves to be negative the bagged items may be returned to their 
owners.

Any personnel that may have been exposed during the incident will carry out full decontamination 
procedures.

o Following the site clean-up reassurance testing will be carried out to confirm the absence of 
airborne fibres. Reoccupation will not take place until the fibre concentration is within acceptable 
safety limits.

o A full record of the incident is to be produced and added to the job file. An incident report will be 
sent to the Health and Safety Executive. A site investigation will be carried out in accordance 
with current procedures.

o A full review of the incident will take place at the next monthly Contractor Performance meeting. 
This will include any changes to existing systems and procedures to prevent a similar 
occurrence.

o Health screening will be advised for anyone exposed and monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Page 212



Notification

Where exposure occurs above the Regulation Control Limits, reporting of the incident to the HSE under 
the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995 (RIDDOR) will be 
considered following consultation with a Licensed Asbestos Removal Contractor.

22. Managing the condition of identified Asbestos Containing Materials

As per the Gravesham Borough Council Asbestos Policy, re-inspection of all identified ACMs shall be 
carried out at regular intervals based on a risk assessment approach.

To enact this policy, all materials identified to contain asbestos or presumed to contain asbestos will be 
re-inspected annually (or more frequently if deemed necessary) by a UKAS accredited inspection body 
and the overall re-inspection program will be overseen by the Compliance & Projects Surveyor to 
ensure a program of re-inspection surveying is implemented to monitor the condition of all identified 
Asbestos Containing Materials.

All re-inspection works must be performed by surveyors whom hold sufficient qualifications, experience 
& knowledge to fulfil the “Qualifications, Experience and Knowledge Requirements for Asbestos 
Surveyors” section of UKAS RG8 “Accreditation of Bodies Surveying for Asbestos in Premises”.

Asbestos surveyors must report any immediate asbestos risks to the Compliance & Projects Surveyor 
during re-inspection survey works and take appropriate action on site to fulfil their duty of care.

23. Periodic review

A review of all asbestos management programs as well as all other measures of asbestos 
management performance shall be undertaken to ensure all requirements of the Asbestos 
Management Policy, Asbestos Management Plan and relevant legislation are met so far as is 
reasonably practical. The review will be carried out by the Compliance & Projects Manager to ensure 
suitable and sufficient management of ACMs within the GBC portfolio. 

24. Communicating and sharing the Asbestos Information

Gravesham Borough Council shall ensure:

o The management plan and arrangements are made available to all GBC staff, partnering 
organisations and subcontractors. 

o Provide all relevant persons with information on the location and condition of any known Asbestos 
Containing Materials including; Staff, Contractors, Managers, Residents and members of the 
public (where a need to know exists)

o Provide copies of the management plan for employee representatives and trade union 
representatives.

25. Training

Relevant GBC staff will attend Asbestos Awareness training courses on an annual basis and records 
held within the Health & Safety Corporate Register.

Any persons working for GBC involving asbestos materials must comply with CAR 2012 Regulation 10.

Page 213



26. Monitoring 

Construction Design & Management Inspections will be undertaken at regular intervals which will 
include site visits to ensure overall compliance to the Asbestos Management Policy and Plan as well as 
legislative requirements & industry guidance.

As part of the CDM requirements the following information shall be provided as part of the monitoring 
process:

o Evidence of compliance of operatives, e.g. training certificates, membership of regulatory bodies.  
(training must be UKATA/IATP approved).

o Health & Safety documents, e.g. Health & Safety Policy, Asbestos policies & procedures, Risk 
Assessments and Method Statements.

Managers are required to collect relevant information from the contractor to assist with CDM 
Compliance.

Page 214



Appendix A - Asbestos Survey & Removal Flowchart

Asbestos Survey/s 
Required by Contractor

Order raised via Oneserve to 
Asbestos Survey Contractor 

(ASC)
Is there a survey on 

Keystone suitable for 
the works ?

Survey either emailed to 
Contractor or access given to 

Asbestos Register

ASC to arrange and 
undertake a survey

Survey emailed to 
surveys@gravesham.gov.uk and 

loaded onto Keystone by 
Admin Team

Admin Team raise order to  
Licensed Asbestos Removal 

Contractor (LARC) for removal of 
identified materials

LARC email removal and Air 
Testing Certificates to 

Admin Team

GBC Project/Contracts Manager 
advised when asbestos removal 

completed

Contractor able to carry out 
intended works

Where applicable materials re-
instated as specified by the 
Project/Contracts Manager

GBC Project/ 
Contractor Manager

To review survey.
Are there any materials 
that pose an immediate 
risk or risk to intended 

works?

LARC
Are works notifiable 

to the HSE?

LARC to notify the HSE of 
Removal of Asbestos 

Materials 
(14 day notification period)

LARC to notify the GBC 
Project/Contracts Manager of 

HSE notification 

YESNO

NO

NO

Certificates uploaded to 
Keystone by Admin Team

YES

YES

Page 215



Appendix B - Managing Identified ACMs

HSE Decision Flowchart

Page 216



Appendix C – Management of Suspected Release of ACMs 

LARC 
Has there been an 

uncontrolled release 
of asbestos fibres?

Call/report received of 
damaged ACMs  or possible 
release of Asbestos Fibres

Order raised To LARC via 
Oneserve

Certificates uploaded to 
Keystone and asbestos register 

updated by Admin Team

YES

NO

Relevant GBC Project Manager 
notified. Contractor/Resident 

advised to stop all works, leave 
immediate area and seal off.

GBC Project Manager/OOH Duty 
Officer contacts our Licensed 
Asbestos Removal Contractor 
(LARC) to attend site asap to 

assess incident

GBC Project Manager notified 
and Contractor able to continue 

with intended works

LARC
Area to be cleaned of all 

contaminates in accordance with 
LARC guidelines. 

LARC to advise residents and 
contractor of any  possible 
contaminated belongings, 

clothing & equipment that may 
need to be disposed of.

LARC attends site to assess 
incident, seal of area, restrict 
access, display appropriate 
warning signs and analyse 

materials.

LARC/ GBC Project 
Manager 

Is the release 
reportable under 

RIDDOR?

GBC Project Manager to 
report incident to HSE under 

RIDDOR NO

YES

GBC Project/Contracts Manager 
and Resident advised when 

asbestos removal is completed 
and a re-occupation Air Testing 

is completed if required

LARC email removal and Air 
Testing Certificates to 

Admin Team

DSO Building Management Team to lead 
investigation into incident and report findings 

to Duty Holder (Assistant Director) 

LARC informs Contractor who 
can continue with intended 

works

Where applicable materials re-
instated as specified by the 
Project/Contracts Manager

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

DSO Building Management 

Gas Safety Policy & Management Plan

May 2019

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management
Author
Consultation Housing Management, Responsive Repairs, Asset Management, 

Regulatory Services, Housing Development

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 219



Index

Gas Safety Policy

1.    Introduction                                                                                                                         

2.    Aims and Objectives

3.    Legal and Regulatory Framework                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

4.    Duties of Landlord                                                                                                                           

5.    Tenants Duties and Responsibilities

6.  Leaseholder Obligations

7.  Key Roles and Responsibilities

8.  Policy Review

Management Plan

9. Annual Gas Safety Check and Service

     10. Access for Gas Safety Checks

     11.  Emergency and Reactive Repairs

     12. Boiler and Heating System Upgrades

     13. Void Properties and Mutual Exchanges

     14.  New Build Developments

     15.  Performance and Monitoring

     16.  Competencies and Training

Abbreviations

ACOP Approved Codes of Practice
DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
DSO Direct Services Organisation
GIUSP Gas Industry Unsafe Situations Procedure
GSIUR Gas Safety (Installation & Use) Regulations 1998
HASAWA Health & Safety At Work Act 1974
HSE Health & Safety Executive
INDG Health & Safety Executive Industry Guidance
LGSR Landlords Gas Safety Record
OJEU Official Journal of the European Union
RIDDOR Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences
SEDBUK Seasonal Efficiency of Domestic Boilers in the UK

Page 220



Gas Safety Policy

1.       Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a duty of care to its tenants to ensure that no 
tenant’s health and safety is put at risk through the use of its gas appliances and 
installations. The Council also has a responsibility under the Gas Safety (Installation and 
Use) Regulations 1998 which require landlords to adequately and competently install, 
maintain and service all gas installations, appliances, flues and installation pipe work 
under their liability, specifically installations within its Housing stock.

1.2 This policy describes how DSO Building Management effectively manages these 
requirements to protect the health of our tenants, employees, contractors and members 
of the public from the potential risks associated with gas such as fire/explosion or carbon 
monoxide poisoning.  It provides clear specific guidelines, processes and procedures for 
DSO Building Management, which will provide a road map for our day to day operations 
and reference points for our workforce.

1.3 The policy defines specific roles with designated responsibilities. The policy forms the 
basis for measuring performance and ensuring accountability at all levels throughout the 
Council.

1.4 The policy sets clear frameworks with rules and guidelines for effective consistent 
decision-making in all situations. It will maintain standards to ensure an efficient and 
effective delivery of services and protect the workforce from acting in a manner that 
might endanger the safety of themselves and others. This policy will empower staff to 
initiate actions, good practices and take responsibility.

1.5 For the purpose of this policy the Service Provider is defined as the partner contractor 
appointed by Gravesham Borough Council to carry out servicing and installations of gas 
appliances throughout GBC Housing stock.

1.6 For this purpose of this policy the Gas Consultant is defined as the consultant appointed 
by Gravesham Borough Council to provide consultancy advice and expertise relating to 
gas safety and auditing of works carried out by the Service Provider.

2. Aims and Objectives

1.7 The aim is to ensure that every Gravesham Borough Council property has compliant gas 
installations comprising; appliances, flues and pipe work and to ensure that each 
element is maintained in a safe condition to prevent the risk to property or injury to any 
person.

In meeting this aim we will ensure:

o All gas works are performed by Gas Safe registered engineers.

Page 221

http://www.investorwords.com/3665/performance.html
http://www.investorwords.com/15730/accountability.html
http://www.investorwords.com/10180/level.html


o Repairs to gas/heating installations will be prioritised and completed according to 
their urgency and classification, as shown in Management Plan 11.1

1.8 DSO Building Management will undertake a full annual service on every Gravesham 
Borough Council liable gas appliance installation.

1.9 Our target is for 100% of our properties to hold a valid Landlord Gas Safety Record 
(LGSR).

1.10 Our tenants will be issued with a copy of the Landlords Gas Safety Record (LGSR) 
within 28 days of the service for existing tenants, and prior to tenants taking up new 
residence.

1.11 All gas appliances installed by the tenant will be visually inspected as part of the annual 
safety check. Unsafe gas appliances owned by the tenant will be made safe and/or 
isolated from the gas supply.

1.12 Gravesham Borough Council has a duty to identify and reduce any potential hazards that 
could pose a risk of fire or carbon monoxide poisoning. In doing so GBC will remove all 
identified open flued gas fires, back boilers, solid fuel appliances and warm air units from 
occupied and void properties and upgrade them with new gas central heating systems.

            Where properties have no gas supply, other forms of heating will be considered such as    
            electric storage heaters.

1.13 Any potentially dangerous situation identified by the Service Provider or GBC Staff in 
conjunction with the Housing Officer and Gas Surveyor (usually due to overcrowding) 
with non-compliant gas installations will be dealt with proactively following “The Gas 
Industry Unsafe Situations Procedure” (GIUSP) - Appendix 1. 
Dangerous situations will be notified to the Compliance Surveyor (Gas) and the relevant 
Housing Officer for a solution.

1.14 The Service Provider will perform a gas safety check, which will be carried out within 12 
months of the last gas safety check. Should access to the property not be forthcoming, 
DSO Building Management will follow the “Non-Access Procedure” - Appendix 2.

Depending on individual circumstances legal action may be taken to obtain access – this 
could include pursuit of a court warrant; an application to allow forced access through 
section 240 of the Housing Act 2004.

1.15 Heating systems including boilers will be upgraded on a planned programme prioritised 
according to age, efficiency and reliability. The programme improves the standard of 
existing installations to improve efficiency and comply with current Building Regulations. 
Boilers will also be replaced on reactive basis that have been deemed no longer 
economical to repair. 
The Service Provider where possible, will upgrade boilers with A-rated condensing 
combination boilers in all of GBC properties. A-rated boilers refer to the boiler efficiency 
rating as stated by the Seasonal Efficiency of Domestic Boilers in the UK (SEDBUK).

Page 222



Benefits include:

o Combination boilers that lower the risk of hosting legionella bacteria as they keep the 
water moving and there is no standing water tank.

o Easier to maintain with less system components and pipework requiring future 
maintenance.

o Lower risk of pipework freezing.
o Instant hot water and responsive to tap usage
o The energy efficiency of the property can be improved.

Where it is determined a combination boiler is not suitable for that property an A-rated 
condensing system boiler will be installed and supplemented with a hot water storage 
vessel.

2.10 Where Gravesham Borough Council carries out planned and responsive works that may 
affect gas appliances, chimney/flues or ventilation requirements, the GBC Project 
Manager shall ensure a safety inspection is carried out by a Gas Safe registered 
engineer immediately to ensure they are not obstructed and are still operating correctly. 

2.11 DSO Building Management in liaison with the Gas Service Provider will keep tenants 
informed of important changes to the industry and promote gas safety advice via the 
GBC’s website, Gas Safety leaflets, letters, through telecommunications and further 
promote awareness during Gas Safety Week.

2.12 Servicing, installations and production of LGSRs will be subject to quality assurance 
audits by an external Gas Consultant.

2.13 Gravesham Borough Council will make available each year sufficient funds to support the 
anticipated servicing and boiler/heating upgrade programmes.

2.14 DSO Building Management will provide value for money through Official Journal of the 
European Union (OJEU) compliant procurement rules and procurement for gas contracts.

2.15 All contractors will adhere to the Gravesham Borough Council Code of Conduct and 
Service Standards, Diversity and Equality Policies.

3. Legal and Regulatory Framework

This policy is subject to, but not restricted to the following specific regulations, Approved 
Codes of Practice (ACOPS) and industry guidelines:

o Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)
o Management of Health and Safety at Work  Regulations 1999
o Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998
o HSE L56: Safety in the Installation and use of Gas Systems and Appliances
o The Gas Industry Unsafe Situations Procedure (GIUSP)
o INDG285 (rev 3): A Guide to Landlord’s Duties
o Landlord and Tennant Act 1985
o Defective Premises Act 1972

Page 223



o Housing Act 1988
o Housing Act 2004
o The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Details of the above legislation and guidance requirements can be found in Appendix 1.

4.       Duties of Landlord

4.1 Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 imposes 
specific requirements for landlords. Generally these duties apply to any gas fitting 
(appliances and pipework), flue or chimney which the tenant would not be entitled to 
remove from the premises once they vacate.

Gravesham Borough Council is required to:

o Ensure gas fittings and flues are maintained in a safe condition. Gas appliances are 
serviced annually in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions by a Gas Safe 
registered engineer.

o Ensure an annual safety check is carried out on each gas appliance/flue. 

o Keep a record of the gas safety check until two further checks have been carried out 
(this may be longer than two years). GBC’s policy is to retain copies of the gas safety 
records (LGSRs) for a minimum of 3 years.

o Issue a copy of the latest safety check record to existing tenants within 28 days of the 
check being completed, or to any new tenant before they move in.

o In cases where gas appliances are located in communal areas there is an option to 
display the record. GBC’s policy is to keep a copy of the LGSR on their asset 
database.

4.2 The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 enables landlords 
to have the annual gas safety check carried out any time from 10 to 12 calendar months 
after the previous check but still retain the original deadline date as if the check had been 
carried out exactly 12 months after the previous check. Gravesham Borough Council has 
adopted and implemented the new arrangement from 1st April 2019 (commonly known as 
MOT style servicing).

4.3 Flues and chimneys serving the tenants own appliances are not covered under 
Regulation 36, however, it is important to note that Landlords have a “duty of care” under 
the Health & Safety at Work Act 1974.

If a chimney or flue is not suitable, blocked or not working correctly, the gas engineer will 
follow the Gas Industry Unsafe Situations Procedure (GIUSP) and if necessary the gas 
appliance will be disconnected.

Page 224



5.       Tenants Duties and Responsibilities

o Gravesham Borough Council tenants will be informed of their duties and 
responsibilities within their tenancy conditions and handbook, gas safety leaflets, 
letters and via the GBC website. Tenants must:

o Allow Gravesham Borough Council and its Service Provider access for all safety 
checks, servicing, installation and maintenance on gas fittings and flues. Should 
access to the property not be forthcoming, DSO Building Management will follow the 
“Non-Access Procedure” - Appendix 2. 

o Allow access or be subject to legal action that will include pursuit of a court warrant; 
an application to allow forced access through section 240 of the Housing Act 2004. 
Any associated costs incurred with obtaining court authorisation to enter the property 
will be recharged to the tenant.

o Comply with their duty under Regulation 34 (1 & 2) of the (GSIUR 1998) not to use a 
gas appliance or permit a gas appliance to be used if at any time they have reason to 
suspect that it cannot be used without constituting a danger to any person.

o Report any defects to the gas installation or heating system immediately to GBC’s 
Service Provider to enable for the repair to be completed according to its urgency and 
classification.

o Under any circumstances interfere, adapt, remove or attempt to repair any GBC gas 
appliance where there is a potential risk of fire, explosion and loss of life, which may 
result in legal proceedings. 

o Accept a recharge to recover the cost of repairs to the heating system due to 
damage, neglect, misuse or abuse by tenants, their family, pets or visitors to the 
property. 

o Not use or store liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) cylinders in the property and 
communal areas.

5.2      In respect of tenants own gas fittings:

o It is the tenant’s responsibility for ensuring that their own gas appliances including 
cookers are installed correctly by a Gas Safe registered business and meet the Gas 
Safety Regulations and comply with the terms and conditions contained within their 
Tenancy Agreement.

o Regulations state that only new cookers that incorporate a Flame Sensing Device 
(FSD) on all burners can be installed in buildings containing more than one dwelling. 
This device shuts off the gas supply to the burners in the absence of a flame.

o During the Annual Gas Safety Check, all gas appliances will be limited to a visual and 
operational safety inspection only. Should any defects be discovered these will be 
brought to the tenant’s attention by recording them on the Landlords Gas Safety 
Record (LGSR).

Page 225



o If the tenant’s own gas appliances are deemed unsafe then the Gas Industry Unsafe 
Situations Procedure (GIUSP) will be invoked, including where necessary the 
appliance disconnected, warning notice issued and the appliance labelled accordingly 
confirming the nature of the defect and what action the tenant needs to take.

5.3 In the event of a suspected gas escape tenants are advised by the National Gas 
Emergency Service to:

o Open doors and windows to ventilate the property.
o Turn off the gas supply at the gas meter.
o Put out naked flames and not to smoke.
o Not turn on or off any power or light switches.
o Phone the National Gas Emergency number on 0800 111 999.

Where tenants contact the Service Provider or DSO Building Management regarding 
suspected gas leaks, they are instructed to contact the National Gas Emergency Service 
directly and given the above advice.

5.4 Due to the dangers associated, Gravesham Borough Council does not permit 
installations of new wood burners, coal appliances (including smokeless) and open 
fireplaces.

We have made this decision due to the following considerations:

o Potential Fire Risk - Even burning wood in a safely engineered, regularly inspected 
and swept chimney still poses a danger. There are also wider risks if an errant spark 
from the burning wood escapes the confines of the fireplace and alights on carpeting, 
furniture or other flammable materials.
While modern appliances are often equipped with glass doors or mesh screens 
designed to prevent errant sparks, on some occasions accidents do happen. 

o Carbon Monoxide Poisoning - Almost all cases of carbon monoxide poisoning with 
solid fuel are the result of a blocked or leaking chimney or poor maintenance. 
Chimneys must be inspected regularly and if the chimney is blocked, or leaking, or if 
the appliance airways or throat plate are not clear, then the gases will not escape 
into the atmosphere, but flow back into the property, or on occasion into an adjoining 
property, through a common chimney, with possible deadly results.

o Environmental Effects - Most areas of Gravesham Borough are designated as 
Smoke Control Areas which prohibits the emission of smoke from a chimney or flue. 
Smokeless fuels or DEFRA approved wood/coal burners produce less pollution than 
non-approved appliances; however these still create air pollution which contradicts 
the council’s commitment to improving air quality.

Where the Service Provider or GBC staff visit a property and find an open fire or 
wood/coal burner which has not been granted written permission from Gravesham 
Borough Council and Building Control approval, the tenant will be required to remove it.

Page 226



6. Leaseholder Obligations

Leaseholders will be informed of their obligations within the conditions of their lease and 
via the GBC Leaseholder Services Officer.

6.1 Leaseholders are responsible for the maintenance and safety of the gas supply,   
appliances, pipe installations, apparatus and equipment exclusively serving their 
property. This is so that they shall not present a safety risk or danger to anyone in the flat 
or any other flats in the building. 

Only new cookers that incorporate a Flame Sensing Device (FSD) on all burners can be 
installed in buildings containing more than one dwelling.

6.2 Leaseholders must arrange for an annual gas safety check to be carried out every 12 
months by a Gas Safe registered Engineer and ensure that they are current and valid. 
The GBC Leaseholder Services Officer will request copies of LGSRs from Leaseholders 
and provide these to the Compliance Surveyor (Gas) for review.

6.3 Leaseholders that sublet their property are classified as a landlord, and have a legal 
responsibility to their tenant under the Gas Safety (Installations and Use) Regulations 
1998. Therefore they have a legal duty to ensure that an annual safety check is carried 
out on each appliance and/or flue that is provided for the tenants use and that a record of 
each safety check is kept for at least 2 years.

6.4 As the Freeholder Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for the building structure 
and safety of its residents. Permission for alterations and improvements including new 
and replacement gas installations, forms part of the lease agreement and all requests 
must be sent to GBC’s Legal Services.
Legal Services will contact the Leaseholder Services Officer with details, who will consult 
with the Compliance Surveyor (Gas) to manage and consider all applications for 
alterations or improvements affecting the building including communal areas, roof and 
loft space. This guarantees the structure of the building remains safe for all occupants 
and ensures any changes made do not adversely affect the rights of other individuals 
who live in the building.

6.5 Under Regulation 34 (1 & 2) of the (GSIUR 1998) the responsible person (leaseholder)  
has a duty not to use a gas appliance or permit a gas appliance to be used if at any time 
they have reason to suspect that it cannot be used without constituting a danger to any 
person.

7. Key Roles & Responsibilities

7.1 The Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers are 
collectively responsible for ensuring that Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety (Installation 
and Use) Regulations 1998 are complied with and that:

o The Gas Policy and Management Plan is implemented effectively within Gravesham 
Borough Council.

Page 227



o An organisation structure that is capable of managing the risks associated with Gas is 
created and maintained.

o The Gas Management Plan is in place to manage the Gas Servicing and Installation 
programmes within Gravesham Borough Council properties.

o Sufficient resources are made available to fulfil the objectives given in the Gas Policy 
and Management Plan. If resources are not immediately available, seek solutions that 
reduce the authority’s risks to an acceptable level and at all times within the law.

o The Gas Management Plan is integrated into all business activities alongside that of 
the Health and Safety Policies and Procedures of Gravesham Borough Council.

o Adequate pro-active and reactive monitoring procedures are in place to test whether 
Gravesham Borough Council is meeting policy objectives.

7.2 The Chief Executive

The Chief Executive has the ultimate responsibility and accountability regarding gas 
safety at board level and is considered to be the ‘Duty Holder.’

7.3 The Assistant Director (DSO Building Management)

The Assistant Director is responsible for service strategy and quality of services provided 
by DSO Building Management. The Assistant Director also has overall budget 
responsibility for all gas servicing and maintenance programmes and ensures adequate 
resources are made available to both develop and implement the Gas Management Plan.

7.4 The Asset Manager

The Asset Manager is responsible for procurement, and selection of the Service Provider 
to undertake gas related works within Gravesham Borough Council managed properties. 
The Asset Manager is also responsible for service delivery, staff training and ensuring 
that the Gas Safety Policy and Management Plan continue to be robust and effective.

7.5 Compliance & Projects Manager

The Compliance & Projects Manager is responsible for putting in place and monitoring 
arrangements to ensure that the systems and procedures outlined in this Management 
Plan are carried out. The Manager will monitor and action Service Provider performance 
and ensure gas compliancy is achieved in all areas of the service.

7.6 The Compliance Surveyor (Gas)

The Compliance Surveyor (Gas) has day to day operational responsibilities to ensure the 
Service Provider conduct their work as per the terms and conditions of the contract. 

7.7 The Gas Consultant

The Gas Consultant is responsible for monitoring and auditing engineer competency and 
gas services provided by the Service Provider.

Page 228



8.       Policy Review

8.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continuing suitability, 
adequacy and effectiveness or as required by the introduction of new legislation or 
regulation that impacts on the gas safety management obligations of Gravesham 
Borough Council.

Management Plan

9. Annual Gas Safety Check and Service

9.1 The Service Provider will perform an annual gas safety check according to industry 
guidance and servicing performed in accordance with the bespoke manufacturer’s 
instructions, (or if these are unavailable, best generic practice) on all GBC owned gas 
appliances and relevant flues/chimneys. A tightness test will be carried out on the gas 
carcass and an inspection of the pipework

9.1 DSO Administration Team will raise automated orders to the Service Provider for annual 
Gas Safety Checks via its job scheduling system. The Service Provider will have access 
to close down job orders and update the system.

9.2 An electronic copy of each Landlord Gas Safety Record (LGSR) is uploaded by the 
Service Provider to its live web portal and also forwarded to DSO Administration Team 
on a weekly basis and uploaded into GBC’s asset database.

9.3 All completed LGSRs will also be forwarded by the Service Provider to the Gas 
Consultant to be audited to ensure they are to the required standard. LGSRs found to be 
deficient in any way are to be returned to the Service Provider, who is required to re-
attend the property if needed in order to submit a new correctly completed LGSR at no 
cost to GBC.

9.4 At the time of the Gas Safety Check the engineer will record all gas appliances installed 
in the property including those owned by the tenant. A visual and operational check will 
be carried out on tenants’ own appliances including any connected flues and chimneys.
All ventilation requirements and safety devices on appliances should be operating 
correctly. Any failure in the above will result in the engineer recording the failure and 
advising the tenant to employ their own Gas Safe registered engineer to complete any 
remedial works. The appliance will be left safe in accordance with the Gas Industry 
Unsafe Situations Procedure (GIUSP).

9.6 Gas safety inspections performed during void properties, mutual exchanges and boiler 
installations do not represent a replacement or a substitute record for the Annual Gas 
Safety Check & Service.

Page 229



10. Access for Gas Safety Checks (Appendix 2)

10.1 The Service Provider will provide flexible appointment times to tenants to carry out a Gas 
Safety Check & Service including evening and Saturday appointments.

10.2 The Service Provider will commence the access process 8 weeks prior to the LGSR 
expiry date. An initial letter will include an appointment giving at least 7 days’ notice and 
will provide them with a free phone contact number to rearrange the appointment if not 
convenient. 
A text message confirming the appointment is also sent, with reminders at 5 day, 3 days 
and 24 hour intervals before all appointments. Text messages will also provide a link for 
tenants to access the Service Provider’s website to book an alternative appointment 
date.

10.3 If access cannot be obtained at the time of the first appointment, the gas engineer will 
leave an abortive call card advising the tenant of a second appointment for the Gas 
Service allowing 7 days’ notice.
The call card will also advise the tenant to contact the Service Provider within 7 days to 
rearrange the appointment if the time is inconvenient. The Service Provider will provide 
photographic evidence of the call card at the property address clearly showing the 
entrance door and call card before being posted through the letterbox.

10.4 If access cannot be obtained on the second appointment, the gas engineer will leave a 
second call card advising the tenant to contact the Service Provider within 7 days to 
arrange a new appointment. The engineer will provide photographic evidence of the call 
card at the property address clearly showing the entrance door and outcard before being 
posted through the letterbox.

10.5 Following the second non-access the Service Provider’s Resident’s Liaison Officer (RLO) 
will attempt to contact the tenant by telephone, email and by visiting the property over the 
next 7 days.

10.6 If access is not obtained, GBC will commence the legal process to obtain a warrant via 
the Magistrates Court. The Compliance Surveyor (Gas) / RLO will hand deliver a letter to 
the property, explaining to the tenant court action will commence unless access is given 
to carry out the Gas Safety Check. The letter will include information of the court date to 
obtain the warrant for access and the rechargeable costs for obtaining the warrant and 
forced entry.

10.7 Once a court warrant for access is obtained and access has still not been forthcoming, 
the Compliance Surveyor (Gas) will hand deliver letter to the property, notifying the 
tenant the date the warrant will be executed and forced entry obtained, to carry out the 
Gas Safety Check.

10.8 On the day of the execution of the warrant and if access has still not been forthcoming,  
DSO Building Management will carry out a forced entry and locks will be changed and 
new keys passed to the Housing Officer. 
Notification will be left at the address advising the tenant the nature of the forced entry 
and where to collect the keys.

Page 230



10.9 Vulnerable tenants will be dealt with compassionately and all avenues will be explored to 
gain access before any legal action is considered as a last resort. To ensure due process 
is followed a record of all communication will be kept which must be available for 
magistrates to view before granting a warrant for access.

11.  Emergency and Reactive Repairs

11.1 When a tenant reports a repair by telephone call or email, the Service Provider will 
prioritise repairs as follows:

o Emergency repairs should be responded to within 2 working hours – gas leaks, 
fumes, uncontrollable water leaks etc. and repaired within 1 working day.

o Urgent repairs – within 24 working hours for total loss of heating or hot water. 
Vulnerable tenants – elderly and children under 5 to take priority.

o Routine repairs – all other repairs including partial loss of heating within 7 days
(Including weekends and Bank Holidays)

o Follow up work/ Fit Parts – Parts to be installed within 2 working days of initial call 
and diagnosis.

11.2 Every engineer shall be equipped with a stock of spare parts so that reported repairs can 
be diagnosed and fixed first time. This requirement is irrespective of whether parts or 
other items are required to complete a repair. The Service Provider shall ensure that if it 
is not possible to rectify a problem on the first visit the tenant must be advised by the 
engineer when it is likely that the repair will be completed.

11.3 The Service Provider must also advise the Compliance Surveyor (Gas) on each and 
every occasion that a repair is not possible first time and the tenant is going to be 
deprived of heating and/or hot water for period in excess of 24 hours and when the work 
is scheduled to be completed.

11.4 Whenever a heating failure occurs and repair is not possible as detailed above, 
temporary heating will be supplied. This will take the form of the provision of a new 
electric fan or convector heater for each bedroom and reception room to include the 
delivery and full user instructions to the tenant. In addition they shall each be supplied 
with some form of surge protection device. Where temporary heating is offered and 
declined this shall be recorded.

12.  Boiler and Heating System Upgrades

12.1 All boiler and heating installations shall be completed by the Service Provider in 
accordance with their Health and Safety risk assessments and method statements. 

12.2 Reactive Boiler Replacement
Reactive boiler replacements will be carried out if parts are no longer available or it is 
uneconomical to repair. If the boiler is deemed uneconomical to repair, the Service 

Page 231



Provider will need to demonstrate this to the Compliance Surveyor (Gas) by supplying an 
appliance condition report with supporting photographic evidence to validate the claim. 
The Surveyor will decide on the appropriate action and whether a replacement boiler is 
warranted. The Service Provider will abide by any decision and any repairs must be 
completed within the specified timescales and aim to complete new boiler installations 
within 3 days of notification of a breakdown. 

12.3 Planned Boiler Replacement Programme
Heating systems including boilers will be upgraded on a 15 year planned programme 
prioritised according to age, efficiency and reliability. Tenants are informed by letter with 
an accompanying leaflet on the necessity to make planned improvements and the 
benefits a new condensing combination boiler will bring them. Where it is determined a 
combination boiler is not suitable for that property an A-rated condensing system boiler 
will be installed and supplemented with a hot water storage vessel.

12.4 The Service Provider will provide user instruction manuals to tenants for any gas 
appliances installed and be shown by the gas engineer on how to use them.

12.5 The DSO Administration Team will raise orders for planned and reactive boiler 
installations to the Service Provider via its job scheduling system. The Service Provider 
will carry out a site survey and complete a schedule of rates costing sheet and both 
uploaded to GBC’s job scheduling system for the Compliance Surveyor (Gas) to review. 
Once reviewed the Surveyor will authorise and release orders to the Service Provider. 

11.5 The DSO Administration Team will update the GBC asset database to reflect the new 
installation. Information will include:

o Date of boiler installation
o Planned renewal date.
o Manufacturer and model of boiler
o Building Regulations Compliance Certificate

13.  Void Properties and Mutual Exchanges

13.1 All voids will have a full Gas Safety Check and a Landlord’s Gas Safety Record (LGSR) 
made available before a property is re-let.

13.2 When a property becomes void, the contractor carrying out the void works will carry out a 
check of the system (visual if gas and electric are not available) and complete a LGSR. 
The internal gas supply carcass will be tested for tightness and recorded on the LGSR. 
The gas supply will then be capped at the meter and labelled with a warning notice. 
A copy of the LGSR is left on site for the incoming tenant and the original passed to DSO 
Administration Team to be uploaded onto the job scheduling system.

13.3 The tenant will arrange an appointment with the DSO Administration Team for the gas to 
the property to be reconnected by the Service Provider. The Service Provider’s gas 
engineer will carry out a gas safety inspection and a “Turn on and Test” (TOT) on all 
relevant appliances. An updated LGSR certificate will be produced and provided to the 
tenant within 28 days and also emailed to the DSO Administration Team to be uploaded 
onto to the job scheduling system.

Page 232



13.4 The tenant will be instructed by the gas engineer how to operate all gas appliances and 
their associated controls. The new tenant will be shown where and how to operate the 
emergency control valve (ECV) normally located adjacent to the gas meter.

13.5 Anywhere a flue passes through a void space within a property, DSO Building 
Management will ensure that there are sufficient access panels as per legislation, and 
that these are fully inspected by a registered gas engineer. The gas engineer must report 
any flues that cannot be inspected or checked because of boxing and the subsequent 
access panels be installed as soon as possible.

13.6 All gas equipment other than boilers (including any appliance left by a previous tenant) is 
removed before re-letting. All gas fires left by the outgoing tenant or GBC owned will be 
removed and the builders opening bricked up and vented to prevent build-up of 
condensation building up in the chimney.

13.7 It is the responsibility of the new tenant to employ the services of Gas Safe registered 
engineer to install their own gas appliances (including cookers) and commission them in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s installation instructions.

13.8 Properties purchased by GBC will have a conditional report completed by the Service 
Provider on the boiler and heating system whilst void. This is to ensure the existing 
system has been installed to all regulatory requirements, is safe, efficient and fit for 
purpose. Heating systems that do not meet the criteria will be upgraded by the Service 
Provider.

13.9 Mutual exchanges are subject to the same conditions as Voids, except the gas supply is 
not capped at the meter.

o Cookers that are ‘gifted’ to the new occupier by the previous tenant must be noted on 
the LGSR. The new tenant will then be responsible for safety checks and 
maintenance of these appliances. 

o As with Void properties all gas fires and solid fuel appliances whether the property of 
the outgoing tenant or GBC owned will be removed.

o A copy of the LGSR is left on site for the incoming tenant and the original passed to 
DSO Administration Team to be uploaded onto the job scheduling system.

14.     New Build Developments

14.1 Housing Development will engage with DSO Building Management at an early stage of 
new build projects to ensure that future maintenance requirements have been 
considered.

14.2 Housing Development will provide details of the boiler and heating specifications to the 
Compliance Surveyor (Gas) for each new heating installation, with operating instructions 
left for the tenant in every home.

Page 233



14.3 New properties will be added to the gas contract by the DSO Administration in order that 
the properties are covered by the maintenance contract. The reconciled list is to be 
forwarded to the Service Provider to update the property list on their system.

15.       Performance and Monitoring

15.1 Regular customer satisfaction surveys will be carried out by the Gas Consultant following 
the completion of a repair and data will be used to shape the service improvements in the 
future.

15.2 Tenants who are dissatisfied by the service provided are able to complain in accordance 
with GBC’s complaints procedure. A copy of Gravesham Borough Councils Complaints 
policy and procedure is available upon request or via the GBC website.

15.3 The Service Provider’s service quality and delivery will be regularly audited by the Gas 
Consultant to ensure their obligations and accuracy is to the legal and contractual 
standards.
This includes auditing:

o 100% of all Landlord Gas Safety Records (LGSRs)
o 10% of all Gas Safety Checks and Servicing
o 75% of all new Boiler and Heating upgrades

A monthly cumulative table of performance will be collated by the consultant and made 
available to DSO Building Management to illustrate performance.

15.4 Monthly contract meetings between DSO Building Management, the Service Provider 
and the Gas Consultant will form the basis of good communication and collaborative 
working for problem solving and striving to improve the service. 
The Service Provider will provide full details of recorded key performance indicators 
against targets for specified servicing, maintenance and installation programmes, as 
stated in their contract. 
Key performance indicators will provide clear indication of measuring performance and 
show business trends enabling DSO Building Management and the Service Provider to 
develop a strategy to further improve the service to our tenants.

15.5 The Service Provider will provide an effective monitoring system of Health and Safety 
incidents and measures to address causes during all contractual activities. 
GBC’s Compliance and CDM Officer will carry our random Health and Safety Inspections 
on a range of the Service Providers servicing, maintenance and installation work 
activities. Health and Safety inspection reports will be provided to be reviewed at monthly 
contract meetings.

16. Competencies and Training

16.1 The Asset Manager will arrange ongoing training to DSO Building Management front line 
staff on Gas Awareness to promote awareness of incident protocols with regards to gas 
escapes and carbon monoxide issues.

Page 234



16.2 All gas engineers shall be Gas Safe registered, carry a Gas Safe ID card and have the 
appropriate qualifications to work on specific types of gas work. 
The Service Provider will provide full list of gas engineers and their qualifications working 
on GBC properties to the Gas Consultant and update list when required. The Gas 
Consultant will cross-reference the engineers qualifications with the gas work audited 
and monitor expiry and validity of each qualification and licence.

Page 235



Appendix 1 – Legislation/Guidance

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)

There are two sections of the Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974 particularly relevant to 
this policy:
o Section 2 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the 

health, safety and welfare at work of all his employees.”
       This is supported by specific reference to maintaining the workplace in a condition such that 

it is safe, and does not put employees at risk.

o Section 3 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to conduct his undertaking in such a way so as to 

ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that persons not in his employment, who may be 
affected thereby, are not thereby exposed to risks to their health or safety”

Gravesham Borough Council, in the context of this policy therefore, shall (so far as is reasonably 
practicable) ensure its housing stock and third parties or premises (its business activity) does not 
cause harm to its tenants.

Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999

In general terms, Gravesham Borough Council must:

o Assess the risk to Health and Safety of all employees and to anyone who may be affected 
as a result of work undertaken.

o Endeavour to provide comprehensive information, instruction, training and supervision with 
the aim of ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health and safety at work of 
every employee or person so affected.

o Assess the risk of all work activities.
o Record risk assessments on their database
o For any new work activity, risk assessments should be carried out by the appropriate party 

but in all cases the assessments are to be held jointly and reviewed annually for any 
changes in legislation.

o Have a competent person to advise in respect of these regulations such as a Health and 
Safety Advisor.

Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998

The regulations place duties on gas consumers, installers, suppliers and landlords to ensure 
that:
o Only Gas Safe registered engineers shall work on gas installations.
o No one is permitted to use suspect gas appliances.
o Landlords are responsible, to ensure fittings, flues and installation pipe work are 

maintained.
o With the exception of room-sealed appliances there are restrictions on gas appliances in 

sleeping accommodations.
o Instantaneous gas water heaters must be room-sealed or fitted with appropriate safety 

devices.

Page 236



HSE L56: Safety in the Installation and use of Gas Systems and Appliances

This Approved Code of Practice and guidance gives practical advice on the Gas Safety 
(Installation and Use) Regulations (GSIUR). It is for anyone who may have a duty under the 
regulations, including those who install, service, maintain or repair gas appliances and other gas 
fittings.

To reduce the risks associated with the use of appliances and installations:

o Gas installations will be designed and installed by qualified and competent persons in 
accordance with the Gas Safety (installation and use) Regulations 1998

o Gas installations are maintained in a safe condition by carrying out annual safety checks 
and regular maintenance

o Portable appliances are inspected and tested frequently as required
o Monitoring of gas inspection, design and installation work is carried out by competent 

persons
o Safety information is exchanged with contractors ensuring that they are fully aware of 

Health and Safety requirements
o Detailed records required by the regulations and in relation to the above are maintained.

The Gas Industry Unsafe Situations Procedure (GIUSP)

The industry agreed document which classifies unsafe gas fittings. The procedure indicates 
different categories of danger for defective fittings along with Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR) reporting criteria. The guidelines include 
procedures for the repair, making safe or disconnection of defective gas fittings.

Classifications for unsafe gas fittings:

o Immediately dangerous (ID), which if operated or left connected to a gas supply, is an 
immediate danger to life or property. To be physically disconnected, capped off and labelled 
'do not use'.

o At risk (AR), where one or more recognised faults exist and which, as a result, if operated, 
may in the future constitute a danger to life or property.  To be turned off at and labelled 'do 
not use'.

o Not to current standard (NCS), is currently operating safely but does not meet current 
standards. To be notified to the customer with a description of the improvements needed to 
meet current standards.

Gas Safe registered engineers may only turn off or isolate appliances with the customer’s 
permission.

In addition the guidance describes situations which may be defined as:

o Reportable (R), those gas fittings that should be reported under RIDDOR Reg.6 (2).  The 
appendix is a brief summary of RIDDOR 6(2) requirements and may be copied to interested 
parties.

o Not reportable, but a matter of concern which an installer may wish to notify as a complaint 
to HSE, e.g. by telephone/letter.

Page 237



INDG285 (rev 3): A Guide to Landlord’s Duties

This document is aimed specifically at landlords and explains some of the main requirements of 
the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 as amended by the Gas Safety 
(Installation and Use) (Amendment) Regulations 2018.

Landlord and Tennant Act 1985

This includes a statutory responsibility for repairs to be carried out on gas installations in GBC 
properties.

o Section 11b
      “To keep in repair and proper working order the installations in the dwelling-house for the 

supply of water, gas and electricity and for sanitation (including basins, sinks, baths and 
sanitary conveniences, but not other fixtures, fittings and appliances for making use of the 
supply of water, gas or electricity)”.

Defective Premises Act 1972

Section 4 of the Defective Premises Act 1972 outlines a statutory duty of care to tenants and 
anyone who could be affected by defective equipment as defined under the Act.

Housing Act 1988

Section 16 of the Housing Act 1988 states the tenant shall afford to the landlord access to the 
premises for executing any repairs which the landlord is entitled to execute.

Housing Act 2004

Section 240 of the Housing Act 2004 provides a mechanism for Gravesham Borough Council to 
obtain a court warrant to enter premises (by force if necessary), where access has not been 
forthcoming to carry out a gas safety inspection.

The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Under The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 companies and 
organisations can be found guilty of corporate manslaughter as a result of serious management 
failures resulting in a gross breach of a duty of care.

Page 238



Appendix 2

Gas Safety Check 
& Service

Non-Access Procedure
Start

8 Weeks  (from LGSR Expiry)
Service Provider Sends Letter Confirming 

Appointment for Gas Safety Check & Service 

1st Appointment
Entry Gained & Service 

Completed
 by Gas Engineer ?

YES NO

END
Gas Safety Check & Service 

Completed Before LGSR Expiry

7 Weeks
Gas Engineer Leaves  
1st Abortive Call Card

YES NO

6 Weeks
Gas Engineer Leaves 2nd Abortive Call Card 

Service Provider’s RLO  Telephone Resident to 
Make Further Appointment

Entry Gained & Service 
Completed 

by Gas Engineer ?

NO

Tenant makes new 
Appointment?

YES

YES

NO

Tenant makes new 
Appointment?

Entry Gained & Service 
Completed 

by Gas Engineer ?

Compliance Surveyor (Gas)  Hand Delivers Letter 
Notifying Resident of 

Force Entry Date with Court Warrant 

YES

NO

NO

Date Of Forced Entry 
Gas Safety Check & Service Completed

YES

YES Entry Gained & Service 
Completed

 by Gas Engineer ?

YES Tenant makes new 
Appointment?

NO

NO

2nd Appointment
Entry Gained & Service 

Completed
 by Gas Engineer ?

NO

5 Weeks
 Compliance Surveyor (Gas) /RLO  Hand Delivers  

Letter Notifying Resident of 
Court Date to Obtain Warrant 

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

DSO Building Management

Water Hygiene Policy and Scheme 
of Control for Legionella Bacteria 

May 2019             

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management
Author

Consultation
Housing Management, Responsive Repairs, Asset Management, 
Regulatory Services, Property Services

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 241



Index

Water Hygiene Policy

1. Introduction
2. Legionnaires’ Disease Background
3. Aims and Objectives
4. Legal and Regulatory Framework
5. Roles and Responsibilities
6. Policy Review

Scheme of Control

7. Written Scheme of Control
8. Control Methodology
9. Legionella Risk Assessments
10. Cold Water Temperature Control Checks
11. Hot Water Temperature Control Checks
12. Legionella Sampling
13. General Microbiological Monitoring
14. Void Properties
15. Sheltered Accommodation & Shared Facilities
16. Zetasafe Web Based Compliance Management System
17. Record Keeping
18. Performance & Monitoring
19. Competencies and Training
20. Glossary of Terms

           Abbreviations
ACOP Approved Codes of Practice
CHAS The Contractors Health and Safety Assessment Scheme
CIBSE Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers
CFU Colony forming units
COSHH Control of Substances Hazardous to Health
DSO Direct Services Organisation
HASAWA Health & Safety At Work Act 1974
HSE Health & Safety Executive
HSG Health & Safety Executive Guidance
ISO International Organization for Standardization
POU Point Of Use
TMV Thermostatic Mixer Valve
TVC Total Viable Count
UKAS United Kingdom Accreditation Service

Page 242



Water Hygiene Policy

1. Introduction 

1.1 This policy sets out how Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) will comply with its duties in 
respect of the effective management of water systems within its Housing stock to ensure 
the health and safety of tenants, staff and visitors by minimising the risk posed by 
legionella bacteria.

1.2 DSO Building Management will manage all operations with regard to design and 
maintenance of domestic water systems, in compliance with all current and relevant 
legislation and guidelines. The Scheme of Control contains specific operational guidance 
procedures to effectively manage these requirements to provide the means from which 
exposure to legionella bacteria can be prevented. 

1.3 Legionella bacteria can cause pneumonia like illnesses such as Legionellosis, therefore 
the risk of Legionellosis must be controlled by introducing measures which prevent the 
growth of legionella bacteria within water systems. 

1.4 This policy has been prepared with the understanding and practical applications of the 
legal requirements in conjunction with the Approved Codes of Practice L8 (ACoP) and 
the Health and Safety Guidance Document HSG274 Part 2.

2. Legionnaires Disease Background 

2.1 Legionella bacteria causes Legionellosis, a group of diseases of which ‘Legionnaires’ 
disease (a potentially fatal form of pneumonia) is the most serious, as well as less 
serious conditions of Pontiac fever and Lochgoilhead fever.

2.2 Infection occurs when small droplets (aerosols) of water containing the bacteria are 
inhaled, however the disease cannot be passed from person-to-person.  Not everyone 
exposed to legionella will become ill, but some people are more susceptible to the 
disease including those over 50 years old, smokers and those whose immune system is 
impaired in some way.

2.3 Legionella bacterium can be found in most natural water sources such as rivers, lakes, 
ponds etc. Because they are so widespread in the natural environment, they may also 
contaminate and grow in artificial water systems such as cooling towers, hot & cold water 
systems and whirlpool spas.

2.4 Growth and exposure of Legionella bacteria within water systems will increase under 
certain conditions:

o Bacteria will remain dormant at low temperatures but will grow and multiply at 20-
45°C. 

o Where systems contain scale, rust, sludge, organic matter and biofilm, they will act as 
nutrients and a food source for the bacteria.

o Where shower heads, spray heads and cooling towers create an aerosol.
o Where water is stored, re-circulated, or remains stagnant in the system.

Page 243



2.5 The risk of Legionellosis must therefore be controlled by introducing measures which 
prevent the growth of legionella bacteria within water systems, and where reasonably 
practicable avoid or remove exposure to water droplets and aerosols. 

3. Aims and Objectives

3.1 DSO Building Management in liaison with all stakeholders will ensure:

o To take reasonable and practical precautions to manage and control legionella 
bacteria within water systems.

o To protect the people occupying and visiting GBC premises, as well as passers-by 
within the vicinity of the premises.

o That appropriately trained and technically competent and experienced staff will be 
available and resourced to adequately manage the water systems and associated 
legionella control.

o That appropriate Water Hygiene Risk Assessments are completed and safe working 
practices are identified by all contractors and sub-contractors.

o Risk Assessments are analysed to identify potential hazards and improvements 
are implemented to upgrade water systems to remove or reduce the risk of 
Legionella bacteria.

o All operatives working on water systems will be managed in accordance with this plan 
and will possess specific expertise and competency.

o The procedure for the control of Legionella bacteria in water systems, plant and 
equipment within GBC’s properties shall be in accordance with the ACoP L8 and 
HSG274.

o All risk assessments and details of water temperature, sampling and treatment records 
are stored and updated on a water hygiene compliance software system (Zetasafe).

o Control measures continue to be robust and effective.

o Tenants will be provided with advice and information on good water hygiene via their 
tenancy handbook, safety leaflets, letters and via the GBC website.

4. Legal and Regulatory Framework 

4.1 There is no legislation specific to Legionella, however the following regulations, Approved 
Codes of Practice (ACOPS), British Standards and HSE guidelines place specific duties 
on local authorities with regards to the control of Legionella: 

o Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (HASAWA)
o Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999
o Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 (COSHH)
o Water Supply (Water Fittings) Regulations 1999

Page 244



o Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations 2000
o Private Water Supplies Regulations 2011
o HSE Approved Code of Practice ACOP L8 (2013)
o HSG 274 (Part 1, 2 & 3)
o BS 8558 Water use in domestic buildings
o BS 7592 Sampling for Legionella bacteria in water systems
o BS 8580 Water Quality – Risk assessment for Legionella control 
o CIBSE TM13 – 2013 Minimising the Risk of Legionnaires Disease
o The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Details of the above legislation and guidance requirements can be found in Appendix 1.

5. Roles & Responsibilities

5.1 The Chief Executive with assistance from Directors, Assistant Directors and Service 
Managers are collectively responsible for ensuring the implementation and management 
of the Scheme of Control for Legionella bacteria within water systems

5.2 The Chief Executive 

The Chief Executive has the ultimate responsibility and accountability regarding Control 
of Legionella bacteria within GBC water systems at board level and is considered to be 
the ‘Duty Holder. The Chief Executive will ensure that all appropriate personnel are 
familiar with the contents of ACOP L8 and HSG274, insofar as it is relevant to their roles 
and responsibilities and ensure the appointment of the Legionella Responsible Person.

5.3 The Assistant Director (Operations)

The Assistant Director is responsible for service strategy and quality of services provided 
by DSO Building Management. The Assistant Director also has overall budget 
responsibility for all water hygiene servicing and maintenance programmes and ensures 
adequate resources are made available to both develop and implement the Scheme of 
Control.

5.4 The Asset Manager

The Asset Manager is responsible for procurement, and selection of the specialist Water 
Management Contractor to undertake water hygiene related works within Gravesham 
Borough Council’s Housing stock. The Asset Manager is also responsible for service 
delivery, staff training and ensuring that the Water Hygiene Policy and Scheme of Control 
continue to be robust and effective.

5.5 The Compliance & Projects Manager

The Compliance & Projects Manager will undertake the duties of the Responsible Person 
to ensure that the systems and procedures outlined in this Scheme of Control are 
followed. The Manager will monitor the performance of the Water Management 
Contractor and ensure compliancy is achieved in all areas of the service.

In accordance with ACoP L8 and HSG 274 this will include:

o A suitable and sufficient risk assessment and supporting schematic drawing/s is 

Page 245



in place for each relevant GBC building
.

o Risk assessments and accompanying schematic drawing/s are reviewed at a 
maximum of five yearly frequency or earlier should there be a change to the 
system where updating would be required, as defined in the ACoP L8. Based 
on risk GBC are currently working to a two year cycle.

o A written scheme of control is fully implemented and monitored to effectively 
control legionella bacteria in GBC water systems.

o Taking a lead role in the implementation of the action plan in the event of a 
Legionella incident. 

o A review of the written scheme of control annually.

o Maintaining records for a minimum of five years.

o Legionella management records are made available when requested for all 
properties sold.

o The appointment of the Deputy Responsible Person/s, who shall cover the 
Responsible Person in their absence.

o Dependent on the findings of the legionella risk assessments the frequency of 
subsequent risk assessments may be increased or reduced.

5.6 Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) 

The Surveyor will undertake the duties of the Deputy Responsible Person for the 
day-to-day management of control of Legionella bacteria in GBC Housing stock, 
including:

o Acting as the Responsible Person in the absence of the Responsible Person.

o A review of test and inspection records to identify, prioritise and action any 
anomalies.

o Review risk assessments, water testing data and remedial works at monthly 
meetings with the Water Management Contractor.

5.7 The Water Management Contractor

Gravesham Borough Council will employ a suitably qualified consultant/contractor to act 
as a nominated competent person. Legionella consultants/contractors must comply 
with the following requirements: 

o Membership of a recognised body such as the Legionella Control Association. 

o Public Liability, Employers and Professional Indemnity insurance is in date and 
complies with our approved consultants/contractors requirements.

Page 246



o Employees hold sufficient qualifications and maintain training records

The Nominated Competent Person shall:

o Carry out all works in accordance with the contract specification, and compliance 
with ACoP L8, HSG 274 and GBC’s Scheme of Control.

o Carry out legionella risk assessments to identify, and assess the risk of 
exposure to legionella bacteria from activities and water systems on premises 
and any precautionary measures needed.

o Implement service and maintenance regimes to carry out works in accordance 
with Legionella Risk Assessments. This will include but are not limited to water 
temperature testing, water sampling, disinfecting and outlet de-scaling and 
cleaning.

o Carry out investigations and remedial works as instructed, highlighting and 
reporting issues of concern.

o Documenting and uploading legionella management information o n  t o  t h e  
water hygiene compliance software system (Zetasafe).

o Attend monthly data progress meetings.

6.       Policy Review

6.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continuing suitability, 
adequacy and effectiveness or as required by the introduction of new legislation or 
regulation that impacts on water hygiene management obligations of Gravesham 
Borough Council.

Page 247



Scheme of Control

7. Written Scheme of Control

7.1 The following “written scheme” for the control of legionella is a comprehensive risk 
management document that clearly identifies measures required to control the risks from 
exposure to Legionella bacteria, and how those measures are implemented and managed 
so that control over water systems is achieved and remains effective.

8. Control Methodology

DSO Building Management will ensure that water systems and equipment under their 
control is designed, serviced (including inspection, cleaning and disinfecting) and 
maintained to the standard required to control Legionella bacteria within the GBC’s 
Housing stock.

The Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) will manage the water hygiene compliance 
software system (Zetasafe) that incorporates the following:

o Risk Assessments for the water system
o Schematic diagrams
o Records of bacterial sampling
o Temperature control checks 
o Disinfection record certificates
o Non-compliance reporting
o Recording remedial actions.

9. Legionella Risk Assessments

9.1 To control the risk from a range of hazardous substances including biological agents 
such as Legionella bacteria, DSO Building Management will ensure a suitable and 
sufficient risk assessment of GBC properties will include: 

o All buildings with communal facilities/water supply e.g. cisterns/calorifiers/communal 
areas or any of these singly or in combination.

o All buildings with shared water supply such as sheltered accommodation and blocks of 
flats.

o All other buildings based on risk evaluation.

9.2 Competent persons appointed to carry out the risk assessment and draw up and 
implement precautionary measures should be members of the Legionella Control 
Association, have such ability, experience, instruction, information, training and resources 
to enable them to carry out their tasks competently and safely.

In particular, they should know the:

o Potential sources of legionella bacteria and the risks they present
o Measures to adopt, including the precautions to take to protect the people 

Page 248



concerned, and their significance
o Actions to take to ensure the control measures remain effective.

9.3 As part of the risk assessment water system schematics are produced for all hot and cold 
water systems and identify sentinel points/outlets on block plans.

The schematics will provide details of:

o Origin of water supply
o General layout of the system e.g. pumps, control service control valves
o How the system operates
o All associated storage and header tanks
o All standby equipment
o Any parts of the system that may be out of use temporarily
o Any problem areas such as dead/blind end (a redundant length of pipe, closed at 

one, through which water cannot flow)

9.4 Risk Classification

GBC buildings and equipment may fall into two main risk categories, which are:

o Inherent Risk   –   Risk associated with the system/s before any control action 
procedures have been implemented.

o Operational Risk   -   Risk associated with the system/s after control action procedures 
have been implemented.

            
Factors to be considered in the Legionella risk assessments include; contamination, 
amplification, transmission, exposure and host susceptibility.

Any person using hot and cold water systems including tenants, leaseholders, staff, 
contractors, visitors and the general public are at risk, specifically from: 

o Showers or any other equipment that may create an aerosol
o Infrequently used outlets
o Alterations to existing water systems that restrict water flow.

9.5       Risk Assessment Review

All assessments will be carried out by qualified and competent persons and updated at a 
frequency determined by the initial risk assessment. These will include schematics with 
respect to Legionella bacteria and will be held in electronic format on Zetasafe and stored 
for five years.
The Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) will review each risk assessment on receipt and 
action all recommendations. 

Thereafter all risk assessments will be reviewed by the Surveyor if:

o There are changes to the water system or its use.
o There are changes to the use of the building in which the water system is installed. 
o The availability of new information about risks or control measures.
o The results of checks indicating that the control measures are no longer effective.

Page 249



o A case of Legionnaires Disease or Legionellosis is associated with the system. 
o There are changes to key personnel.

10. Cold Water Temperature Control Checks

10.1 Temperature checks are carried out on a monthly basis for Sheltered Accommodation 
and communal shared facilities and six monthly for all other buildings with a shared water 
supply. Checks will be conducted using a calibrated digital thermometer with the 
appropriate surface touch or immersion probe and all results will be recorded on Zetasafe 
by the Water Management Contractor.

10.2 Cold Storage Tanks

Temperatures to cold water supply and storage tanks are checked during periods of high 
ambient temperatures (e.g. afternoons in the summer months).
Temperatures should be no greater than 20°C and checked at the furthest and nearest 
draw off points in the system, within 2 minutes of running the water at full flow.
A similar temperature checking regime will be undertaken during the winter months to 
identify the performance of cold water distribution systems and the impact of heat gained 
from heating systems.
Inspection will also include the general condition of the tank and ensure the stored water 
does not increase by more than 2°C above the incoming water supply. The plant room 
temperature must also be recorded.

10.3 Cold Water Distribution 

Temperatures are taken at sentinel taps (typically those nearest to and furthest from the 
cold tank, but may also include other key locations on long branches to zones or floor 
levels).  These outlets should be below 20°C within two minutes of running the cold tap. 
Checks are taken on a representative selection of other points on a rotational basis to 
confirm they are below 20°C to create a temperature profile.

11.      Hot Water Temperature Control Checks

11.1  Calorifiers (Heat Exchangers)

Outgoing water from the calorifier should be at least 60°C, and water returning to the 
calorifier should be at least 50°C.  

Internal inspections of all calorifiers and hot water storage vessels will be performed 
annually. Where internal inspection is not possible, borescope inspections should be 
performed.
As a last resort, drain valves on each vessel should be purged in lieu of internal or 
borescope inspection. The colour of the drain water may give an indication of the internal 
conditions. The colour will therefore be recorded as part of the assessment 
documentation. Consideration should be given to investigate prior to commencement of 
the legionella risk assessment to assess the ability to coincide internal inspections with 
drain valve flushing’s during planned maintenance tasks.

Page 250



11.2 Hot Water Distribution 

For non-circulating domestic type systems temperatures are taken on a monthly basis at 
sentinel points (nearest outlet, furthest outlet and long branches to outlets) to confirm 
they are at a minimum 50°C within one minute of running the outlet.

o Non-Circulating Hot water systems: - temperature checks are taken from a 
selection of points where accessible on a rotational basis to confirm they are at a 
minimum of 50°C to create a temperature profile. 

o Circulating Hot water systems: - temperatures are taken on a monthly basis at 
return legs of principal loops (sentinel points) to confirm they are at a minimum of 
50°C.  Temperature recordings are taken on a quarterly basis on return leg pipe 
surfaces of subordinate loops or alternatively the temperature of water from the last 
outlet on each loop is greater than 50°C within one minute of running the outlet. 

All outlet temperatures will be checked at least once a year in the communal areas and 
recorded on Zetasafe. 

11.3 Thermostatic mixer valves (TMVs)

Where TMVs are installed, they should be serviced and any strainers cleaned and 
disinfected annually.
Where fitted, the hot water input temperatures to thermostatic mixer valves should be at 
least 50°C within a minute of running the water, and the input cold water should be a 
maximum of 20°C after running for two minutes. Outlets with TMV’s should be monitored 
on a sentinel basis as detailed above.

12.      Legionella Sampling 

12.1 Random sampling is not advocated by the HSE. Sampling should only be structured 
based on the findings of the legionella risk assessment, or if there is cause for concern 
that control limits are not being met using the temperature/inspection control strategy.
Legionella sampling will be undertaken by a specialist Water Management Contractor for 
analysis by an accredited UKAS laboratory with the current ISO standard methods for the 
detection and enumeration of Legionella included within the scope of accreditation.

12.2 The appointed Water Management Contractor shall ensure all legionella analysis results 
are emailed with the appropriate urgency to the Compliance & Projects Manager.
The Compliance and Projects Manager as the Responsible Person shall ensure all 
sampling analysis results and follow up actions are uploaded to the Zetasafe by the 
Contractor.

12.3 Legionella sampling should only be undertaken if recommended by the legionella risk 
assessment. Any legionella detection above the control limits shall be compared with the 
current condition levels supplied by the local water supplier and may trigger cleaning, 
disinfection and a review of the system and control methods- see Action Level Guidance 
below.

Page 251



Hot & Cold Water Systems Legionella Sampling 

Action
Level

Criteria sample
Cfu/litre

Action Action On 

Up to and including 100 
CFU/litre No action required

No action required

1 More than 100 up to and 
including 1000 CFU/ litre

Either:

(a)
If only one or two samples are 
positive, system should be 
resampled.  If a similar count is 
found again, a review of the control 
measures and risk assessment 
should be carried out to identify any 
remedial actions

(b)
If the majority of samples are 
positive, the system may be 
colonised, albeit at a low level, with 
legionella. Disinfection of the 
system should be undertaken but an 
immediate review of control 
measures and risk assessment 
should be carried out to identify any 
other remedial action required.

Appointed Specialist 
Water Management 

Contractor
&

GBC Responsible/ 
Deputy Responsible 

Persons 

2 More than 1000 CFU/litre The system should be resampled 
and an immediate review of the 
control measures and risk 
assessment carried out to identify 
any remedial actions, including 
disinfection of the system.

Appointed Specialist 
Water Management 

Contractor
&

GBC Responsible/ 
Deputy Responsible 

Persons 

3 Any legionella 
pneumophila serogroup – 
1 result reading greater 
than detected levels of 
1000 cfu/litre 

The system should be fully isolated, 
drained and disinfected before 

returning to service. Where multiple 
serogroups have been isolated, if 

one of the groups is SG1 the 
combined count will be treated as if it 

was a total SG1 count.

Appointed Specialist 
Water Management 

Contractor

After completion of actions as indicated above, the system must be tested by sampling 
to ensure that, the actions taken have resulted in a significant reduction of legionella 
levels.

Page 252



13.      General Microbiological Monitoring

13.1 Where the systems are cold water tank fed, the cisterns should be sampled for 
microbiological monitoring for total viable count (TVC), E Coli, and Coliforms six monthly. 
This is not part of the legionella control strategy but does confirm the quality of the sites 
drinking water.
Where water is mains fed TVC is not necessary unless taste, odour or discoloured water 
problems are identified. 

14.      Void Properties

14.1 As part of the HSE’s recommendations and best practise, it is important that water is not 
allowed to stagnate within the water system and so there should be careful management 
of properties left vacant for extended periods.  As a general principle, outlets on hot and 
cold water systems should be used at least once a week to maintain a degree of water 
flow and minimise the chances of stagnation. 

14.2 To manage the risks during non-occupancy, a suitable flushing regime will be 
implemented or other measures considered, such as draining the system down. The 
system should be drained down if it’s to remain vacant for long periods or if there are 
expected long spells of high temperatures.

During void works DSO Building Management will: 

o Remove the shower head and disinfect or replace with new prior to the tenant moving 
in.

o Remove dead/blind ends where identified in the plumbing system. 

o Remove thermostatic mixer valves (TMVs) which have not been installed by GBC.

o Check to ensure cold water storage tanks are complete with covers and replace where 
missing or damaged.

o Ensure water outlets are run at least weekly. Where this cannot be achieved the 
system will be drained down. 

When properties are retuned to Housing Management they will be responsible and:

o Continue with the weekly flushing regime.

o Where it is likely the property will remain vacant for a long period of time, Housing 
Management will request DSO Building Management to drain down the system using 
the job scheduling system, and avoid weekly flushing.

o On re-occupation Housing Management will issue advice to the new tenant via the 
handbook to flush the system before first use.

14.3 To ensure we manage the risks throughout the period a void property is un-occupied, 
evidence of any actions taken should be recorded by the relevant department by 
uploading notes to the job scheduling system and including details of officer name, date 
of flushing/drain down etc.

Page 253



15.       Sheltered Accommodation & Shared Facilities 

15.1 Legionella bacteria will begin to multiply if left undisturbed in stagnant water in 
communal shared facilities. To maintain compliance with ACoP L8 Control of 
Legionella Bacteria in Water System, Scheme Managers will:

o Ensure a flushing of outlets regime is carried out during periods of little use 
and non-occupancy within residence buildings/rooms unoccupied for greater 
than seven days

o Ensure all f l ush ing  record  information is recorded and updated.

o Ensure that no modifications/alterations or additions to water systems are 
carried out without the approval of the Compliance and Projects Manager.

o Report any modifications seen to the Compliance and Projects Manager.

16.        Zetasafe Web Based Compliance Management System 

16.1 This is an electronic system of data storage which allows data entry at the time of 
inspection.  The system is operated by the Water Management Contractor and the 
Surveyor (Compliance & Projects). All water temperature, sampling and treatment 
monitoring non-compliances are highlighted using a traffic light system.

Compliance Parameters: 

GREEN
o All green results will have fallen within the compliance parameters.

AMBER
o Hot water at sentinel points, 48oC to less than 50oC within one minute.

o Domestic hot water secondary flow, 58oC to less than 60oC.

o Domestic hot water secondary return, 48oC to less than 50oC 

o The rationale behind the hot water Amber parameters is to allow a tolerance through 
periods of high demand during the recovery period of the hot water storage.

o Cold Water temperatures at sentinel points above 20oC to above 23oC within two 
minutes.

o The rationale for this is the growth rate of legionella at these temperatures is known to 
be very slow.

      
RED
o Hot water sentinel points, below 48oC within one minute.

o Domestic hot water storage, below 58oC.

o Domestic hot water return, below 48oC

o Cold water temperatures at sentinel points above 23oC within two minutes.

Page 254



o Cold water storage above 23oC.

16.2 The Zetasafe software generates an out of parameter specification against any Amber and 
Red result, if any asset generates more than two consecutive Amber reports, it is elevated 
to Red status. 
All individual assets are barcoded and results are required to be uploaded by PDA on to 
the Zetasafe web based system by the appointed Water Management Contractor as the 
testing is undertaken.

16.3 The Surveyor (Compliance & Surveyor) is required on a continuous daily basis to review, 
assess, prioritise and coordinate remedial actions identified from any compliance failures 
(Red)

Zetasafe Test Parameter Set Points

Asset Type Task Test Level Green Test Level Amber Test Level Red

Annual Cold Outlet Temperature test Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C and 
below 23°C

Above 23°C

Annual Hot Outlet Temperature test

increase
temperature 
(Priority 2)

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C 
and above 62°C

Less than 48°C

Cold outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C and 
below 23°C

Above 23°CAnnual Outlet

Hot outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C 
and above 62°C

Less than 48°C

Sentinel Cold 
Outlet

Temperature test Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C and 
below 23°C

Above 23°C

Sentinel Hot Outlet Temperature test Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C 
and above 62°C

Less than 48°C

Cold outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C and 
below 23°C

Above 23°CSentinel Outlet

Hot outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C 
and above 62°C

Less than 48°C

Quarterly Sentinel 
Point

HWS subordinate 
return loop Temp 
test 

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C Above 60°C

Calorifier (With 
Return)

Flow temperature 
test

Meet the given 
legislation

58°C to below 60°C 
and above 65°C

Below 58°C

Return 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C 
and above 60°C

Set point not 
appointed 

Calorifier (With no 
return)

Flow temperature 
test

Meet the given 
legislation

58°C to below 60°C 
and above 65°C

Below 58°C

Stored 
temperature

Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C to 23°C Above 25°C

Inlet temperature Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C to 23°C Above 23°C

Temperature 
differential

Meet the given 
legislation

Set point not 
appointed

Above 2°C

Cold Water 
Storage Tank

Tank room space 
temperature 

Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C to below 
30°C

Above 30°C

Kitchen Sink Cold outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C and 
below 23°C

Above 23°C

Page 255



Hot outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C 
and above 62°C

Below 48°C

Mains water Temperature test Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C to 23°C Above 23°C

Cold outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C to 23°C Above 23°CMixer basin (non-
thermostatic)

Hot outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C 
and above 62°C

Set point not 
appointed

Cold inlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C to 23°C Above 23°C

Hot inlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C Below 48°C

Sentinel TMV 
outlet

Mixed outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

Set point not 
appointed

Below 37°C 
and above 
43°CCold inlet 

temperature test
Meet the given 
legislation

Above 20°C to 23°C Above 23°C

Hot inlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

48°C to below 50°C Below 48°C

Annual TMV outlet

Mixed outlet 
temperature test

Meet the given 
legislation

Set point not 
appointed

Below 37°C 
and above 
43°CPOU water heater Hot outlet 

temperature test
Meet the given 
legislation

45°C to below 50°C 
and above 62°C

Below 45°C

16.4 Specific Non-compliance is assessed by the Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) on a 
weekly basis and prioritised and actioned accordingly.

 Water Temperature
Defect Action Response

Stored hot water below 60°C or hot 
water outlets below 50°C

Determine reason for low
Temperature, and instigate 
remedial actions as appropriate

increase
temperature (Priority 2)

1 week

Cold water 20°C or below within 2 
mins of running or within 2°C of the 
building incoming supply 
temperature

Determine reason for high
temperature
Action such as weekly 
flushing, tank lagging, tank 
volume reduction, pipework 
lagging etc. may be required

1 week

 Tanks & Calorifiers
Defect Action Response

Cold water tank requires cleaning & 
disinfection following inspection

Raise GBC Remedial works 
order with the Water 

Management Contractor/DSO

1 week

Calorifier requires de-scale 
following inspection

Raise GBC Remedial 
works order with the 
Water Management 
Contractor/DSO

1 month

17.       Record Keeping

Page 256



17.1 The Duty Holder shall ensure that appropriate records are kept, including details of:

o The persons responsible for conducting the risk assessment, managing and 
implementing the written scheme

o The significant findings of the risk assessment
o The written scheme of inspection and details of its implementation
o The results of any monitoring, inspection, test or checks carried out, and the dates 

completed.
o The operational state of the system, i.e. in use/not in use

Records of the above shall be retained throughout the period for which they remain 
current and for at least two years. Records kept in accordance with monitoring shall be 
retained for at least five years.

17.2 The following types of records are kept:

Record Retention Period Responsibility

This procedures document

Risk assessments & schematic 
drawings
Risk minimisation scheme and 
details of its implementation

Throughout the period for 
which they remain current 
and for at least two further 
years.

GBC Appointed 
Responsible/Deputy 
Responsible Persons

Monitoring, inspection, water 
analysis, water treatment, cleaning 
& disinfection records and results 
including details of the state of 
operation of the system

At least five years Appointed Specialist 
Water Management 

Contractor
GBC Appointed 

Responsible/Deputy 
Responsible Persons

Duty Holders, Appointed 
Responsible/Deputy Responsible 
Persons    

At least five years
GBC Appointed 

Responsible/Deputy 
Responsible Persons

Training – GBC Appointed 
Responsible/Deputy Responsible 
Persons, Department Managers, 
Technicians and trade staff  

At least five years 
GBC Appointed 

Responsible/Deputy 
Responsible Persons

Annual independent legionella 
management audits

At least five years GBC Appointed 
Responsible/Deputy 
Responsible Persons

Quarterly Water Services 
Management Work Plan reviews

  At least five years Appointed Specialist 
Water Management 

Contractor GBC 
Appointed

Responsible/Deputy     
Responsible Persons

Page 257



Ongoing action recommendations in 
Legionella Risk 
Assessments/Reviews/Audits

At least five years Appointed Specialist 
Water Management 

Contractor
GBC Appointed 

Responsible/Deputy 
Responsible Persons

Calibration of test equipment At least five years Appointed Specialist 
Water Management 

Contractor
GBC Appointed 

Responsible/Deputy 
Responsible Persons

18.       Performance & Monitoring

18.1 Performance of the Water Management Contractor will be monitored at monthly contract 
meetings to ensure the control of Legionella within water systems remains affective.
The Contractor will provide full details of recorded key performance indicators against 
targets for specified servicing and maintenance as stated in their contract.

19.      Competencies and Training

19.1 DSO Building Management

o The Asset Manager will arrange training for DSO Building Management front line staff 
on Legionella Awareness with refresher training every three years.

19.2 Water Management Contractor

o Member of approved legionella management body e.g. the Legionella Control 
Association, Water Management Society, Construction Line, CHAS

o Be a financially sound and proven established business in providing legionella 
management & control services 

o Employ competent management and field staff-evidenced.
o Provide internally structured legionella control competency auditing from management 

through to field operatives 

19.3 Legionella Risk Assessors

o Member of approved legionella management body e.g. the Legionella Control 
association for the applicable systems being surveyed and assessed

o Can demonstrate that they have specialist knowledge of legionella bacteria, relevant 
water treatment and water systems to be assessed

o Can demonstrate they are competent to carry out legionella risk assessments for the 
systems being assessed, measurements and sampling.

Page 258



20.       Glossary of Terms

ACoP - means Approved Code of Practice and Guidance. An ACoP is issued by the 
Health and Safety Executive and gives guidance on how to comply with the regulations 
to which it applies. Following an ACoP is not mandatory, but in a court of law failure to 
adopt the advice in an ACoP will be regarded as having failed to comply with the law.

Biofilm – Is a community of bacteria and other micro-organisms, embedded in a   
protective layer with entrained debris, attached to a surface.

Responsible/Competent Person – Is someone who has sufficient training, experience, 
knowledge and other personal qualities which are needed to undertake a job safely. 
Competence is dependent on the needs of the situation and the nature of the risks 
involved.

Calorifier - means an apparatus used for the transfer of heat to water in a vessel, the 
source of heat being contained within a pipe or coil immersed in the water.

Dead legs – Pipes leading to a fitting through which water only passes when there is a 
draw-off from the fitting. 

Dead End/Blind End – A length of pipe closed at one end through which no water 
passes.

Duty Holder – The individual with the legal responsibility to ensure that health and 
safety is managed effectively.
NOTE 1: The duty holder is the employer where the risk is from their undertakings to 
their staff or others, the self-employed person where the risk is from undertaking to 
themselves or others, or the person in control of the premises where the risk is present 
from the systems in the building (e.g. a landlord who remains responsible for the 
maintenance of the systems). See ACOP L8 para 23.
NOTE 2: In most cases there will only be one duty holder, but in cases of shared 
accommodation there could be a shared responsibility. The duty holder cannot 
delegate this duty, but can delegate managerial responsibility to the Responsible 
Person.

Legionella bacteria - Is a ubiquitous aquatic organism found in all fresh water.

Legionellosis – Is a collective term used to describe a number of infections caused by 
Legionella bacteria. These infections include ‘Legionnaires’ Disease, Pontiac Fever, 
Lochgoilhead Fever etc.

Legionnaires’ disease – Is an infection of the lungs which principally affects those who 
are susceptible due to age, illness, diabetes, reduced immunity, smoking, alcohol 
consumption, etc.  It can cause serious illness and in some circumstances, may be 
fatal.

Pneumophila serogroup 1- Specific type of pneumonia related to Legionellosis.

Page 259



Pre-flush samples – Is collected immediately after a tap, or outlet is opened, the pre-
flush sample represents water held within the outlet.

Post-flush Samples - is collected after the tap, or outlet has been disinfected and water 
has been run to waste for a prescribed length of time, this sample represents the quality 
of the water supplied to the tap outlet.

Responsible Person –who has appointed responsibility under the authority of the duty 
holder for ensuring that the organisation’s responsibilities for the control of legionella are 
met and that all individuals and organisations assigned to carry out tasks in the 
preventative scheme are competent. They should have sufficient authority competence 
and knowledge of the installation to ensure all operational procedures are carried out 
effectively in a timely way.

Risk Assessment – Identifies and assess the risk from exposure to legionella from 
work activities and water sources in premises and determines any necessary 
precautionary measures.

Written Scheme of Control – Is a written document (this document) in paper or 
electronic format which identifies the measures for preventing or controlling identified 
and assessed risks.

ZetaSafe® - is a web based compliance solution for accurately and efficiently capturing, 
analysing and communicating data obtained from the routine testing of assets in field.
Made originally to provide an electronic legionella logbook system. Tests and schedules 
can be created for virtually any type of asset. 

Page 260



Appendix 1 - Relevant Legislation, Guidance and Standards

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)

There are two sections of the Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974 particularly relevant to 
this policy:
o Section 2 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the 

health, safety and welfare at work of all his employees.”
       This is supported by specific reference to maintaining the workplace in a condition such 

that it is safe, and does not put employees at risk.

o Section 3 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to conduct his undertaking in such a way so as to 

ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that persons not in his employment, who may be 
affected thereby, are not thereby exposed to risks to their health or safety”

Gravesham Borough Council, in the context of this policy therefore, shall (so far as is 
reasonably practicable) ensure its housing stock and third parties or premises (its business 
activity) does not cause harm to its tenants.

Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999

In general terms, Gravesham Borough Council must:

o Assess the risk to Health and Safety of all employees and to anyone who may be affected 
as a result of work undertaken.

o Endeavour to provide comprehensive information, instruction, training and supervision 
with the aim of ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health and safety at work 
of every employee or person so affected.

o Assess the risk of all work activities.
o Record risk assessments on their database
o For any new work activity, risk assessments should be carried out by the appropriate 

party but in all cases the assessments are to be held jointly and reviewed annually for any 
changes in legislation.

o Have a competent person to advise in respect of these regulations such as a Health and 
Safety Advisor.

Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 (COSHH)

Apply to substances that are hazardous to health including biological agents which may cause 
infection, allergy, and toxicity or otherwise create a hazard to human health.

The regulations place specific responsibilities on employers, self-employed persons and 
employees. The regulations require a “suitable and sufficient‟ assessment to be made of the 
risks and measures necessary to control substances hazardous to health arising from work.  
Employers are also required to maintain the control measures to provide information, 
instruction and training in relation to the risks and control measures; to monitor exposure of 
the employees to the substances and (where relevant) organise a health surveillance 
program.

Page 261



Water Supply (Water Fittings) Regulations 1999

With guidance from Water Regulations Advisory Scheme (WRAS) – provides an explanation 
of the water fittings regulations.  Part of the WRAS guidance is provided in the Water Fittings 
and Material Directory which has information on materials which have been tested 
microbiologically and chemically and have been found to be appropriate for use with water 
systems.

Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations 2000

Provides water suppliers with statutory limits on water quality with information on sampling, 
testing and monitoring frequency.

Private Water Supplies Regulations 2011

Provides private water suppliers with statutory limits on water quality with information on 
sampling, testing and monitoring frequency.

HSE Approved Code of Practice ACOP L8 (2013)  

The Health & Safety Executives Approved Code of Practice ACOP L8 – “Legionnaires’ 
disease: The control of legionella bacteria in water systems” provides guidelines for those with 
responsibility for the control of legionella in water systems. This includes dutyholders, 
employers, those in control of premises including landlords and those with health and safety 
responsibilities for others. 

HSG 274 (Part 1, 2 & 3)

This guidance is for dutyholders, which includes employers, those in control of premises and 
those with health and safety responsibilities for others, to help them comply with their legal 
duties. These include identifying and assessing sources of risk, preparing a scheme to prevent 
or control risk, implementing, managing and monitoring precautions, keeping records of 
precautions and appointing a manager responsible for others.

The guidance gives practical advice on the legal requirements of the Health and Safety at 
Work etc Act 1974, the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 
concerning the risk from exposure to legionella and guidance on compliance with the relevant 
parts of the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999.

The guidance is in three parts:

HSG 274 (Part 1) ~ Provides technical guidance on ‘The control of legionella bacteria in 
evaporative cooling systems’
HSG 274 (Part 2) ~ Provides technical guidance on ‘The control of legionella bacteria in hot & 
cold water systems’
HSG 274 (Part 3) ~ Provides technical guidance on ‘The control of legionella bacteria in other 
risk systems’

Page 262



BS 8558:2015 – Water use in domestic buildings

The British Standard provides complementary guidance to BS EN 806 (Specification for 
installations inside buildings conveying water for human consumption. Operation and 
maintenance) and offers detailed guidance on the design, installation, testing, operation and 
maintenance of services supplying water for domestic use within buildings and their curtilages
.

BS 7592:2008 – Sampling for Legionella bacteria in water systems

BS 7592 gives recommendations and guidance on the sampling of water and related 
materials. It involves testing for the presence of legionella. It applies to sampling artificial water 
systems and gives methods for sampling of biofilms and sediments that might be present in 
water systems. 

BS8580:2019 Water Quality – risk assessment for Legionella control – Code of Practice 

Provides recommendations for risk assessment for legionella control in artificial water 
systems, covering the preparations, desktop appraisal, site visit/survey, reporting and review.

CIBSE TM13 – 2013 Minimising the Risk of Legionnaires Disease

These Technical Memoranda set out to give guidance on the appropriate design, installation, 
commissioning, operation and maintenance procedures necessary to minimise the risk of 
infection by Legionella from water systems within a building.

The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Under The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 companies and 
organisations can be found guilty of corporate manslaughter as a result of serious 
management failures resulting in a gross breach of a duty of care.

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

DSO Building Management

Lift Maintenance Policy 
& Management Plan

June 2019

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management
Author
Consultation Housing Management, Responsive Repairs, Asset Management, 

Regulatory Services, Housing Development, Property Services

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 265



Index

Lift Maintenance Policy

1.    Introduction                                                                                                                        

2.    Aims and Objectives

   3.    Legal and Regulatory Framework                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

4. Key Roles and Responsibilities

5.    Policy Review

Management Plan
                                                                                                           

6.    Introduction    

7.    Safe Systems of Work                                                              

8.    Servicing & Preventative Maintenance Programme                                                                                                         

9.    Thorough Examinations                                                                                                       

10.  Supplementary Lift Testing

11.  Passenger Lifts - Additional Checks

12.  Emergency Release of Passengers from Immobilised Lifts

13.  Lift Refurbishment & Replacements

14.  New Build Developments & Other Lifting Equipment 

15.  Record Keeping

16.  Performance & Monitoring

17.  Training & Competencies
                                                                                             

Abbreviations

ACOP Approved Codes of Practice
BS EN British & European Standard
DSO Direct Services Organisation
HSAWA Health & Safety At Work Act 1974
HSE Health & Safety Executive
INDG Health & Safety Executive Industry Guidance
LOLER Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998
OJEU Official Journal of the European Union
PUWER Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998
SAFed The Safety Assessment Federation

Page 266



Lift Maintenance Policy

1. Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a duty of care under the Health & Safety at 
Work Act to its tenants, employees, contractors and visitors from harm when using lift 
equipment within Council buildings. 

1.2 The Council also has specific responsibilities under the Lifting Operations and Lifting 
Equipment Regulations (LOLER) and Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 
(PUWER) to ensure that all passenger lifts, stair lifts and other lifting equipment are; 
properly installed, serviced, maintained, thoroughly inspected and tested at the 
appropriate intervals, and that adequate records are kept and retained.

1.3 This Policy and Management Plan will specifically cover the DSO Building Management 
responsibilities for the inspection, servicing and maintenance of passenger lifts, stair lifts 
and through floor lifts across Gravesham Borough Council’s housing stock.

2. Aims and Objectives

2.1 The aim is to ensure that every Gravesham Borough Council building has safely 
operating lift systems for which it has a responsibility. 

In meeting this aim DSO Building Management will:

o Ensure all powered lifts and associated equipment will be designed, installed, 
operated, maintained and serviced to protect all personnel from injury or any other 
damage arising from its use, as far as is reasonably practicable.

o Ensure suitable and sufficient risk assessments and safe systems for work are made 
available and that contractors are competent to undertake tasks involving lift 
maintenance. 

o Ensure an efficient servicing and inspection scheduling regime of lift equipment is in 
place.

o Ensure repairs, remedial and refurbishment works are carried out within agreed 
timescales so that buildings remain safe and electrical installations are maintained to 
a required standard.

o Ensure the Lift Maintenance Contractor responds to any cases of entrapment within 
one hour.

o Ensure the Council complies with relevant statutory legislation and good practice.

o Ensure adequate records and quality monitoring systems are implemented.

o Ensure all residents are given sufficient notice of planned duration for works by letter 
drop to each property and displaying information in communal locations.

Page 267



o Provide value for money through Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) 
procurement rules for Lift maintenance contracts.

3. Legal and Regulatory Framework                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

3.1 This policy is subject to, but not restricted to the following specific regulations, HSE’s 
Approved Codes of Practice (ACOPS) and industry guidelines:

o Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)
o Management of Health and Safety at Work  Regulations 1999
o The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER)
o The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)
o Lifts Regulations 2016
o The Safety Assessment Federation (SAFed) Guidelines
o HSE Guidance Note PM26 (safety at lift landings)
o HSE INDG339 – Thorough Examination and Testing of Lifts
o HSE INDG422 – Thorough Examination of Lifting Equipment
o HSE INDG290 – Lifting Equipment at Work
o Defective Premises Act 1972
o The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Further details of the above legislation and guidance requirements can be found in 
Appendix 1.

4. Key Roles and Responsibilities

4.1 The Chief Executive with assistance from Directors, Assistant Directors and Service 
Managers are collectively responsible for ensuring the implementation and management 
for the inspection, servicing and maintenance of passenger lifts, stair lifts and through 
floor lifts across Gravesham Borough Council’s housing stock

4.2 The Chief Executive 

The Chief Executive has the ultimate responsibility and accountability at board level and 
is considered to be the ‘Duty Holder. The Duty Holder will ensure all lift operations are in 
compliance with the relevant statutory requirements.
The Chief Executive will appoint management personnel who are familiar with the 
contents of the LOLER and PUWER regulations, insofar as it is relevant to their roles 
and responsibilities.

4.3 The Assistant Director (Operations)

The Assistant Director is responsible for service strategy and quality of services provided 
by DSO Building Management. The Assistant Director also has overall budget 
responsibility for all lift servicing and to ensure adequate resources are made available to 
both develop and implement the maintenance programmes.

Page 268



4.4 The Asset Manager

The Asset Manager is responsible for procurement, and selection of the Competent Lift 
Servicing and Maintenance Contractor to undertake works within Gravesham Borough 
Council’s Housing stock. The Asset Manager is also responsible for service delivery, 
staff training and ensuring that the Lift Maintenance Policy and Management Plan 
continue to be robust and effective.

4.5 The Compliance & Projects Manager

The Compliance & Projects Manager is responsible for putting in place and monitoring 
arrangements to ensure that the systems and procedures outlined in this Policy and 
Management Plan are carried out. The Manager will monitor the Lift Maintenance 
Contractor performance and ensure compliancy is achieved in all areas of the service.

4.6 Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) 

The Surveyor will undertake the duties of the day-to-day management of Passenger Lift 
servicing, maintenance and refurbishment programme. The Surveyor will review 
servicing and examination reports supplied by the Lift Maintenance Contractor and 
GBC’s insurers and action all remedial works to ensure lifts are safely maintained and 
kept in service.

4.7 Surveyor (Aids & Adaptations) 

The Surveyor will undertake the duties of the day-to-day management of Stair and 
Through Floor Lift repairs, servicing, maintenance and replacement programme. The 
Surveyor will review servicing and examination reports supplied by the Lift Maintenance 
Contractor and GBC’s insurers and action all remedial works to ensure lifts are safely 
maintained and kept in service.

4.8 Lift Maintenance Contractors

Gravesham Borough Council will employ suitably qualified contractors to act as the 
nominated competent persons. The Lift Maintenance Contractor must have sufficient 
technical and practical knowledge of the lift to be able to carry out repairs, servicing, 
inspections, maintenance and replacements.

The Contractor will comply with the requirements of the Lift Maintenance Policy and 
Management Plan at all times including safety, access arrangements, security and data 
protection. The Contractor will adhere to all relevant legislation, guidance, best practice 
and provide evidence of compliance on request.

5.       Policy Review

5.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continuing suitability, 
adequacy and effectiveness or as required by the introduction of new legislation or 
regulation that impacts on Gravesham Borough Council’s obligations.

Page 269



Management Plan

6. Introduction

6.1 This Management Plan describes how DSO Building Management procedure for lift 
inspection, testing and maintenance is carried out within appropriate timescales and 
maintained to a high standard to ensure the Council’s legal compliance.

6.2 Lifts will be immediately taken out of service if a serious or a significant defect is 
identified and only put back into service when the fault is rectified by the Lift Maintenance 
Contractor.

7. Safe Systems of Work

7.1 The Lift Maintenance Contractor with the assistance of the Competent Independent 
Assessor (currently Zurich Insurance), will carry out risk assessments for all lift 
equipment installations.

7.2 Risk Assessments will provide control measures to maintain compliance with applicable 
standards, considering the general condition of lift equipment, servicing arrangements, 
operational usage, planned interventions, control systems, disability discrimination issues 
and risks to vulnerable passengers.

Information gained from this exercise will be used in the preparation of an on-going plan 
for safety improvements, modernisation and servicing. 

7.3 Lift Maintenance Contractors will operate in accordance with agreed safe working 
procedures whilst carrying out maintenance, servicing, testing or repair work. 

Specific safe operating procedures will be required for work activities involving:

o The lift motor room
o The lift and lift shaft
o The lift pit
o Working on car tops
o Hand winding
o Access control

The Lift Maintenance Contractors will operate a Permit to Work system for their 
maintenance staff as part of their safe working procedures.

8. Servicing & Preventative Maintenance Programme

8.1 The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER) requires a 
regular servicing and preventative maintenance programme of all lift equipment by a 
competent Lift Maintenance Contractor instructed by DSO Building Management . 
Preventative maintenance involves replacing worn or damaged parts, topping up fluid 
levels and making routine adjustments.

Page 270



8.2 Passenger Lifts
The Lift Maintenance Contractor will carry our monthly servicing and maintenance to Lifts 
within GBC housing stock. The servicing regime is illustrated in Appendix 2 (Hydraulic 
Maintenance Procedure) and Appendix 3 (Traction Maintenance Procedure) which are all 
completed over a twelve month period.

8.3 Stair & Through Floor Lifts
The Lift Maintenance Contractor will carry out servicing to all stair lifts on an annual basis 
and through floor lifts six monthly. The servicing regime is illustrated in Appendix 4.

9. Thorough Examinations

9.1 The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER) requires a 
programme of regular thorough examinations of all lifting equipment to be carried out by 
a Competent Independent Assessor (Zurich Insurance) appointed by the Duty Holder. 

9.2 A thorough examination will include a systematic and detailed examination of the lift and 
its associated equipment by a competent person to the relevant guidance and standards. 
This may include some testing, if the competent person considers it to be necessary 
while taking into account where the equipment is used, frequency of use, age and 
condition.

9.3 Its aim is to detect any defects which are, or might become dangerous and for the 
competent person to report findings to the Surveyor (Compliance & Projects). The 
Surveyor will authorise and arrange for appropriate remedial action to be carried out by 
the Lift Maintenance Contractor.

9.4 Thorough examinations should not be confused with servicing or maintenance, but 
provides evidence that the maintenance regime is effective.

            A Thorough Examination for Passenger Lifts will include the following:

o Landing, car doors and their interlocks
o Worm and other gearing
o Main drive system components
o Governors
o Safety gear
o Suspension ropes
o Suspension chains
o Overload detection services
o Electrical devices (including earthing, earth bonding, safety devices, selection of 

fuses etc.)
o Braking systems (including buffers and overspeed devices) 
o Hydraulics

9.5 A Thorough Examination for Stair Lifts will include the following:

o Security of lift to stairway
o Drive travel/unit
o Gearing, shafts and bearings
o Brake or sustaining device
o Guides
o Carriage and rollers

Page 271



o Platform or seat including fittings
o Interlocks
o Safety gear or device
o Guards
o Electrical installation including wiring, systems, drives, controls and switches
o Alarm system
o Lubrication and fluid levels

9.6 A Thorough Examination for Through Floor Lifts will include the following:

o Structure
o Arms and rollers
o Pivot pins
o Hydraulic cylinders and pipework
o Guarding
o Safety devices
o Clearances between operating arms and base structure
o Electrical installation including wiring, systems, drives, controls and switches
o Lubrication and fluid levels

The lists are not exhaustive and other components may be examined in accordance with 
the Safety Assessment Federation’s (SAFed) Lift guidelines.

9.7 The law requires that all passenger lifts should be thoroughly examined:

o After substantial and significant changes have been made.

o At least every six months to ensure that health and safety conditions are maintained 
and that any deterioration can be detected and remedied in good time.

o Following ‘exceptional circumstances’ such as damage, failure of the lift, long periods 
out of use, or major change in operating conditions which is likely to affect the 
integrity of the equipment.

9.8 Stair and through floor lifts are installed in residential properties and are not classified by 
the HSE as a workplace, therefore The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment 
Regulations 1998 do not apply. 

However, DSO Building Management will apply these regulations in order to achieve 
best practice. These are currently undertaken by the Competent Independent Assessor 
(Zurich Insurance); six monthly for through floor lifts and annually for stair lifts.

10. Supplementary Lift Testing

10.1 The Safety Assessment Federation (SAFed) provide guidance for supplementary lift 
testing inspections which are not statutory but recognised as good practice by the HSE 
who recommend their use. These are carried out in addition to the thorough 
examinations mentioned above.

10.2 Guidelines require that certain components are examined over and above a visual 
examination, at periodic intervals determined by the Competent Independent Assessor 
(Zurich Insurance) undertaking the statutory thorough examination. These are commonly 
known as LG tests (Lift Guidance), which are carried out for both hydraulic and traction 
lifts.

Page 272



10.3 The frequency of the tests can vary from one to ten years depending on safety 
components or machinery used. However, the competent person may call for a 
supplementary lift test if they have a reason to do so, e.g. poor environmental 
conditions. 

10.4 The tests are undertaken by the Lift Maintenance Contractor, who will provide a sufficient 
record of the test and corrective action if necessary to the Surveyor (Compliance & 
Projects). The Surveyor will review findings, arrange and authorise for appropriate 
remedial action to be carried out by the Lift Maintenance Contractor.

11. Passenger Lifts - Additional Checks

11.1 In addition to regulatory requirements for passenger lifts and continuing best practice, 
there are certain checks which are carried out by Estate Management as part of their 
monthly building inspection. These include:

o A visual inspection of the lift car operating panel
o Checks to ensure all indicators are working correctly
o Ensuring that the alarm/communication system functions
o Checking that the lift doors open when the ‘door open’ button is selected.
o Check position indicators on the landing are working correctly.
o Check that all lighting is in working order
o Check all mechanical/electronic door protection devices (safety edge) such that:

 When the safety edge is operated the door re-opens
 After operation and removal of any obstruction the door closes

o Checking that the floor in the immediate vicinity of the landing door is in a clean and 
safe condition

o Check the landing doors and architraves ensuring there is nothing which can snag a 
passenger’s clothing

o Clean door bottom tracks
o A full ascent and descent of lift to assess for any unusual noise.

The list is not exhaustive and other items may be checked in accordance with each 
location.

12. Emergency Release of Passengers from Immobilised Lifts

12.1 It is preferable to leave emergency release operations to personnel with specialised 
knowledge of lifts, who will be able to determine the cause of immobilisation of the lift car.
Where managers wish to release passengers prior to waiting for the Lift Maintenance 
Contractor or Emergency Services to arrive, they must ensure that staff in the host 
building are properly trained, authorised and instructed to do so.

12.2 In the event of any member of staff or the public being trapped, the following procedure 
will apply:

o By activating the emergency alarm within the lift, the Lift Maintenance Contractor will 
be alerted to the incident and attend site within one hour.

Page 273



o Alternatively where a call is received directly by DSO Building Management 
Administration, arrangements will be made for the Lift Maintenance Contractor to 
attend.

o The Lift Maintenance Contractor will notify DSO Building Management Administration 
of the incident and provide details of lift failures, remedial works required and 
completion of test to bring the lift back into service.

o Should the lift defect be such that it would likely endanger users, the lift must be 
taken out of service until the defects are remedied.

o The Corporate Health and Safety Advisor will be notified in order for the incident to be 
recorded for further investigation as required.

13. Lift Refurbishment & Replacements

13.1 Passenger lifts, stair and through floor lifts will be refurbished on a programme based on 
records kept on GBC’s asset database and conditional reports provided by the Lift 
Maintenance Contractor. The reports will provide information on components including 
age, usage, parts availability and history of repair costs.

13.2 Stair and through floor lifts requiring replacement will be validated in liaison with the KCC 
Occupational Therapist to ensure the replacement lift is still relevant to the tenant’s 
needs, or where circumstances have changed which could affect the design of lift 
equipment that needs to be installed.

14.       New Build Developments & Other Lifting Equipment

14.1 Housing Development will engage with DSO Building Management at an early stage of 
new build projects to ensure that future maintenance requirements of all lifting equipment 
have been considered.

14.2 Housing Development will provide details of stair and through floor lift equipment 
specifications to the Surveyor (Aids & Adaptations) for each new lift installation and 
operating instructions are left for the tenant in every home. New properties will be added 
to the lift maintenance contract by DSO Building Management Administration.

15. Record Keeping

15.1 Regulation 11 of LOLER requires that copies of reports of thorough examinations must 
be kept available for inspection for at least 2 years.

The law will contain information as specified in Schedule 1 of LOLER, in summary:

o Identify the equipment examined (serial number, make etc.) the employer and the 
premises.

o Give the date of the last thorough examination and specify when the next one should 
take place.

Page 274



o Specify the safe working load of the lift.
o Give the reason for the thorough examination (i.e. following installation, according to 

an examination scheme, statutory interval, etc.)
o Identify any defect which is or may become a danger to people.
o Give the details of any repair, renewal or alteration required to remedy the defect and 

the date by which it should be undertaken.
o Give details of any tests carried out.
o Give details of the person carrying out the report and the person validating the report 

on their behalf.

15.2 The regulation states where possible reports will be stored safely at the premises (but it 
may be stored elsewhere due to space or security reasons) so that they are readily 
available to the relevant authority (Health & Safety Executive) should they request them. 
This information may be kept in both hard copy form or stored electronically. Where 
information is stored electronically it will be protected from unauthorised alteration and be 
possible to provide a written copy when necessary

15.3 DSO Building Management will store all service and ‘thorough examination’ reports 
electronically on their job scheduling software. Thorough examination reports can also be 
accessed via Zurich Insurance’s web portal.

16. Performance and Monitoring

16.1 Monthly contract meetings between DSO Building Management and the Lift Maintenance 
Contractor will form the basis for measuring performance and maintain a high standard of 
service. The Contractor will provide full details of recorded key performance indicators 
against targets for specified servicing, maintenance and refurbishment programmes, as 
stated in their contract.

16.2 The Contractor will provide an effective monitoring system of Health and Safety incidents 
and measures to address causes during all contractual activities.
GBC’s Compliance and CDM Officer will carry out random Health and Safety Inspections 
on a range of servicing, maintenance and refurbishment work activities. Health and 
Safety inspection reports will be provided to be reviewed at contract meetings.

16.3 Regular communication and meetings between DSO Building Management and 
stakeholders to resolve access issues for stair and through floor lift ‘thorough 
examinations’ which will improve LOLER compliancy and further reduce risk.

16.4 Tenants who are dissatisfied by the service provided are able to complain in accordance 
with our complaints procedure. A copy of Gravesham Borough Councils Complaints 
policy and procedure is available upon request or via the GBC website.

17. Competencies and Training

17.1 The term 'competent person' used in LOLER and PUWER legislation in the context of 
conducting a 'thorough examination' is not defined in law. However, Approved Codes of 
Practice broadly describe the attributes of a competent person for undertaking thorough 
examinations.

Page 275



The person carrying out a thorough examination has such appropriate practical and 
theoretical knowledge and experience of the equipment to be thoroughly examined as 
will enable them to detect defects and to assess their importance in relation to the safety 
and continued use of the equipment.

SAFed represents many organisations undertaking statutory thorough examinations and 
inspections, promoting high standards by competent people in undertaking this work.

17.2 Lift maintenance should only be undertaken by those who have received adequate 
information, instruction, training, continuous professional development, and assessment. 
The Lift Maintenance Contractor will provide training records of all employees working on 
GBC lifting equipment, which will be reviewed and updated at monthly meetings.

Page 276



Appendix 1 – Legislation/Guidance

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)

There are two sections of the Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974 particularly relevant to 
this policy:
o Section 2 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the 

health, safety and welfare at work of all his employees.”
       This is supported by specific reference to maintaining the workplace in a condition such that 

it is safe, and does not put employees at risk.

o Section 3 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to conduct his undertaking in such a way so as to 

ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that persons not in his employment, who may be 
affected thereby, are not thereby exposed to risks to their health or safety”

Gravesham Borough Council, in the context of this policy therefore, shall (so far as is reasonably 
practicable) ensure its housing stock and third parties or premises (its business activity) does not 
cause harm to its tenants.

Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999

In general terms, Gravesham Borough Council must:

o Assess the risk to Health and Safety of all employees and to anyone who may be affected 
as a result of work undertaken.

o Endeavour to provide comprehensive information, instruction, training and supervision with 
the aim of ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health and safety at work of 
every employee or person so affected.

o Assess the risk of all work activities.
o Record risk assessments on their database
o For any new work activity, risk assessments should be carried out by the appropriate party 

but in all cases the assessments are to be held jointly and reviewed annually for any 
changes in legislation.

o Have a competent person to advise in respect of these regulations such as a Health and 
Safety Advisor.

The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER)

These Regulations, often abbreviated to PUWER, place duties on people and companies who 
own, operate or have control over work equipment. PUWER also places responsibilities on 
businesses and organisations whose employees use work equipment, whether owned by them 
or not.

PUWER requires that equipment provided for use at work is:

o Suitable for the intended use

Page 277



o Safe for use, maintained in a safe condition and inspected to ensure it is correctly installed 
and does not subsequently deteriorate

o Used only by people who have received adequate information, instruction and training
o Accompanied by suitable health and safety measures, such as protective devices and 

controls. These will normally include emergency stop devices, adequate means of isolation 
from sources of energy, clearly visible markings and warning devices

o Used in accordance with specific requirements, for mobile work equipment and power 
presses

The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)

These Regulations place duties on people and companies who own, operate or have control 
over lifting equipment. This includes all businesses and organisations whose employees use 
lifting equipment, whether owned by them or not. 

LOLER requires that all equipment used for lifting is:
o Sufficiently strong, stable and suitable for the proposed use. Similarly, the load and anything 

attached must be suitable
o Positioned or installed to prevent the risk of injury, e.g. from the equipment or the load falling 

or striking people
o Visibly marked with any appropriate information to be taken into account for its safe use, e.g. 

safe working loads. 

Additionally regulations require that:
o Lifting operations are planned, supervised and carried out in a safe manner by people who 

are competent
o Where equipment is used for lifting people it is marked accordingly, and it should be safe for 

such a purpose, e.g. all necessary precautions have been taken to eliminate or reduce any 
risk

o Where appropriate, before lifting equipment is used for the first time, it is thoroughly 
examined. Lifting equipment may need to be thoroughly examined in use at periods specified 
in the Regulations (i.e. at least six-monthly for equipment used for lifting people and, at a 
minimum, annually for all other equipment).

o All examination work should be performed by a competent person (someone with the 
necessary skills, knowledge and experience)

o Following a thorough examination or inspection of any lifting equipment, a report is submitted 
by the competent person to the employer to take the appropriate action.

Lifts Regulations 2016

The Lifts Regulations impose specific obligations on lift installers to ensure that it has been 
designed, manufactured, installed and tested in accordance with the essential health and safety 
requirements. 

The Safety Assessment Federation (SAFed) Guidelines

SAFed represents the UK independent engineering inspection and certification industry, which 
plays a key role in maintaining high standards of safety within the workplace.

Page 278



The primary aim of these Guidelines is to assist users/owners of lifting equipment to understand 
and therefore to be able to comply fully with, the various provisions of LOLER. A secondary but 
no less important aim of the guidance is to advise engineer surveyors employed by Inspection 
Bodies how to implement LOLER.

HSE Industry Guidance

Health & Safety Executive (HSE) guidance provides advice to help you understand how to 
comply with the law; explanations of specific requirements in law; specific technical information 
or references to further sources of information to help you comply with your legal duties.
Following the guidance is not compulsory, unless specifically stated, and you are free to take 
other action. But if you do follow the guidance you will normally be doing enough to comply with 
the law. Health and safety inspectors seek to secure compliance with the law and may refer to 
this guidance.
The following guidance is specific to lifting operations and equipment:

o HSE Guidance Note PM26 (safety at lift landings)
o HSE INDG339 – Thorough Examination and Testing of Lifts
o HSE INDG422 – Thorough Examination of Lifting Equipment
o HSE INDG290 – Lifting Equipment at Work

Defective Premises Act 1972

Defective Premises Act 1972 ensures landlords prevent disrepair which could cause harm to 
tenants and others or their possessions.

The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Under The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 companies and 
organisations can be found guilty of corporate manslaughter as a result of serious management 
failures resulting in a gross breach of a duty of care.

Page 279



Appendix 2 
     Hydraulic Passenger Lift Maintenance Procedure

          The following components will be serviced over a twelve month period
From inside the Lift Car and at each landing

Check site for changes in work conditions
Car and landing call buttons acceptance lights position and direction indicators
Door margins
Ride quality & floor levels
Voice enunciator, REM, voice & or audible alarm
Door operation and reversal device and site guards
Flooring, ceiling, handrails and lighting
Emergency light
Pit for Cleanliness

In Pump Room
Control panel

Relay / brush condition / Operation & terminals 
Ventilation, filters and cooling fans
Event log

Hydraulic tank
Operation, oil level and leakage
Check MRO (manual lowering and hand-pump)
Check relevelling operation
Check manual lowering slack rope device function Annual Exam

Over speed devices
Bearings, Operation & lubrication of device & condition of rope.

From lift Car Top
Car gates / doors & operator

Top track, door hanging, kicking, lock rollers and air cords
Drives, belts, chains, cams skates and car gate contact Car 
door bottom track and shoes and door gaps

Car top
Electrical cables / layout, hoist way lighting
Guide shoes, oil pots and cab ties
Floor switches/tape head readers
Check guide rail condition and security of fixings
Check main suspension condition, terminations and lubrication Annual Exam
Safety gear operation, lubrication Annual Exam
Electrical safety devices check Annual Exam

Landing gate/doors
Top track, air cords, door hanging, kicking and lock rollers
Closing device, air cord, bottom track, door gaps and shoes Check 
all lock contacts and auxiliary contacts

Annual Exam
Annual Exam 
Annual Exam

Hydraulic ram
Guide shoes top / bottom and lubrication pots
Sheave bearing lubrication
Rope / chain tension and terminations Annual Exam
Ram Seals

From pit
Pit

Check and lubricate all sheaves and bearings
Check all electrical switches for operation Annual Exam
Oil overflow collection bottle
Check all hose and pipe work joints for leaks
Ram seal
Cleanliness
Check suspension terminations / safety gear testing device Annual Exam

Underside of car
Safety gear examination / lubrication and guide shoe check Annual Exam

Page 280



Appendix 3
     Traction Passenger Lift Maintenance Procedure

           The following components will be serviced over a twelve month period
From inside the Lift Car and at each / bottom landing

Check for changes in work conditions
Car and landing call buttons, acceptance lights, position and direction indicators
Door margins
Ride quality & floor levels
Voice enunciation, REM, voice & or audible alarm
Door operation and reversal device and site guards
Flooring, ceiling, handrails and lighting
Emergency light
Pit for Cleanliness
Rope Stretch

In Machine Room
Control panel / selector

Relay/ brush condition/ Operation & terminals
Ventilation, filters and cooling fans
Event log
Lubrication / chains / cams

Motor/generator/machine
Bearings/lubrication/cooling fan
Commutator, brushes/Terminations
Even rope height in sheave
Even rope tension equalising device

Brake
Traction/Lubrications/Linings Annual Exam

Over speed devices
Bearings, Operation, lubrication & condition of rope.

From lift Car Top
Car gates/doors & operator

Top track, door hanging, kicking, lock rollers and air cords
Drives, belts, chains, cams skates and car gate contact 
Car door bottom track, shoes and door gaps

Car top
Electrical cables/layout, hoist way lighting
Guide shoes, oil pots and cab ties
Check and lubricate all diverter sheaves (car top and shaft)
Check guide rail condition and security of fixings
Floor switches/tape head readers
Examine main suspension ropes / chains and terminations Annual Exam
Electrical safety devices check Annual Exam

Landing gate/doors
Top track, air cords, door hanging, kicking and lock rollers 
Closing device, air cord, bottom track, door gaps and shoes
Check all lock contacts and auxiliary contacts

Annual Exam 
Annual Exam
Annual Exam

Counterweight
Guide shoes top/ bottom and lubrication pots
Sheave bearing lubrication and tie rods or clamps
Suspension tension and terminations Annual Exam
Safety gear examination / lubrication Annual Exam

From pit
Pit

Inspect rope/belt stretch
Check and lubricate all sheaves and bearings
Tape sheave wipers/lubricant
Electrical safety devices check Annual Exam
Buffers oil levels
Cleanliness

Underside of car
Safety gear examination/Lubrication and guide shoe check Annual Exam

Page 281



Appendix 4
     Stair Lift Annual Maintenance Check List

Check Item Status Remarks
Drive fixings
Brake function
Drive wear
Lubricant
Active safety gear
Check / Adjust rollers
Carriage fixings
Seat fixing secure / Boss
Seat interlocks / Swivels
Safety edges
Rail fixings
Clean / Damage free
Check terminals / Battery volt
Check pickups
Alarm function
Check stopping
Over travel
Emergency Lowering Operative
Emergency Lowering Key/Mechanism on site
Seatbelt

Rep Name:

Rep Sign:                                                                                 Date:
 

Through Floor Lift Bi-Annual Maintenance Check List 

Check Item Status Remarks
Safety Edges
Brake functions
Lubrication
Safety Gear
Carriage fixing secure
Rollers (where applicable)
RAM
Emergency Lowering Operative
Emergency Lowering Key/Mechanism on site
Over travel
Alarm function / Auto Dialler
Door Locks
Door Contact
Check Oil Levels

Rep Name:

Rep Sign:                                                                                 Date:
 

Page 282



Gravesham Borough Council

DSO Building Management

Construction & Maintenance Safety 
Policy & Management Plan   
 
June 2019

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management
Author
Consultation Housing Management, Responsive Repairs, Asset Management, 

Regulatory Services, Property Services

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 283



Index

Construction & Maintenance Safety Policy

1.  Introduction                                                                                                                        

2.  Aims and Objectives

3.  Legal and Regulatory Framework                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

4.  Key Roles and Responsibilities

5.  Policy Review

Management Plan

6.   Introduction                                                                                                                         

7.   Construction Design & Management Requirements

8.   CDM Duty Holders 

9.   Pre-Construction Information

10.   Construction Phase Plan    

  11.   Risk Assessments & Method Statements                                                                                         

12.   Health & Safety File

13.   HSE Notification of a Project

14.   Site Safety Inspections & Reports

15.   Competencies & Training                                                                                                

16.   Performance & Monitoring                                                                                                

Abbreviations

ACOP Approved Codes of Practice
CDM Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 2015
CPP Construction Phase PLan
DSO Direct Services Organisation
HSAWA Health & Safety At Work Act 1974
HSE Health & Safety Executive
INDG Health & Safety Executive Industry Guidance
PCI Pre-Contract Information
PPE Personal Protection Equipment
PUWER Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998

Page 284



Construction & Maintenance Safety Policy

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) recognises its duty of care and is committed to 
creating a safe and healthy environment for all construction and maintenance activities 
within its housing stock. This will include thorough planning, co-ordination and project 
management from conception to completion.

1.2 This policy outlines how DSO Building Management will meet compliance with the general 
requirements of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA) and the more specific 
requirements of the Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM).

1.3 The policy also defines specific roles with designated responsibilities and sets clear 
frameworks with rules and guidelines for effective consistent decision-making and protect 
the workforce from acting in a manner that might endanger the safety of themselves and 
others. 

2. Aims and Objectives

2.1 The aims of this policy are to ensure that works to all Gravesham Borough Council housing 
stock is performed in a safe manner to prevent damage to property, or injury to any person.

In meeting this aim DSO Building Management will:

o Ensure GBC complies with the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 
2015 and to integrate health and safety into management of construction projects and 
maintenance programmes.

o Encourage liaison and communication between all stakeholders.

o Appoint competent people with designated roles and responsibilities to fulfil the 
requirements of the regulations.

o Ensure pre-construction information is made available to the relevant persons before 
commencement of all work activities.

o Ensure the general principles of prevention are applied during the design, planning and 
construction through to completion.

o Allow sufficient time and resources for construction and maintenance projects to enable 
them to be completed in a safe manner.

o Ensure a Construction Phase Plan and a Health and Safety File is prepared and 
provided for relevant work activities.

o Reduce hazards and associated risks on site during construction work through 
continued supervision, training and monitoring.

o Ensure suitable welfare facilities are provided throughout the duration of construction 
work.

Page 285



o Consult with all those engaged in works to promote and develop effective measures to 
ensure health, safety and welfare.

3. Legal and Regulatory Framework

3.1 This policy is subject to, but not restricted to the following specific regulations, Approved 
Codes of Practice (ACOPS) and industry guidelines:

o Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
o Management of Health and Safety at Work  Regulations 1999
o Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015
o L153 – Managing Health and Safety In Construction
o The Work at Height (Amendment) Regulations 2007
o Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012
o Electricity at Work Regulations 1989
o Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998
o Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992
o Personal Protective Equipment at Work Regulations 1992
o Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002
o Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013
o Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998
o The Control of Noise at Work Regulations 2005
o The Confined Spaces Regulations 1997
o The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

This is not an exhaustive list and all legislation relevant to the specific project will be 
followed. Further details of the above legislation and guidance requirements can be found 
in Appendix 1.

4. Key Roles and Responsibilities

4.1 The Chief Executive with assistance from Directors, Assistant Directors and Service 
Managers are collectively responsible for ensuring the implementation of this Policy and 
Management Plan for all construction and maintenance works across Gravesham Borough 
Council’s housing stock

4.2 The Chief Executive 

The Chief Executive has the ultimate responsibility and accountability at board level and 
will ensure all construction and maintenance works are compliant with the relevant 
statutory requirements. The Chief Executive will appoint management personnel who are 
familiar with the contents of Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015, 
insofar as it is relevant to their roles and responsibilities.

4.3 The Assistant Director (Operations)

The Assistant Director is responsible for service strategy and quality of services provided by 
DSO Building Management. The Assistant Director also has overall budget responsibility for 
all construction and maintenance works and to ensure adequate resources are made 
available to manage the health and safety requirements of CDM Regulations.

Page 286

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Provision_and_Use_of_Work_Equipment_Regulations_1998
https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Manual_Handling_Operations_Regulations_1992&action=edit&redlink=1
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Personal_Protective_Equipment_at_Work_Regulations_1992
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/COSHH
https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Reporting_of_Injuries,_Diseases_and_Dangerous_Occurrences_Regulations_2013&action=edit&redlink=1
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lifting_Operations_and_Lifting_Equipment_Regulations_1998
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The_Control_of_Noise_at_Work_regulations_2005


4.4 The Asset Manager & Technical Manager

The Asset Manager and Technical Manager are responsible for procurement, and 
selection of contractors that undertake works within Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing stock. They are also responsible for service delivery, staff training and ensuring 
that this Policy and Management Plan continue to be robust and effective.

4.5 The Compliance & Projects Manager

The Compliance & Projects Manager is responsible for putting in place and monitoring 
arrangements to ensure that the systems and procedures outlined in this Policy and 
Management Plan are carried out. The Manager will ensure compliancy is achieved to 
satisfy the requirements of CDM Regulations.

4.6 Compliance & CDM Officer

The Compliance & CDM Officer will carry out the functions of the Designer or Principal 
Designer for DSO Building Management. The Officer will liaise with all duty holders and 
stakeholders to ensure DSO Building Management construction and maintenance activities 
fulfil the requirements of the CDM Regulations.

4.7 Project Managers 

Project Managers will maintain regular dialogue between all appointed CDM duty holders, 
in particular the client, the principal designer, and principal contractor, to ensure they are 
adhering to the agreed pre-construction and construction phase plan. Project Managers will 
oversee the day-to-day activities of contractors undertaking construction and maintenance 
works and liaise with other relevant stakeholders to ensure health and safety requirements 
remain compliant.

4.8 Contractors

Gravesham Borough Council will employ suitably qualified contractors with the necessary 
skills, knowledge, training and experience relevant to the tasks allocated. They will plan, 
manage and monitor construction and maintenance works under their control so that it is 
carried out without risks to health and safety of individuals within their undertaking and co-
operate with all appointed CDM duty holders.

5.       Policy Review

5.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continuing suitability, 
adequacy and effectiveness or as required by the introduction of new legislation or 
regulation that impacts on Gravesham Borough Council’s obligations.

Page 287



Management Plan

6. Introduction

6.1 Construction Design Management Regulations 2015 have been established to improve 
health and safety across the construction industry and require work to be planned and 
managed so the risks involved are eliminated, or reduced so far as reasonably practicable.

6.2 This Management Plan describes how DSO Building Management effectively manages the 
requirements of CDM Regulations to protect the health of our tenants, employees, 
contractors and members of the public from the potential risks associated with construction 
and maintenance activities.

6.3 When deciding what is necessary to comply with the Regulations, the focus will always be 
on action necessary to reduce and manage risks. The planning and managing of health and 
safety must be proportionate to the risks and complexity associated with the project.

7.  Construction Design & Management Requirements

7.1 In order to comply with the regulations DSO Building Management will:

o Sensibly plan the work so the risks involved are managed from concept to completion.

o Have the right people for the right task at the right time

o Cooperate and coordinate work with all stakeholders.

o Have the right information available to ensure risks can be managed effectively.

o Communicate relevant information effectively to all involved.

o Consulting and engaging with workers about the risks and how they will be managed.

7.2 The requirements of CDM apply to all “construction work” as defined within the Regulations.

“Construction work” means the carrying out of any building, civil engineering or construction 
work.

This definition includes a very wide scope of activities. Examples range from minor repairs 
and maintenance activities to major construction and renovation projects including:

o The preparation for an intended structure, including site clearance.

o All decommissioning and demolition of structures including the removal of any product 
or waste resulting from such projects.

o The installation, maintenance, repair or removal of any services such as electrical, gas, 
compressed air, hydraulic, telecommunications, computer or similar installations.

In all cases, Clients should assume activities are in scope unless the project in question is 
not covered by the comprehensive list of activities contained within the regulations.

Page 288



7.3 Larger projects may be notifiable to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and have more 
extensive requirements under the regulations (see section 13). Projects that fall into this 
category may include:

o Major refurbishments
o Roof replacements
o Upgrade of electrical installations
o Window and door replacements
o Cyclical maintenance and decorations

7.4 Smaller construction and maintenance activities such as Void Maintenance, Responsive 
Repairs and Servicing Programmes still have requirements under the CDM Regulations.  
All construction work requires planning, but the plan for smaller tasks should be simple, 
short and proportionate to the risks.

7.5 The CDM Regulations place legal obligations on specific “Duty Holders” when undertaking 
construction projects and conducting maintenance activities. The HSE Guidance document 
(L153) for CDM 2015 provides further information for those who have legal duties in respect 
of construction projects.

8. CDM Duty Holders

8.1 Each duty holder has specific duties and responsibilities for the project and will have the 
necessary skills, knowledge and experience to carry out the work in a way that ensures 
health and safety is maintained.

8.2 DSO Building Management will appoint competent individuals as duty holders relevant to 
each project. CDM identifies and outlines responsibilities for five specific duty holders: the 
Client, Principal Designer, Designer, Principal Contractor and Contractor. Where the project 
involves more than one contractor, the Principal Designer and Principal Contractor will be 
appointed. 

CDM Duty Holder Relationship

8.3 Duty holders will follow the ‘general principles of prevention’ in their approach to identify 
measurers to take, to control the risks to health and safety in a particular project. These 
principles are a requirement of the Management Regulations and apply to all industries, 
including construction. They provide a framework to identify and implement measures to 
control risks on a construction project.

Page 289



The general principles of prevention are to:

o Avoid risks
o Evaluate the risks which cannot be avoided 
o Combat the risks at source 
o Adapt the work to the individual, especially regarding the design of workplaces, the 

choice of work equipment and the choice of working and production methods, with a 
view, in particular, to alleviating monotonous work, work at a predetermined work rate 
and to reducing their effect on health 

o Adapt to technical progress 
o Replace the dangerous by the non-dangerous or the less dangerous;
o Develop a coherent overall prevention policy which covers technology, organisation of 

work, working conditions, social relationships and the influence of factors relating to the 
working environment 

o Give collective protective measures priority over individual protective measures; and 
o Give appropriate instructions to employees. 

8.4 Client

The Client is an organisation or individual for whom a construction project is undertaken. 
For construction and maintenance activities DSO Building Management’s Project Managers 
will complete the duties of the Client for Gravesham Borough Council.

The Client will:

o Assemble a project team and appoint duty holders at the right time.

o Ensure sufficient time and resources are allocated to the project.

o Prepare and provide relevant pre-construction information to other duty holders 
appointed or those being considered for appointment to the project.

o Prepare a ‘Clients brief’ which sets out the main function and operational requirements 
of the finished project, safety risks, timeframe and budget.

o Ensure the HSE are notified of the works (F10) where the construction project is 
deemed notifiable as per the regulations (for DSO Building Management projects this 
function will be completed by the Compliance and CDM Officer).

o Ensure the roles, functions and responsibilities of the project team are clear.

o Ensure that workers are provided with suitable welfare facilities for the duration of the 
construction work.

8.5 Principal Designer

The role of the Principal Designer can be carried out by an organisation or an individual 
with sufficient knowledge, experience and ability to carry out the role. They will be 
appointed by DSO Building Management (Client) when more than one contractor is 
involved. 
Principal Designer functions for DSO Building Management will be carried out by the 
Compliance & CDM Officer.

Page 290



The duties of the Principal Designer include:

o Liaising with the Client and Principal Contractor, influencing how the risks to health and 
safety should be managed and incorporated into the wider management of the project.

o Planning, managing, monitor and coordinate the pre-construction phase.

o Take account of the general principles of prevention.

o Ensuring that everyone involved on the pre-construction phase cooperates, establishes 
effective communication and information is shared within the project team. This will 
involve meeting with others in the design team, attending progress meetings with the 
Client and the Principal Contractor.

o Ensuring Designers comply with their duties. Appropriate checks should be made to 
ensure designers are dealing with risks appropriately. This can be done as part of the 
design process and through regular progress meetings.

o Liaising with the Principal Contractor for the duration of their appointment. During the 
pre-construction phase this must cover sharing information that may affect the planning, 
management, monitoring and coordination of the construction phase – in particular, the 
information needed by the Principal Contractor to prepare the construction phase plan.

o Ensure the Principal Contractor has all the relevant information if the Principal 
Designer’s appointment finishes before the end of the project. This will include 
highlighting risks which have not been eliminated in the design stage and understands 
the implications of failing to reduce or control them.

o Preparing the project file, reviewing and updating as the work progresses. At the end of 
the project the completed file will be passed to the Client. If the Principal Designer’s 
appointment finishes before the end of the project, the file will be passed to the 
Principal Contractor who will take responsibility for its management, passing it to the 
Client at the end of the project.

8.6 Designer

The Designer is appointed by DSO Building Management (Client) where the project has 
only one contractor for construction or maintenance work. Designer functions for DSO 
Building Management will be carried out by the Compliance & CDM Officer.

Designer duties include:

o Ensuring work does not start until they are satisfied the Client is aware of their duties 
under CDM Regulations.

o Having sufficient knowledge of Client duties to give advice about the project. The level 
of advice will depend on the knowledge and experience of the Client and the 
complexities of the project.

Page 291



o When preparing or modifying designs, take account of the general principles of 
prevention, and pre-construction information provided, with the aim of eliminating 
foreseeable risks as far as reasonably practicable.

o Liaising with other designers, including the Principal Designer, so that work can be 
coordinated to establish how different aspects of designs interact and influence health 
and safety.

o Cooperating with Contractors and Principal Contractors so that their knowledge and 
experience of building design is taken into account.

8.7 Principal Contractor

Where more than one contractor will be involved, the Client will appoint a Principal 
Contractor and Principal Designer. The Principal Contractor must possess the skills, 
knowledge and experience to carry out their role effectively, given the scale and complexity 
of the project and the nature of the health and safety risks involved.

Principal Contractor duties include:

o Planning, managing, monitoring and coordinating the construction phase. The Principal 
Contractor must take account of the general principles of prevention.

o Working closely with the Client for the life of the project, and the Principal Designer for 
the remainder of the appointment.

o Ensuring anyone they appoint has the skills, knowledge, and experience to carry out 
the work in a way that secures health and safety.

o Where projects involve more than one contractor, the Principal Contractor is 
responsible for drawing up the Construction Health and Safety Plan or for making 
arrangements for it to be drawn up.

o Ensuring that contractors under their control cooperate with each other so that risks are 
managed effectively. This includes ensuring contractors who start work at different 
stages of the construction phase cooperate with each and exchange information. 
Regular planning meetings between the Principal Contractor and Contractors are an 
effective way of ensuring this.

o Ensuring every site worker is given a suitable site induction. The induction should be 
site specific and highlight any particular risks.

o Ensuring reasonable steps are taken to prevent unauthorised access onto the 
construction site. They should liaise with the contractors on site to physically define the 
site boundaries by using suitable barriers which take account of the nature of the site 
and its surrounding environment.

o Ensuring that suitable and sufficient welfare facilities are provided and maintained 
throughout the construction phase. This will depend on the size and nature of the 
workforce involved in the project. Facilities must be made available before any 
construction work starts and should be maintained until the end of the project.

Page 292



o Liaising with the Principal Designer throughout the construction phase on matters such 
as changes to design and implications these may have for managing the health and 
safety risks.

o The Principal Contractor must consult and engage with workers.

8.8 Contractor

The Contractor is appointed by DSO Building Management (Client) and will liaise with the 
Designer in order to ensure that all reasonably foreseeable risks have been reduced to their 
lowest practicable level.

The Contractor will take responsibility for the site and create a Construction Phase Health 
and Safety Plan. For smaller construction and maintenance activities this may be as simple 
as a generic set of Risk Assessments and Method Statements (RAMS). For larger activities 
they may be required to produce a Health and Safety File, which will be passed to the 
Client at the end of the project.

Contractor duties include:

o Planning, managing and monitor construction work carried out either by the contractor 
or by workers under their control, to ensure that so far as is reasonably practicable, it is 
carried out without risks to health and safety.

o Not appointing a person to work on a construction site unless that person has, or is in 
the process of obtaining, the necessary skills, knowledge, training and experience to 
carry out the tasks allocated.

o Providing each worker under their control with appropriate supervision, instruction and 
information so that construction work can be carried out, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, without risks to health and safety.

o Not commencing work on a construction site unless reasonable steps have been taken 
to prevent access by unauthorised persons to that site.

o Compliance with any directions given by the Principal Designer or the Principal 
Contractor.

o Developing a Construction Phase Plan, or make arrangements for the construction 
phase plan to be drawn up, as soon as is practicable prior to setting up a construction 
site.

o Monitoring work to ensure that the health and safety precautions are appropriate, 
remain in place and are followed in practice.

o Projects involving more than one contractor will cooperate with other duty holders and 
provide the Principal Contractor with any relevant information that stems from their own 
monitoring. The Principal Contractor can then monitor the management of health and 
safety for the whole project.

Page 293



o Projects involving more than one contractor, they will comply with any directions to 
secure health and safety given to them by the Principal designer or Principal 
Contractor. They are also required to comply with the parts of the construction phase 
plan that are relevant to their work, including site rules.

o Managing workers under their control to ensure that appropriate supervision, 
information and instruction is provided to carry out their work without risk to health and 
safety

o Suitable site inductions where this has not been provided by the Principal Contractor.

o A procedure in the event of serious and imminent danger to health and safety. These 
should clearly state that any worker exposed to such danger should stop work 
immediately, report it to the contractor and go to a place of safety. 

The procedures should:

 Include details of the person to whom such instances should be reported and 
who has the authority to take whatever prompt action is needed.

 Take account of the relevant requirements which set out provisions relating to 
emergency procedures, emergency routes, exits, fire detection and fire-fighting.

o Providing information regarding hazards relevant to their work, the risks associated with 
those hazards and the control measures put in place.

o Projects involving more than one contractor, it must be agreed with the Principal 
Contractor who is to provide welfare facilities.

9. Pre-Construction Information 

9.1 The Project Manager (Client) has the main duty for providing pre-construction information. 
This must be provided as soon as practicable to the Compliance & CDM Officer 
(Designer/Principal Designer) and Contractor/Principal Contractor who is bidding for work 
on the project or has already been appointed.

9.2 The Pre-Construction Information (PCI) is used when planning, managing, monitoring and 
co-ordinating the work for the project. PCI provides the basis for preparation of the 
Construction Phase Plan (CPP) and some information may also be relevant for the 
preparation of the Health and Safety File.

9.3 Pre-Construction Information about the project may already be in the Client’s possession or 
reasonably obtainable on behalf of the Client. When Pre-Construction Information is 
complete, it must include relevant and proportionate information with appropriate level of 
detail regarding:

o The project, such as the client brief and key dates of the construction phase

o The planning and management of the project such as the resources and time being 
allocated to each stage of the project and arrangements to ensure there is cooperation 
between duty holders and work is coordinated.

Page 294



o The health and safety hazards of the site, including design and construction hazards 
and how they will be addressed.

o Any relevant information in an existing Health and Safety File.

Examples of PCI include: site plans, asbestos surveys, structural drawings and utility 
information.

10. Construction Phase Plan

10.1 The Construction Phase Plan (CPP) is produced by the Principal Contractor or Contractor 
and must set out the arrangements for securing Health and Safety for the construction 
phase. For projects involving more than one contractor, the Principal Contractor must 
ensure the CPP is drawn up and for or single contractor projects this is the responsibility of 
the Contractor. In either case this must be completed during the Pre-Construction Phase 
prior to site set up.

10.2 The CPP must take into account the information held by the Principal Designer including 
the PCI and information obtained from Designers. During the construction phase the 
Principal Contractor will ensure that the plan is appropriately reviewed, updated, revised 
and remains effective.

The CPP should include the following information relevant to the project:

o A description of the project such as key dates and details of members of the project 
team.

o The health and safety aims of the project
o Site rules
o Arrangements to ensure cooperation between project team members and 

coordination of their work, e.g. regular site meetings.
o Arrangements for involving workers
o Site induction
o Welfare facilities
o Fire and emergency procedures.
o Relevant risk assessments and method statements (RAMS)

10.3 The Project Manager (Client) will ensure that a Construction Phase Plan for the project is 
prepared and in place before the construction phase begins. 

10.4 Some projects will be notifiable to the HSE and in all cases the regulations will be apply. 

11. Risk Assessments & Method Statements

11.1 For all major projects, risk assessments and method statements (RAMS) will need to be 
provided prior to commencement of project for approval. The Compliance & CDM Officer 
will evaluate the content of these documents to ensure that they are relevant to the 
operation/site/location and adequate controls are in place for all known hazards associated 
with the work. A copy of relevant documentation will be held on site for referral to ensure 
that the safe systems of work laid down by the contractors are being followed.

11.2 The Principal Contractor will undertake the risk assessment to determine hazards, which 
are generic to the site, including those required under the Management of Health and 
Safety at Work Regulations 1999, and any other specific assessments required under 

Page 295



statutory regulations. All contractors are required to carry out site-specific risk assessments 
for significant hazards that fall within their sphere of activity and control. These risk 
assessments will be approved by the Principal Contractor’s Safety Advisor for vetting prior 
to work starting on site.

11.3 Hazards that are identified from the above assessments that cannot be eliminated at 
source will be presented in the form of site-specific method statements defining the 
appropriate control measures. These method statements will also be approved by the 
Principal Contractor’s Safety Advisor prior to work starting on site.
The Principal Contractor will ensure that the work is carried out in compliance with the 
method statements provide. All documentation will be held in the site office and updated as 
required.

11.4 For smaller maintenance and servicing activities, risk assessments and method statements 
for any work carried out by DSO operatives will be produced by the DSO Building 
Management team in full consultation with the operatives involved. Where appropriate to 
the tasks a full briefing will take place prior to commencement of the task to confirm that 
operatives understand their responsibilities for carrying out the works as detailed within 
each document.

12. Health & Safety File

12.1 The regulations require the Health and Safety File is appropriate to the characteristics of 
the project and contain relevant health and safety information. Although the file is only 
required for projects involving more than one contractor DSO Building Management 
considers them to be of value for all projects and seeks to hold a sufficient Health and 
Safety File for each project under its control.

12.2 The Health and Safety File will contain information about control measures necessary to 
provide safe working conditions necessary to ensure health and safety during any 
subsequent work, such as maintenance, cleaning, refurbishment or demolition. 

12.3 DSO Building Management will ensure an electronic record of the Health and Safety File is 
created and maintained throughout the project and:

o When planning the pre-construction phase of a project, relevant information may be 
obtained from previous Health and Safety Files. 

o The Compliance & CDM Officer in the role of Principal Designer will prepare a new 
electronic file (or revises an existing one) and provides a hard copy to the DSO Project 
Manager on behalf of the Client.

o The Compliance & CDM Officer will review and revise the file on a regular basis and will 
retain the electronic version at the end of the project. In order to comply with data 
protection all hard copies of the Health and Safety File will be destroyed.

o The file is handed to the Principal Contractor if the Principal Designer’s appointment 
finishes before the end of the project.

o The file will be available for anyone who needs to comply with relevant legal 
requirements and where necessary passes the file to whoever takes over the building 
and Client duties.

Page 296



12.4 When preparing the health and safety file, information on the following will be considered 
for inclusion:

o A brief description of the work carried out. 

o Any hazards that have been eliminated through the design and construction processes, 
and how they have been addressed (e.g. surveys or other information concerning 
asbestos or contaminated land).

o Key structural principles (e.g. bracing, sources of substantial stored energy – including 
pre-or post-tensioned members) and safe working loads for floors and roofs.

o Hazardous materials used (e.g. lead paints and special coatings).

o Information regarding the removal or dismantling of installed plant and equipment (e.g. 
any special arrangements for lifting such equipment).

o Health and safety information about equipment provided for cleaning or maintaining the 
structure.

o The nature, location and markings of significant services, including underground cables, 
gas supply equipment, fire-fighting services etc.

o Information including drawings of the building, its plant and equipment (e.g. the means 
of safe access to and from service voids and fire doors).

These should provide enough detail to allow the likely risks to be identified and addressed 
by those carrying out the work. However, the level of detail will be kept proportionate to the 
risks. 

13. HSE Notification of a Project

13.1 The Health and Safety Executive will be formally notified, in advance, when certain types of 
project (essentially larger more complex ones) are to be undertaken. This is completed via 
an electronic interactive form known as an F10. Notifications on behalf of DSO Building 
Management are will be completed by the Compliance and CDM Officer.

13.2 If at first the construction project is not notifiable, but subsequent changes to its scope 
make it notifiable, the Compliance and CDM Officer will inform the HSE as soon as 
possible.

13.3 The Project Manager must ensure that an updated copy of the notification is displayed and 
made available in the site office to anyone visiting or working on site.

13.4 The criteria used to determine whether a project is notifiable are illustrated below.

Page 297



14. Site Safety Inspections & Reports

14.1 Each safety inspection will consist of a formal assessment of site safety and the 
identification of hazardous conditions or practices. It is designed to review the Principal 
Contractor’s management of Health and Safety on each project and ensure they are 
discharging their duties in accordance with CDM Regulations.

14.2 Planned Works (Major Projects)

The Compliance & CDM Officer will carry out Site Inspections and provide comprehensive 
reports on a monthly basis to the Project Manager and the Principal Contractor. 
The Inspection report will focus on elements of the project that are specific to CDM 
Regulations. Where applicable these include:

o Site security, signage, registration and housekeeping.
o A Construction Phase Health and Safety Plan
o The Health and Safety File
o Statutory notices including HSE law poster and F10
o Emergency arrangements ( Inc. fire safety plan & first aid provisions)
o Record of inductions, inspections, audits, incidents and accidents
o Evidence of training and competence
o RAMS (including permits to work)
o Hazardous substances (including asbestos)
o Traffic management (Inc. access and egress)
o Welfare facilities
o Maintenance records
o Personal Protection Equipment (PPE)
o Scaffolding & electrical safety 
o Waste management

The inspection report will recommend remedial actions, further control measures and 
deadlines to track progress and will be reviewed at contract meetings.

Page 298



14.3    Voids, Responsive Repairs & Servicing

All construction work under CDM Regulations requires planning, but the plan for smaller jobs 
should be simple, short and proportionate to the risks. The pre-construction information is just 
as important, for example; is asbestos present, any hidden live services, or are there any 
fragile materials?

14.4 The voids, responsive repairs and servicing programmes will be subject to periodic site   
inspections by the Compliance and CDM Officer with a subsequent follow up report. 

Unlike major projects not all of the elements of the CDM Regulations will apply, however to 
ensure best practice DSO Building Management  Project Managers will adopt a similar 
approach when establishing safe systems of work. The report will recommend remedial 
action, further control measures and deadlines to track progress.

15.      Competencies & Training 

15.1 The skills, knowledge, training and experience of the individual and organisation will be 
assessed prior to their appointment. Safety training for all staff will be in accordance with 
legislative requirements and site specific training needs.
Toolbox talks will be given as necessary to ensure the flow of information is maintained and 
all training must be recorded and made available on request.

16. Performance & Monitoring 

16.1 Health and Safety monitoring will be conducted by site management to ensure that safe 
systems of work are implemented at all times. Completed Health and Safety Reports will 
verify that systems and procedures are put in place and the Construction Management Plan 
is working effectively. Monitoring will also ensure that all relevant personnel are aware of 
their responsibilities and legal obligations as they undertake their specific site duties.

16.2    The implementation of this management plan will be monitored by periodic reviews of risk 
assessments, sample audits and safety inspections and feedback from project progress 
meetings. Active monitoring will be carried out by the Project Manager and the Compliance & 
CDM Officer to ensure all aspects of safety performance are maintained at an acceptable 
level and in compliance with the Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 2015.

Page 299



Appendix 1 – Legislation/Guidance

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)

There are two sections of the Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974 particularly relevant to 
this policy:

o Section 2 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the 

health, safety and welfare at work of all his employees.”
       This is supported by specific reference to maintaining the workplace in a condition such 

that it is safe, and does not put employees at risk.

o Section 3 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to conduct his undertaking in such a way so as to 

ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that persons not in his employment, who may 
be affected thereby, are not thereby exposed to risks to their health or safety”

Gravesham Borough Council, in the context of this policy therefore, shall (so far as is reasonably 
practicable) ensure its housing stock and third parties or premises (its business activity) does not 
cause harm to its tenants.

Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999

In general terms, Gravesham Borough Council must:

o Assess the risk to Health and Safety of all employees and to anyone who may be 
affected as a result of work undertaken.

o Endeavour to provide comprehensive information, instruction, training and supervision 
with the aim of ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health and safety at 
work of every employee or person so affected.

o Assess the risk of all work activities.
o Record risk assessments on their database
o For any new work activity, risk assessments should be carried out by the appropriate 

party but in all cases the assessments are to be held jointly and reviewed annually for 
any changes in legislation.

o Have a competent person to advise in respect of these regulations such as a Health 
and Safety Advisor.

Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015

The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015, also known as CDM 
Regulations or CDM 2015, are regulations governing the way construction projects of all sizes 
and types are planned. The regulations aim to improve the overall health, safety and welfare of 
those working in construction. It describes:

o the law that applies to the whole construction process on all construction projects, from 
concept to completion

o what each dutyholder must or should do to comply with the law to ensure projects are 
carried out in a way that secures health and safety

Page 300



L153 – Managing Health and Safety in Construction

L153 is a HSE publication provides guidance for duty holders on the CDM Regulations. It states 
that if you follow the advice given you will be doing enough to comply with the law as far as the 
regulations are concerned. 
If you are prosecuted for breach of health and safety law, and it is proved that you did not follow 
the relevant provisions of the guidance, you will need to show that you have complied with the 
law in some other way or a Court will find you at fault. 

The Work at Height (Amendment) Regulations 2007

The purpose of The Work at Height Regulations is to prevent death and injury caused by a fall 
from height. If you are an employer or you control work at height (for example facilities managers 
or building owners who may contract others to work at height) the Regulations apply to you.

Employers and those in control of any work at height activity must make sure work is properly 
planned, supervised and carried out by competent people. This includes using the right type of 
equipment for working at height. 

Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012

Regulation 4 of the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012, puts a duty on owners of premises 
who have repair responsibilities to effectively manage asbestos. It requires the duty holder to:

o take reasonable steps to find out if there are materials containing asbestos in non-
domestic premises, and if so, its amount, where it is and what condition it is in

o presume materials contain asbestos unless there is strong evidence that they do not
o make, and keep up-to-date, a record of the location and condition of the asbestos- 

containing materials - or materials which are presumed to contain asbestos
o assess the risk of anyone being exposed to fibres from the materials identified
o prepare a plan that sets out in detail how the risks from these materials will be managed
o take the necessary steps to put the plan into action
o periodically review and monitor the plan and the arrangements to act on it so that the 

plan remains relevant and up-to-date
o provide information on the location and condition of the materials to anyone who is liable 

to work on or disturb them

There is also a requirement on others to co-operate as far as is necessary to allow the 
dutyholder to comply with the above requirements.

Electricity at Work Regulations1989

This Electricity at Work Regulations places legal implications on employers (referred to in the 
guidance as ‘duty holders’ in respect of systems, electrical equipment and conductors to ensure 
the safety of all electrical devices in the workplace. The regulations also dictates that all portable 
equipment must be inspected regularly and tested to ensure that it is safe for use.

Page 301



Provisions and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998

The Provision and Use of Work Equipment (PUWER) places duties on people and companies, 
who own, operate or have control over work equipment. It also places responsibilities on 
businesses and organisations whose employees use work equipment, whether owned by them 
or not. The regulations deal with the work equipment and machinery used every day in 
workplaces and aims to keep people safe wherever equipment and machinery is used.

Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992

The Manual Handling Operations Regulations apply to manual handling activities involving the 
transporting or supporting of loads, including lifting, lowering, pushing, pulling, carrying or 
moving loads. A load may be either inanimate, for example a box or a trolley, or animate, for 
example a person or an animal.

Personal Protective Equipment at Work Regulations 1992

The Personal Protective Equipment Regulations outlines the employer’s duties concerning the 
provision and use of personal protective equipment (PPE) at work. 
PPE is equipment that will protect the user against health or safety risks at work. It can include 
items such as safety helmets, gloves, eye protection, high-visibility clothing, safety footwear and 
safety harnesses. It also includes respiratory protective equipment (RPE).
Making the workplace safe includes providing instructions, procedures, training and supervision 
to encourage people to work safely and responsibly. 
Even where engineering controls and safe systems of work have been applied, some hazards 
might remain. These include injuries to:

o the lungs, e.g. from breathing in contaminated air 
o the head and feet, e.g. from falling materials 
o the eyes, e.g. from flying particles or splashes of corrosive liquids 
o the skin, e.g. from contact with corrosive materials 
o the body, e.g. from extremes of heat or cold

PPE is needed in these cases to reduce the risk. 

Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002

The Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations stipulate requirements for 
employers to protect employees and other persons from the hazards of substances used at work 
by risk assessment, control of exposure, health surveillance and incident planning.

Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013

The Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR) puts 
duties on employers, the self-employed and people in control of work premises (the Responsible 
Person) to report certain serious workplace accidents, occupational diseases and specified 
dangerous occurrences (near misses).

Page 302



Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998

The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations (LOLER) place duties on people and 
companies that own operate or have control over lifting equipment. This includes all businesses 
and organisations whose employees use lifting equipment, whether owned by them or not. In 
most cases, lifting equipment is also work equipment so (PUWER) will also apply (including 
inspection and maintenance). All lifting operations involving lifting equipment must be properly 
planned by a competent person, appropriately supervised and carried out in a safe manner.

The Control of Noise at Work Regulations 2005

The Control of Noise at Work Regulations 2005 aims to ensure that workers' hearing is protected 
from excessive noise at their place of work, which could cause them to lose their hearing and/or 
to suffer from tinnitus (permanent ringing in the ears).

The level at which employers must provide hearing protection and hearing protection zones is 85 
decibels (daily or weekly average exposure) and the level at which employers must assess the 
risk to workers' health and provide them with information and training is 80 decibels. There is 
also an exposure limit value of 87 decibels, taking account of any reduction in exposure provided 
by hearing protection, above which workers must not be exposed. 

The Confined Spaces Regulations 1997

These Confined Space Regulations are concerned with any work that is conducted in a place 
which is substantially (but not always entirely) enclosed, where there is a reasonably 
foreseeable risk of serious injury from conditions and/or hazardous substances in the space or 
nearby.

The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Under The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 companies and 
organisations can be found guilty of corporate manslaughter as a result of serious management 
failures resulting in a gross breach of a duty of care.

Page 303

http://www.hse.gov.uk/work-equipment-machinery/inspection.htm
http://www.hse.gov.uk/work-equipment-machinery/maintenance.htm


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Gravesham Borough Council

DSO Building Management

Fire Safety Policy & Management Plan

July 2019

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management
Author

Consultation Housing Management, Responsive Repairs, Asset Management
Property Services, Regulatory Services

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 305



       Index

Fire Safety Policy

1. Introduction

2. Aims and Objectives

3. Legal and Regulatory Framework

4. Key Roles and Responsibilities

5. Resident Responsibilities

6. Policy Review

Management Plan

7. Introduction

8. Fire Risk Assessment

9. Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)

10. Fire Detection Systems

11. Fire Suppression Systems

12. Emergency Lighting  

13. Fire Doors  & Compartmentation

14. Fire Fighting Equipment                                         

15. Automatic Opening Vent Systems (AOVs)

16. Gas and Electrical Safety Checks
 
17. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

18. Performance and Monitoring

19. Competencies and Training

 Abbreviations
HSE Health & Safety Executive
ACOPS Approved Codes of Practice
RRFSO Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
HHSRS Housing Health & Safety Rating System
FRA Fire Risk Assessment
AOV Automated Opening Vent
BS EN British & European Standard
LGA Local Government Association
LACoRS Local Authorities Coordinators of Regulatory Services
KFRS Kent Fire & Rescue Services
HRRB High Risk Residential Building
MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)
UKAS United Kingdom Accreditation Service

Page 306



Fire Safety Policy

1.  Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a duty of care under the Health & Safety at Work Act 
to ensure as far as reasonably practicable the health, safety and welfare of all tenants, 
employees, contractors and visitors who occupy or access Council buildings. This is 
supported by maintaining and improving the buildings in a condition such that it is safe, and 
does not put persons at risk from fire.

1.2 Gravesham Borough Council acknowledges its responsibilities under the Regulatory Reform 
(Fire Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO) to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that 
measures are taken to prevent fires within all communal parts of its buildings. 

1.3 Under The Housing Act 2004 Section 9, GBC is expected to use The Housing Health & 
Safety Rating System (HHSRS) to assess the condition of their stock and to ensure their 
housing meets the Decent Home Standard. 
Although local authorities cannot take statutory enforcement action against themselves via 
the Act, the HHSRS also provides a risk-based evaluation tool to help local authorities identify 
and protect against health and safety hazards, potential risks from fire and any deficiencies 
identified within premises.

1.4 The policy defines specific roles with designated responsibilities and forms the basis for 
monitoring compliance and ensuring accountability at all levels throughout the Council.

1.5 This policy and management plan is likely to change and adapt with any governments’ 
decisions and recommendations in light of the Grenfell Tower tragedy and the Hackett 
Report.

2.0 Aims and Objectives

2.1 The aim is to ensure Gravesham Borough Council has a strategy that sets out fire safety 
standards that will be achieved thereby reducing the risks associated with fire.

In meeting this aim DSO Building Management will:

o Undertake suitable and sufficient fire risk assessments and review them at regular 
intervals as determined by the level of risk identified.

o Maintain fire prevention measures to eliminate or reduce the risk of fire and smoke 
spreading.

o Provide adequate means of escape and directional signage and ensure it is maintained.

o Ensure all properties have working fire detection and where fire doors are installed door 
closers are intact and in working order.

o Liaise with Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS) and Building Control to ensure 
compliance with the RRFSO.

o Communicate emergency arrangements and fire safety advice to residents.

Page 307

http://www.investorwords.com/15730/accountability.html
http://www.investorwords.com/10180/level.html


o Undertake stock condition surveys for GBC housing stock and take action to rectify 
identified fire hazards.

o Provide appropriate training for those with delegated roles and responsibilities.

o Maintain appropriate fire safety documentation including servicing and maintenance 
records. 

3.       Legal and Regulatory Framework

3.1 This policy is subject to, but not restricted to the following specific regulations, HSE’s 
Approved Codes of Practice (ACOPS) and industry guidelines:

3.2 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO)

In England and Wales, the RRFSO applies to the common parts of multi-occupied residential 
buildings and does not apply to domestic premises themselves. It places onus upon the 
employers or responsible persons to undertake an assessment of the risks associated with 
fire and ensure control measures are in place to eliminate hazards including flammable and 
explosive materials. Where this is not reasonably practicable, risks will be reduced to an 
acceptable level.

The Fire Authority is the enforcing agency for the RRFSO and failure to comply with the Order 
may give rise to enforcement and possible criminal action. Non-compliance may also lead to 
litigation against local authorities in the form of civil claims of negligence, adverse press and a 
detrimental effect on the organisation’s reputation. 

For GBC, the Fire Authority responsible for enforcing the RRFSO is the Kent Fire and Rescue 
Services (KFRS).

3.3 Housing Act 2004

Under section 9 of the Housing Act 2004, fire safety within domestic premises is assessed by 
the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). The HHSRS is a risk-based 
evaluation tool to help local authorities identify and protect against potential risks and hazards 
to health and safety from any deficiencies identified in dwellings. Twenty-nine categories of 
potential hazard are considered, one of which is fire.

Although local authorities cannot take statutory enforcement action against themselves, they 
are expected to use HHSRS to assess the condition of their stock and to ensure their housing 
meets the Decent Home Standard.

3.4 Details for the following legislation and guidance can be found in Appendix 1.

o Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)
o Management of Health and Safety at Work  Regulations 1999
o Dangerous Substances and Explosive Atmosphere Regulations (DSEAR)
o The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER)
o LGA’s Fire Safety in Purpose-Built Blocks of Flats
o LACoRS’ Guidance on Fire Safety Provisions
o Building Regulations Approved Document B
o Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 

Page 308



o Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994
o Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1998
o The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

4. Key Roles & Responsibilities

4.1 At Gravesham Borough Council the Chief Executive along with Directors, Assistant Directors 
and Service Managers are collectively responsible for ensuring compliance with this policy, 
meeting statutory requirements and delivering our fire safety commitments.

4.2 Responsible Person

Under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO) anyone who has control of 
premises or anyone who has a degree of control over certain areas or systems may be 
deemed a ‘responsible person’. In most circumstances the owner, employer or occupier of the 
premises is responsible for ensuring and maintaining correct fire safety and procedures. For 
GBC housing stock, a number of people across GBC and in particular Housing Management 
and DSO Building Management will have these responsibilities.

4.3 Chief Executive

The Chief Executive has the ultimate responsibility and accountability regarding fire safety at 
board level and is considered to be the ‘Duty Holder.’

4.4 Assistant Director (Operations)

The Assistant Director is responsible for service strategy and quality of services provided by 
DSO Building Management. The Assistant Director also has overall budget responsibility for 
fire safety management and ensures adequate resources are made available to both develop 
and implement the Fire Safety Management Plan.

4.5 Asset Manager

The Asset Manager is responsible for procurement, and selection of competent Service 
Providers to undertake fire safety management related works within GBC’s managed 
properties. The Asset Manager is also responsible for service delivery, staff training and 
ensuring that the Fire Safety Policy and Management Plan continue to be robust and effective.

4.6 Compliance & Projects Manager

The Compliance & Projects Manager is responsible for putting in place and monitoring 
arrangements to ensure that the systems and procedures outlined in this Management Plan 
are carried out. The Manager (Compliance & Projects) will monitor and action Service 
Provider performance and ensure fire safety compliance is achieved in all areas of the service.

4.7 Surveyor (Compliance & Projects)

The Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) has day to day operational responsibilities to ensure 
Service Providers conduct their work as per the terms and conditions of their contracts. 

5. Resident Responsibilities

5.1 The actions of residents may affect the fire safety of a building and all its occupants. 

Page 309



Housing Management will ensure that residents are fully aware of their responsibilities under 
the tenancy agreement or lease, and how they can access fire safety advice. They will brief all 
new tenants on fire safety measures specific to their new home at sign up and be advised to 
contact KFRS who offer a free home safety check.

5.2 Residents are responsible to:

o Comply with the terms of their tenancy agreement or leases in all matters that may have a 
bearing to fire safety.

o Ensure regular testing of smoke alarms within the property and report faults to the councils 
Responsive Repairs team.

o Obtain written permission from Housing Management before commencing any alterations 
and improvements to the property. This will be refused if the fire integrity of the property is 
likely to be adversely affected. 

o Provide reasonable access as per the tenancy agreement to allow GBC or their contactors 
to complete all safety checks and repairs.

o Refrain from storing refuse, mobility scooters, bicycles or other possessions in communal 
areas as it is not permitted due to the potential to obstruct means of egress.

o Ensure that no additional security to doors and windows is installed that may prevent or 
delay a means of escape.

o Refrain from propping open or damaging fire doors, and obstructing designated fire exits.

o Report faults or damage to flat entrance doors including self-closing devices, letter boxes 
and damaged smoke seals to the councils Responsive Repairs team.

o Refrain from interfering with fire detection equipment, emergency lighting, alarms and 
signage.

o Notify Housing Management where storage of oxygen cylinders is required for medical 
purposes. The Fire Services can evaluate this information when dealing with a fire related 
incident. Storage of other combustible gas canisters is not permitted.

o Report all repairs or defects in a timely fashion.

DSO Building Management and Housing Management will provide information publicising the 
importance of fire safety to residents via the GBC’s website, publications, tenant handbooks 
and Fire Safety leaflets.

6.       Policy Review

6.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continuing suitability, adequacy 
and effectiveness or as required by the introduction of new legislation, regulation and 
guidance that impacts on the fire safety management obligations of Gravesham Borough 
Council.

Page 310



Management Plan

7. Introduction

7.1 The Management Plan describes how DSO Building Management will effectively manage the 
requirements of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO) for communal 
areas.

7.2 It provides clear specific guidelines, processes and procedures for day to day operations and 
ensuring the safety of residents, employees, contractors and visitors from the risk of fire within 
Council buildings.

7.3 DSO Building Management will ensure the installation, inspection, testing and maintenance of 
fire detection and fire suppression systems, are carried out within appropriate timescales and 
maintained to ensure the Council’s legal compliance.

8. Fire Risk Assessments

8.1 A fire risk assessment is a process involving the systematic evaluation of the factors that 
determine the hazard from fire, the likelihood that there will be a fire and the consequences if 
one were to occur. It will include measures to reduce or eliminate the risk of fire, and identify 
persons at risk.

8.2 DSO Building Management will arrange for suitable and sufficient fire risk assessments to be 
carried out by a competent person (Fire Risk Assessor). Assessments will be provided for all 
communal areas and shared facilities within sheltered accommodation, and blocks. 

8.3 Tower blocks of 10 storeys or more are classified as multi-occupancy Higher Risk Residential 
Buildings (HRRBs), however for the purpose of this Management Plan, DSO Building 
Management’s classification is for all blocks five storeys or over.

8.4 The RRFSO is not prescriptive and does not define how often fire risk assessments should be 
reviewed. However, as a minimum DSO Building Management will review these at a 
frequency identified by the initial assessment and completed as outlined below.

Risk Level Property Type Review of existing FRA

Low Risk Low & Medium rise blocks – no more 
than four storeys above ground Every 3 years

Medium Risk Sheltered Housing Accommodation Annually

High Risk HRRBs and blocks of five storeys or 
higher Annually

A new fire risk assessment will be required in the event of the following:

o A fire, near-miss or threat of arson.
o Whenever there has been any structural or material change to the building or its use.

8.4 The risk assessment will be completed by competent persons as recommended by the Health 
and Safety Executive.

Page 311



The risk assessment will incorporate information on the following:

o General property information
o Fire hazards and ignition sources
o Means of escape in case of fire
o Emergency escape lighting
o Signs and notices
o Fire alarm and warning arrangements
o Fixed and portable fire extinguishing equipment
o Management of fire safety
o Access for fire-fighting and fire fighter safety
o Emergency evacuation plans 
o Photographs
o Action Plan

In addition, the risk assessment must also address the requirements of the Dangerous 
Substances and Explosive Atmospheres Regulations (DSEAR) with regard to the presence 
and storage of flammable and explosive substances.

8.5 On receipt of the risk assessment, the Administration Team will upload the document to 
GBC’s asset database. The Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) will evaluate hazards identified 
and:

o Refer remedial works to Responsive Repairs or Specialist Contractors, for action within 
appropriate timescales.

o Refer recommended actions to Housing Management 
o Record remedials/recommendations in an action plan with agreed timescales for 

completion. 
o On completion the actions plan will be updated and filed with the risk assessment as an 

auditable record. 
o All fire risk assessments will be kept under review to ensure all identified action points are 

dealt with. 

Where a particular hazard has been identified by the Fire Risk Assessor as a serious and 
immediate risk to life, it shall be reported immediately to the Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) 
who may seek further advice from KFRS and/or Building Control, and instruct remedial works 
be implemented without delay. Such defects must not be left until the risk assessment report 
is submitted.

9.   Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)

9.1 The HHSRS is linked to ongoing stock condition surveys which are managed by DSO Building 
Management. They assess 29 categories of housing hazards. Each has a weighting which will 
help determine whether the property is rated as having category 1 (serious) or category 2 
(less serious) hazard.

9.2 DSO Building Management engages a Consultant to carry out a programme of HHSRS 
assessments on all the properties that it manages as part of stock condition surveys. The 
Consultant will use the formal scoring system within HHSRS to demonstrate the seriousness 
of hazards that can cause harm.

9.3 The HHSRS determines the threat from fire and associated smoke within properties by 
evaluating possible factors of its cause such as:

Page 312



o Sources of ignition (cooking appliances/space heaters/electrical equipment).
o Solid fuel as main fuel leads to a higher likelihood of fire although with a lower fatality rate 

than from gas/electric space heaters.
o Electrical distribution equipment in poor condition.
o Nature of harm influenced by presence/absence of automatic fire detection/alarm systems.

9.4 The assessment will also evaluate preventive measures that could have an effect on 
likelihood and harm outcomes such as:

o Safe siting for cookers, away from flammable materials.
o Properly designed/installed/serviced/maintained space heating.
o Sufficient/appropriately sited electric socket outlets.
o Properly installed/maintained/regularly checked and tested distribution board and wiring.
o Residual Current Devices.
o Fire and smoke permeable resistant materials in design of the building where possible.
o Fire stops to cavities including ventilation and heating systems.
o Design and construction of the building to limit the spread of fire/smoke.
o Properly constructed/fitted internal doors with self-closers where appropriate.
o Furniture to comply with current regulations (the Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) 

Regulations 1988) in furnished accommodation.
o Detectors/smoke alarms properly designed/sited/maintained/regularly tested.
o Appropriately sited extinguishers and fire blankets (especially kitchens).
o Means of escape from all parts of dwelling/building, e.g. openable door/window/protected 

staircase (depending on height of building).

9.5 Any fire hazards identified as category 1 (serious) or which result in a failure of the 
assessment are referred to the Surveyor (Compliance & Projects) for immediate action. These 
hazards are determined according to their severity and likelihood of a fire starting.

9.6 Where appropriate, particular fire hazards identified will be notified to Housing Management 
and KFRS, including the presence of stored oxygen or Liquid Propane Gas appliances in a 
property. As a result, KFRS may arrange for its officers to conduct a familiarisation visit.

10. Fire Detection Systems                                              

10.1 Building Regulations recommend fire detection systems are provided in accordance with the 
relevant recommendations of BS 5839-6, all alarms should be interlinked to ensure audibility 
throughout the property and smoke alarms positioned in circulation areas should be of optical 
type (or multi-sensor type incorporating an optical sensor).

10.2 BS 5839: Pt.6 grades fire detection systems from Grade F up to Grade A. Generally speaking, 
the greater the fire risk and the more comprehensive the system needs to be.

10.3 Within the A - F grades, the standard identifies three different categories of protection (see 
figure 1):

o LD1 - A system installed throughout the dwelling, incorporating detectors in all circulation 
spaces that form part of the escape routes from the dwelling, and in all rooms and areas in 
which fire might start, other than toilets, bathrooms and shower rooms.

Page 313



o LD2 - A system incorporating detectors in all circulation spaces that form part of the 
escape routes from the premises, and in all rooms or areas that present a high risk of fire 
to occupants.

o LD3 - A system incorporating detectors in all circulation spaces that form part of the 
escape routes from the premises. This system is intended to protect escape routes for 
those not directly involved in the fire and may not save the life of anyone in the immediate 
vicinity of the fire.

Only by quoting Grade and Category can a meaningful and effective alarm system be 
specified, e.g. Grade D, Category LD2.

10.4 In England, the minimum requirement for fire detection to meet building regulations is as 
follows:

o All dwellings should be provided with an alarm system to at least Grade D2, Category LD3 
(see figure 1). The grade relates to system engineering and category relates to level of 
protection provided.

o Position optical or multi-sensor mains powered alarms with an integral backup power 
supply within the escape routes of the property (i.e. hallways and landings)

o Have at least one smoke alarm on every storey
o Install a heat alarm in any kitchen areas where the kitchen is not separated from the 

circulation space or stairway by a door.
o All alarms must be interlinked.

Figure 1: Level of Protection

         

LD1

LD2LD3

Page 314



10.5 General Accommodation (Non-Sheltered)

All council owned properties (excluding leasehold) will have at least Category LD3 mains 
operated linked fire detection (smoke alarm) system installed. Alarms will have a ten year life 
expectancy and maintained as follows:

o Annual Inspection and bleep test during the Gas Safety Check. The gas engineer records 
details of the smoke alarm on the Landlord’s Gas Safety Record (LGSR). If the smoke 
alarm has been removed, missing, faulty or expired, the Surveyor (Gas) is notified via the 
LGSR report within seven days of the inspection and a job order raised to Responsive 
Repairs to install a replacement as soon as possible.

o When the property is void, the smoke alarms will be inspected and tested. If the smoke 
alarm has been removed, missing, faulty or expired, it will be replaced during void works.

o The alarm will be also be replaced as part of the periodic five year electrical testing 
programme if it has been removed, missing, faulty or expired. 

Regular maintenance and replacement during these work activities not only ensures the 
resident is protected, but reduces call-out visits by Responsive Repairs to replace batteries. 

10.6 Supported and Sheltered Accommodation

Fire detection in Supported and Sheltered Accommodation is currently being upgraded to 
Category LD2 (see figure 1) which provides more protection to our most vulnerable residents. 
This provides higher protection than LD3 and includes:

o Smoke alarms installed in all circulation areas/ escape routes and high risk areas
o At least one smoke alarm in every circulation space on each storey (such as hallways and 

landings)
o Have at least one heat alarm installed in every kitchen.
o All alarms interlinked.

Fire detection is linked to the Warden Control system and tested and serviced on an annual 
basis. Additional alarms and bespoke equipment are added to the system to meet the needs 
of residents who have been identified as having an increased vulnerability such as hearing 
impairment to ensure they are alerted in the event of fire. 

DSO Building Management will ensure that all sheltered housing properties and communal 
areas are appropriately equipped with fire protection equipment, emergency lighting, fire 
doors, and safety signs as advised by the fire risk assessment.

In sheltered housing schemes where furniture is provided in common areas furniture will be 
fire retardant in compliance with the current regulations. Furniture will be inspected quarterly 
by the Scheme Officers (Housing Management). Existing non-compliant furniture will be 
replaced where identified.

10.7 High Risk Residential Blocks (HRRBs) & Sheltered Scheme Communal Areas

Where it is deemed appropriate in the recommendations of site-specific fire risk assessments, 
communal areas of Sheltered Schemes and HRRBs are installed with mains operated fire 
detection systems.

Page 315



Maintenance of all systems will be carried out six monthly for Sheltered Communal Areas and 
quarterly for High Risk Blocks by competent fire alarm contractors. Fire detection in Sheltered 
Communal Areas is also linked to the Warden Control system. 

11. Fire Suppression Systems

11.1 Fire Suppression Systems are primarily intended for the protection of life in event of fire and 
have additional benefits for property protection, environmental benefits, sustainability of 
buildings and firefighter safety.

11.2 DSO Building Management is introducing Fire Sprinkler Systems to high risk buildings to fight 
fires and protect the surroundings. These operate primarily by wetting and cooling the 
surfaces of the fuel and the immediate area, thereby suppressing and controlling the fire. 
These systems are being installed by competent fire sprinkler contractors.

11.3 Installations will meet the main British Standard covering fire sprinklers in this country, BS 
9251. It provides guidance for the design, installation, components, water supplies and back 
flow protection, commissioning, maintenance and testing of fire sprinkler systems installed for 
life safety purposes.  Additional benefits include property protection in residential and 
domestic occupancies.

11.4 Installations will be serviced and maintained by competent engineers on an annual basis. 
Residents will be provided with guidance leaflets to ensure their actions do not compromise 
the effectiveness of the system.

12. Emergency Lighting 

12.1 In general artificial lighting is provided where buildings are used during the hours of darkness 
and therefore emergency lighting will need to be installed. It is provided on escape routes, in 
open areas used as escape routes, all open areas larger than 60 square metres and to 
illuminate exit signs. 

12.2 The minimum standard for escape emergency lighting is one hour duration which once 
discharged requires twenty four hours to fully recharge, before re-occupation. However 
emergency lighting within GBC buildings have three hour duration, therefore if the main fails, 
for example for just one hour, there is still two hours duration remaining in the battery, allowing 
an immediate re-occupation of the premises. 

12.3 DSO Building Management ensures that all emergency lighting located in communal areas of 
all buildings will be maintained in good condition and working order to assist means of escape 
in an emergency.

12.4 Under BS EN 50172 emergency lighting will be serviced and tested as follows:

o Daily – Scheme/Estate Officers will visually inspect all emergency lighting and indicators 
are showing healthy.

o Monthly – A Competent person will test each luminaire and exit sign for a period sufficient 
to check each lamp operates, using the test facility provided.

o Annually – A Competent person will test all luminaires and exit signs for a full rated 
duration (3 hour burn). Restore to normal after tests and check that indicators show 
normal charging. 

Page 316



Monthly and annual testing results to ensure compliance will be recorded within the job 
scheduling system and any remedial actions taken as necessary.

13. Fire Doors & Compartmentation

13.1 Fire compartmentation is an important element of ‘passive fire protection’ and is achieved by 
dividing the premises into ‘fire compartments’ through the use of fire doors, floors and walls of 
fire-resisting construction, cavity barriers within roof voids and fire stopping to services that 
penetrate through these dividing elements.

Providing compartmentation to current Building Regulation and British Standards 
requirements:

o Prevents the spread of fire, smoke and toxic gases
o Subdivides buildings into manageable areas of risk
o Provides adequate means of escape enabling time for the occupants to safely evacuate 

the premises.

13.2 DSO Building Management will determine from Fire Risk Assessments and historical 
information on corrective action required to ensure buildings are upgraded to meet current 
British Standards including fire compartmentation to BS 9999 and fire stopped to BS 476 Part 
24.

13.3 Effective fire doors are essential to ensure that occupants can evacuate a burning building 
quickly and safely, avoiding potentially fatal consequences. Escape routes in buildings require 
significant protection and fire doors are probably the single most important element in giving 
occupants time to safely evacuate a building.

13.4 A fire door is not just the door leaf, it is a complete assembly. It comprises the frame, any 
glazing, intumescent fire and smoke seals and all the ironmongery that is used on the door, 
such as hinges, door closers, latches, locks, letter plates and spy holes.

The role of a Fire Door is to:

o To restrict the initial development of a fire – A correctly fitted and functioning fire-resisting 
door can help to suppress a fire by restricting the amount of oxygen available to it.

o To restrict the spread of fire – A closed fire-resisting door is designed to endure direct 
attack by fire for a specified period of time. This should restrict the spread of fire through 
the building, gaining time for evacuation of the premises and for active fire protection 
resources such as sprinklers and fire fighters to perform their functions.

o To protect escape routes – The provision of protected escape routes is a requirement of 
Building Regulations. Any door opening on to an escape route or operating across an 
escape route is likely to be designated as a fire-resisting door, to ensure that persons 
using the route have protection from fire while they escape.

The role of a Fire Exit Escape Door is to allow people, in the event of a fire, to escape the 
building and to reach a place of safety.

Page 317



13.5 All new composite fire door sets (FD30s) will meet bi-directional UKAS testing initiated by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). All new fire doors will 
also comply to BS 476 Part 22 or BS EN 1634 and the appropriate certification provided.

13.6 All new doors will be installed and subsequent repairs will be completed by third party 
accredited installers who can evidence competence to ensure the doors are fitted to 
manufacturer’s instructions. All documentation relating to the product, installers and evidence 
to demonstrate competency will be recorded on GBC’s job scheduling system.

13.7 Existing communal and flat entrance doors will be visually inspected during Fire Risk 
Assessments to ensure the door set including door closer do not show signs of wear or 
damage which may affect its fire integrity. Doors that need replacing will be highlighted to the 
Surveyor (Compliance & Projects), who will instruct a replacement to be installed following the 
above requirements for new fire doors.

14. Fire Fighting Equipment

14.1 Fire extinguishers located in GBC buildings are serviced by a competent engineer via Kent 
County Council (KCC) on an annual basis under BS 5306-3. The service procedure involves a 
thorough check of the fire extinguisher for corrosion and partial or complete discharge.

The engineer will:

o Visually inspect the fire extinguisher for corrosion and damage.
o Check that the extinguisher has not been used, by checking the following:

 Safety pin and tamper seal are in place.
 Pressure gauge reading (indicating needle should be in the green area. This is not 

applicable for CO2 fire extinguishers)
o Check that the operating instructions on the extinguisher are clear and legible.
o Remove the discharge hose and check for blockages and corrosion.

 Once the discharge hose has been removed replace the ‘O’ ring.
o Weigh the extinguisher and record on the service label.

 If there is more than a 10% weight loss, investigate and recharge.
o Wipe down the extinguisher.
o Ensure that the wall mountings are secure and in good condition before replacing the 

appliance back on the wall.

14.2 Fire hose reels are also serviced by a competent engineer via Kent County Council (KCC) on 
an annual basis under BS 5306 -1. The hose reels are fully unwound and subjected to normal 
operating pressure. The integrity of the drum gland nuts and internal operating valve are 
checked, together with the condition of the hose and valves/nozzles. After the service, the 
pressure is released and the hose reel is rewound.

15. Automatic Opening Vent Systems (AOVs)

15.1 Automatic Opening Vent systems are incorporated in to the original design of some of GBC’s 
HRRBs. AOV systems are used mainly to control the ventilation of smoke in a fire. When a 
detector or call point is triggered an AOV system will open actuators, windows or vents to 
create ventilation. This clears smoke for people leaving the building and vents smoke out of 
the area that has been triggered. 

Page 318



15.2 DSO Building Management engages competent engineers to maintain and service the 
equipment on an annual basis. Where a window replacement programme is identified for a 
HRRB, a specialist consultant is engaged to provide a specification and guidance to ensure 
the new AOV system is fit for purpose.

16. Gas and Electrical Safety Checks

16.1 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a duty of care to its tenants to ensure that no tenant’s 
health and safety is put at risk through the use of its gas appliances and installations. The 
Council also has a responsibility under the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 
1998 which require landlords to adequately and competently install, maintain and service all 
gas installations, appliances, flues and installation pipe work under their liability, specifically 
installations within its Housing stock.

16.2 A gas explosion and fire can occur when there is a gas leak combined with an ignition source. 
DSO Building Management’s Gas Servicing and Maintenance Provider will perform an annual 
gas safety check on all GBC owned gas appliances and relevant flues/chimneys. A tightness 
test will be carried out on the gas carcass and an inspection of the pipework.

16.3 Should access to the property not be forthcoming, DSO Building Management taking 
consideration for individual circumstances and vulnerable tenants may take legal action to 
obtain access – this could include pursuit of a court warrant; an application to allow forced 
access through section 240 of the Housing Act 2004.

16.4 All electrical installations deteriorate with age and use. Therefore a Periodic Electrical 
Inspection is carried out every five years on all properties to check whether they are in a 
satisfactory condition for continued use. The inspection will identify (in order of priority) any 
deficiencies and remedial works needed to rectify the faults, thereby reducing the risk of fire 
from electrical installations.

16.5 In addition all communal areas and offices where portable electrical appliances are provided, 
regular checks and testing will be carried out in line with the Portable Appliance Testing 
procedure by Housing Management.

16.6 Residents are provided with safety information leaflets advising on good practice and how to 
protect themselves from the dangers of gas, electricity and using out dated or poorly 
maintained appliances to reduce the risk of possible fire and explosion.

17. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

17.1 General Accommodation

All blocks with general needs accommodation have Fire Action Notices (see Appendix 2) 
affixed where appropriate providing information and evacuation advice on discovery or 
suspicion of a fire. The evacuation advice in the notice is based on the recommendations of 
the Fire Risk Assessment.

If a fire occurs in a common area, any persons in that area should leave the building and call 
the emergency services. The remainder of the building’s occupants should follow the advice 
displayed on the Fire Action Notice unless directed to leave by the Fire Service.

Page 319



17.2 Supported and Sheltered Accommodation

Supported and Sheltered Housing Schemes also have Fire Action Notices which include an 
evacuation plan providing details how the building will be evacuated in the event of a fire.

In line with guidance, in some schemes it may be decided that the least risk to a resident with 
particular needs is to stay in their property in the event of a fire. This will be established by an 
Individual risk assessment being carried out by the Scheme Officer.

Escape routes identified should be:

o Suitable
o Easily, safely and immediately usable at all times.
o Adequate for the number of people likely to use them.
o Usable without passing through doors requiring a key or code to unlock.
o Free from any obstructions, slip or trip hazards.
o Well-lit by normal or emergency escape lighting and signage provided.
o Available for access by emergency services.

Effective management arrangements need to be put in place for those who need help to 
escape, including:

o Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans as needed and located in the Fire box available for 
the Fire Service when required.

o Refuge points.
o Ensuring there are adequate escape routes adapted for use by disabled persons.
o Consideration of the need for specialist evacuation equipment.
o Appropriate staffing levels.

Evacuation plans should be tested by carrying out a practice evacuation annually (or more 
frequently if judged necessary), and whenever the evacuation plan changes.

  18.      Performance and Monitoring

18.1 Monthly contract meetings between DSO Building Management and Contractors will form 
the basis for measuring performance and maintain a high standard of service. The 
Contractor will provide full details of recorded key performance indicators against targets for 
specified servicing, maintenance and refurbishment programmes, as stated in their 
contract.

18.2 The Contractor will provide an effective monitoring system of Health and Safety incidents 
and measures to address causes during all contractual activities.
GBC’s Compliance and CDM Officer will carry out random Health and Safety Inspections 
on a range of servicing, maintenance and refurbishment work activities. Health and Safety 
inspection reports will be provided and reviewed at contract meetings.

18.3 To improve compliancy and further reduce risk, DSO Building Management and 
stakeholders will resolve access issues for servicing and maintenance through regular 
communication and meetings.

18.4 Residents who are dissatisfied by the service provided are able to complain in accordance 
with GBC’s complaints procedure. A copy of the Complaints Policy and Procedure is 
available upon request or via the GBC website.

Page 320



19. Competencies and Training

19.1 All DSO Building Management staff will receive training appropriate to their duties under the 
RRFSO.

In addition, further training is provided by Housing Management to staff with responsibilities 
for fire safety in any premises, including:

o Those with delegated responsibility for fire safety including Sheltered Housing Scheme 
Officers, Estate Management Caretakers and Housing Officers.

o Fire Wardens
o Those with responsibility for carrying out site visits and inspections.

Training for those with responsibility for fire safety should be provided by those who are 
qualified and suitably competent (as defined in the RRFSO). 

19.2 Fire Risk Assessments will be carried out by persons who can evidence competency by 
having the knowledge, qualifications, experience to carry out the role and be a member of a 
recognised professional or certificated body. Regardless of who carries out the fire risk 
assessment the Duty Holder retains the responsibility for ensuring the adequacy of that 
assessment.

19.3 DSO Building Management will validate competency of all Contractors carrying out 
installation, servicing and maintenance work to all fire detection, protection and suppression 
systems. Evidence of contractor competency will be recorded on GBC’s asset database.

Page 321



Appendix 1 – Legislation/Guidance

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)

There are two sections of the Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974 particularly relevant to 
this policy:

o Section 2 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the 

health, safety and welfare at work of all his employees.”
       This is supported by specific reference to maintaining the workplace in a condition such 

that it is safe, and does not put employees at risk.

o Section 3 (1)
      “It shall be the duty of every employer to conduct his undertaking in such a way so as to 

ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that persons not in his employment, who may 
be affected thereby, are not thereby exposed to risks to their health or safety”

Gravesham Borough Council, in the context of this policy therefore, shall (so far as is reasonably 
practicable) ensure its housing stock and third parties or premises (its business activity) does not 
cause harm to its tenants.

Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999

In general terms, Gravesham Borough Council must:
o Assess the risk to Health and Safety of all employees and to anyone who may be 

affected as a result of work undertaken.
o Endeavour to provide comprehensive information, instruction, training and supervision 

with the aim of ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health and safety at 
work of every employee or person so affected.

o Assess the risk of all work activities.
o Record risk assessments on their database
o For any new work activity, risk assessments should be carried out by the appropriate 

party but in all cases the assessments are to be held jointly and reviewed annually for 
any changes in legislation.

o Have a competent person to advise in respect of these regulations such as a Health 
and Safety Advisor.

Dangerous Substances and Explosive Atmosphere Regulations 2002 (DSEAR)

DSEAR provides for the protection against risks from fire, explosion and similar events arising 
from dangerous substances used or present in the workplace, and sets minimum requirements 
for the protection of workers from fire and explosion risks related to dangerous substances and 
potentially explosive atmospheres. 

DSEAR is concerned with the harmful physical effects from thermal radiation (burns), over-
pressure effects (blast injuries) and oxygen depletion effects (asphyxiation) arising from fire or 
explosions.

Page 322



The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER)

The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations (PUWER) place a duty on employers to 
ensure the work equipment they own, operate, and have control over is safe to use at all times. 

In practice, PUWER regulations require employers to:

 Ensure all work equipment is maintained in good condition and efficient working order.
 Keep an up-to-date maintenance log for each work equipment.
 Ensure that all people operating work equipment on-site are provided with adequate 

levels of training regarding the correct use of the equipment as well as clear and detailed 
health and safety information.

 Take all necessary measures to prevent or control any risks associated with the 
operation of work equipment.

LGA’s Fire Safety in Purpose-Built Blocks of Flats

This guide aims to ensure adequate fire safety in purpose-built blocks of flats. It offers practical 
advice on how to assess the risk from fire and how to manage fire safety in such buildings. The 
document also includes case studies based on the commonly found issues in blocks of flats, 
with suggested fire safety solutions.

The guide will help landlords, managing agents, enforcing officers and those undertaking fire risk 
assessments to understand the legislative requirements relating to blocks of flats and to apply 
them in a consistent and reasonable manner

This guide is particularly aimed at those who manage, give advice on and enforce standards in 
purpose-built blocks of flats. This includes those undertaking fire risk assessments of such 
buildings by social housing providers.

LACoRS’ Guidance on Fire Safety Provisions

The guidance has been developed by LACoRS in conjunction with the Chartered Institute of 
Environmental Health (CIEH) and the Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA).
Officials in Communities and Local Government (CLG) have also provided considerable 
technical support.

The guidance applies nationally and covers certain existing residential accommodation including 
single family dwellings, shared houses, bedsits and flats. It is not aimed at new housing built to 
modern Building Regulations.

The guidance adopts a risk based approach to fire safety that will satisfy both the Housing Act 
2004 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. It includes guidance to landlords on 
how to carry out a fire risk assessment.

The guidance is equally relevant to landlords, managing agents, local councils and fire and 
rescue authorities. The guidance applies to both the private and social housing sectors

Page 323



Building Regulations Approved Document B

This part is split into a number to sections to cover fire safety related matters within and around 
buildings other than dwelling houses. This includes: the satisfactory means of giving warning 
and means of escape in case of fire; stopping the spread of fire over internal and external 
linings; ensuring the stability of buildings in the event of a fire; and to ensure satisfactory access 
for fire appliances to buildings and facilities within buildings other than dwelling houses.

Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998

The regulations cover requirements for the safe installation and maintenance of gas appliances, 
flues, meters and pipework etc. Landlords and letting agents should be aware both of the 
general provisions in the Regulations (e.g. concerning installation of all new gas pipework and 
appliances) as well as specific provisions relating to rented property. 

Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994

The Regulations require all electrical equipment to be safe including protection against risks of 
death or injury to humans or domestic animals and damage to property. Electrical equipment 
must satisfy the requirements of the Regulations, have “CE marking“ affixed to it, or its 
packaging and information sheet etc. A written declaration of conformity containing specified 
information and certain technical information must be compiled and kept available for 10 years 
after manufacture of that particular equipment has ceased.

Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1998

The Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1988 are UK law and are designed to 
ensure that upholstery components and composites used for furniture supplied in the UK meet 
specified ignition resistance levels and are suitable labelled. There are six main elements 
contained within the Regulations:

o Filling materials must meet specified ignition requirements
o Upholstery composites must be cigarette resistant
o Covers must be match resistant 
o A permanent label must be fitted to every item of new furniture 
o A display label must be fitted to every item of new furniture at the point of sale 
o The first supplier of domestic upholstered furniture in the UK must maintain records for five 

years to prove compliance. 

The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

Under The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 companies and 
organisations can be found guilty of corporate manslaughter as a result of serious management 
failures resulting in a gross breach of a duty of care.

Page 324



Appendix 2 – Fire Action Notice

Page 325



Page 326



Document is Restricted

Page 327 Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 335



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 337 Agenda Item 18



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 343



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 347



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Corporate Plan: 2019-23
	Appendix 2 - CPLAN DOC - DRAFT

	7 Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service
	2. Annual Review Shared Legal Service 2019

	8 Annual Review of the HR Shared Service
	2. Appendix Two - HR Shared Service Annual Review - Final 2019

	9 Main store roof at Brookvale
	Brookvale roof

	10 Housing Delivery Action Plan
	20190909 Appendix 2 Gravesham Housing Delivery Action Plan

	11 Local Plan Review
	20190909 Appendix 2 - Local Plan 5 year review

	12 Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter One
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V2 - 2019-20 - BMR Q1
	Appendix 3 - HRA Business Plan Revenue Summary
	Appendix 4 - HRA Business Plan Capital Summary
	Appendix 5 - Investments as at 30 June 2019

	13 Carbon Monoxide (CO) Detectors in Council Owned Housing
	14 DSO Building Management Policies and Management Plans
	Appendix 2 - Asbestos Policy and Management Plan
	Appendix 3 - Gas Safety Policy and Management Plan
	Appendix 4 - Water Hygiene Policy and Scheme of Control for Legionella Bacteria
	Appendix 5 - Lift Maintenance Policy and Management Plan
	Appendix 6 - Construction Design Management Policy and Management Plan
	Appendix 7 - Fire Safety Policy and Management Plan

	17 Future use of land at North East Gravesend
	2. Appendix 2 - North East Gravesend Site Map

	18 Write Offs
	Appendix 2 - NNDR  £15k write offs
	Appendix 3 - HB Write off proforma
	Appendix 4 - Corporate Write Offs Procedures_2015.16


